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THE MACROECONOMIC SCENARIO 
 
THE INTERNATIONAL ECONOMY 
 
In 2009, the international economy underwent a critical and serious recession although there were significant 
differences between the major geographical areas and leading countries. This resulted in a 1% decrease in 
GDP. Growth in China continued as well as in other emerging countries in Asia, while the USA demonstrated 
higher capacity of recovery compared to the Eurozone and Japan. However, at the end of the year all the mature 
economies saw a reverse in trends. GDP and industrial production saw a recovery in the second half of 2009 
which led to higher business and consumer confidence. Monetary policies were very expansive with interest 
rates at historic lows in industrialized countries as well as in emerging countries. In order to satisfy demand, the 
budgets of central banks and governments reached levels never before seen in advanced economies.  
 
GROWTH OF THE MAIN ECONOMIES 
 2009 2010 2011 
World -1.0 4.0 4.1 
USA -2.4 2.4 2.5 
Eurozone -4.0 1.0 1.4 
Italy -4.9 0.7 1.0 
Japan -5.3 1.2 1.7 
China 8.6 9.5 8.8 
Source: Research&Intelligence BMPS Service 

 

In the USA the GDP fell throughout 2009 (-2.4%), but recovered in the 4th quarter and grew by 1.4% 
compared to the previous period (0.6%). Investments also decreased during the crisis (-23.3% in 2009) but grew 
by 8.6% in the fourth quarter. Also household spending (+0.5%) is expected to improve once the labour market 
recovers. The unemployment rate at the end of 2009 was 10%. 

Also in December 2009 the FED confirmed that it would maintain rates on Fed Funds between 0% and 
0.25%, which means the cost of money should remain exceptionally low in the future. 

Amongst emerging countries, growth in China never ceased, and consumption was at a much higher rate 
than Western economies. It is likely that already in 2010 China will make history by surpassing the economy of 
Japan, whose GDP fell considerably in 2009. China’s economy is sustained by expansive fiscal policies and 
increasing stability in demand from other Asian countries. In India the GDP grew by 6.5% in 2009 also due to 
the recovery of the manufacturing sector. 

In the Eurozone the GDP fell by about 4% even if in the third quarter the recession ended, confirming in the 
fourth quarter the difficulties the economy is experiencing in returning to a satisfactory rate of development. 

After reducing the prime rate from 2.5% to 1% in the first five months of the year, the ECB determined that 
this level was adequate and stressed the importance of respecting the Stability and Growth Pact. The EU 
announced that it may intervene to ensure stability in the Eurozone. Following a very expansive monetary policy, 
the curve of benchmark interest rates is still down in the Eurozone. The curve will level off very gradually and will 
depend on the time needed to restore neutral monetary policies. 
In Italy the GDP is down by 4.9%, which reflects the fall in investments (-13%) and exports (-15%), against a 
slight decrease in consumer spending of only 1%. In 2009, industrial production recorded a decrease of 17.5%. 
The unemployment rate continued to rise and reached 8.5%. Although not a full reflection of global trends, 
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starting in the second half of 2009 exports stopped falling. The average inflation rate in the year was +0.8%. 
Starting in the first quarter, there was a strong rally on international stock markets: for instance, in the 
31/03/2009-31/12/2009 period, the Nikkei index recorded a rise of 31%, FTSE MIB +46% and Down Jones 
+37%. The MSWorld index grew by almost 20%. Corporate bond issues reached record levels and risk 
indicators of indebted European countries worsened: rise of performance spreads on public bonds and CDS 
prices. Concerning currency exchange markets, despite signs of weakness recorded by the Euro at the end of 
2009 against the Dollar and Yen, at 31 December the Euro grew by 3% over the Dollar and 5% over the Yen. 

THE REGIONAL ECONOMY 
In the first half of 2009, the Umbrian economy1  showed the first signs of recovery. These signs marked a stop in 
the deterioration of the economic situation which started in 2007. In any case the overall outlook for the year 
remains negative with regards to primary economic indicators and sectors. Demand for the industrial sector fell 
considerably in the first months of 2009. According to an ISAE study the amount of orders had an impact on 
production, which, after reaching a low point in April, slowly rose again during the summer. The demand for non-
metal mineral products and mechanical products was still weak. The fall in demand for new housing following the 
economic crisis weakened the construction sector. Hours of the Temporary Redundancy Fund used were five 
times higher than in 2008.  
In terms of trade the difficult situation in the economy placed a burden on household consumer spending. Only in 
the second quarter of 2009 did consumption start showing some signs of recovery. According to figures released 
by ANFIA, in March registrations of new cars started to rise with the introduction of incentives to scrap old cars. 
According to a survey conducted by Unioncamere, in the first half of the year, sales of large-scale retailers were 
lower, though they were still +3% compared to the same period in 2008. Based on provisional data provided by 
Umbria’s Regional Authority, in the first six months of the year, the number of tourists to the region dropped by 
13.3%, while the number of days of presence fell by 12%. The decrease regarded both foreign and Italian 
visitors and hit all types of tourist facilities. Also Umbrian exports felt the impact of the recession and drop in 
international trade. According to provisional data released by ISTAT, regional exports fell by 31.3%, well above 
the national average, which fell by 24.4%. All sectors in the regional economy were affected by the fall; exports 
in the metal products sector fell by half, the textile and clothing industry by 21.5% and the foodstuffs sector by 
14.1%.  There was also a fall in imports, down by 40.9%. The number of residents employed in the region also 
fell by 2.7%. The decrease mainly concerned trade and industry, affecting both contract employees and 
freelance workers. The unemployment rate reported by ISTAT rose by 6.5%.  
The difficult financial situation resulted in a considerable increase in use of the Temporary Redundancy Fund. 
The number of workers temporarily laid off out of the total number of workers employed in industry is 5.9%, 
which is a historic low when compared to the average of last year (1.6%). At the end of June, loans to customers 
resident in Umbria, adjusted to take into account the effect of securitization transactions, rose by 3.1%.  The 
trend in rates reflected new market conditions. The average rate on short-term transactions fell to 5.6%, down 
2.2% from last year; while the TAEG (APR) on long-term transactions fell by 1.9%. Business loans dropped by 
4% compared to the year before. Leasing transactions rose by 11.4% while factoring fell by 26.6%, reflecting the 
drop in turnover. Household loans, adjusted due to securitizations, held at growth rates very similar to those at 
the end of the previous year. The fall in the cost of loan transactions for the purchase of a home, had an impact 
on disbursement, resulting in an increase in index-linked loans from 23.2% to 46.1% of the total. Consumer 
credit recovered slowly following the increasing undertakings of financial institutions into several areas other 
than those related to credit cards. The quality of credit disbursed to customers was affected by the negative 
situation and in the first half of 2009 there was a flow of new adjusted non-performing loans in relation to the 
stock of loans at the beginning of the period (default rate) which amounted to 1.6%, just above the national 
average. The percentage of non-performing loans out of total business loans reached 4.6%, an increase of 0.5% 
compared to the previous year. Problem loans and payments overdue by over 90 days rose in the same 
timeframe. Bank deposits increased year-on-year by 7%, which marks a slowdown from December 2008. 
Current account deposits rose considerably (+14.7%), which is attributed to the low cost and preference to have 
readily available liquidity. 

THE NATIONAL BANKING SYSTEM 

In 2009, the profitability of Italian banks steadily decreased from the same period of last year. 

The banking sector was characterized by a fall in net interest income due to the decrease in volumes traded 
and the fall in bank interest on loans and deposits, partially offset by a rise in income from trading and the 

                                                 
1 Bank of Italy, Eurosystem, “Economie regionali: l’economia nell’Umbria” (“Regional economies: the economy in Umbria”), 
Perugia 2009. 
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increase in the value of securities in the trading portfolio. At the same time there was also a drop in net 
commissions due to a fall in asset management and a considerable rise in write-downs in the loan portfolio. 

Direct deposits rose considerably (+8.4%), even if less than the previous year. This result is justified by the 
fall in repos, a slowdown in the bond segment and the increase in current account deposits. After the 
improvements seen in financial markets the stock of mutual funds recovered and grew by 6.8%. A positive trend 
was recorded for various instruments while balanced funds and especially hedge funds fell. Considering the high 
demand in guaranteed products the bank-insurance segment ended the year with a rise of 45.4% compared to 
last year. 

The loan segment rose by 2.2%. This result was obtained with a positive contribution from the consumer 
household element and due to levels maintained in credit to small business. Loans to non-financial companies 
are still falling. The default rate in 2009 was 1.85%, a rise compared to previous year. The impairment of loans 
mainly concerned business, especially the manufacturing sector. 

Bank interest rates continued the negative trend which began at the end of last year. An average interest 
rate of 4.4% was recorded for loans and 1% for deposits. This is why the interest rate spread is significantly 
falling. 

THE LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK 

In 2009, following the difficult economic situation, banks introduced a series of packages to lessen the 
difficulties of companies and households. 

The business sector benefits from the Common Statement, an agreement signed by the Ministry of the 
Economy, the Italian Banking Association (ABI) and business representatives, in order to extend terms for short-
term loan payments by up to 270 days or enable the suspension of paying off principal for up to 1 year. 
The private sector benefits from a moratorium for household debt which enables families that have undergone 
misfortune in 2009-2010 to request a suspension of loan payments for up to 12 months. 
In addition to these initiatives there were also anti-crisis interventions implemented by the Government to 
support the production system, for instance, financial contributions to Confidi [credit guarantee consortium] and 
broadening the operational scope of the Deposit and Loan Fund. New limits and application measures were 
introduced to the credit line commission on current accounts, allowed only under fully transparent contract 
conditions or in certain specific cases. The law decree (78/2009) passed in July introduced tax breaks for 
investments in new machinery and equipment made between July 2009 and June 2010. Tax amnesty was also 
included to bring assets unlawfully held abroad back into the country by paying a lump-sum tax of 5%. Private 
class action for consumer protection came into effect for offences committed after 15 August. Class action suits 
are brought before the court with jurisdiction over the head offices of the company by a single member of the 
class or by a consumer association. 

Another measure to support small and medium-sized enterprise was introduced in May 2009: the 
agreement between the Deposit and Loan Fund and ABI. The agreement concerns a financing programme of 8 
billion for banks to be channelled to SMEs applying a range of spreads over the Euribor calculated taking into 
consideration the financial and economic structure of the banks. Moreover, the release of the SACE guarantee 
should be mentioned and the guarantee fund for SMEs was increased. The maximum amount guaranteed was 
raised and the fund was extended to small business. 

Last year a series of measures to support the banking sector was introduced such as the Tremonti 
Bonds, which enable the Treasury to subscribe financial instruments without voting rights issued by listed banks, 
convertible into ordinary shares and can be recalled by the issuer at any time. They can also be recognized as 
regulatory capital. 

Worth mention is also the Bank of Italy provision of July 2009 on the transparency of transactions and 
banking and financial services and the new European Payment Services Directive, aimed at harmonizing 
execution times of bank transfers, effective dates and rules on transparency to safeguard households and 
business at community level. 

We should also mention that at the end of 2009 a consultation document was published for the reform of the 
Basel 2 agreement, which brings the rules into line with developments in the financial markets starting from the 
legal framework on bank regulatory capital. 
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ANTI-CRISIS INTERVENTIONS IN UMBRIA 

Due to the difficult financial situation a series of regional anti-crisis interventions were put into place. 
Umbria’s Regional Authority passed a series of provisions to support the local economy with the objective of 
easing credit access, spread tax burdens and inject targeted financial resources on the market. Under regional 
law 4/2009 and the regulation to implement “measures to support the income of parties affected by company or 
employment crisis” the following measures were introduced: 

• Two-year suspension of taxes, fees for public services and instalments on loans stipulated for 
the purchase or renovation of the primary residence for persons who lose their jobs; the intervention 
concerns all those who are laid off, made redundant or placed on a “solidarity contract” 

• Zero-interest loans for households undergoing difficulty. 

• EUR 32 million allocated to assist persons who are not self-sufficient. 

 
Interventions to support companies undergoing difficulties: a regional guarantee fund was created for 
credit access, funded with EUR 5 million; guarantee consortia were strengthened for several production 
categories and EUR 600 million was allocated to small and medium-sized enterprises in the service sector in 
order to modernize and develop economic activities by co-financing investment interests. 
 
• Faster payment for services and supply of goods provided by companies to public administration. 

• Reduced time needed for companies to gain access to public resources for investments. 

• Fight against usury under any form. Since the crisis increases household and business indebtedness, 
the regional government chose to provide more financial resources to Fondazione Umbria to fight usury. 

• Rationalization of the administrative organisation to free up resources for investment in strategic 
sectors. 

Anatocism 

Following the ruling of the United Sections of the Court of Cassation dated 4/11/2004, no. 21095, which 
ratified the nullity of clauses that envisaged the quarterly capitalisation of interest, due to the infringement of art. 
1283 of the Italian civil code (based on the principle that said practice is not supported by any “regulatory 
application”), the Bank received numerous letters from customers regarding the recalculation of interest applied 
net of the anatocism and, therefore, the reimbursement of any excess amounts debited. Banca Popolare di 
Spoleto S.p.A. handled said requests, incidentally generally lacking any supporting documentation or 
quantification of the claim, in accordance with the approach of the Italian banking system, meaning that the 
same was not able to fulfil said claims as the ruling by the Court of Cassation, although authoritative, is only 
effective between the parties, and because the Italian banking association has expressed doubts on the 
compatibility, from a legal perspective, of the decision with current constitutional principles. 

Given that, generally, the decisions of the courts taken subsequently, have appeared to be in line with the 
principle issued by the United Sections, it should also be noted that, to date, a fairly limited number of customers 
have sought recourse in the law, after sending a first intimation. In this regard, and in terms of the income 
statement, it is almost impossible to quantify any presumable figure regarding the recalculation of interest 
without reprocessing all calculations regarding current accounts which over time have incurred, even 
occasionally, negative balances and therefore interest charges. 

Moreover, in 2009 first intimations dropped considerably; in addition, evidence related to the pending 
positions leads us to reasonably retain that the effects of a hypothetical negative outcome of said cases filed 
against the Bank would be marginal. 

 
At 31/12/2009 there were 12 cases pending as regards anatocism, none of which were filed in 2009. 
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TRENDS IN STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AGGREGATES 
 
 
 

SAVINGS MANAGEMENT 

With regard to savings management activities, Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA achieved an increase, 
compared to last year, of 1.4% in Direct Customer Deposits (i+2.9% without considering subordinate liabilities), 
and 3.9% in Indirect Customer Deposits amounting to EUR 1,430 million, displaying the effects of a downwards 
trend significantly influenced by the crisis in savings management and by the negative performance of the 
financial markets. 

In terms of direct customer deposits, the deposits and bonds components made a significant contribution to 
the increase, benefitting from concerted sales efforts to enlarge the customer base and to abandon/reconvert on 
demand contracts for large borrowers. During the year, bonds issued in the past to institutional investors (EUR 
80,000) were paid off. Net of these loans and payment of subordinate liabilities, growth of direct deposits would 
be 6.3% and total deposits would be 5.4%. 

The following table shows the breakdown of Total Deposits as at 31 December 2009, which show the above-
mentioned trends. 
 
 
CUSTOMER DEPOSITS (in millions of EUR) 

actual figures 31/12/09 31/12/08 Change on 31/12/08 % weight 

   absolute % 31/12/09 31/12/08 

Direct customer deposits 2,459 2,426 33 1.4 100.0 100.0 

payables to customers 1,482 1,518 -36 -2.4 60.2 62.6 

payables represented by securities 978 908 70 7.7 39.8 37.4 

Indirect customer deposits 1,430 1,376 54 3.9 100.0 100.0 

Managed savings 616 529 87 16.5 43.1 38.4 

Administered savings 814 847 -33 -3.9 56.9 61.6 

Total customer deposits 3,889 3,802 87 2.3   

 
 
 Direct customer deposits 
 
 The aggregate figure shows a growth trend (of around EUR 34 million compared to 31 December 2008), 
corresponding to +1.4%, upheld by payables represented by securities (+ EUR 70 million), which also benefits 
from intense activity in bond loan placements, reserved to retail clients; the due to customers item, on the other 
hand, fell (- EUR 36 million) due to a considerable decrease in repurchase agreements (- EUR 129 million) 
mostly offset by the rise in current account deposits (+ EUR 88 million) and savings deposits (+ EUR 6 million).  
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DIRECT CUSTOMER DEPOSITS (in millions of EUR) 

actual figures 31/12/09 31/12/08 Change on 31/12/08 % weight 

   absolute % 31/12/09 31/12/08 

Current accounts 1,323 1,236 88 7.1 89.3 81.4 

Repurchase agreements (repos) 82 212 -129 -61.1 5.6 14.0 

Savings deposits 76 70 6 8.4 5.1 4.6 

Due to customers 1,482 1,518 -36 -2.4 100.0 100.0 

Outstanding securities 929 825 104 12.5 95.0 90.9 

Subordinate liabilities 49 82 -33 -40.4 5.0 9.1 

Payables represented by securities 978 908 70 7.7 100.0 100.0 

Total direct customer deposits 2,460 2,425 34 1.4   

 
Indirect customer deposits 

Indirect customer deposits, including life insurance policies net of redemptions, recorded an overall rise of 
EUR 54 million (+3.9%) compared to 31 December 2008. This increase is entirely attributed to “managed 
savings”, which completely compensates for the fall in “administered securities portfolio held for customers", 
which lost much of its activity to managed savings. 

Indeed, the “managed savings” item rose by around EUR 87 million compared to 31 December 2008, and 
includes the "bank insurance” for around EUR 60 million, “mutual funds” for around EUR 21 million and 
“managed securities and funds” for around EUR 6 million. 

As at 31 December 2009, total investments in managed savings represented 43.1% of total indirect 
customer deposits, compared to 38.4% at 31 December 2008. 
 
The following table shows the figures for managed savings: 
 
MANAGED SAVINGS (in millions of EUR) 

actual figures 31/12/09 31/12/08 Change on 31/12/07 % weight 

   absolute % 31/12/09 31/12/08 

G.P.M and G.P.F. 149 143 6 4.0 24.2 27.1 

Mutual investment funds 260 239 21 8.7 42.2 45.2 

Life insurance policies (*) 207 147 60 41.3 33.6 27.7 

Total managed savings 616 529 87 16.5 100.0 100.0 

(*) net of redemption 
 
CREDIT MANAGEMENT 
 
Commercial activities 
 
As at 31 December 2009, total loans to customers amounted to EUR 2,174 million, an increase of around EUR 
87 million compared to December 2008 (equal to growth of 4.2%, which would rise to 5.4% if the fall in 
investments in capitalisation policies was not considered). 
 
LOANS (in millions of EUR) 

actual figures 31/12/09 31/12/08 Change on 31/12/08 

   absolute % 

Loans to customers 

(including net non-performing loans) 
2,174 2,087 87 4.2 

 
Looking at the technical forms of loans, mortgages account for an increasingly larger share, corresponding to 
59.2% of total loans, followed by current accounts with a share of 22.7% and other advances and loan 
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transactions (8.2% of the total). On the other hand, the share represented by investments in capitalisation 
policies fell to 2.3%. 
 
 
LOANS BY TYPE (in millions of EUR) 

actual figures 31/12/09 31/12/08 Change on 31/12/08 % weight 

   absolute % 31/12/09 31/12/08 

Current accounts 449 500 -51 -10.1 20.7 23.9 

Mortgages 1,181 1.103 78 7.1 54.3 52.8 

Credit cards, personal loans, assignment of 
one-fifth of salary 

84 80 4 4.7 3.9 3.8 

Debt securities 33 27 6 21.3 1.5 1.3 

Capitalisation policies 50 71 -21 -29.6 2.3 3.4 

Other transactions 204 222 -18 -7.9 9.4 10.6 

Impaired loans 173 85 88 104.5 8.0 4.1 

Total 2,174 2,087 87 4.2 100.0 100.0 

 
 
Debt securities include around EUR 16 million in bonds, resulting from the transfer of securities made on 30 
September 2009 (see part A in the notes to the financial statements) and around EUR 17 million regarding the 
Junior Ulisse 4 security related to the securitisation of ‘non-performing’ loans originating from the Bank. 
 
The following table provides an overview of new medium-long term transactions performed in 2009 using third 
party funds. It should be noted that they were all performed with companies of the Monte dei Paschi di Siena 
Group (MPS Leasing e Factoring, MPS Banca per l’Impresa, Consum.it). 
 
NEW DISBURSEMENTS (in millions of EUR) 

actual figures 31/12/09 31/12/08 Change on 31/12/08 % weight 

   absolute % 31/12/09 31/12/08 

Transactions with third-party funds       

Leasing 10 15 -5 -34.9 4 6 

Factoring 93 176 -83 -47.2 39 69 

MPS Capital Services 115 30 85 283.5 48 12 

Consumer credit 20 32 -12 -38.4 8 13 

Total 238 254 -16 -6.3   

 
The ratio, calculated on actual figures, of loans to ordinary customers and direct customer deposits is 88.4%, 
compared to 86.1% at 31 December 2008. 
Committed credit facilities amounted to EUR 39.8 million (against EUR 40.02 million at 31 December 2008). 
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Credit quality 
 
As at 31 December 2009, total impaired assets net of doubtful outcomes amounted to about EUR 173 million 
with an incidence of 7.9% of total net loans. 
The data below do not include securities under loans to customers (Item 70 of assets). 
 
LOANS TO CUSTOMERS ACCORDING TO LEVEL OF RISK (in millions of EUR) 

Risk category 31/12/09 31/12/08 Change on 31/12/08 % weight 

Net values   absolute % 31/12/09 31/12/08 

Non-performing loans 48.5 30.6 17.9 58.5 2.23 1.47 

Problem loans 64.7 31.6 33.1 104.5 2.98 1.52 

      of which: Effect of hedge accounting on 
hedged loans 

0.3    0.01  

                   Problem loans 58.0    2.67  

                   Objective problem loans 6.4    0.29  

Loans past due 59.7 22.3 37.4 167.8 2.75 1.07 

      of which: Effect of hedge accounting on 
hedged loans 

0.7    0.03  

                 180 days 12.0    0.55  

                 90 days guaranteed by mortgage 47.0    2.16  

Restructured loans 0.1 0.1 0.0 49.5 0.00 0.00 

Unsecured loans   0.0  0.00 0.00 

Total doubtful loans 173.0 84.6 88.4 104.5 7.96 4.05 

Performing loans 2,001.0 2,002.6 -1.6 -0.1 92.04 95.95 

Total Loans to Customers 2,174.0 2,087.2 86.8 4.16 100.00 100.00 

 
 Gross non-performing loans at 31 December 2009 amounted to EUR 123.3 million (EUR 84.3 million at 
December 2008); net non-performing loans totalled EUR 48.5 million (EUR 30.6 million at December 2008) 
following impairment losses of EUR 74.8 million. The average write-down of non-performing loans was therefore 
60.7% (63.7% at December 2008) also following the entry of positions with higher guarantees in favour of the 
Bank. 
 
 Gross and net non-performing loans represent 5.4% and 2.2% respectively of gross and net loans to 
customers. This rise is in line with sector trends and is due to the difficulties in the economy during the year that 
just ended and in the year before that. 
 
 Gross problem loans at 31 December 2009 amounted to EUR 75.6 million (EUR 37.3 million at 
December 2008); net problem loans totalled EUR 64.7 million (EUR 31.6 million at 31 December 2008) due to 
analytical write-downs of EUR 10.9 million. 
 
 It should be mentioned that problem loans at 31 December 2009 were also influenced by legal 
amendments introduced in 2009 with the first update of Bank of Italy Circular 272/2008, which resulted in a 
change in the definition of the status of “objective problem loan” and led to the rise (about EUR 6.4 million net at 
31 December 2009). 
 
 The average write-down of problem loans was therefore 15.09% (15.1% at December 2008). The 
average write-down of objective problem loans was 8.29%; the total write-down of all problem loans was 
14.41%. 
 
 The ratio of gross problem loans to gross loans to customers was 3.32%, while the ratio of net problem 
loans to net customer loans was 2.97%. 
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 Gross loans past due at 31 December 2009 amounted to EUR 60.3 million (EUR 23.3 million at 31 
December 2008), while net loans past due at the same date amounted to EUR 59.6 million (EUR 22.3 million at 
31 December 2008) due to impairment losses of around EUR 679 thousand. 
 
 The considerable rise in overdue loans at 31 December 2009 compared to the previous year is mostly 
related to the difficult economic situation in Italy, especially in the geographic areas where the bank operates. To 
a lesser extent it is related to changes to parameters to determine certain classes of impaired assets following 
the legal amendments made in 2009 (1st update to Bank of Italy Circular 272/2008 and 1st update to Circular 
262/2005 on financial statements), which introduced the new class “Items over 90 days past due and 
guaranteed by property" under “impaired assets” for banks that apply the standard method. 
 
 At 31 December 2009, loans over 90 days past due and guaranteed by property totalled a gross amount 
(without the effect of hedge accounting) of about EUR 47.2 million, while net overdue loans at the same date 
amounted to about EUR 47 million, with value adjustments amounting to about EUR 187 thousand. 
 
 The average write-down of loans over 180 days past due was around 3.93% (4.2% at December 2008); 
the average write-down of loans over 90 days past due and guaranteed by property, calculated taking into 
account the guarantees considered adequate (sufficient property guarantee, low loan-to-value, appraisal 
updated at least every 1-3 years depending on the type of property), was at 0.40%. The average write-down of 
the entire class of “overdue items” was at 1.13%. 
 
 The impact of gross overdue loans on gross loans to customers was 2.65%, while net loans past due 
were 2.74% of net loans to customers. 
 
 With regards to performing loans, this class is substantially stable following the reclassification of certain 
positions in the new category of “loans over 90 days past due and guaranteed by property”. 
 
 Collective allowances, the cumulative sum of which is EUR 7.5 million (EUR 7.6 million in 2008) cover 
the implicit risk of performing loans, and represent an average percentage of 0.37% (0.38% at December 2008) 
of total performing loans. Said allowance is considered suitable to handle the foreseeable risks implicit in 
standard loans. 
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STRUCTURE OF THE PORTFOLIO OF OWN SECURITIES AND OF OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 
At 31 December 2009, the portfolio of own securities, overall, had a nominal value of EUR 496,856,092.03 (EUR 
550,634,650 average annual value), split into the following portfolios: 
 
FVTPL portfolio  EUR 130,836,549.42 
AFS portfolio       EUR  209,438,737.24 
L & R portfolio    EUR 156,580,805.37 

Securities Portfolio at 31/12/2009 
 

breakdown into regulatory portfolios (nominal value) 
a) FVTPL portfolio 
b) AFS portfolio 
c) L&R portfolio 

 
 
This portfolio is used mainly to fulfil various 
commitments and cautionary deposits of around 
EUR 225 million. 
 
 More specifically, it regards a cautionary 
deposit for the issue of bank drafts (around EUR 
23.5 million) and securities to service repurchase 
agreements with ordinary customers (around EUR 
90 million). The remainder of the portfolio is mainly 
comprised of securities that may be allocated to the 
Bank of Italy if there is a need for liquidity. At 31 
December 2009, the securities allocated to 
guarantee intraday transactions amounted to a 
nominal value of around EUR 96 million. 
 
 
 
 
Structure of portfolio by type of security at 31/12/2009 
 
Corporate bonds 1.4%  
FVTPL equity securities 0.2% 
Mutual funds 0.1% 
AFS equity securities 1.3% 
Vehicles (*) 4.0% 
Government securities and similar 27.4% 
Bank bonds 65.7% 
 

(*) Indicates the Junior security relating to the Securitisation of the Bank’s non-performing loans (nominal value EUR 19.8 
million, book value EUR 17 million) 
 
 The chart above shows how the portfolio of own securities is mainly comprised of Bank Bonds (about 
66%), Government Securities (around 27%) and only 1.4% Corporate Bonds. 
 
 As regards the financial profile, it should be noted, as shown in the following chart, that 60.8% of the 
portfolio is represented by floating-rate securities or securities that mature within six months. 
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Structure of the portfolio by financial profile at 31/12/2009 
 
Structured securities (1) 8.0% 
Inflation-linked securities 2.3% 
FVTPL equity securities 0.2% 
AFS equity securities 1.3% 
Vehicles (*) 4.0% 
Floating rate securities 58.2% 
Fixed rate securities maturing within six months 2.8% 
Fixed rate securities 23.4% 
Fixed rate maturity within 6 months 2.5% 
 
(*) Indicates the Junior security relating to the Securitisation of the Bank’s non-performing loans (nominal value EUR 19.8 
million, book value EUR 17 million) 
(1) There are two types of structured securities, which amount to about EUR 40 million: swap rate securities at 10 and 30 years (CMS) or 
securities that pay a multiple of the difference between rates at 10 and at 2 years, for about EUR 19 million; securities with coupons at 
Euribor 6 months with a cap or memory cap for the remaining 21million. There are no securities with credit derivatives. 
 
 
 The portfolio as a whole has a financial duration of 1.16 years and a low average maturity and it can be 
considered fairly prudent. 
 
 If only the coupon yield is considered, the profitability of the above portfolio in 2009 was 2.65%. If the 
results of all financial assets are added as well as the positive impact on the income statement deriving from the 
valuation of the trading portfolio at fair value then the yield for 2009 equals 4.26%. Lastly, also considering the 
capital gains on the AFS portfolio, which temporarily increase equity, the yield would be 4.77%. 
 
The following tables show the breakdown of statement of financial position items as regards the Bank’s financial 
assets and hedging derivatives. 
 
Trading financial instruments 
 
Trading financial instruments (Item 20) 

(in millions of EUR) 31/12/09 31/12/08 Change on 31/12/08 

   absolute % 

Trading securities 129.0 181.0 -52.0 -28.7 

Positive vale of derivative trading contracts 5.5 5.5 0.0 -0.3 

Financial assets held for trading 134.5 186.6 -52.06 -27.9 

Negative value of derivative trading contracts 1.5 2.0 -0.5 -23.3 

Other trading liabilities 0 0 n.a. n.a. 

Financial liabilities held for trading 1.5 2.0 -0.45 -23.3 

 
 
Trading financial instruments encompass debt and capital securities classified as trading instruments, as well as  
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the positive value of derivative contracts set up for the purposes of trading. Financial liabilities held for trading 
regard derivative trading contracts with a negative value. It should be noted that derivative trading contracts 
almost entirely consist of transactions set up for the purpose of hedging which do not meet the requirements of 
IAS 39 for the application of hedge accounting. 
 
 Negative-value derivatives entirely refer to contracts set up regarding the For You product, while 
positive-value derivatives include options with interest rate caps, swaps with Zero Coupon structures and the 
basis swap resulting from the securitisation of performing mortgages. The effect of the valuation of trading 
derivatives was + EUR 1,287 thousand. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets (Item 30) 

(in millions of EUR) 31/12/09 31/12/08 Change on 31/12/08 

   absolute % 

Available-for-sale securities 206.1 195.5 10.6 5.4 

Investments in shares available for sale 5.8 6.4 -0.6 -9.5 

Total available-for-sale financial assets 211.9 201.9 10.01 5.0 

 
As at 31 December 2008, this item amounted to EUR 211.9 million, a rise of 5% up on December 2008, mainly 
due to the debt security component of institutional counterparts. 
 
The share component, which is still very limited, mainly consists of the purchase of a 2.498% share of Cedacri 
(EUR 3.5 million) recognised at cost, in line with the value of transactions on the security made in 2009. This 
company already provides the Bank with outsourced services and is the leader in Italy in IT services for the 
banking and financial sectors. The aim of the Bank’s investment is to strengthen the partnership with this 
important supplier in order to obtain operational and economic benefits.  
 
The remainder refers to equity investments in Gepafin (EUR 1.5 million), which takes into account the appraisal 
made for the Gepafin and Nuovafin merger at the beginning of the year and MPS shares, which were written 
down by about EUR 309 thousand in accordance with the internal rule requiring impairment of investments if the 
market value falls by over 30% or has a negative trend for over 18 months. 
 
Hedging Derivatives 
 
The table below provides an overall picture of the values of derivative contracts to hedge assets and liabilities. 
 
Hedging derivatives 

(in millions of EUR) 31/12/09 31/12/08 Change on 31/12/08 

   absolute % 

Positive value of fair value hedge contracts 14.5 9.9 4.6 47.2 

Negative value of fair value hedge contracts -20.5 -18.0 2.5 13.9 

Total -6.0 -8.1 -2.14 -26.3 

 
In particular, it should be noted that the Bank has only set up fair value hedging transactions. 
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The overall effect of hedging activities on the income statement in 2009 is a net negative figure of about EUR  
-1,105 thousand (recorded under item 90 in the Income Statement – Net Income from hedging activities) 
resulting from a positive change of EUR 833 thousand in the fair value of hedging derivatives and a negative 
change in the fair value of the items hedged of EUR -1,938 thousand. 
 
 
 
 
THE INCOME STATEMENT RECLASSIFIED WITH OPERATING CRITERIA 
 
The following section illustrates and comments on the income statement figures as at 31 December 2009, 
compared to those of December 2008 and reclassified according to operational criteria in order to ensure a 
clearer understanding of the underlying trends. 
 
The changes made to the income statement in order to reclassify the same are illustrated in detail below:  
 

a) the reclassified income statement item “Commissions” is the difference between items 40 (Commission 
income) and item 50 (Commission expense); 

b) the reclassified income statement item “Dividends, similar income and Profit (Loss) from equity 
investments” encompasses the values of statement of financial position item 70 (Dividends and similar 
income) and item 210 (Profit/Loss from equity investments); 

c) the reclassified income statement item “Net income from trading/valuation of financial assets” includes 
the values of Statement of financial position items 80 (Net income from trading activities), 100 
(Profit/Loss from assignment and repurchase of credit, available-for-sale financial assets, held to 
maturity investments and financial liabilities) and 110 (Net income from assets and liabilities recognised 
at fair value); 

d) the reclassified income statement item “Other operating expense/income” corresponds to Statement of 
financial position item 190 (Other operating expense/income) less recoveries of expenses which are 
then recorded under operating costs (see point e) below) and contribute to the calculation of the 
reclassified “Operating profit”; 

e) the reclassified income statement item “Recovery of expenses” includes recoveries of stamp duties and 
substitute tax (EUR 5.6 million as at 31 December 2009, EUR 5.3 million as at 31 December 2008), the 
recovery of postal expenses (EUR 2.2 million as at 31 December 2009 and EUR 1.9 million as at 31 
December 2008) and the recovery of legal expenses (EUR 0.6 million as at 31 December 2009 and 
EUR 0.4 million as at 31 December 2008) recorded in the Statement of financial position under item 190 
(Other operating expense/income); in the reclassified income statement, said item is included, to 
partially adjust administrative expenses, under operating expense. 
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Reclassified operating income statement 
(in EUR thousands) 31/12/2009 31/12/2008 Change  
   absolute % 
     
Net interest income 77,518 80,916 -3,399 -4.2 
     
Commissions 30,638 29,339 1,299 4.4 
Primary operating profit 108,156 110,256 -2,100 -1.9 
Dividends and similar income and profit/loss from equity 
investments (70+210) 

172 85 88 103.4 

Net income from trading/valuation of financial assets 9,178 -2,493 11,671 -468.1 
Net income from hedging activities -1,105 771 -1,876  
Balance other income and expense -610 -298 -311 104.3 
Operating profit 115,791 108,319 7,472 6.9 
Administrative expenses -78,173 -74,278 -3,896 5.2 

a) personnel expenses -45,221 -43,003 -2,218 5.2 
b) other administrative expenses -32,952 -31,275 1,677 5.4 

Recoveries of expenses 8,424 7,657 767 10.0 
Net impairment losses on property, equipment and 
investment property and intangible assets 

-2,066 -1,901 -165 8.7 

Operating expenses -71,815 -68,251 -3,294 4.8 
Operating income 43,976 39,798 4,178 10.5 
Net allocation to the provision for risks and charges  -1,491 -1,758 266 -15.1 
Net impairment losses on: -26,801 -17,963 -8,838 49.2 

a) receivables -26,411 -15,073 -11,337 75.2 
b) available-for-sale financial assets -422 -2,889 2,467  
c) held to maturity investments 0 0 0  
d) other financial assets 32 0 32  

Net income from recognition at fair value of property, 
equipment and investment property and intangible assets 

  0  

Value adjustments to goodwill   0  
Profit (loss) from the disposal of investments 29 0 29  
Gross Profit from continuing operations 15,712 20,078 -4,366 -21.7 
Income tax for the year -7,720 -9,457 1,738 -18.4 
Profit (Loss) from continuing operations after tax 7,993 10,621 -2,628 -24.7 
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Quarterly evolution of the Income Statement 
(in EUR thousands) QI QII QIII QIV 
     
Net interest income 19,358 19,886 18,057 20,190 
Commissions 7,127 7,390 7,493 8,628 
Primary operating profit 26,512 27,275 25,550 28,819 
Dividends and similar income and profit/loss from equity 
investments (70+210) 

 139 33 0 

Net income from trading/valuation of financial assets 1,213 3,318 2,488 2,158 
Net income from hedging activities -279 -124 -478 -224 
Balance other income and expense -20 69 -116  
Operating profit 27,426 30,678 27,477 30,211 
Administrative expenses -19,674 -20,082 -20,466 -17,950 

a) personnel expenses -11,520 -11,017 -11,674 -11,010 
b) other administrative expenses -8,154 -9,065 -8,792 -6,940 

Recoveries of expenses 2,130 2,092 2,033 2,170 
Net impairment losses on property, equipment and 
investment property and intangible assets 

-507 -501 -512 -546 

Operating expenses -18,052 -18,491 -18,946 -16,326 
Operating income 9,374 12,187 8,531 13,885 
Net allocation to the provision for risks and charges  -50 -1,784 1,266 -923 
Net impairment losses on: -5,027 -4,471 -6,774 -10,528 

a) receivables -4,656 -4,511 -6,773 -10,470 
b) available-for-sale financial assets -371 40 -2 -90 
c) held to maturity investments 0 0 0 0 
d) other financial assets 0 0 0 32 

Profit (loss) from the disposal of investments 0 5 23 0 
Gross Profit from continuing operations 4,297 5,937 3,045 2,433 
Income tax for the year -2,041 -2,558 -1,413 -1,707 
Profit (Loss) from continuing operations after tax 2,256 3,379 1,632 725 

 
The net interest income as at 31 December 2009 was EUR 77,518 thousand, showing a decrease of 4.2% on 
the figure recorded as at 31 December 2008. This was mainly due to the lower contribution of the securities 
portfolio. The average performance of the latter was 2.65% compared to 4.62% in 2008, which is in line with 
market performance rates. The customer net interest income improved following the good performance of 
deposit and loan volumes thereby offsetting the spread of asset and liability conditions in addition to the effects 
deriving from the application of provisions on overdraft commission.  
 
The quarterly profit of the balance between interest income and interest expense for the first quarter was 
substantially stable, a slight decrease in the third quarter also due to application of the provisions on overdraft 
commission mentioned above and a decisive recovery in the fourth quarter mainly due to the in banking 
volumes, the effects of which will be more visible in the future.  
 
The spread between the average interest income rate and the average interest expense rate for the period 1 
January – 31 December 2009 was 3.06% (3.44% if commission on overdrafts is considered). As at 31 December 
2007, the value of the spread was 3.30% (3.86% if commission on overdrafts is included). 
 
More specifically, the cost of deposits and the loan repayment rate were as follows: 
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- the spot interest rate on deposits (excluding foreign transactions and repos) as at 31 December 2009: 

1.321% (against 2.988% as at 31 December 2008); the average interest rate for the period was 1.83% 
(against 3.37% in the previous year); 

-  
- the spot interest rate for loans (excluding foreign transactions) as at 31 December 2009: 4.306% (against 

6.194% at 31 December 2008); the average interest rate for the period was 4.89% (against 6.67% at 31 
December 2008). 

 
The primary operating profit amounted to EUR 108,156 thousand, a decrease of 1.9% compared to the 
previous December, entirely attributable to the net interest income.  
 
The commission component, on the other hand, showed signs of recovery with a rise of 4.4% over the previous 
year. The fall in the commissions component associated with managed and administered savings is offset by a 
recovery in commissions for credit services in addition to security trading services on behalf of customers and 
payment services. This is the result of continuing growth of the customer base. 
 
Dividends, amounting to approximately EUR 172 thousand, recorded an increase of 103.4% compared to 31 
December 2008. Dividends mainly refer to the equity investment in CEDACRI. 
 
Net income from trading activities/valuation of financial assets recorded a profit of EUR 9,178 (EUR -2,493 
thousand 31 December 2008). 
 
As at 31 December 2009, the above-cited margin included: 

- EUR -5,212 thousand as net income from trading activities (EUR -2,459 thousand at 31 December 2008) 
resulting from the arithmetical sum of the following components: 

o Net profit from trading of securities of EUR 2,260 thousand circa (EUR 544 thousand at 31 December 
2007); 

o Capital gains on the valuation of securities of EUR 280 thousand circa (EUR -4,836 thousand circa at 
31 December 2008); 

o Profits from trading/valuation of trading derivatives of EUR 1,287 thousand (EUR 1,664 thousand at 31 
December 2008), mainly attributable to the advance payment of inflation-linked derivatives in addition 
to the valuation of the performing loan securitisation swap; 

o Spreads and premiums on trading derivatives of around EUR 1,381 thousand (EUR 128 thousand at 
31 December 2008); 

o Profits on exchange rates of EUR 3 thousand circa (EUR 42 thousand at 31 December 2008). 

- EUR 3,965 thousand of profit from the disposal or repurchase of available-for-sale financial assets and 
financial liabilities (EUR -35 thousand circa at 31 December 2008). 

 
Net income from hedging activities was EUR -1,105 thousand (EUR 771 thousand at 31 December 2008). 
 
The operating profit, therefore, was EUR 115,791 thousand, up 6.9% on December 2008. 
 
The bank’s operating expenses were EUR 71,815 thousand, a rise of 4.5% on the previous year. 
 
With regards to this item, the number of employees rose (from 692 at 31 December 2008 to 711 at 31 December 
2009), resulting in a 5.2% increase on 2008 for personnel expenses, amounting to EUR 45,221 thousand. 
2008 benefitted from the positive one-off effect of legislative decree no. 61 dated 8 April 2008, which provided 
for the repayment, to the extent of 40%, of suspended contributions related to the 1997 earthquake and whose 
impact on the bank was around EUR 1.1 million. Without this event the increase would be equal to 2.5%.  
 
Other administrative expenses, up by 5.4%, were also affected by the opening of new branches, higher costs 
related to property management, regulatory charges and, in general, costs related to growing bank operations. 
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The recoveries of expenses amounted to EUR 8,424 thousand, an increase of 10% on 2008 in relation to 
expanding business development. 
 
Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property and intangible assets were EUR 
2,066 thousand, up 8.7% compared to the previous year. 
 
The Cost/Income ratio2 (Operating Expenses/Operating profit) was 62.0%, compared to 63.3% at 31 
December 2008. 
 
Excluding value adjustments to property, equipment and investment property and intangible assets of EUR 
2,066 thousand, the Cost/Income (Administrative Expenses/Operating profit) would be 60.2% against 61.6% 
recorded by the same ratio at 31 December 2008.  
 
As a result of the above, Operating Income was EUR 43,976 thousand, up 10.5% on the figure recorded at 31 
December 2008.  
 
The Net Profit for the period was also formed by: 

 EUR 1,491 thousand of Net allocations to the provision for risks and charges (EUR 1,758 thousand 
at 31 December 2008), about EUR 1 million of which for the risk of certain credit positions showing signs 
of impairment in the first months of 2010; 

 EUR 26,801 thousand of Value adjustments due to impairment, mostly of loans and to a lesser extent 
securities classified in the ‘available-for-sale’ portfolio (EUR 17,963 thousand at 31 December 2008). 
This component, which had a significant impact on 2009 gross profit, is mostly due to the deterioration of 
the economy in Italy, especially in the geographical areas where the bank operates and, to a lesser 
extent, due to changes in parameters used to identify certain classes of impaired assets following 
regulatory developments. 

 
Income tax for the year amounted to EUR 7,720 thousand (EUR 9,457 thousand at 31 December 2008) at a tax 
rate of around 49.13%. The increase is mainly due to the considerable weight of losses on loans in 2009 (due to 
IRAP). 
 
Net profit amounted to EUR 7,993 thousand against a figure of EUR 10,621 thousand achieved last year. 
 
ROE3 was 4.93%. 
 

                                                 
2 Calculated as the ratio of Operating Expenses, of EUR 71,815 thousand to the Operating profit of EUR 115,791 thousand. 
3 Return on Equity (R.O.E.): is the ratio of the Net profit for the period of EUR 7,993 thousand and the Equity at the end of 
the previous year (EUR 167,324 thousand) less the profits distributed to shareholders (EUR 5,051 thousand). 
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 Statement of Comprehensive Income  (in EUR thousands) 
  2009 2008 Delta % 
10  Profit for the year 7,993 10,621 -24.7% 
 Other comprehensive income after tax    
20 Available-for-sale financial assets 3,354 (1,914) -275.3% 
 - Debt securities 3,253 (1,881) -272.9% 
 - Equity securities 101 (33)  -406.8% 
30 Property, equipment and investment property     
40 Intangible assets    
50 Hedging of investments in foreign operations    
60 Cash flow hedging    
70 Exchange rate gains (losses)    
80 Assets held for sale    
90 Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit plans    
100 Amount of valuation reserves of investments measured using the equity 

method 
   

110 Total other comprehensive income after tax 3,354 (1,914)  -275.3% 
120 Comprehensive income (Item 10 + 110) 11,347 8,707  30.3% 
 
The Bank’s comprehensive income as at 31 December 2009 amounts to about EUR 11.3 million (EUR 8.7 
million as at 31 December 2008), which is an increase of about 30.3%. 
 
The item available-for-sale financial assets made a considerable contribution to the Bank’s comprehensive 
income. As at 31 December 2009 this item amounted to about EUR 3.3 million, after the theoretical tax effect 
(against a loss of EUR 1.9 million in 2008). 
 
The considerable increase in profit from this item (mainly made up of debt securities, about 50% of which are 
from government issuers or similar) is a result of the good performance of financial markets, which in 2009 were 
characterised by lower credit spreads and interest rates (resulting in a positive effect on the fair value of fixed-
rate debt securities). 
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INTEGRATED RISK MANAGEMENT 

The organisational structure 

Integrated risk management 

The organisational structure 

The internal control system has become increasingly strategically important. As part of this system, the functions 
and bodies involved in credit, financial and operating risk management have been defined. In particular, 
excluding the standard checks performed by peripheral units and by Departments aimed at mitigating the bank’s 
operating risks, the tasks of risk supervision/management are allocated as follows: 

1. Internal Audit Department: has the task of supervising the operations of company functions and checking the 
adequacy and the smooth running of internal control systems. In this regard, it ensures that credit, financial 
and operating risks are correctly managed in branches and by general management; 

2. Planning-Management Control-Risk Management Department: analyses corporate risks as a whole, 
monitoring the overall corporate risk situation and therefore assists General Management in the overall 
management of risk;  

3. Organisation and Support Services Department: is delegated the task of drawing up the macrostructure, the 
internal control model (broken down into the organisational system, the system of governance, the 
management system and the control system) and single business processes (for example the strategic, 
credit, financial process etc.) and the periodic procedure to assess the adequacy and the smooth running of 
the internal control system; 

4. Credit Department, which supervises the disbursement of credit by the Bank, identifies and analyses areas 
for intervention, ensures supervision of asset quality, proposing the necessary corrective action and 
establishing assessment and reliability criteria for customers and, without prejudice to the responsibilities of 
the Internal Audit Department, supervises and coordinate the set of activities aimed to control risk through a 
dedicated office; 

5. Finance Department, which follows and constantly analyses the Bank’s global positions in euro and in 
foreign currency, in terms of its income profile, liquidity, risk and respect of operational limits; 

6. Administration Department: defines criteria for assessing risks related to the accuracy of financial 
information, ensures correct performance of the activities under its responsibility and the related controls in 
accordance with internal operational rules and legal rules on financial statements, supervision and taxation. 
In cooperation with the Internal Audit Department, it oversees the accounts and acts as regulatory 
supervisor for all the offices of the General Management, from both an equity and economic perspective, 
also with regards to actual execution of audits delegated to the various offices according to their sphere of 
competence. 

7. Corporate Bodies, Legal and Compliance Department, which has the task of ensuring governance, meaning 
the prevention, management and control of the risk of the Bank’s non compliance (meaning legal and 
reputation risk) with legislation and with self-imposed regulations. 

8. Finance and Liquidity Committee, a strategic and advisory body, whose task is to set policy on company 
finance and to exercise decision-making powers over liquidity 

9. Risk Committee, which has responsibilities as regards the management of the Bank’s overall risk profile and 
the assessment of performance achieved in terms of risk-return and therefore consumption of both 
supervisory and economic capital. 

The internal control system is continuously updated and supplemented, also in the light of Legislative Provisions 
that are issued by the ordinary legislator or by the Supervisory Authority from time to time. 
 



 29

 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is defined as the likelihood that a financial obligation is not fulfilled by a certain term or after such term 
and is also seen as a concentration risk. The bank’s operations are retail-oriented therefore it is mainly exposed 
to credit risk. Part E of the Notes to the financial statements – Section 1 – Credit Risk should be referred to for 
details on the breakdown of the credit portfolio and credit risk and for a description of the organisation of the 
credit process. 
 
With regards to management methods, it should be pointed out that as of March 2003, at advisory level in the 
preliminary credit process, the Bank uses the CRS (Credit Rating System), which enables the likelihood of 
insolvency of requesting parties to be established by assigning them a score of merit, in order to enable the 
Bank to group its credit portfolio into similar risk categories. 
 
The assignment of said score is based on the performance of the customer’s accounts at the Bank and in the 
Banking System as a whole, and on quantitative and qualitative information obtained from internal and external 
sources. 
 
The calculation of the expected loss and of the unexpected loss of the credit portfolio will be used in a more 
structured way in future, to establish operating authorisations and for loan pricing. 
 
With specific regard to the management of existing credit risk, since the start of the first half of 2006, the Bank 
has adopted a procedure called “ICC – Iter Controllo Crediti” (Credit Control Procedure), which acts as an 
automatic support to credit control activities, by developing a personalised work-flow, both in terms of the 
automatic generation of loan requests and as regards the control procedure that said requests have to follow.  
 
One of the bank’s priorities is to pay special attention to the continuing changes in legislation as regards credit 
risk management in order maintain a consistent and functional system, also in light of the critical points found in 
the area of credit. 
 
With regards to the strategic lines of credit policy it should be mentioned that in 2009 the bank continued to 
operate with special attention to complex solutions to achieve overall recovery/development in spite of the 
difficult credit situation. The bank continues to provide companies with sensible, prudent and selective credit 
support without, however, covering amounts owed to other banks unless under exceptional conditions. 
 
Particular attention is paid to avoiding participation in purely speculative initiatives in addition to ensuring joint 
participation in the initiatives of entrepreneurs, with their own capital and their own sureties, etc. 
 
Also with regards to the risk of concentration of the customer loan portfolio – intended as the risk deriving from 
loans to counterparties, groups of associated counterparties and counterparties in the same economic segment 
or operate in the same line of business or belong to the same geographical area – the bank operates according 
to guidelines that provide limits to the concentration of credit risk by counterparty and economic segment. In 
particular, under the strategic lines of the bank’s credit policy a general limit is set for each customer, amounting 
to EUR 1 million and EUR 3 million for each company group, except in exceptional cases. Policies to limit credit 
risk also focus on certain sectors such as the construction and car industry. 
 
Recently, with the support of a company called Riskmetrics, the Bank has begun a review of all credit risk 
assessment, management and monitoring tools.  
 
Market risk 
The bank’s investment policy is based on criteria to limit market risk, with particular reference to all its 
components: interest rates, price and exchange rates. 
 
No operation is undertaken that entails risks related to commodities. 
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In particular, it should be noted that, in accordance with a resolution passed by the Board of Directors, the scope 
of operation of the Finance Department has been restricted as regards undertaking operations (the securities 
portfolio, with limited exceptions, represents a liquidity reserve and buffer for the net interest income) and limits 
and rules have been established, which in practice lean towards investments consistent with a low risk profile, 
which naturally influences the return that can be obtained from said investments.  
 
Thus, investment and trading activities are performed according to the guidelines established by the Board of 
Directors and executed within the scope of a well-defined system of authorisations and powers and a framework 
of internal regulations that also regulate certain conservative parameters for new investments, including: 

- the maximum percentage of fixed rate securities permitted in the non-investment portfolio; 

- the upper threshold of the average duration; 
- the type of financial instruments that may be purchased, limited to those with a low risk profile and adequate 

ratings;  
- The maximum threshold for corporate bonds, structured bonds and shares. 
 
Beyond marginal activity on options on S&P/MIB regarding government securities, derivative transactions are 
not carried out, with the exception of the hedging of “caps” on residential mortgages, fixed rate mortgages and 
interest rate swaps associated with the issue of bonds by the Bank. 
 
The operational authorisations assigned regard nominal amounts, supplemented with “stop loss” limits. In any 
event, a limit to the global VaR of EUR 1.5 million has been set for the entire portfolio. Limits have also been set 
for maximum credit exposure and maximum counterparty risk.  
 
Treasury activity is also minimal, with the exception of some limited hot money transactions with leading 
counterparties. Similarly, foreign exchange transactions are performed almost exclusively due to network 
requirements.  
 
For further information see Part E of the Notes to the financial statements – Section 2 – Market Risk. 
 
Interest rate risk regarding the Banking Book 
 
Normally, the Statement of financial position of financial brokers is mainly composed of financial assets and 
liabilities that are interest rate sensitive. 
 
As a retail bank, whose primary credit risk is towards specific customer segments, assumption of interest rate 
risk from funding and lending is kept at a low level. 
 
Risk management is geared towards limiting the impact of unfavourable interest rate fluctuations on the 
economic value of banks and on cash flows generated by items on the Statement of financial position. Limiting 
exposure to interest rate risk is mainly pursued by indexing asset and liability items under monetary market 
parameters (normally Euribor) and by balancing the duration of asset and liability items at very low levels. 
 
For further information see Part E of the Notes to the financial statements – Section 1.2 – Market Risk. 
 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Following the recent turbulence in the financial markets, with repercussions on the money and interbank 
markets, an important role is played by liquidity risk management, generally under the form of fulfilling payment 
commitments,  
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which can be caused by the inability to obtain funds (funding liquidity risk) or by limits to asset disposal (market 
liquidity risk). 
 
Thus, also in order to comply with the requirements of the Supervisory Authority to improve Liquidity 
Management techniques, Banca Popolare di Spoleto has launched a process to refine said techniques, which 
has led to the approval of the Bank’s Liquidity Policy. 
 
More specifically, the above policy envisages that the following are carried out monthly:  
 
a. Monitoring of short-term liquidity. 
 
In this regard, liquidity mismatches for maturities of under three months are calculated by comparing the Net 
Financial Treasury Position, which as at 31 December was EUR 294 million with Liquidity Reserves 
(Counterbalancing capacity) corresponding to EUR 284 million at the same date. 
 
 

SHORT TERM LIQUIDITY 31-12-09 
 
Securities allocated to Bank of Italy Overdraft Guarantee, committed to REPOS and available on demand 
 
(Ctv Statement of 
financial position) 

Total Portfolio Of which overdraft 
guarantee to the 
Bank of Italy  

Of which 
committed to 
customer REPOS 

Of which 
committed as 
Cautionary 
deposits 

Total gross 
marketable 
Haircut 

FVPL Portfolio 106,821,115 40,700,000 2,000,000  64,121,115 
AFS portfolio 151,260,000 28,500,000 35,359,000 23,400,000 64,001,000 
L&R Portfolio 109,670,022 26,972,000 50,950,000   
TOTAL 367,751,137 96,172,000 88,309,000 23,400,000 128,122,115 
      
 Total Net 

Marketable 
Total Counterbalancing Capacity 

Overdraft and Marketable Securities 
 

2/3 Short Hc 10% 132,433,269 283,785,798  
1/3 Long Hc 25% 55,180,529     

 
 
The monitoring is made by constructing indicators that aim to relate the Net Financial Treasury Position with 
liquidity reserves to determine any capacity/incapacity. The purpose of the measurement is to show the 
remaining percentage of reserves in terms of the main ways in which they are absorbed:  
 
• treasury liquidity, namely the absorption of liquidity generated by treasury activities, related only to liquidity 

reserves on demand. It is obtained as the ratio of the Bank’s Net Financial Position to Liquidity Reserves on 
Demand (Cash and eligible securities). Time horizon < 3 days. 

• market liquidity, namely the absorption of liquidity generated by treasury activities, related to liquidity 
reserves on demand and those that can be obtained by selling own securities on the market (prudential 
haircuts are applied to all securities that can be traded on the market based on the type and therefore the 
average time to sell). Time horizon 15-30 days. 

• operating liquidity, namely the absorption of liquidity generated by treasury activities including forecast cash 
flows of banking activities for a three month period, with relation to liquidity reserves (on demand and 
market). Time horizon 3 months. 

 
An analysis of liquidity does not show any reason for concern in the timeframes under consideration. 
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SHORT-TERM LIQUIDITY INDICATORS  31-12-09 
 
Trend of liquidity indicators 
 

Treasury liquidity  Market liquidity   Operating liquidity 
 
 
 
b. the monitoring of “structural liquidity” over a long time horizon.  
 
The purpose of quantifying imbalances in cash flows for maturities of over three months is to calibrate the 
funding policies pursued by means of regular bond deposits, issues of subordinate liabilities, the latter in line 
with the Bank’s equity requirements, as well as through potential alternative sources of funding, such as the 
securitisation of assets for REPO with ECB or the opening of secured bank credit lines. 
 
From a structural standpoint the analysis shows a balanced liquidity profile. 
 
c. the evaluation of the results of “ordinary” risk assessment, in the light of stress tests able to capture the 

“extraordinary” risk component. 
 
In this regard, two scenarios have been established which envisage, respectively, economic recession and a fall 
in the level of confidence in BPS, in the light of which the Bank periodically evaluates the capacity of liquidity 
reserves. A Survival Analysis is also carried out, the aim of which is to establish how long the Bank would 
survive in extreme circumstances, such as the occurrence of the two scenarios described above at the same 
time. 
 
d. a process to manage a situation of liquidity crisis and the Contingency Funding Plan to be activated in this 

event.  
 
Operating risks 
 
Operating risks, which make up a heterogeneous class, are not the typical risks involved in banking or business 
activities. These risks may derive from internal or external factors and they can show up beyond the scope or 
area of the company. 
 
The definition adopted by the bank, in line with the indications of regulatory provisions, determines operating risk 
as the risk of suffering losses due to the inadequacy or inefficiency of procedures, human resources or internal 
systems, or due to external events. This type includes, among others, losses deriving from fraud, human error, 
interrupted operations, system unavailability, breach of contract, natural disaster. Operating risks also include 
legal risk, whereas strategic risk and reputation risk are not included. 
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For further information see Part E of the Notes to the financial statements – Section 1.4 – Operating Risks. 
 
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) 
The “New Regulations for the Prudential Supervision of Banks” (Circular no. 263 dated 27/12/2006) are based 
on three pillars. The first introduces a capital requirement to cover risks traditionally related to banking activities 
(credit, counterparty, market and operating); the second requires banks to establish a strategy and a process to 
control current and future capital adequacy, assigning the Supervisory Authority the task of checking the 
reliability and coherence of results and to adopt, where necessary, any corrective measures; the third introduces 
portfolio obligations to inform the public as regards capital adequacy, risk exposure and the general 
characteristics of the relative management and control systems. 
 
In order to comply with the provisions of the “second pillar”, Banca Popolare di Spoleto adopted a prudential 
control process system. Company bodies are responsible for the system and it is used by the bank to perform 
yearly assessments on current and future financial adequacy in relation to the series of risks undertaken within 
the scope of operations and business strategies. 
 
On 30 April 2009, the Bank submitted an ICAAP report (referring to 2008) to the Bank of Italy providing the 
Supervisory Authority with details on the organisational aspect and the method adopted for the internal capital 
assessment process and the self-assessment made by the Bank regarding the adequacy of said process. 
 
In the light of the considerations included in said document, the Bank has informed the Supervisory Authority 
that it considers its capital to be adequate to cover current and future internal capital, any requirements resulting 
from risks for which a qualitative assessment was conducted (residual risk, reputation risk and strategic risk) as 
well as the results of stress tests.  
 
On 30 March 2010 the Bank shall forward the ICAAP (referring to 2009) report to the Supervisory Authority. 
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REGULATORY CAPITAL AND PRUDENTIAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
As at 31 December 2009, the capital calculated based on the “New Regulations for the Prudential Supervision of 
Banks” (Circular no. 263 dated 27 December 2006) was EUR 255,234 thousand. 
 
Compared to 31 December 2008, an increase in Tier 1 capital of EUR 46,936 thousand was recorded due to the 
share capital increase of 29 June 2009 (EUR 39,350) and capitalisation of the 2009 non-distributable profit (EUR 
3,885). The remainder refers to the recovery of capital losses on securities in the AFS portfolio. 
 
The reduction in Tier 2 capital of about EUR 9 thousand compared to 31 December 2008 is attributable to the 
amortisation of certain amounts of subordinated loans issued and not supplemented. 
 
Regulatory Capital and solvency ratios 
 

31/12/09 
 

31/12/08 
 

Regulatory capital   
Tier1 capital 206,671 159,735 
Tier 2 capital 48,563 57,623 
Total capital 255,234 217,358 
   
Prudential requirements   
Credit risk 150,496 155,641 
Of which securitisations 5,342 8,332 
Market risk 1,966 2,847 
Operating risk 16,448 15,434 
Total prudential requirements 168,909 173,922 
   
Risk-weighted assets 2,111,368 2,174,025 
   
Tier 1 capital/risk-weighted assets 9.79% 7.35% 
Total capital/risk-weighted assets 12.09% 10.00% 
Surplus capital compared to minimum requirement 86,325 43,436 
 
The minimum capital required by supervisory regulations to cover Pillar 1 risks is EUR 168,909 thousand, based 
on the net value of risk-weighted assets (EUR 2,111,368 thousand), reflecting the positive effect of certain 
initiatives for regulatory optimisation and lower absorption of the item “other assets”; this results in surplus capital 
of EUR 86,325 thousand, with a 33.8% weight on regulatory capital compared to EUR 43,436 as at 31 
December 2008 (20.0% weight on regulatory capital). 
 
The Tier 1 to risk-weighted assets ratio was 9.79% (against 7.35% as at 31 December 2008). 
 
The regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets ratio was 12.09% (against 10.00% as at 31 December 2008). 
 
The credit risk (including the risks related to exposures to the securitisations Spoleto Mortgages and Ulisse 4) 
amounted to EUR 150,496 thousand, with a weight of 59.0% on regulatory capital compared to EUR 155,641 
thousand as at 31 December 2008 (71.6% weight on regulatory capital). 
 
Market risk (trading portfolio risk and exchange risk) was EUR 1,944 thousand, and represented 0.8% of 
regulatory capital compared to the figure as at 31 December 2008 of EUR 2,847 thousand (1.3% of regulatory 
capital). 
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Operating risks amounted to EUR 16,488 thousand, representing 6.4% of regulatory capital compared to 7.1% 
recorded at 31 December 2008. 
 
ORGANISATION STRUCTURE, OPERATING STRUCTURE AND OTHER INFORMATION 
 
ORGANISATION STRUCTURE 
 
The banking system has been impacted, for some time now, by radical changes resulting from important 
legislative innovations (primary legislation and regulations of control bodies), by significant transformations of the 
commercial features of the reference markets (increased competition – changes in the financial requirements of 
customers – reduction of unit margins and spreads), and by the independent rise in operating costs.  
 
The changing nature of the scenario has forced the banks to direct, with increased determination, any initiatives 
for change towards achieving ambitious and challenging objectives to raise levels of efficiency and productivity 
by: 
 
- increasing the number of products and innovative services offered; 
 
- developing adequate risk management and cost management policies; 
 
- by improving profitability and the level of customer satisfaction. 
 
The Bank has set up numerous projects aimed at exploiting any potential strategic lever available:  
 
reengineering processes also by using outsourcing arrangements; 
 
monitoring and rendering costs flexible; 
 
augmenting the governance of operating and management risk; 
 
focusing human resources on the core business, on “team” culture and on service quality. 
 
On the basis of the above and in line with the 2007-2010 Business Plan, in 2008, the Bank’s Board of Directors 
launched the “2008-2010 Banking System” project, which entailed a general review of the company 
organisational model, based, inter alia, on the search for process and product innovation combined with the 
acceleration of generational change and job rotation. 
 
Already at the beginning of 2009 the international crisis, which began in 2008 as a result of the bursting of the 
real-estate market bubble and the defaults on sub-prime securities, had a serious impact and jeopardised the 
stability of banking systems and consumer confidence in banks. 
 
In particular, the credit market went through a period of great and profound change in rules, organisation, 
conduct, controls, products, customer relations and the relations between operators. 
 
The changes still underway make it necessary for banks to completely revise their approach to the market, in 
order to face the challenges taking shape and on the horizon. 
 
In the first half of 2009, the bank started up additional initiatives to streamline their organisation structure, in 
accordance with the development lines of the “2008-2010 Banking System” Project. 
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 General Management – rationalise the overall governance structure and the hierarchy relations of the 

Finance and Services department, also in consideration of the absence of the Deputy General Manager 
of Finance and Services since 1 January 2009; 

 
 Sales Network - optimise the credit cycle by implementing a project to diversify powers in the credit 

process according to customer segment and credit rating. 
 
In particular, in accordance with the current organisation model and future structure already approved, the 
following interventions have been undertaken for the General Management: 
 
1.  Appointment of a Chief Financial Officer who, taking on the role of Manager in charge of financial 
reporting (Law 262/2005 "Provisions for the protection of savings and financial market regulations" as amended 
and Legislative Decree 58/1998 art. 154-bis), directly reports to the General Manager and in charge of: 
Administration – Finance – Planning Management Control and Risk – Investor Relator, External Relations and 
Special Projects; no liquidity management duties have been assigned to the C.F.O.; 
 
2. Implementation of the On-line Channel Office and Commercial Management Transparency Office 
(working under and answering directly to the Acting Deputy General Manager); 
 
3.  Renaming the Market and Liquidity Risk Management Committee into the RISK COMMITTEE, while 
eliminating inconsistent parts and, at the same time, renaming the Finance Committee into LIQUIDITY AND 
FINANCE COMMITTEE, supplementing it with the parts concerning the management of risks relating to the 
Banking Book; The RISK COMMITTEE is also in charge of the following activities: 
 
 a) assessing the bank’s exposure to risk, according to yearly and multiple-year development objectives, 
 
 b) verifying and monitoring overall risk trends compared to limits assigned at various operational levels; 
 
 c) preparing risk management policies to propose to the Board of Directors. 
 
4. Developing Network Credit Centres working under and answering to the Credit Department of General 
Management through the Manager of Network Coordination, with duties relating to the credit process, 
preparation of the abridged report for corporate bodies in addition to assessing whether customer credit ratings 
are consistent with their risk profile, also for the purpose of activating the override process. 
 
Naturally, details on the operating duties, activities and rules for the functions described above are provided in 
the General Management Regulations, which have been duly updated.  
 
Improving skills in the governance of credit quality and in customer relations, optimising risk management with 
returns on operations, aligning timing, criteria, procedures and the quality of managed risks, were the primary 
objectives of the above measures. 
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THE OPERATING STRUCTURE 
 
The multichannel distribution model 
 
The Territorial Network 
 
Sales Areas 
 
As of 31 December 2009, the Bank had 102 branches, 2 Treasury Offices, 1 financial shop and 1 advisory desk, 
located in Umbria, Marche, Tuscany, Abruzzo, Lazio and Lombardy, territorially divided into five Sales Areas, 
known as North, Centre, South, Marche and Rome. 
 
Financial advisors 
 
In addition to its network of branches, BPS also has a network of financial advisors, to provide a professional 
and accurate service on financial instruments and personalised investment solutions. As at 31 December 2009, 
the network of financial advisors was made up of a group of 38 professionals (28 as at 31 December 2008), 
whose global deposits amounted to around EUR 97 million. 
 
Expansion of this network of advisors in 2009 is a part of the strategic objectives of our institution as the Bank 
believes that these professionals, suitably integrated with the branches and with all other professional staff, can 
contribute to considerably increasing business development capacity.  
 
Virtual Banking 
The BPS Virtual Banking channel provides "Phone Banking", "Remote Banking", "On-line Trading" and "E-
commerce" services. These services have been greatly appreciated by our customers as they allow a 
personalised relationship to be forged with BPS.  
 
"BPS On-Line" services mean that customers can access their own resources using different tools such as the 
Internet, telephone, fax and mobile phone.  
 
The number of customers using virtual banking services as at 31 December 2009 corresponded to 13,218 
connections. 
 
This channel is developed through the activation of advanced technological platforms that enable customers to 
enjoy a service on a par with those of the bank’s main competitors in the on-line trading sector, as well as 
through continuous attention to all product innovations regarding "Home Banking" and "Remote Banking". 
 
INNOVATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
In 2009, Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA concentrated on expanding its regional network, on developing its 
footprint in neighbouring areas (see previous paragraph on the operating structure) and on seeking better sales 
effectiveness combined with increased organisational and management efficiency and a extended range of 
products and services.  
 
With regard to the latter, the innovations that have characterised the Bank over the past year are illustrated 
below. 
 
In terms of Customer Deposits, the issue of bonds continued, with the aim of acquiring new customers and of 
converting administered securities in custody into customer deposits.  
 
In line with the annual bond issue programme, ordinary fixed and floating rate bonds were issued. 
 
In terms of Managed Savings, in a scenario that is still difficult for mutual investment funds yet decidedly 
excellent for Branch I revaluable policies and branch V capitalisation policies, initiatives focused on the following 
areas: 

1. placement among targeted non-retail customers of the mutual funds and SICAV of SGR Anima / Morgan 
Stanley Investment Funds and Credit Agricole Asset  
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 Management, together with the funds of Prima SGR (formerly Monte Paschi Asset Management); 
2. sales focus on AXA MPS Vita SpA policies, specifically branch I (“Bussola Speciale” and “Double 

Prestige”, revaluable single-premium policies for the family and private segments respectively) and 
branch V (“Diga” and “Propensione Top”, capitalisation policies for the corporate segment”; 

3. sales focus on asset management of “monetary” securities. 
 
With regard to Loans to Individuals, at least two initiatives deserve a mention: 
 

1. the promotional launch of the floating-rate home mortgage loan with a pre-set cap, particularly suitable 
for customers who intend to take advantage of extremely low interest rates, but with protection against 
growing interest rates in the years to come; 

 
2. the campaign to combine credit protection policies with current loans. During an economic crisis like the 

current one, the campaign intends to raise the awareness of borrowers to protect themselves against 
unforeseeable and damaging events such as losing their job / accidents / temporary disability / etc., 
which might jeopardise their ability to pay off their mortgage loan. 

 
With regard to Business Loans, important agreements have been signed with Trade Associations in Lazio, 
Abruzzo and Marche, to guarantee an efficient financial assistance service in branches that have recently been 
opened out of the Umbria region.  
 
As regards Banca Reale, three important products were launched:  

1. the current account “amico”. The initiative was born to help acquire new customers referred by our 
regular account holders. The “amico” current account has benefits for the new customer and for the 
“referring” customer. It is an original initiative the only one of its kind in Italy; 

2. the promotional campaign for credit cards and debit cards in collaboration with Cartasi SpA. Customers 
who apply for the Classic, Gold or Business Plus credit card in 2009 will receive a discount for the card 
as well as other tangible benefits. In addition, businesses that install our new debit card system this year 
will be given special conditions on credit card commissions; 

3. an agreement with private and public workers who are members of the CISL union (Perugia). The 
agreement provides special conditions for current accounts, personal loans and home loans; 

4. an agreement with Cassa Edile (Perugia) for distributing the prepaid card “BpS in Tasca” to members of 
Cassa Edile. This way workers in the construction sector will have their payments due from Cassa Edile 
paid directly into their “BpS in Tasca” card instead of being paid in cash or by cheque. Members can 
receive their card under special conditions at any branch of our Bank. 

 
PERSONNEL MANAGEMENT 
Over recent years Banca Popolare di Spoleto paid special attention to personnel management policies selecting 
employees with the same care as customers and shareholders. They are considered as stakeholders and it is 
our interest to follow a policy of professional growth and investment. 
 
The 2007-2010 Business Plan determined the following levers with regards to personnel management: 
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- increase employment levels and the production skills of each worker 
 
- professional growth 
 
- increase the sense of belonging to a successful commercial organisation 
 
- participation in the distribution of wealth through adequate incentive systems 
 
 
Worker incentive system 
During the year the incentive system was updated as part of the policies on human resource management: The 
system focuses primarily on economic objectives, especially for the sales network. The objectives are geared 
towards the long term and customer satisfaction while management objectives are based on the assessment of 
performance. 
 
Hiring policies 
The recruitment and hiring process starts from determining yearly workforce needs when drafting the budget. 
Based on these needs the recruitment process is defined and implemented according to the principle of 
“localism”, focusing on the value of "local" resources which underlies this policy. In order to champion the best 
professionals in local area the Bank also stipulated agreements with local employment offices. Moreover, about 
one year ago the bank started a partnership with the University of Perugia and with Libera Università degli Studi 
Sociali di Roma in order to recruit young professionals for technical positions in DG areas. 
 

Year 2007 2008 2009 
CVs received 600 640 1,163 
Workers hired 39 56 44 
Selection index 6.5 8.75 3.78 
 
 
Workforce 
As at December 2009, the Bank had 711 employees against 692 employees as at 31 December 2008 (+2.7). 
 
44 new workers were hired during the year against 25 terminations. 
 

WORKFORCE BY CONTRACT CATEGORY AS AT 31.12.2009 
Executives 1% 

3rd and 4th level managers 14% 
1st and 2nd level managers 18% 

Professional areas 67% 
 
The positions of the workforce were as follows: 
 
9 executives 
 
95 3rd and 4th level managers 
 
130 1st and 2nd level managers 
 
477 employees in various professional areas 
 
In addition, as at 31 December 2009, Banca Monte dei Paschi S.p.A. also had 2 executives on secondments.  
 
646 workers were hired by permanent contract (91% of the total) and 65 by temporary contract (9%). 16 
employees are under a part-time contract, amounting to 2.3% of the Bank's workforce. 
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FULL-TIME AND PART-TIME WORKERS AS AT 
31.12.2009  
 

WORKERS ON PERMANENT AND TEMPORARY 
CONTRACTS AS AT 31.12.2009 

PART-TIME 2.3%  TEMPORARY CONTRACT 9.1%  
FULL-TIME 98%  PERMANENT CONTRACT 91%  
 
Training 
In the second half of 2009, also by virtue of an agreement stipulated with the union organisations, several 
training projects funded through Fondo Banche Assicurazioni (FBA) started up in the month of October and are 
scheduled to end in 2010. More specifically, the courses concern: 
 
 - Management Growth Plan with the aim of developing relational and action skills of young workers 
who have proven their potential professional capacity. The purpose of the plan is to cover middle management 
positions in the network and general management. 
 - Trainer Education with the aim of improving the ability and skills of internal personnel responsible for 
training courses. 
 - Training on Transparency and the Correctness of Relations between Intermediates and 
Customers with the aim of simplifying documentation and facilitating the ability to compare information in 
addition to safeguarding customers. 
 
The table below shows details on the training programmes conducted over the last four years, which specifically 
concerned credit, financial and regulatory courses: 
 

 Days Participants Average (*) 
    
2006 1711 1376 2.79 
    
2007 3789 2852 5.63 
    
2008 4167 2743 6.11 
    
2009 2881 2048 4.10 
    
(*) excluding e-learning    
 
In addition to the above is the e-learning programme, which includes initiatives related to Consorzio Patti Chiari 
(account comparison, changes to current account; informed investment; ATM, cards, internet and security; 
automatic bank transfer) and to financial advisors. 
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CUSTOMER BASE 
Banca Popolare di Spoleto views its customers and the relationship of trust as the fundamental factor on which it 
bases its corporate culture for creating medium/long-term value. 
 

Development of Customer Base 
 
As evidence of the Bank’s dynamic commercial vitality and excellent relationship with customers the Bank’s 
customer base4 rose from 116,744 as at 31 December 2008 to 124,343 as at 31 December 2009, a grow rate of 
6.5%, which is considerably higher than the system average. 
 
This figure, which is the result of 15,058 new accounts opened against 7,459 closed, confirms the Bank's ability 
to attract new customers in the areas where the bank opens up a new branch or has recently opened a branch 
as well as the Bank's ability to retain customers in the areas where the bank is traditionally deeply-rooted. 
 
The customer base breakdown by geographical area confirms the Bank’s traditional presence in the Region of 
Umbria (81.9% of total customers). Customers in surrounding regions, under recent expansion, make up 18.1% 
of the total, which is in any case an important piece of the total customer base for Banca Popolare di Spoleto. 
 
 

Customer Base by geographical area as at 31.12.2009 
 

ABRUZZO 0.48% 
LAZIO 10.10% 

LOMBARDY 0.53% 
MARCHE 5.86% 
TUSCANY 1.07% 
UMBRIA 81.95% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
4 Customers are considered parties who have at least one active account with Banca Popolare di Spoleto 
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Customers by segment as at 31.12.2009 
 

SME 2.14% 
CORPORATE 0.36% 
PRIV.+FAM.79.63% 

SMALL BUSINESS 17.87% 
 
As confirmation of the our deeply-rooted attachment to the territory, the customer retention rate of Banca 
Popolare di Spoleto – i.e., the percentage of active customers at the beginning and at the end of the financial 
year – continued to be very high (an average of about 91.98%), which is a tangible sign of the long-term and 
trusting relationship we enjoy with our customers. 
 
Risk positions, including guarantors, rose from 67,457 as at 31 December 2008, to 69,464 as at 31 December 
2009 (+2.98%). 
 
The Bank greatly exceeded the threshold of 100,000 current accounts. This is due to intense business 
development carried out over recent years to expand our customer base. 
 
As at 31 December 2009, the number of ordinary current accounts amounted to 108,635, up by 11.6% over the 
97,384 recorded as at 31 December 2008. This number is the result of 19,903 new accounts opened against 
8,652 current accounts closed). By comparing this figure to that as at 31 December 2004 (74,410) it can be seen 
how in the last 5 years ordinary current accounts have risen at a yearly rate of about 7.9%. 
 
 

Number of current accounts 
 

 
The number of securities portfolios was up by 2.27% compared to 31 December 2008, rising from 30,707 to 
31,304. 
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SHARE PERFORMANCE AND RATINGS 
 
Prices 
 
BPS is listed on the Official Italian Stock Market and is included in the FTSE Italia Microcap index. 
 
In 2009 its stock price fell by 2.75%, closing the year at a price of EUR 4.951 (5.09 as at 31 December 2008). 
During the year, the highest share price recorded by Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA was EUR 5.6 on 24 April 
2009 and the lowest share price of EUR 3.96 was recorded on 10 March 2009. 
 
Statistical price overview 
 2009 2008 2007 
Average 4.87 6.72 10.96 
Minimum 3.96 4.74 8.2 
Maximum 5.61 9.2 12.32 
 
 31/12/2009 31/12/2008 31/12/2007 
Price (EUR) 4.95 5.09 9.17 
No. ordinary shares 29,749,247 21,879,190 21,879,190 
Capitalisation (EUR millions) 147 111  
 
In 2009, average daily trading volumes for BPS stock was 3,571 shares (3,253 shares in 2008), corresponding 
to around 907,147 shares traded over one year (approx. 872,471 shares traded in 2008). 
 
 
Figures per share and stock market indicators 
 

 2009 2008 2007 
Earnings per share (***) 0.269 0.485 0.484 
Net worth per share 7.12 7.65 7.65 
Dividend per share 0.13 0.24 0.39 
Price/Earning (*) 18.14 13.86 22.66 
Price/Book Value(*) 0.68 0.66 1.43 
Dividend yield (**) 2.6% 4.7% 4.3% 
(*) calculated on the weighted average of official prices recorded on the Stock Market in the reference year 
(**) on end-of-year price 
(***) on number of shares at year-end 
 
Ratings 
As at 31 December 2009, the ratings assigned by Moody’s to Banca Popolare di Spoleto were the following: 
 
Long Term Deposits A3 
Short Term Deposits P-2 
BFSR C- 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE (pursuant to art. 123-bis Consolidated Law on 
Finance) 
 
1. PROFILE OF THE ISSUER 
The Bank’s corporate bodies operate to combine the image of a local Bank and an innovative Bank intent on 
satisfying customer needs in an efficient manner, also by adopting a multi-channel strategy for the distribution of 
innovative products and services. 
 
Our goal is to be the leading local bank, strategically independent, a player in the market of reference, capable 
of developing value for shareholders and customers, through a fair and transparent corporate governance 
system. 
 
The Bank has adopted a Corporate Governance model that established the roles and the specific activities of 
each corporate body: the Board of Directors, the Board of Statutory Auditors and Top Management, identifying 
their activities as regards decision-making, proposals, reporting and assessment. 
 
Following the “Supervisory provisions regarding the organisation and corporate governance of banks” issued by 
the Bank of Italy on 4 March 2008, the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of 29 June 2009 approved the 
amendments to the articles of association to implement the above-mentioned supervisory regulations and 
governance model. On the same date the ordinary shareholders' meeting approved additional changes to the 
regulatory framework. 
 
Essentially, the meeting confirmed the choice of keeping a traditional system as it is considered more suitable to 
the needs of the Bank and, above all, it meets the expectations of shareholders. Indeed, on the whole this model 
is able to ensure effective oversight by the Board of Statutory Auditors, Internal Control Committee, Internal 
Audit, Compliance and Risk Management Units and by the Manager in charge of financial reporting. 
 
In particular, this administration and control system is characterised by the presence of: 
 
 - The General Shareholders’ Meeting, ordinary or extraordinary, decides on resolutions related to, inter 
alia, appointing and removing members of the Board of Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors, 
establishing their remuneration, approving the financial statements and allocation of profit, resolutions on 
mergers, spin-offs and split-ups, share capital increases and any amendments to the articles of association, 
appointing the independent auditing firm. 
 
During the Shareholders’ Meeting mentioned above it was decided to eliminate the statutory provision for an 
Executive Committee since its elimination would not compromise Bank operations. 
 
 - a Board of Directors, which establishes and oversees strategic guidelines; 
 
 - the Board of Statutory Auditors oversees compliance with legal, regulatory and statutory provisions, 
correct administration, adequacy of organisation and control structures and company administration-accounting 
systems, and verifies correct implementation of the corporate governance rules provided by the Code of Self-
Discipline for listed companies. 
 
During the review of the organisation described above the strategic role of the Board of Directors was 
highlighted and already marked by matters under their sole responsibility as provided by the articles of 
association. Indeed, it is the Board’s role to manage company affairs through the various corporate bodies of the 
Bank by delegating specific functions set in the system of independent decision-making. The General Manager 
plays an extremely important role in management, which includes, inter alia, implementing company policies and 
risk management policies as well as implementing the resolutions, plans and guidelines set by the Board of 
Directors.  
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One of the most important powers of the General Manager is the power to advance proposals to the Board of 
Directors thereby attaining a careful balance of powers and responsibility in the bank. The Chairman of the 
Board of Directors essentially facilitates the liaison between management and strategic supervision. 
 
Each process was also structured and rules were established to ensure regular assessment of the processes 
themselves. 
 
2. INFORMATION ON OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE (PURSUANT TO ART. 123 BIS, PARAGRAPH 1, 
CONSOLIDATED LAW ON FINANCE) 
 
2.2. Share Capital Structure 
 
On 22 December 2008, the Shareholders’ Meeting resolved on a divisible, paid capital increase for up to a 
maximum of EUR 44,000,000, including the share premium, through the issue of ordinary shares, reserved to 
employees for a quota of 10%, as set forth in article 5 of the Articles of Association.  
 
The transaction was concluded on 29 June 2009 and by the end of the auction of non-exercised rights, 99.037% 
of the shares offered to shareholders in option were subscribed and 2.999% of the shares offered to employees 
were subscribed, for a total of 7,870,057 shares, equal to a nominal value of EUR 22,350,961.88 and revenue 
(nominal value + share premium) of EUR 39,350,285.00, equal to 89.432% of the total amount of shares under 
the resolved share capital increase. 
 
The share capital subscribed and paid up amounts to EUR 84,487,861.48 and is divided into 29,749,247 
ordinary shares at a nominal value of EUR 2.84 each. 
 
Classes of shares making up the share capital 
 
 No. shares % of share capital Listed Rights and 

obligations 
Ordinary shares 29,749,247 100% MTA == 
 
2.2. Restrictions to share transfers (pursuant to art. 123 bis, paragraph 1, letter b), Consolidated Law on 
Finance)  
 
There are no restrictions to share transfers. 
 
2.3. Significant equity investments in share capital (pursuant to art. 123 bis, paragraph 1, letter c), Consolidated 
Law on Finance)  
In compliance with art. 20 of the Consolidated Law on Finance, according to the company’s share register, 
supplemented by notifications received pursuant to current law and based on other information available, the 
only shareholders that directly or indirectly hold more than 2% of the share capital, represented by shares with 
voting rights, are as follows: 
 

Declaring party Direct shareholder % of ordinary share 
capital 

% of voting share capital 

Spoleto Credito e Servizi 
Soc.Coop. 

Spoleto Credito e Servizi 
Soc.Coop. 

51.217% 51.217% 

Banca Monte dei Paschi 
di Siena Spa 

Banca Monte dei Paschi 
di Siena Spa 

26.005% 26.005% 

Patacconi Leonardo Patacconi Leonardo 2.469% 2.469% 
Nicolini Rosetta Nicolini Rosetta 2.474% (*) 2.474% (*) 
Nicolini Rosetta Immobiliare Valeria Srl 0.054% (*) 0.054% (*) 

Coop Centro Italia Soc. 
Coop 

Coop Centro Italia Soc. 
Coop 

0.806% (*) 0.806% (*) 

Coop Centro Italia Soc. 
Coop 

Coofin Srl 1.204% (*) 1.204% (*) 

Market Market 15.771% (*) 15.771% (*) 
(*) directly and indirectly
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2.4. Shares conferring special rights (pursuant to art. 123 bis, paragraph 1, letter d), Consolidated Law on 
Finance)  
 
The Bank has issued only ordinary shares and therefore there are no other categories of shares 
 
2.5. Shares held by employees: mechanism for exercising voting rights (pursuant to art. 123 bis, paragraph 1, 
letter e), Consolidated Law on Finance)  
 
No shares were issued that confer special controlling rights; the shares held by employees are no different to 
other shares. 
 
Pursuant to art. 5(2) of the Articles of Association, when increasing share capital, 10% of the shares issued for 
the increase are to be offered to employees. 
 
2.6. Restrictions on voting rights (pursuant to art. 123 bis, paragraph 1, letter f), Consolidated Law on Finance)  
 
There are no restrictions on voting rights. 
 
2.7. Shareholders’ Agreements (pursuant to art. 123 bis, paragraph 1, letter g), Consolidated Law on Finance)  
 
On 20 April 2007, the shareholders’ agreement drawn up by the two majority shareholders, Spoleto Credito e 
Servizi Soc. Coop. and Banca Monte dei Paschi di Siena Spa was renewed, as set forth in article 23 of the 
Bank’s articles of association, for a further three year term. This agreement, which establishes the basis of the 
relationship and the purpose of which is to improve the management of the Bank, envisages several restrictions 
to the transfer of securities, of pre-emption rights, the award of specific powers as regards management and 
control and the appointment of company bodies and personnel. 
 
This agreement is scheduled to expire on 30 June 2010. 
 
2.8. Change of control clauses (pursuant to art. 123 bis, paragraph 1, letter h), Consolidated Law on Finance)  
 
No agreement of this sort has been stipulated. 
 
2.9. Share capital increases and authorizations to purchase treasury shares (pursuant to art. 123 bis, paragraph 
1, letter m), Consolidated Law on Finance)  
 
At the meeting held on 21 April 2008, the Shareholders’ Meeting authorised the purchase of a maximum of 
110,000 treasury shares (corresponding to around 0.50% of total shares in circulations) on regulated markets, 
as well as the sale of all or part of the treasury shares purchased, even before having completed the purchases, 
in one or more tranches, establishing price ceilings within 18 months from the date of the resolution. 
 
The aim of this transaction, which fulfils the need to further increase the esteem of the Bank’s investors, is 
substantially to improve the liquidity of the share on the market, by encouraging standard trading and reinforcing 
the stability of the listing in the most delicate stages of negotiations exclusively on the market managed by Borsa 
Italiana spa; obviously in full compliance with the applicable legal and regulatory provisions and in particular 
according to operating procedures established in the rules of organisation and management of the same market, 
adopting the procedures envisaged in art. 144-bis, paragraph 1, point b) of the Issuers’ Regulations no. 
11971/99. 
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On 21 October 2009, the purchase of treasury shares was completed whereas sales continued until selling off all 
treasury shares in the same manner provided in the resolution mentioned above. 
 
In compliance with Consob Issuer Regulation 11971, information on the outcome of the programme was 
disclosed to the public. 
 
In the 18 months under consideration: 
 
- 47,637 shares were purchased at an average price of EUR 5.839 per share for a total value of EUR 
278,185.72; 
 
- 15 treasury shares were sold at an average price of EUR 6.375 per share for a total value of EUR 95.625; 
 
- A 31 December 2009, the Bank held 47,622 treasury shares at an average price of EUR 5.839 per share for a 
total value of EUR 278,185.72. 
 
2.10. Direction and coordination  
 
Pursuant to art. 93 of the Consolidated Law on Finance, Spoleto Credito e Servizi Soc. Coop. holds a 51.217% 
controlling interest in the Bank’s share capital. However, the Bank does not belong to any banking group and is 
not subject to direction and coordination. 
 
In application of the regulations regarding the “supplementary supervision” of credit institutions and insurance 
companies, set forth in EC Directive 2002/87, Banca Popolare di Spoleto has been identified by the Bank of Italy 
as a component of the “financial conglomerate”, headed by Banca Monte dei Paschi di Siena, in accordance 
with the provisions of legislative decree no. 142 of 30 May 2005, by virtue of the over 20% stake held by Banca 
Monte dei Paschi di Siena in the Bank’s capital. 
 
3. COMPLIANCE (PURSUANT TO ART. 123 BIS, PARAGRAPH 2, LETTER A), CONSOLIDATED LAW ON 
FINANCE)  
 
In 2001 Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA adopted the Code of Self-Discipline and continued to update it 
according to the standards provided from time to time by Borsa Italiana Spa and according to the amendments 
made to the Articles of Association. The Code can be viewed by the public on the website of Borsa Italiana 
(www.borsaitaliana.it). 
 
4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
 
4.1. Appointment and replacement (pursuant to art. 123 bis, paragraph 1, letter l), Consolidated Law on Finance)  
 
Pursuant to art. 9, paragraph 2 of the Articles of Association, Board members are appointed on the basis of lists 
submitted by shareholders and elected according to the methods described herein. The Articles of Association 
(article 9, paragraph 3) establishes that shareholders, who alone, or with others, represent at least 2.5% of 
shares have a right to submit lists, or a different amount as provided by CONSOB. Said lists must be submitted 
at least 20 days prior to the first convocation of the shareholders’ meeting at the registered office of the Bank, 
together with information on the personal and professional characteristics of candidates.  
 
Each list shall specify at least two candidates holding the requirements for independence prescribed by the law 
and the Code of Self-Discipline on Listed Companies, to which the bank adheres. 
 
For the purpose of distributing the Directors to be elected (art. 9, paragraph 12 of the Articles of Association), 
lists are not taken into consideration when they have not obtained at least one half of the percentage required to 
lists to be submitted. In the event of a draw between lists, the candidate of the list submitted by shareholders 
with the highest interest is elected, or, in order of the majority of shareholders. 
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Members of the Board of Directors are elected as follows (art. 9, paragraph 11 of the Articles of Association): 
from the list that received the highest number of votes a number of candidates is taken in the order they appear 
on the list equal to the number of Directors to be elected minus one. The remaining Director shall be the 
candidate that is first on the list obtaining the highest number of votes amongst the lists submitted and voted for 
by the shareholders who are in no way connected, not even indirectly, to the shareholders who submitted or 
voted for the list receiving the highest number of votes. 
 
Based on the above-mentioned shareholders’ agreements (see § 2.1.7) the shareholder Spoleto Credito e 
Servizi Soc. Coop. is entitled to designate 10 members (of which the Chairman and the Acting Deputy 
Chairman) and the shareholder Banca Monte dei Paschi di Siena Spa is entitled to designate 4 members (one of 
whom must be appointed Deputy Chairman). 
 
4.2. Composition (pursuant to art. 123 bis, paragraph 2, letter d), Consolidated Law on Finance)  
 
The Bank’s Board of Directors may be comprised of between eleven and fifteen members. 
 
It is currently formed by 14 directors, all of which non-executive, elected by the Shareholders’ Meeting held on 
27 April 2007 on the basis of lists submitted and who will remain in office until the approval of the 2009 financial 
statements. 
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Position Members 
In office  

since 

In office  
until exec. 

non  
exec. 

indep. 
%(*) No. of 

other 
pos. 

Internal  
Control  

Committee 

Executive  
Committee 

(**) 

Chairman 
Giovannino 
Antonini 

27/04/07 
 

31/12/09 
 X NO 

94 
1 

 % X 86 

Acting 
Deputy 
Chairman 

Marco 
Bellingacci 

27/04/07 
 

31/12/09 
 X NO 

100 
1 

  X 100 

Deputy 
Chairman 

Leonardo 
Bandinelli  

12/10/09 
 

31/12/09 
 X X 

25 
1 

    

Board 
Director 

Aldo Amoni 
27/04/07 

 
31/12/09 

 X X 
100 

NO 
  X 100 

Board 
Director 

Paolo 
Arcelli 

27/04/07 
 

31/12/09 
 X X 

94 
NO 

    

Board 
Director 

Claudio 
Bernardini 

27/04/07 
 

31/12/09 
 X X 

88 
2 

X(1) 57   

Board 
Director 

Marco 
Carbonari 

27/04/07 
31/12/09 

 X X 
100 

NO 
X 92   

Board 
Director 

Gabriele 
Chiocci 

27/04/07 
31/12/09 

 X X 
100 

NO 
    

Board 
Director 

Valentino 
Conti 

27/04/07 
31/12/09 

 X X 
94 

NO 
    

Board 
Director 

Nazzareno 
D’Atanasio 

27/04/07 
31/12/09 

 X X 
94 

1 
X(2) 100 X 86 

Board 
Director 

Francesco 
Di Bello 

27/04/07 
31/12/09 

 X NO 
94 

1 
    

Board 
Director 

Mario 
Fagotti 

27/04/07 
31/12/09 

 X X 
81 

NO 
    

Board 
Director 

Michele 
Logi 

27/04/07 
31/12/09 

 X X 
100 

NO 
X 100 X 100 

Board 
Director 

Claudio 
Umbrico 

27/04/07 
31/12/09 

 X X 
88 

NO 
    

DIRECTORS WHO LEFT OFFICE DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR IN QUESTION 
Acting 
Deputy 
Chairman 

Giorgio 
Raggi 

27/04/07 
 

   
0 

1 
   00 

No. of meetings held during the financial year in question 16 11 7 

 
 (*) % of participation of Directors in meetings of the Board of Directors, Internal Control Committee and Executive Committee, 
respectively 
 (**) Shareholders’ Meeting resolution of 29 June 2009 eliminated the establishment of the Executive Committee from the Articles of 
Association. 
 (1) Resigned from office as member of the Internal Control Committee on 29 June 2009 
 (2) Appointed member of the Internal Control Committee on 29 June 2009 
 
Board members must fulfil the requirements requested by legislation in force, in particular they must comply with 
the provisions set forth in Legislative Decree 385/1993 and in the Regulation of the Treasury, budget and 
economic planning ministry no. 161 dated 18/3/1998. 
 
During the meeting held on 30 March 2009 the Board of Directors approved its Regulations defining, inter alia, 
the conditions that make a director non-independent as well as methods to assess, also 
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in the long-term, the existence of the requirements to retain independence. The Regulations set the maximum 
number of other offices held to enable effective performance of their office as director of the Bank, namely: 
   
 - a maximum of five offices as Director or Statutory Auditor held at three listed companies, 
  
 - not in excess of the limits for holding offices for supervisory bodies as provided by legal and regulatory 
 provisions in force. 
 
The Board of Directors appoints a Chairman and two Deputy Chairmen, one of which Acting, from among its 
members, as well as a Secretary 
 
Of the above, the following are also Directors of other companies listed on regulated markets, of financial, 
banking, insurance or other large companies: 
 
- Antonini Giovannino and Marco Bellingacci, who are Directors of Spoleto Credito e Servizi Società 
Cooperativa, a financial company that has a majority stake in Banca Popolare di Spoleto Spa; 
 
- Leonardo Bandinelli, Board member of Monte Paschi Fiduciaria; 
 
- Claudio Bernardini, Board member of Unicoop And Ipercoop Tirreno; 
 
- D’Atanasio Nazzareno, Managing Director of Maran Credit Solution Spa; 
 
- Francesco Di Bello, Board member of MPS Immobiliare spa; 
 
Non-independent directors are Giovannino Antonini and Marco Bellingacci, Directors of Spoleto Credito e Servizi 
Società Cooperativa; Board member Francesco Di Bello, who was an Executive of Banca Monte dei Paschi di 
Siena Spa in the previous quarter. 
 
The Board of Directors evaluated, following the appointment made at the shareholders’ meeting and on 
examination of the requirements of Directors, maintaining the requirements of independence, with the approval 
of the Board of Statutory Auditors. 
 
Details for each director are provided below, showing their competence and experience gained in company 
management. 
 
Giovannino Antonini – Born in Castel Ritardi (PG) on 12 July 1952. Manager of the Spoleto branch of the 
insurance company "Groupama". He was appointed Director of SO.RI.T S.p.A. in 1993 and then was made 
Chairman. He held the office of Director of the Bank when it became an SpA (joint stock company) in July 1992, 
the office of Acting Deputy Chairman from 1998 and then became Chairman in April 2001. He is still a member 
of the boards of Cooperativa Spoleto Credito e Servizi and B.E.E. Sourcing S.p.A. 
 
Marco Bellingacci – Born in Foligno (PG) on 19 May 1953. Attorney, eligible to practice before the Court of 
Cassation. He held the office of Director of the Bank when it became an SpA (joint stock company) in July 1992 
and the office of Acting Deputy Chairman from 2001; He held the offices of standing auditor of the company 
Cartiere di Trevi S.p.A., standing auditor of Cantina Sociale dei Colli Spoletini a r.l., standing auditor of Progetti 
Immobiliari S.r.l., and is member of the board of Cooperativa Spoleto Credito e Servizi and is the sole auditor of 
Farchioni S.p.A.. 
 
Leonardo Bandinelli – Born in Siena (SI) on 18 February 1966, he is an executive and responsible for 
Communications and Representation for Federazione Regionale dell’Industria Toscana di Confindustria 
Toscana. He has conducted studies and surveys on regional policy as an Officer for the Regional Authority of 
Tuscany. He has worked with the company Bloomberg Italia – Milan. He has held the office of Director of MPS 
Finance and Valorizzazioni Immobiliari and is a member of the board of directors of Monte Paschi Fiduciaria. 
 
Aldo Amoni – Born in Foligno (PG) on 19 September 1949. General Agent for "Groupama Assicurazioni". He 
has been a Director of Banca Popolare di Spoleto since 2001. He has been Chairman of Coop Fidicom and is  
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currently Deputy Chairman of Confcommercio (Perugia), Umbria Confidi and EPTA srl; He is the Chairman of 
ASCOM Servizi srl. 
 
Paolo Arcelli – Born in Perugia on 23 January 1947, he has been a Director of Banca Popolare di Spoleto since 
2001. He has also been the Manager of "Associazione regionale degli Artigiani Umbri", Manager of "Cooperativa 
Artigiana di garanzia", and is a member of the regional secretariat of CNA as manager of the economic 
department on credit matters. He is currently Chairman of Produzione e Sviluppo srl., Director of the Foreign 
Office for the Perugia Chamber of Commerce, Director of Alta Formazione Imprenditoriale, of Farmafin (central 
Italy) and Regional Director of Confederazione Nazionale dell'Artigianato e della Piccola e Media Impresa 
(CNA). 
 
Claudio Bernardini – Born in Campiglia Marittima on 8 May 1946 – former Executive of Banca Monte dei 
Paschi di Siena S.p.A.. He is also a Director of Unicoop. and Ipercoop Tirreno. 
 
Marco Carbonari – Born in Deruta (PG) on 6 August 1954; notary since 1983 registered in the notary registry of 
Perugia, from 1982 to 2007 he was a teacher at the school for notaries "Baldo degli Ubaldi Perugia", from 1989 
he worked with Prof. Vittorio Menesini, Full Professor of Business Law at the University of Perugia. From 1983 to 
1991 he was a speaker at many conferences; he has published legal articles in Foro Padano. He was a member 
of the shareholders’ commission of Banca Popolare di Todi, member of the board of directors of the Umbria Jazz 
foundation and Professor of private law at the "Lorenzo Migliorini" school of law – University of Perugia. 
 
Gabriele Chiocci – Born in Perugia on 28 April 1969; entrepreneur – he is the Chairman and Managing Director 
of PROTER Srl of Perugia. He was Chairman of CONFAPI - UMBRIA Federazione Regionale Associazioni 
piccole medie imprese dell'Umbria. He is Chairman of the Management Board of CONFAPI-Perugia, 
Associazione Piccole Medie Imprese (Perugia), member of the National Management Board of FINCREDIT, 
member of the Board of Directors of the foreign office of the Perugia and Terni Chambers of Commerce. He is 
currently a Director at APIFIDI – UMBRIA. 
 
Valentino Conti – Born in Terni on 8 January 1957 – He has been a member of the Executive Board of 
FinUmbra Farm Perugia and Farma Service Centro Italia – Consultant to the Chairman of Federfarma 
UmbriaPerugia – Chairman of the Commission Turismo Scuola Sport e Cultura- Chairman of District IV of the 
Terni national healthcare provider. He is currently the Chairman of CONI (Umbria) and Deputy Chairman of 
Farmafin Centro Italia Soc.Coop. 
 
Nazzareno D'Atanasio – Born in Foligno (PG) on 23 August 1956; Entrepreneur. Since 2001 he has been a 
member of the board at the Bank. He has also been Director of "Piemme Centro servizi Sas". He works in 
human resources and IT services training. He is currently a director of MARAN S.p.a., a leading debt collection 
agency, and of DNT Group srl. 
 
Francesco Di Bello – Born in Taranto on 10 October 1948, former executive for Banca Monte dei Paschi di 
Siena Spa, by designation of Banca Monte Paschi. He has been member of the boards of directors for the 
following companies: Monte Paschi Asset Management SGR Spa, Monte Paschi net Spa, Banca Personale 
Spa, Banca Monte Parma Spa; he is currently a Director of MPS Immobiliare Spa. 
 
Mario Fagotti – Born in Assisi (PG) on 27 January 1947, Entrepreneur. He has been, among others, Chairman 
of "ANCE Umbria - Consulta Regionale Costruttori Edili dell’Umbria"; member of the Executive Committee and 
Board of "ANCE - Associazione Nazionale Costruttori Edili"; Deputy Chairman of "Confindustria Umbria"; Deputy 
Chairman of "Associazione Industriali della Provincia di Perugia"; He is currently a Member of the Board of 
Directors of "Codimaf srl" and “MINIMETRO’ of Perugia and Chairman of SASE S.p.A.. 
 
Michele Logi – Born in Colle di Val d'Elsa (SI) on 26 September 1942, he has been a Director at BPS since 
2001. From January 1996 to June 2001 he was a member of the general deputation of Monte dei Paschi di 
Siena and Chairman of the company "Patto 2000"; he is currently a member of the board of Aci Siena Servizi srl. 
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Claudio Umbrico – Born in Marsciano on 3 May 1943 – Entrepreneur; he has been the Chairman of the Boards 
of Directors of the companies: SEA Spa, BETONMEC SRL, BASTARDO Centrale srl. He is the sole director or 
managing director of the companies S.Bartolomeo srl, La Torre srl, Poggetto srl, PROFIM srl, Sviluppo 
Commerciale srl, Pantera Immobiliare. He is a member of the Board of Directors of Cruciani Residence srl. He 
was a member of the Board of ANCE PG and represented ANCE PG on the Board of Confindustria PG, in 
addition to being a member of the Management Board of ANCE Umbria. He is a member of the Commission 
Construction and Territory Monitor for ANCE (national office) and has been a member of the board of Cassa 
Edile (Perugia). 
 
4.3. Role of the Board of Directors (pursuant to art. 123 bis, paragraph 2, letter d), Consolidated Law on 
Finance)  
 
Over the course of 2009, the Board of Directors met 16 times, with almost all Board members attending. The 
average length of each meeting was about three hours. For 2010 the number of meetings held by the Board of 
Directors was increased due to the elimination of the Executive Committee. In 2010, the Board has met four 
times while 20 Board meetings are scheduled to be held. 
 
The Regulations for the Board of Directors, mentioned above, provide that the Chairman is in charge of 
providing each board member with adequate information on the matters on the agenda of each meeting in a 
timely manner. More specifically, if the items under discussion are related to ordinary initiatives the documents 
entailed are normally forwarded to each member at least due business days before the date of the meeting. For 
extraordinary items the Chairman of the Board assesses the amount of prior notice needed on a case-by-case 
basis. This procedure ensures that the same are sufficiently informed and enables them to properly and 
independently express their opinions. 
 
The General Manager takes part in the Board meetings, for consultation and to make any proposals, and the 
Secretary, a Bank Executive. 
 
The Board of Directors constantly assess the general trends of operations and the adequacy of the organisation, 
administration and accounting structure, especially with regards to the internal control system and the system for 
managing conflict of interest. The Board has always ensured that the shareholders are provided with adequate 
information on all significant matters so that they can make informed decisions at the general shareholders’ 
meetings. 
 

*   *   * 
 

As regards the scope of responsibility of the Board of Directors, it should be noted that, inter alia, the Board is 
solely responsible for (art. 11, paragraph 2, Articles of Association): 

• defining strategic guidelines and operations; 

• determining general operating guidelines; 

• periodic business and financial plans and budgets; 

• approving and amending internal regulations, especially with regards to organisational, administrative 
and accounting structure; 

• resolutions on the acquisition and disposal of significant or controlling equity investments, in compliance 
with art. 2361, Italian Civil Code, and on the appointment or designation of representatives to 
administrative or management bodies of companies, consortia, associations, institutions and entities in 
which the company holds interests or where the company is to have their representatives; 

• approving the organisational structure of the company; 

• appointing and removing the General Manager and one or more Deputy General Managers; 

• appointing and removing managers of Internal Audit and Compliance Bodies (after obtaining the opinion 
of the Board of Statutory Auditors); 
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• assessing, in the long term, the performance of the General Manager. 

 The Board of Directors also: 

• examines and approves, after consulting with the Board of Statutory Auditors, the matters concerning 
the obligations of bank representatives and the interests of directors, in accordance with the legal 
provisions in force (articles 2391 and 2391-bis of the Civil Code, art. 136 of the Consolidated Law on 
Banking) (see § 14); 

• establishes the remuneration of Board Directors that hold particular offices and play particular roles (art. 
6, paragraph 4 of the Articles of Association, which refers to art. 2389, paragraph 3 of the civil code); 

• appoints the Executive responsible for preparing company accounting documents according to the 
proposal of the General Manager and after consulting with the Board of Statutory Auditors;  

• periodically assesses, based on the Reports drawn up by control bodies, the adequacy of entire system 
of internal control in order to constantly and effectively monitor the risk areas of the Bank (see § 10); 

• conducts continuing assessment of performance of operations in general, by comparing the results 
achieved with those forecast 

• gives authorisations to the General Manager, executives and employees (articles 12, Articles of 
Association). 

 
4.4. Delegated Bodies 
 
The Board of Directors has delegated operating powers to the General Manager, the Acting Deputy General 
Manager and other executives. 
 
Pursuant to art. 12 of the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors can give, under due regulations, specific 
authorisations to the General Manager, Executives, Officers and Employees of the Company, and can assign 
powers to individual members of the Board, only for certain acts or business deal. 
 
All delegated bodies and parties are required to provide reports on activities performed to the Board of Directors 
and Board of Statutory Auditors at least every ninety days. 
 
The Chairman of the Board of Directors 
 
Pursuant to art. 14 of the Articles of Association, the Chairman legally represents the company, including before 
the courts and, in his absence or impediment, is substituted by the Acting Deputy Chairman. In the absence or 
impediment of the latter, the Acting Deputy Chairman shall be substituted by the Deputy Chairman.  
 
He calls and chairs the Shareholders’ Meeting as well as the Board of Directors. 
 
The Chairman, while taking into account the provisions of art. 12(2), can appoint company Directors, employees 
or third parties to represent the company for single acts or for certain categories of acts. 
 
The Chairman, or in his absence or impediment the Acting Deputy Chairman, in the interests of the company 
and on the proposal of the General Manager, who demonstrates grounds of absolute and immediate urgency, 
and in any event with the approval of at least one Deputy Chairman, may take any action, if the Board or 
Executive Committee are unable to do so in sufficient time, with the exception of those that are the sole 
responsibility of the Board of Directors, informing the competent body of said action at the next meeting of the 
same. 
 
The Chairman promotes the effective operation of the corporate governance system and ensures the balance of 
powers. He acts as the interlocutor for internal control bodies and internal committees. The Chairman is not 
given particular proxies. 
 
The Chairman has not received any management proxies from the Board, nor is he a managing director or a 
majority shareholder of the Bank. 
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By resolution of 10 June 2003, the Board of Directors delegated the Chairman to provide any price sensitive 
information that may arise without notice. 
 
Since November 2007, the Chairman has been appointed the Party authorised by the Board of Directors, 
together with the Manager in charge of financial reporting, responsible for the preparation of corporate 
accounting documents 
 
Executive Committee 
 
A resolution passed by the general shareholders’ meeting on 29 June 2009 whereby the provision in the Articles 
of Association for an Executive Committee was eliminated, since the removal of this body would not compromise 
the operations of the Bank. 
 
 
Position 
 

Member In office since 
Date Executive 
Committee was  
eliminated 

Chairman Giovannino Antonini  27/04/2007 29/06/2009 

Acting Deputy Chairman Marco Bellingacci  27/04/2007 29/06/2009 

Deputy Chairman Giorgio Raggi  27/04/2007 29/06/2009 

Committee member Aldo Amoni  27/04/2007 29/06/2009 

Committee member Nazzareno D’Atanasio  27/04/2007 29/06/2009 

Committee member Michele Logi  27/04/2007 29/06/2009 

 
 
The General Manager 
 
Pursuant to art. 15 of the Articles of Association, the General Manager oversees the business organisation, has 
operating responsibility for the branches and is the head of personnel.  
 
In particular: 
 
a) He implements company policies and risk management policies, constantly verifies the adequacy of the risk 
management system, defines internal information flow as well as the roles and responsibilities of offices and 
functions. He oversees the business organisation in operations. He manages current business; 
 
b) He ensures resolutions are implemented as well as the plans and guidelines established by the Board of 
Directors; 
 
c) He submits proposals to the Board of Directors, especially with regards to management guidelines, strategic 
plans and budget proposals, the draft financial statements and periodic reports, without prejudice to the same 
proposal powers held by each member of the Board; 
 
d) He submits quarterly reports on general operating trends and forecasts and on significant transactions made 
by the Company. The Board of Directors gives the General Manager broad powers, including the corporate 
signature, to conduct current business for the company and to execute resolutions passed by the Board of 
Directors, in accordance with the instructions provided by the latter. 
 
4.5. Other Executive Members 
 
All members of the Board of Directors are considered “non-executive directors”, since: (i) the Articles of 
Association do not provide for a managing director; (ii) the Executive Committee was eliminated; (iii) there are 
not any directors who perform management roles in the Bank. 
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4.6. Independent Directors 
 
As mentioned, since 2001 the Bank has adhered to and constantly updated the Code and referred to it for an 
effective Corporate Governance system. Art. 3 of the Code provides that the role of the Board of Directors 
includes assessment of (i) the independence of its non-executive members, with particular regard to substance 
rather than form; (ii) relations which may compromise or appear to compromise the independence of non-
executive members based on the information provided by the latter or in any case at the disposal of the Bank. 
 
The Board believes that considering a non-executive director as independent is not an expression of opinion on 
value, but indicates a factual situation, being the absence of a relationship with the Bank, or with parties linked to 
the Bank, that may influence the independence of judgement and free appreciation of the management's work. 
 
Based on these factors the Board applied all the criteria provided by the Code and, after assessing the position 
of each individual member based on the information provided by the latter and in any case, available to the 
Bank, the Board determined that there is no relationship between the Bank or associated parties and the 
following directors: Leonardo Bandinelli, Aldo Amoni, Paolo Arcelli, Claudio Bernardini, Marco Carbonari, 
Gabriele Chiocci, Valentino Conti, Nazzareno D’Atanasio, Mario Fagotti, Michele Logi and Claudio Umbrico, and 
at the same time acknowledge that a sufficient number of non-executive directors are in possession of the 
requirements for independence as provided by the Code. 
 
The independent Directors did not deem it necessary to call a meeting without the presence of the other 
Directors. 
 
In 2009, the Board of Statutory Auditors verifies the correct application of the criteria and procedures adopted by 
the Board of Directors to assess the independence of their members. 
 
4.7. Lead Independent Director 
 
As mentioned above, considering the fact that the Chairman was not delegated by the Board of Directors to 
perform a role in management, nor is he a managing director or a majority shareholder of the Bank. The Board 
has not designated an independent director as a lead independent director. 
 
 
5. TREATMENT OF COMPANY INFORMATION 
 
The principles and guidelines for determining a suitable process for managing inside information are provided in 
the Regulations on Market Abuse, approved with the resolution passed by the Board of Directors on 16 July 
2007. 
 
This also defines – in compliance with legal rules – the policies on conduct, organisation rules, procedures and 
requirements to put in place as well as the responsibilities and duties of the organisation structures involved. 
 
In order to produce a single set of rules regulating market abuse, the aforementioned Regulations also 
summarise the provisions of the “Internal Dealing Code” (see § 5.1.2). 
 
Lastly, with a resolution passed on 10 May 2003, the Board of Directors ruled that all price sensitive information 
should be issued following authorisation by the Board of Directors is said information regards matters that may 
arise during standard business activities and that can be foreseen in advance, while the Chairman may 
authorise that which regards matters that arise unexpectedly. 
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5.1. Market Abuse Regulation 
 
With regard to legislation on Market Abuse – regarding market manipulation and the abuse of privileged 
information – the main innovations regard the obligations of authorised parties to detect and inform Consob of 
any suspect transactions, and for listed issuers and related parties, to establish and manager a register of 
people who, on the basis of their job or profession or the tasks performed, have access to privileged information.  
 
In compliance with said legislation, on 20 April 2006, the Board of Directors resolved to establish the register 
envisaged by current legislation, comprising a static section, which regards the BPS stock and regarding people 
who, on the basis of their job or profession or of the tasks performed on behalf of the party obliged to keep the 
register, have regular access to privileged information, and a dynamic section which can regard all listed 
securities, therefore including BPS stock, and covering people who, in performing their jobs, occasionally 
become aware of privileged information. 
 
Over time, both sections of the register have been updated, making amendments following changes regarding 
parties retained relevant for the purposes of the Market Abuse regulation. An IT procedure has been developed 
to support this activity, which replaces the current hard copy registers and which automatically highlights any 
potentially suspect transactions, and an internal procedure has been implemented to handle said type of 
transaction. 
 
The information related to the application of rules on Market Abuse is monitored by using the above-mentioned 
automated procedure. 
 
5.2. Internal Dealing Regulation 
 
On 29 June 2009 the Board of Directors passed a resolution to amend the “Internal Dealing Code” adopted with 
the previous resolution passed on 23 December 2002 as amended and published on the Bank’s website 
(www.bpspoleto.it/investor relations/corporate governance). 
 
The rationale behind the rules governing this issue is to ensure transparency in transactions involving the shares 
and financial instruments of listed companies carried out by representatives of the same companies and by 
related parties (art. 114 of the Consolidated Law on Finance and articles 152-sexies to 152-octies CONSOB 
Issuer Regulations). 
 
Thus, in light of the innovations introduced by the provisions it was deemed necessary to redefine "significant 
transactions" and to introduce additional transactions that should be disclosed. Lastly, certain transaction 
restrictions (blacking periods) have been imposed. 
 
In 2009, with the share capital increase (concluded on 29 June 2009), 4 such transactions were performed and 
disclosed to CONSOB. 
 
6. COMMITTEES WITHIN THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (PURSUANT TO ART. 123 BIS, PARAGRAPH 2, 
LETTER D), CONSOLIDATED LAW ON FINANCE) 
 
Given the current distribution of shares, the particular transparency of the procedure established by the articles 
of association for the appointment of Board Members and the presence of a large number of independent board 
members, as well as the absence of large equity investments, the Bank did not retain it necessary to establish 
an Appointments Committee from within its ranks. 
 
The Bank places considerable attention on the working and adequacy of the entire system of internal control and 
has set up an Internal Control Committee, which also acts as the Supervisory Board pursuant to Legislative 
Decree 231/01 (see § 9). 
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7. APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE 
 
Considering the provisions of the articles of association on the appointment of directors and the size and 
organisation of the Bank and its participatory portfolio, the Board of Directors did not retain it necessary to 
establish an Appointments Committee from within its ranks. 
 
8. REMUNERATION OF CORPORATE BODIES 
 
In compliance with the provisions mentioned above, which provide that, inter alia, adequate mechanisms for 
determining remuneration and incentives for Bank Directors and management should favour competition and 
governance of bank institutions, on 29 June 2009 the Shareholders’ Meeting approved the document 
“Remuneration Policies” for the Bank. 
 
Adoption of the provisions resulted in amending art. 6 of the Articles of Association by introducing a provision 
which makes the Shareholders’ Meeting responsible for approving remuneration policies and any plans based 
on financial instruments in favour of Members of the Board of Directors, employees or workers not employed by 
the company. 
 
In particular, any plans approved are to be consistent with prudent risk management policies and long-term 
strategies and they are to provide for a correct balance between fixed and variable components in the 
remuneration plan. The variable component of the plan shall have a risk weighting system and mechanisms that 
ensure a link between the amount paid and actual, long-term results. 
 
Furthermore, it was decided that the Shareholders’ Meeting should be adequately informed on the 
implementation of remuneration policies through a prevalently quantitative report, with particular reference to 
variable components and consistency with the guidelines and objectives defined. 
 
Implementation of the policies shall be checked by the Compliance Function, in accordance with the Provisions 
in question. 
 
Considering the size and operations of the Bank, it has not set up a “Remuneration Committee”, which, 
incidentally, in the current organisation, would only have the power to make proposals, as the decision-making 
power rests in the hands of the Shareholders’ Meeting and the Board of Directors exclusively for Board members 
with specific statutory offices (Chairman, Acting Deputy Chairman, Deputy Chairman and the Secretary of the 
Board of Directors). The remuneration mechanisms in place are in any event consistent with prudent risk 
management and with the Bank’s medium-long term strategies. 
 
In fact, when establishing the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors, we considered the 
amounts paid to representatives of Banks of a similar size and with similar characteristics to that of Banca 
Popolare di Spoleto, positioning ourselves in the medium-low range; the amounts paid to Board Directors are not 
related in any way to the achievement of economic results. 
 
Similarly, when calculating the fixed component of the salary of the General Manager, we considered the 
salaries paid to similar figures in banks of a similar size and with similar characteristics to that of Banca Popolare 
di Spoleto, again, in this case, positioning ourselves in the medium-low range. The variable component of the 
General Manager’s salary, linked to the achievement of set economic results, may be up to 50%, but usually 
does not exceed 30% of the total salary. This incentive plan, which provides for a cash payment for the variable 
component referring to 2009, is consistent with medium/long-term development adjusted for risk when objectives 
are achieved on a continuing basis. 
 
With regard to the other Bank executives and to all employees, salaries and wages refer to the industry C.C.N.L. 
(Collective National Labour Contract). 
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The policy adopted introduced medium/long-term incentives for Executives in order to reduce the emphasis on 
short-term results and focus on consolidating the medium/long-term strategic and economic standing. 
 
There is no remuneration plan in the form of stock options for Board Directors, the General Manager or any other 
Bank employee.  
 
Details on remuneration for the boards, the General Manager and executives with strategic responsibilities are 
provided in part H of the Notes to the financial statements – Transactions with related parties. 
 
9. INTERNAL CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 
In order to complete the Corporate Governance structure and in compliance with supervisory regulations, the 
Bank has already set in place an internal control system and an internal control committee, which appear to work 
well in the current organisational structure, fulfilling the various requirements of the Code.  
 
Firstly, an Internal Control Manager was appointed, hierarchically independent from the managers of other 
operating areas. The Internal Control Manager has control, verification (including of documents) and auditing 
responsibilities, reports hierarchically to the General Manager, but also reports to the Board of Directors, the 
Board of Statutory Auditors and the Internal Control Committee. 
 
An Internal Control Committee has also been established, comprising three members, two of which are 
independent, Michele Logi (coordinator), Marco Carbonari and Nazzareno D’Atanasio; the Chairman of the 
Board of Statutory Auditors or a person delegated by the same, the manager in charge of internal audits and the 
secretary.  
 
On 29 June 2009 Mr. Claudio Bernardini resigned from the Committee and, as a result, on 3 July 2009 the 
Board of Directors appointed the independent member Nazzareno D’Atanasio to replace him. 
 
The main duty of the Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in decisions to guarantee that company 
objectives will be reached, also by means of an adequate and effective internal control system, which is 
periodically assessed with regard to its adequacy, effectiveness and efficiency.  
 
Moreover, the Internal Control Committee checks that the conduct of the company complies with laws, 
regulations and internal directives and procedures, as well as the completeness, timeliness and reliability of 
accounting and management information, and in order to safeguard the integrity of company equity, verifies that 
adequate controls are in place as regards the various risks. The Committee also assesses the correct use of 
accounting standards for preparing the financial statements. 
 
At least every six months, when the financial statements and interim report approved, the Committee provides a 
report to the Board of Directors on the activities performed and on the adequacy of the internal control system.  
 
During the course of 2009, the Internal Control Committee met 13 times, and promptly reported to the Board of 
Directors as to the main topics covered. 
 
The Committee, in addition to the institutional functions provided by its regulations and the Supervisory 
Instructions from the Bank of Italy, also acts as Supervisory Body, as provided by Legislative Decree 231 of 8 
June 2001 “Provisions on the administrative liability of legal persons, companies…” (in particular art. 12, 
paragraph 1, letter b: assumption of the role of Supervisory Body). Concerning the latter, with the new anti- 
money laundering law (Legislative Decree 231 of 21.11.2007), becoming fully effective at 30 April 2008, the 
Supervisory Body became the control body with the obligation to provide reports to the supervisory authority for 
the sector, the Ministry of the Economy and Finance and the Financial Intelligence Unit, with criminal 
implications in the event of serious breach. 
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10. INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM 
 
10.1. Introduction 
 
The Internal Control System is a group of rules, procedures and organisational structures aimed at ensuring 
company management that is healthy, correct and consistent with the objectives set through an adequate 
process of identification, measurement, management and monitoring of risks. 
 
An effective control system is an essential condition for pursuing company objectives. The corporate governance 
rules and the organisation structure must ensure healthy and prudent management. It is important to set up 
effective interaction mechanisms between company departments in order to maintain a general view of risks, a 
dynamic process to adapt control models to changes inside and outside the company. 
 
With the resolution passed by the Board of Directors on 08/09/2000, Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA adopted 
the “Internal Control Model”, which, in accordance with the provisions issued by the Supervisory Authority, 
provides functional solutions for the role assigned to the Board of Directors and Top Management and distinct 
actions to be put into place by the Bodies to periodically check adequacy, compliance and operability of the 
“Internal Control System". 
 
Moreover, with the resolution passed by the Board of Directors on 16/07/2007, together with the adoption of 
“Organisation Model 231” (in compliance with Legislative Decree 231/2001) Banca Popolare di Spoleto 
integrated the "Internal Control Model”, thereby completing the framework for Operating Processes. 
 
With subsequent resolutions by the Board of Directors the model was updated to adjust to the continuing 
changes in the legal rules and competitive context. 
 
The model also contains the main features of the risk management system and internal control system with 
regards to the financial reporting process pursuant to art. 123-bis, paragraph 2, letter b) of the Consolidated Law 
on Finance. 
 
In this context, the model is aimed at ensuring dependable, accurate, reliable and timely financial reporting. 
 
The organisational solutions adopted by the Bank to set up its internal control system and to implement 
Legislative Decree 231/2001 are based on the following operating principles: 
 
 a) compliance with the requirements for organisation and operating models provided by articles 6 and 7 
of Legislative Decree 231/2001; 
  
 b) principles contained in the guidelines published by the ABI (Italian Bankers’ Association); 
 
 c) assigning the internal control body the task of promoting effective and correct implementation of the 
model; 
 
 d) providing the control body with adequate resources to provide support to perform its role; 
 
 e) checking that the model works effectively and updating it regularly; 
 
 f) raising awareness and disseminating the rules of conduct and procedures to all levels of the company. 
 
Throughout the company specific organisation solutions were adopted to define and regulate the organisational 
system model, the governance system model, the operating system model and the control system model, which, 
as a whole, make up the internal control model – Legislative Decree 231/2001. 
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These solutions correspond to the guidelines defined by the ABI and approved by the Ministry of Justice, on 
which each bank can base its own models, naturally in compliance with the indications provided by the 
Supervisory Body. 
 
In particular, complex company activities were referred to the aforementioned company systems and sorted by 
process (groups of activities placed in a logical-timing sequence). The process is structured in phases and for 
each phase there are significant aspects to consider. For each aspect there are activities to perform to comply 
with legal provisions and with the Supervisory Authority for the following: 
 
 a) transparency of conduct for sensitive areas, inside the Bank and in relations with external parties; 
 
 b) correctness on the part of all parties under the Bank, guaranteed by respecting legal provisions and 
regulatory provisions, as well as internal organisation procedures; 
 
 c) transaction traceability, especially those related to sensitive areas, in order to check coherence and 
consistency, also through adequate documentation. 
 
Thus, the central nature of the model is represented by processes. Outside the processes there are rules, 
operating needs and management needs as well as the role and responsibilities of company bodies and 
organisation departments. In particular, processes are determined, checked and updated constantly with regards 
to external rules and internal needs. The processes themselves are approved by company bodies. 
 
Resolutions passed by the bodies relating to process structure are implemented through internal rules (process 
regulations, circulars, service orders, etc.) and disseminated to the company departments responsible for 
executing the company processes. 
 
A brief summary of the "Internal Control Model" is outlined below, also to comply with Legislative Decree 
231/2001: 
 
Organisational System Model 
 
Organisation Process Regulation 
 
Decision Process Regulation 
 
Compliance Model 
 
Governance System Model 
 
Board of Directors Governance Process Regulation 
 
Internal Control Committee Regulation 
 
Top Management Governance Process Regulation 
 
Transactions with Related Parties Regulation 
 
Shareholders’ Meeting Regulation 
 
Board of Directors Operating Regulation 
 
Regulation on Remuneration Policies for Bank Directors, Employees and External Workers 
 
Management System Model 
 
Regulation of Criteria for Risk Management for each Process 
 
Regulation the Personnel Management Process, with annexes: 
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 Code of Conduct 
 
 Disciplinary System Regulation 
 
Strategic Process Regulation 
 
Regulation of Administrative and Finance Governance Model (Law 262/05) 
 
Finance Process 
 
Credit Process 
 
Distribution Channel Process 
 
Process for Managing Reporting for Financial Statements 
 
ICAAP Process Regulation (Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process) 
 
Capital Measurement Regulation – ICAAP Process 
 
Measurement/Risk Management Criteria Regulation – ICAAP Process 
 
Credit Process Regulation 
 
Finance Process Regulation 
 
Accounting Process Regulation 
 
Regulation of Process for Purchase of Goods and Services (see “Operating Costs Regulation”) 
 
Regulation of Process for Relations with Supervisory Authority 
 
Regulation of Process for Relations with Public Bodies and other Authorities 
 
Market Abuse Process Regulation 
 
Anti-Money Laundering Process Regulation 
 
IT Process Regulation 
 
Control System Model 
 
Internal Audit Process Regulation 
 
Regulation on Operations of Board of Statutory Auditors 
 
Guideline Documents on Information Flow for Atypical Bodies. 
 
The entire model (organisation, governance, operations and control), which is the Internal Control System, is 
compliant with the framework required by Legislative Decree 231/2001, as both of them are based on the 
Supervisory Instructions. 
 
10.2. Description of the main characteristics of the risk management system and internal control with regards to 
the financial reporting process 
 

Within the internal control system, which has become increasingly strategically important, the functions and 
entities have been determined that are involved in credit, financial and operating risk management. In particular, 
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excluding the standard checks performed by peripheral units and by Departments aimed at mitigating the bank’s 
operating risks, the tasks of risk supervision/management are allocated as follows: 

1. Internal Audit Department: has the task of supervising the operations of company functions and checking the 
adequacy and the smooth running of internal control systems. In this regard, it ensures that credit, financial 
and operating risks are correctly managed in branches and by general management; 

2. Planning-Management Control-Risk Management Department: analyses corporate risks as a whole, 
monitoring the overall corporate risk situation and therefore assists General Management in the overall 
management of risk;  

3. Administration Department: defines assessment criteria for risks related to the correctness of financial 
disclosure, ensures correct performance of their activities and related controls, in accordance with internal 
operating rules and legal provisions on financial statements, supervision and taxation. In collaboration with 
the Internal Audit Department, it oversees accounting and regulations for all offices under General 
Management, from an equity and economic standpoint, also with regards to the execution of account audits 
and tax audits delegated according to the competence of the various offices; 
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4. Organisation and Support Services Department: is delegated the task of drawing up the macrostructure, the 
internal control model (broken down into the organisational system, the system of governance, the 
management system and the control system) and single business processes (for example the strategic, 
credit, financial process etc.) and the periodic procedure to assess the adequacy and the smooth running of 
the internal control system; 

5. Credit Department: supervises the disbursement of credit by the Bank, identifies and analyses areas for 
intervention, ensures supervision of asset quality, proposing the necessary corrective action and 
establishing assessment and reliability criteria for customers and, without prejudice to the responsibilities of 
the Internal Audit Department, supervises and coordinate the set of activities aimed to control risk through a 
dedicated office; 

6. Finance Department: follows and constantly analyses the Bank’s global positions in euro and in foreign 
currency, in terms of its income profile, liquidity, risk and respect of operational limits; 

7. Corporate Bodies, Legal and Compliance Department: has the task of ensuring governance, meaning the 
prevention, management and control of the risk of the Bank’s non compliance (meaning legal and reputation 
risk) with legislation and with self-imposed regulations. 

8. Finance and Liquidity Committee: a strategic and advisory body, whose task is to set policy regarding 
company finance and to exercise decision-making powers as regards liquidity. . 

9. Risk Management Committee: has responsibilities as regards the management of the Bank’s overall risk 
profile and the assessment of performance achieved in terms of risk-return and therefore capital; 
consumption, both supervisory and economic 

 
The risk committee assesses compliance with new provisions issued by the Bank of Italy concerning 
“Transparency in transactions and bank and financial services”, in particular with regards to Section XI – 
Organisation Requirements. The Board of Directors is provided with periodic reports containing the assessments 
made by the Risk Committee. 
 
The internal control system is continuously updated and supplemented, also in the light of Legislative Provisions 
that are issued by the ordinary legislator or by the Supervisory Authority from time to time. 
 
10.3. Internal control with regards to the accounting and financial reporting 
 
The adequacy of administrative-accounting procedures for disclosing accounting and financial information is 
assessed based on a model defined by the Bank that is consistent with standards for the internal control system 
related to financial reporting generally accepted on an international scale (COSO). 
 
The aforementioned “Internal Governance Administrative and Financial Model”, approved by the Board of 
Directors on 11 February 2008, is, inter alia, considered suitable to produce the statements required by the 
Consolidated Law on Finance (amended by Law 262/2005) to certify the adequacy and actual application of the 
administrative-accounting procedures used to provide for preparing the financial statements and financial 
reporting, conformity of the financial statements with accounting books and records and its suitability to provide 
accurate and correct representation of the issuer’s financial situation. This model was updated with an additional 
resolution passed by the Board of Directors on 4 March 2009. 
 
The model is structured in five distinct macro-processes: 
 
- defining scope of application; 
- setting up sensitive processes for the purpose of financial reporting; 
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- checking the adequacy of the sensitive processes and the effectiveness of the controls; 
- assessing the internal control system for financial reporting; 
- preparing and issuing periodic statements. 
 
The activity of checking the adequacy of processes and the effectiveness of controls is carried out by the 
following offices according to their area of competence: Administration Department, Internal Audit Department, 
Organisation and Support Services Department. This assessment activity is formalised with assessment test 
sheets. 
 
An assessment of the internal control system for financial reporting is to be carried out every six months based 
on matters related to the processes within the scope of application, taking into account the control tests 
performed and checking that the corrective measures have been completed. 
 
The assessment is made by consolidating the results emerging from risk analysis activities and control tests on 
company processes and by determining any irregularities in the control system based on specific qualitative and 
quantitative methods. The irregularities are then reported to the competent company offices and, where 
necessary, disclosed to the market. 
 
10.4. Internal Control Manager 
 
On 9 June 2008, after receiving a favourable opinion from the Board of Statutory Auditors, the Board of Directors 
appointed an Internal Control Manager pursuant to art. 12 of the Bank of Italy and CONSOB joint Regulation. 
Camillo Latto, who is also the head of the Internal Audit Department, was appointed to replace the previous 
manager, who retired. 
 
It should also be mentioned that he is an Executive for Banca Monte dei Paschi, on secondment to the Bank, 
and therefore his salary is defined by Monte dei Paschi. 
 
At present a specific person in charge of Risk Management Control has not been appointed, as, also on the 
basis of the principle of regulatory proportionality, the Bank’s current organisational structure, meaning the set of 
rules, procedures and dedicated offices, guarantees the supervision of company risks.  
 
11. COMPLIANCE 
 
At the end of 2007, the “Compliance Function” was established and the relative regulations were approved. 
 
The specific task of this function is to check that internal procedures are coherent with the objective of avoiding 
the infringement of external regulation (Laws and Regulations) and self-regulation applicable to the Bank. 
 
In March 2008 a structure was set up to act as a functional reference point and activities were started up to 
determine the functional references within the company structure. 
 
As of 2 April 2009, the responsibility for the above function was assigned to the Executive Sandro Ascani, 
manager of the Corporate Bodies, Legal and Compliance Department and temporary manager of the 
Organisation and Support Services Department to replace the executive Alessandro Cardarelli. 
 
12. MODEL 231 
 
With reference to the application of Law 231, we hereby specify that the aim of “model 231” is: 
 
- to guarantee the correctness of conduct, of the Bank itself and of the people that represent it, in full 

compliance with legal and regulatory provisions; 
 
- to strengthen control, monitoring and sanction mechanisms to prevent offences being committed; 
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- to reconfirm policies set out as regards compliance, ethics, transparency, correctness and prohibition, and 

pursued by the Bank, and previously illustrated in the “Code of conduct for the banking and financial 
sector"; 

 
- to render all those that are part of the organisation, whether governing or executive, aware that any illicit 

behaviour may lead to penal and administrative sanctions for individuals and for the company as a whole. 
 
In order to adopt the ORGANISATIONAL MODEL, in accordance with Legislative Decree 231/2001, the 
“231/2001 Regulation Model” was drawn up, which represents the full document containing the principles and 
the reference laws and regulations for the prevention of offences pursuant to the cited Legislative Decree. 
 
It should be noted that “Organisational Model 231” was resolved upon by the Board of Directors, attended by all 
members, in July 2007, and then implemented following further legislative amendments. 
 
The Internal Control Committee oversees the application of “Organisational Model 231”.  
 
13. INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
By a resolution of the ordinary shareholders’ meeting on 21 April 2008, KPMG Spa was appointed as the Bank’s 
auditors, for the nine year period 2008 – 2016, establishing the remuneration of the same. 
 
In compliance with the Legislative Decree of 2 February 2007, which amended art. 2409-ter Civil Code, it was 
necessary to supplement the original appointment of KPMG SPA. In order to make it possible to draft a report 
conforming to the new legal form, the Shareholders’ Meeting of 29 June 2009 resolved, with the favourable 
opinion of the Board of Statutory Auditors, to add the supplement and set their compensation. 
 
14. MANAGER IN CHARGE OF FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 
Law 262 of 28 December 2005 (as amended) “Provisions for the protection of savings and regulation of financial 
markets” and art. 154 of the Consolidated Law on Finance require that listed companies in Italy have an 
Manager in charge of financial reporting. 
 
This Executive sets up adequate accounting and administration procedures to prepare the financial statements 
and appends a report to the year-end financial statements and consolidated financial statements certifying the 
adequacy of the internal control system for accounting and administration procedures and the actual application 
of the procedures during the period to which the accounting documents refer. The statement is also submitted to 
the Board of Directors. The same Executive also provides a statement to certify that the deeds, communications 
and disclosures (also during the year) of the Group correspond to the books, the accounting documents and 
results. 
 
By resolution of the Board of Directors passed on 22 December 2008, Paola Piermarini was appointed Manager 
in charge of financial reporting, thereby replacing the previous executive, Sandro Martinelli, the Bank’s Deputy 
General Manager, who retired. 
 
15. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 
 
Without prejudice to the fact that in compliance with legal provisions, all existing compulsory relationships with 
the Board members, Statutory Auditors and the General Manager must be resolved pursuant to art. 2391, Civil 
Code and art. 136 of the Consolidated Law on Banking, the Board of Directors  
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issued specific rules (adopted on 27 November 2006 and updated on 30 March 2009) to regulate transactions 
with related parties that fall under the responsibility of the Board of Directors and transactions where the Board 
must be informed when performed by delegated bodies. 
 
Such transactions are defined as: (i) "significant” transactions when they can have effects on the safeguarding of 
company assets; and (ii) "important" transactions when they have a considerable economic and financial impact 
and are not typical or usual transactions. 
 
These transactions are: 
 
- “Significant” transactions: transactions which by reason of their subject, amount, procedure or time required 

for their performance may have an impact on the stability of company assets or on the completeness or 
correctness of information, including accounting information, regarding the company and which, therefore, 
must compulsorily be disclosed to the market, in accordance with the terms and procedures provided by 
art. 71-bis of CONSOB regulation 11971/99 as amended. 

 
In any case “significant” is any transaction where the value of the transaction is higher than at least one of the 
following parameters set by the Bank: 
 
 a. 10% of company profit before tax; 
 b. 1% of the company’s Regulatory Capital, 
 according to the most recently disclosed financial statements. 
 
- “Important” transactions: transactions which vest economic, capital or financial importance and which have 

atypical and/or unusual characteristics, insofar as they (i) are not covered by standard business operations; 
or (ii) are performed substantially at conditions that do not comply with those usually applied by the 
company vis-à-vis customers and employees; or (iii) they entail critical factors with relation to other aspects 
of the transactions; or (iv) transactions with related parties regarding “problem”, “non-performing”, “under 
restructuring” or “restructured” loans. 

 
In any case, transactions with “economic, capital or financial importance” are those which, in the system of 
independent decision-making powers determined from time to time, require a level of authorisation not lower 
than that attributed to the General Manager. 
 
In 2009 the following documents were prepared (drafted pursuant to art. 71-bis CONSOB Issuer Regulation 
11971 of 14 May 1999 as amended, in compliance with annex 3B, schedule 4) concerning: 
 
- restructuring of the type of collateral in favour of Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA with regards to a transaction 
amounting to EUR € 5,250,000.00 granted to Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA in favour of the company SCS 
Gestioni Immobiliari S.r.l., wholly-owned subsidiary of Spoleto Credito e Servizi Soc.Coop., a company in which 
the latter holds a majority interest in Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA (10 June 2009); 
 
- renewal of loan agreements for a total of EUR 4,279,817, granting of a mortgage current account amounting to 
EUR 900,000 with acquisition of a first-degree mortgage and extension of a mortgage loan with the progression 
of construction work for a total of EUR 6,000,000, in favour of “3C Costruzioni Cucchetto e Cascioli sas di 
Alberto Cucchetto” a company under the control of Mr. Cucchetto Alberto, who is a close family member of Mr. 
Cucchetto Francesco, a Director of “Spoleto Credito e Servizi Soc. Coop”, a company which holds a majority 
interest in Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA. (6 October 2009); 
 
- technical renewal of loan agreements amounting to EUR 2,500,000 in the form of mortgage current account 
credit lines in favour of “Todi 2 Costruzioni Generali srl” under the control of “Fibasi sas di Fiorella Trippa & C.”, 
which is under considerable influence from a close family member of Mr. Cucchetto Francesco, a Director of 
“Spoleto Credito e Servizi Soc. Coop”, a company  
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which holds a majority interest in Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA. (6 October 2009). 
 
The terms of these transactions were resolved by the Board of Directors with a favourable opinion from the 
Board of Statutory Auditors. 
 
With regard to transactions with companies belonging to the Spoleto Credito e Servizi Società Cooperativa and 
Banca Monte dei Paschi di Siena Groups, and with investee companies (other than Group Companies), please 
consult the specific tables shown in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
The above-cited transactions with Group companies and with investee companies are regulated at market 
conditions.  
 
It should also be noted that as regards the Board Directors, Statutory Auditors and General Management, 
transactions associated with the same (pursuant to art. 136 of the Consolidated Law on Banking), as at 31 
December 2009, regard loan agreements totalling EUR 39.6 million (EUR 20.3 million of which has been 
utilised), deposit accounts - direct customer deposits, totalling EUR 27.7 million and deposit accounts - indirect 
customer deposits, totalling EUR 83.4 million, also regulated at market conditions.  
 
Lastly, the Bank has not set up any atypical or unusual transactions with respect to standard credit brokerage 
activities. 
 
16. APPOINTMENT OF STATUTORY AUDITORS 
 
Pursuant to art. 16 of the articles of association the Board of Statutory Auditors is appointed based on lists 
submitted by shareholders and according to the following procedures. The Articles of Association (art. 16, 
paragraph 4) provide that only shareholders or groups of shareholders representing at least 2.5% of shares are 
eligible to submit lists or a different share established by CONSOB in application of the rules in force. These lists 
are filed at the company’s head offices at least twenty days prior to the first convocation of the shareholders’ 
meeting. (If when this term has expired only one list has been submitted, or lists submitted by an association of 
shareholders, additional lists can be submitted until the fifth day after the expiration of the term. In this case any 
thresholds provided by the articles of association are reduced by one half.) 
 
The lists submitted, together with thorough information on the personal and professional characteristics of the 
candidates as well as a statement declaring that there are no causes making them ineligible or incompatible and 
that they hold the requirements for the position, are to be disclosed at least ten days prior to the date scheduled 
for the first convocation of the shareholders’ meeting and filed at the company’s registered office, the stock 
market authority and published on the company’s website. 
 
Members of the Board of Statutory Auditors are elected as follows: from the list that received the highest number 
of votes, two Standing Members and one Alternate Member is taken in the order they appear on the list. The 
remaining Standing Member and the other Alternate Member are shall be the candidates that are first on the list 
obtaining the highest number of votes amongst the lists submitted and voted for by the shareholders who are in 
no way connected to the shareholders in question, according to the criteria established by CONSOB. The 
Standing Member appointed with this procedure shall also be appointed as Chairman by the shareholders’ 
meeting. 
 
In the event of a draw between lists, the candidate of the list submitted by shareholders with the highest interest 
is elected, or, in order of the majority of shareholders. 
 
If, for any reason, there is no minority auditor the latter is replaced by an alternate auditor designated by the 
minority and the other alternate auditor indicated on the minority list shall become alternate auditor. The 
replacement Auditor shall be the Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors. If, for any reason, a non-minority 
Auditor is no longer available then art. 2401, Civil Code, is applied. 
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17. STATUTORY AUDITORS (PURSUANT TO ART. 123 BIS, PARAGRAPH 2, LETTER D), CONSOLIDATED 
LAW ON FINANCE) 
 
Pursuant to art. 16 of the Articles of Association, the Board of Statutory Auditors is comprised of three Standing 
Auditors and two Alternate Auditors, which remain in office for three fiscal years, until the date of the 
Shareholders’ meeting convened to approve the financial statements for the third fiscal year of office.  
 
At the Shareholders’ meeting held on 27 April 2007, the entire Board of Statutory Auditors was appointed as well 
as its Chairman, who will remain in office until the approval of the 2009 financial statements. 
 

Role Members In office since In office until Indep. % (*) Number of  

offices 

Chairman 
Francesco 

Bonelli 
27/04/07  31/12/09  x 100 0 

Standing Auditor 
Michele 

Fesani 
27/04/07  31/12/09  X 100 0 

Standing Auditor 
Roberto 

Rossi 
27/04/07  31/12/09  X 96 1 

Alternate Auditor 
Giovanni 

Burini 
27/04/07  31/12/09    0 

Alternate Auditor 
Piergiorgio 
Castellani 

 

27/04/07  31/12/09    0 

 
 (*) Percentage of participation of Directors in Board meetings 
 
Details for each member of the Board of Statutory Auditors are provided below. 
 
Francesco Bonelli: born in Poggibonsi (SI) on 4 September 1959. Certified Public Accountant since 1988. 
Registered in the registry of auditors and the registry of technical consultants at the Court of Siena. He was a 
Director of the Association of Accountants of Siena from 1994 to 2000 and Chairman of the Association from 
2000 to 2003. He is a practicing public accountant and is a standing statutory auditor and the Chairman of the 
Board of Statutory Auditors at several important industrial, commercial and services companies. 
 
Michele Fesani: born in Rimini on 26 July 1967. Certified Public Accountant since 1992. Registered in the 
registry of auditors since 1995 and the registry of technical consultants at the Court of Rimini since 1997. 
Member of the Board of the Association of Certified Public Accounts of Rimini from 2001 to 2007. He is a 
practicing public accountant and is a member of the Board of Statutory Auditors of several capital corporations. 
 
Roberto Rossi: born in Spoleto (PG) on 9 January 1955. Certified Public Accountant since 1983. Member of the 
Board of the Association of Certified Public Accounts of Terni and Spoleto from 1997 to 2000. He is a practicing 
public accountant and is a standing statutory auditor and the Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors at 
several important industrial, commercial and services companies. He has also been a speaker at many 
professional training courses. 
 
Over the course of 2009, the Board of Statutory Auditors met 28 times; the average length of each meeting is 
about one hour, in addition to the time needed for inspection, checks and study. Over the course of 2010, the 
Board of Directors met 6 times. The total number of meetings scheduled for this year is basically the same as 
the number of meetings held last year. The Board also takes part in the meetings held by the Board of Directors 
and the Internal Control Committee. 
 
Following their appointment, the Board of Directors checked fulfilment of the requirements of independence of 
the Board of Statutory Auditors; the entire Board of Statutory Auditors was present at said assessment,  
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and signed the appropriate statements confirming the non-existence of obstructive situations. 
 
The same art. 16 of the Articles of Association provides details on the manner in which the Board of Statutory 
Auditors should be elected. In particular, the article establishes that shareholders who alone or with other 
represent at least 2.5% of shares may submit lists, and that the curriculum vitae of each candidate Auditor must 
be deposited at least 20 days before the shareholders’ meeting at the registered office, attached to the lists 
submitted by shareholders. The Standing Auditor appointed from the minority list is currently Michele Fesani. 
 
The Articles of Association also provide limits on the number of offices each member can hold at listed 
companies, appointments to bodies other than those of other companies in the group, the financial 
conglomerate, or companies where the company holds, even indirectly, a strategic interest. 
 
In order to enable the Board of Statutory Auditors to execute its auditing activities and disclosure of any 
irregularities, the new version of the Articles of Association added (art. 17) all the provisions of the Supervisory 
Regulations mentioned above. More specifically, the Board of Statutory Auditors shall conduct yearly checks on 
its adequacy in terms of powers, operations and composition, and shall be heard on the appointment and 
removal of managers of internal audit and compliance departments as well as the appointment of the Manager in 
charge of financial reporting. 
 
Furthermore, in addition to the requirement to immediately inform the Bank of Italy and/or any other supervisory 
body on irregularities in management or violations of the law (art. 52 Consolidated Law on Banking), the Body 
shall also notify the Board of Directors of any failures or irregularities found during its activities and request that 
they take any measures necessary to correct the issue and check long-term effectiveness. To this end, the 
Articles of Association gives the Board of Statutory Auditors all powers necessary to fulfil these obligations. 
 
By virtue of shareholders agreements, at the Shareholders' Meeting of 2007 Banca Monte dei Paschi di Siena 
Spa designated one member of the Board of Statutory Auditors, who assumed the role of Chairman. 
 
18. RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS 
 
 
Within Banca Popolare di Spoleto, the Chairman’s office is responsible, although not yet formally, for maintaining 
relations with Shareholders and Investors; the entire Board of Directors assists the Chairman’s office in this 
regard. Any other requirements of shareholders are handled by the Corporate Bodies, Legal and Compliance 
Department. 
 
In March 2008, an “INVESTOR RELATIONS” office was established, which reports to the General Manager, and 
which handles relations with investors. 
 
The head of the above office is Paola Piermarini who, inter alia, also oversees financial communication activities 
and maintains relations with the Rating companies. 
 
The above office handles relations with the press and information media; it entertains relations and organises 
meetings with analysts and institutional investors, continuously reporting to Top Management on any comments 
received from the same. 
 
19. SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS (PURSUANT TO ART. 123 BIS, PARAGRAPH 2, LETTER C), 
CONSOLIDATED LAW ON FINANCE) 
 
In accordance with the rules regulating shareholders’ meetings, the Bank allows any shareholders with voting 
rights to attend the meetings provided they prove that they are eligible as provided by the law. 
 
The rights of shareholders, which may be exercised at Shareholders’ Meetings, are only those envisaged by 
legislative provisions in force at the time. 
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Shareholders’ Meetings, ordinary or extraordinary, are chaired by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, who 
organises the same also in compliance with the Regulations of Shareholders’ Meetings. The meetings are held 
within the Municipality of Spoleto.  
 
The shareholders’ meeting regulations, updated by resolution passed by the shareholders’ meeting on 29 June 
2009, are disclosed to the public for every meeting by filing a copy at the registered office, at Borsa Italiana 
S.p.A., and by publishing them on the company website (www.bpspoleto.it). 
 
The Regulations provide that voting is by open vote. In accordance with the Articles of Association, voting for 
appointments to company offices is carried out using the ballots provided by the Bank with stamp for validation. 
The ballots to renew company offices show the names indicated on the lists submitted according to the 
procedure provided by the Articles of Association. The Chairman discloses the results of voting when voting is 
complete and after counting the ballots. 
 
Furthermore, Shareholders’ Meetings also represent an opportunity to provide shareholders with information 
about the company, in observance of regulations regarding price sensitive information. Board Directors seek to 
involve as many shareholders as possible in Shareholders’ Meetings and continue to pay particular and constant 
attention to minority shareholders, particularly to facilitate the exercise of prerogatives established to protect the 
same. 
 
The ordinary shareholders’ meeting is convened at least once a year and it is responsible for:  
 
▪ approving the financial statements; 
▪ appointing board members; 
▪ appointing the Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors and the entire Board of Statutory Auditors; 
▪ any other matter that the Board of Directors submits for its approval; 
▪ approving the policies on remuneration for Directors, the General Manager, employees and external workers, 

as well as plans based on financial instruments; 
▪ establishing the remuneration of the Board of Directors, the Statutory Board of Auditors and the Committee 

for Internal Control as well as reimbursement, also in lump sums, of expenses incurred while performing their 
duties and the amount of attendance fees for meetings they take part in. 

 
Furthermore, the Shareholders’ Meeting should be adequately informed on the implementation of remuneration 
policies through a prevalently quantitative report, with particular reference to variable components and 
consistency with the guidelines and objectives defined. 
 
The extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting resolves on matters envisaged by law. 
 
1. CHANGES OCCURRED AFTER THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 
At the date of this report, terms are being negotiated to renew the shareholders’ agreement between the 
shareholders Spoleto Credito e Servizi Soc. Coop. and Banca Monte dei Paschi di Siena Spa. 
 
 
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

There are no significant events that occurred after the end of the fiscal year in question to report. 
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK 
 
The last two financial years saw the development of an international financial crisis of a never-before-seen 
proportion. 
 
Therefore, the macroeconomic context of the recent past was characterised by a phase of global recession with 
long-lasting effects, the impact of which will be felt in 2010 in spite of the first weak signs of recovery. 
 
In light of the difficult context that characterises the scenario for the 2010 Budget and which has a negative 
impact on the entire banking system, in order to reconfirm the objectives set in the 2009-2010 Business Plan, 
the Bank drafted the Operating Budget for 2010 reflecting in the primary variables (volumes, interest rates, 
operating costs and the cost of credit) and therefore, in the economic results, the implementation of a series of 
mild interventions already determined to counter potential lower margins. 
 
In particular, the areas of intervention determined decidedly affirm the following priorities:  
 
- “Adequate policy for terms and conditions” 
 
- Maintaining and improving “Credit Quality” in a climate of deterioration 
 
- “Increasing Banca Reale’s” business through the acquisition of new customers, maintaining the loyalty of 

existing customers and reduction of the number of customers closing accounts. 
 
 

************ 
 

Company trends and forecasts (Banca of Italy, Consob and Isvap Document 4 of 3 March 2010) 
 
In Document no. 4 dated 3 March 2010, the Bank of Italy, Consob and Isvap expressed certain considerations 
on the situation of the markets and companies, requesting that Directors provide adequate information in the 
2009 financial statements clarifying the impact of the crisis on the financial-economic situation, operating and 
strategic choices made and any corrective measures taken to adapt company strategy to the context in question.  
 
In particular, on the basis of and expanding on that already requested in Document no. 2 dated 6 February 2009, 
for a better understanding of company trends and forecasts, particularly regarding the going concern 
assumption, financial risks, impairment testing of assets and uncertainties in the use of estimates, the bodies 
mentioned above deem it indispensible to provide a greater degree of transparency on impairment testing, 
contract clauses on financial debts, debt restructuring and the fair value hierarchy. 
 
Concerning these issues, the Bank verified that the standards and policies applied comply with regulatory 
provisions in force and the information provided in these financial statements are in line with applicable laws and 
provisions. 
 
As regards the going concern assumption – the Directors of Banca Popolare di Spoleto closely assessed 
uncertainties for the foreseeable future and they confirm that they have reasonable expectations that the 
company shall continue its operations in the near future and as a result the 2009 financial statements were 
prepared under the going concern assumption. They also confirm that no indicators were found in the asset and 
financial structure and operating trends in the company that would lead to uncertainty on the going concern 
assumption. 
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PROPOSAL TO THE SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING FOR THE DISTRIBUTION OF 
PROFITS. 
 
Shareholders, 
 
We invite you to approve the Report on Operations, the Statement of financial position, the Income Statement 
and the Notes to the financial statements, as submitted by the Board of Directors, as a whole, and individually, 
and to allocate the profit for fiscal year 2009 as follows: 
 
Profit for the year EUR   7,992,601.44 
 
 
- To the Ordinary Reserves  EUR       399,630.07 
 
- To the Extraordinary Reserves  EUR    3,485,791.22 
 
- To the Reserves for Charity EUR       239,778.04 
 
 

▪ to the 29,749,247 ordinary 
shares (nominal value EUR 
87,487,861.48; unit value 2.84) 
EUR 0.13 per share, in addition 

 to a possible distribution of  
 dividends for treasury shares 
 EUR    3,867,402.11 
 
 
In the calculation of the dividend to be assigned to shareholders, which is lower than last year, we took into 
account the recommendations of the Supervisory Body regarding the careful assessment of the economic 
situation and consequently a cautious dividend and capital reinforcement policy in addition to the situation of 
Bank capitalisation, with a Core Tier 1 and Tier 1 of 9.9%.  
 
 
 
Spoleto, 15 March 2010 
 
 

 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - Assets 
 

(in EUR) 

Assets 31/12/2009 31/12/2008 % change

10 Cash and cash equivalents 22,858,573 24,020,819 -4.8%

20 Financial assets held for trading 134,468,640 186,560,693 -27.9%

40 Available-for-sale financial assets 211,863,828 201,893,742 4.9%

60 Due from banks 156,503,729 107,612,829 45.4%

70 Due from customers 2,173,502,657 2,087,171,119 4.1%

80 Hedging derivatives 14,539,212 9,851,716 47.6%

110 Property, equipment and investment property  44,655,199 39,970,450 11.7%

120 Intangible assets 188,387 161,327 16.8%
 of which: goodwill - 

130 Tax assets 26,912,624 21,766,670 23.6%

 a) current 11,513,882 11,657,197 -1.2%
 b) prepaid 15,398,742 10,109,473 52.3%

150 Other assets 66,105,107 63,079,547 4.8%

Total assets 2,851,597,956 2,742,088,912 4.0%
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - Liabilities and equity 
 

(in EUR) 

Liabilities and equity 31/12/2009 31/12/2008 % change

10 Due to banks 55,669,061 36,219,395  53.7%

20 Due to customers 1,481,675,717 1,517,606,956 -2.4%

30 Outstanding securities 977,841,544 907,578,322 7.7%

40 Financial liabilities held for trading 1,473,209 1,954,841 -24.6%

60 Hedging derivatives 20,481,980 17,995,340 13.8%

80 Tax liabilities 15,877,830 12,499,218 27.0%

 a) current 14,810,980 11,857,073 24.9%
 b) deferred 1,066,850 642,145 66.1%

100 Other liabilities 69,480,088 63,396,661 9.6%

110 Post-employment benefits (TFR) 10,916,736 11,955,043 -8.7%

120 Provision for risks and charges 6,257,713 5,559,005 12.6%

 a) pensions and similar obligations - 

 b) other provisions 6,257,713 5,559,005 12.6%

130 Valuation reserves 184,169 (3,170,087) -105.8%

160 Reserves 34,862,935 30,024,161 16.1%

170 Share premium reserve 84,674,920 67,934,517 24.6%

180 Share capital 84,487,861 62,136,900 36.0%

190 Treasury shares (-) (278,408) (222,177)  25.3%

200 Profit for the year (+/-) 7,992,601 10,620,817 -24.7%

Total liabilities and equity 2,851,597,956 2,742,088,912 4.0%
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INCOME STATEMENT 
  (in EUR) 

Income statement 2009 2008 % change 

10 Interest income and similar income 124,181,986  163,872,277 -24.2% 

20 Interest expense and similar expense (46,664,120)  (82,955,811) -43.7% 

30 Net interest income 77,517,866  80,916,466 -4.2% 

40 Commission income 32,658,061  31,631,180 3.2% 

50 Commission expense (2,020,259)  (2,292,081) -11.9% 

60 Net commission income 30,637,802  29,339,099 4.4% 

70 Dividends and similar income 172,137  84,609 103.4% 

80 Net income from trading activities 5,211,871  (2,458,605) -312.0% 

90 Net income from hedging activities (1,105,118)  770,652 -243.4% 

100 Profit (loss) from sale or repurchase of: 3,965,930  (34,581) -11568.5% 

 a) receivables 500  (76,904)  

 b) available-for-sale financial assets 3,815,902  (28,262) -11568.5% 

 c) held to maturity investments  -  

 d) financial liabilities 149,528  70,585 111.8% 

110 Net gain from financial assets and liabilities at fair value  -  

120 Operating profit 116,400,488  108,617,640 7.2% 

130 Net impairment losses on: (26,800,992)  (17,962,510) 49.2% 

 a) receivables (26,410,525)  (15,073,119) 75.2% 

 b) available-for-sale financial assets (422,291)  (2,889,391)  

 c) held to maturity investments  -  

 d) other financial assets 31,824  -  

140 Net income from financial management 89,599,496  90,655,130 -1.2% 

150 Administrative expenses (78,173,253)  (74,277,658) 5.2% 

 a) personnel expenses (45,221,040)  (43,002,577) 5.2% 

 b) other administrative expenses (32,952,213)  (31,275,081) 5.4% 

160 Net allocations to provisions for risks and charges (1,491,441)  (1,757,550) -15.1% 

170 
Depreciation and net impairment losses on property, equipment and 
investment property 

(2,015,546)  (1,847,723) 
9.1% 

180 Amortisation and net impairment losses on intangible assets (50,630)  (53,004) -4.5% 

190 Other operating expense/income 7,814,695  7,358,999 6.2% 

200 Operating costs (73,916,175)  (70,576,936) 4.7% 

210 Profit (Loss) on equity investments  -  

220 
Net fair value gains on property, equipment and investment property 
and intangible assets 

 - 
 

230 Impairment losses on goodwill  -  

240 Profit (Loss) on disposal of investments 28,839 64  64  

250 Profit (Loss) from continuing operations before tax 15,712,160  20,078,258 -21.7% 

260 Income tax for the year on continuing operations (7,719,559)  (9,457,441) -18.4% 

270 Profit (Loss) from continuing operations after tax 7,992,601  10,620,817 -24.7% 

280 Profit (Loss) on discontinued operations after tax  -  

290 Profit for the year 7,992,601  10,620,817 -24.7% 

 
            2009   2008 

Basic earnings per share 0.31 0.49 

From continuing operations 0.31 0.49  

From discontinued operations  - 

Diluted earnings per share 0.31 0.49  

From continuing operations 0.31 0.49 
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 From discontinued operations  - 

 
Statement of comprehensive income 

 
 
 
 Statement of comprehensive income  (in EUR) 

  2009 2008 Change % 
10  Profit for the year 7,992,601 10,620,817  -24.7 
 Other comprehensive income    
20 Available-for-sale financial assets 3,354,256 (1,913,931)  -275.3% 
30 Property, equipment and investment property     
40 Intangible assets    
50 Hedging of investments in foreign operations    
60 Cash flow hedging    
70 Exchange rate gains (losses)    
80 Assets held for sale    
90 Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit plans    
100 Amount of valuation reserves of investments measured 

using the equity method 
   

110 Total other comprehensive income (expense) after tax 3,354,256 (1,913,931)  -275.3% 
120 Comprehensive income (Item 10 + 110) 11,346,857 8,706,886  -30.3% 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY – 2009 
(in EUR) 

Changes during the year 
Allocation of profit (loss) of  

previous year 
Equity transactions  Balance at 

31/12/2008 
Changes to 

opening 
balance 

Balance at 
01/01/2009 

Reserves 
Dividends 
and other 
allocations 

Changes to 
reserves Issue of 

new 
shares 

Purchase of 
treasury 
shares 

Distribution of 
extraordinary 

dividend 

Change in 
equity 

instruments 

Derivatives 
on treasury 

shares 

Stock 
Options 

Profit for 
2009 

Equity as at 
31/12/2009 

Share capital: 
a) ordinary 
shares 

62,136,900  62,136,900    22,350,961       84,487,861 

 b) other shares               

Share premium reserve 67,934,517  67,934,517    16,740,403       84,674,920 

Reserves: 
a) income-
related reserve 

30,024,161  30,024,161 5,051,187  (212,413)        34,862,935 

 b) other               

Valuation reserves: 
a) available for 
sale 

(3,339,417)  (3,339,417)          3,354,256 14,839 

 
b) cash flow 
hedging 

              

 c) other 169,330  169,330           169,330 

Equity instruments               

Treasury shares (222,177)  (222,177)     (56,231)      (278,408) 

Profit/(Loss) for the year 10,620,817  10,620,817 (5,051,187) (5,569,630)        7,992,601 7,992,601 

Equity 167,324,131  167,324,131  (5,569,630) (212,413) 39,091,364 (56,231)     11,346,857 211,924,078 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY – 2008 

(in EUR) 
Changes during the year 

Allocation of profit (loss) of  
previous year 

Equity transactions  Balance at 
31/12/2007 

Changes to 
opening 
balance 

Balance at 
01/01/2008 

Reserves 
Dividends 
and other 
allocations 

Changes to 
reserves Issue of 

new 
shares 

Purchase of 
treasury 
shares 

Distribution of 
extraordinary 

dividend 

Change in 
equity 

instruments 

Derivatives 
on treasury 

shares 

Stock 
Options 

Profit for 
2008 

Equity as at 
31/12/2008 

Share capital: 
a) ordinary 
shares 

62,136,900 - 62,136,900 - - - - - - - - - - 62,136,900 

 b) other shares - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Share premium reserve 67,934,517 - 67,934,517- - - - - - - - - - - 67,934,517 

Reserves: 
a) income-
related reserve 

28,081,607 - 28,081,607 2,047,554 - (105,000) - - - - - - - 30,024,161 

 b) other - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Valuation reserves: 
a) available for 
sale 

(1,425,486) - (1,425,486) - - - - - - - - - (1,913,931) (3,339,417) 

 
b) cash flow 
hedging 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

 c) other 169,330 - 169,330 - - - - - - - - - - 169,330 

Equity instruments - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Treasury shares - - - - - - - (222,177) - - - - - (222,177) 

Profit/(Loss) for the year 10,580,438 - 10,580,438 (2,047,554) (8,532,884) - - - - - - - 10,620,817 10,620,817 

Equity 167,477,306 - 167,477,306 - (8,532,884) (105,000) - (222,177) - - - - 8,706,886 167,324,131 
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CASHFLOW STATEMENT 
(indirect method) 
 
 
A. OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2009 2008 

  (in EUR) 

1. Operations 40,785,343  29,575,348 

profit for the year (+/-) 7,992,601  10,620,817 

profit/loss on financial assets held for trading and on financial assets/liabilities 
measured at fair value (+/-) 

(620,516)  908,390 

profit/loss on hedging activities (+/-) 1,105,118  (770,652) 

net adjustments/write-backs for impairment (+/-) 29,257,152  17,450,295 

net adjustments/write-backs on property, equipment and investment property 
and intangible assets (+/-) 

2,066,176  1,900,727 

net allocations to provisions for risks and charges and other costs/income (+/-) 1,491,442  1,757,550 

taxes and duties not paid (+) 3,097,223  412,863 

net adjustments/write-backs of discontinued operations net of  tax effect (+/-)  - 

other adjustments (3,603,853) (2,704,642) 

2. Cash flows generated by/used for financial assets (127,520,227)  (200,762,014) 

financial assets held for trading 51,022,890  28,922,015 

financial assets measured at fair value   

available-for-sale financial assets (8,215,372)  (75,535,561) 

due from banks: on demand 513,439  (1,029,271) 

due from banks: other receivables (49,604,264)  24,943,971 

due from customers (118,211,359)  (186,328,443) 

other assets (3,025,561)  8,265,275 

3. Cash flows generated/absorbed by financial liabilities 58,856,281  185,134,956 

due to banks: on demand 3,668,002  6,458,710 

due to banks: other payables 15,783,263  (77,516,069) 

due to customers (35,029,224)  222,835,705 

outstanding securities 70,351,179  50,132,473 

financial liabilities held for trading  230,800 

financial liabilities measured at fair value   

other liabilities 4,083,061  (17,006,663) 

Net cash flow generated/absorbed by operating activities (27,878,603)  13,948,290 

B. INVESTING ACTIVITIES   

1. Cash flows from: 38,089  19,595 

sale of equity investments  - 

dividends from equity investments  - 

sale/repayment of held to maturity investments  - 

disposal of property, equipment and investment property  38,089  19,595 

disposal of intangible assets  - 

disposal of subsidiaries and going concerns  - 

2. Cash flows absorbed by: (6,787,235)  (5,578,956) 

purchase of equity investments  - 

purchase of held to maturity investments  - 

purchase of property, equipment and investment property  (6,709,545)  (5,474,000) 

purchase of intangible assets (77,690)  (104,956) 

purchase of subsidiaries and going concerns  - 
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Net cash flow generated/absorbed by investment activities (6,749,146)  (5,559,361) 

C. FUNDING ACTIVITIES   

issue/purchase of treasury shares 39,035,133  (222,177) 

issue/purchase of equity instruments  - 

dividend distribution and other purposes (5,569,630)  (8,532,884) 

Net cash flow generated/absorbed by funding activities 33,465,503  (8,755,061) 

   

NET CASH FLOW GENERATED/ABSORBED DURING THE YEAR (1,162,246)  (366,132) 

   

   

Reconciliation   

   

 

Items 2009 2008 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 24,020,819  24,386,951 

Total cash generated/absorbed during the period (1,162,246)  (366,132) 

Cash and cash equivalents at year end 22,858,573 24,020,819 
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Notes to the financial statements
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PART A – Accounting Policies 
 
A1 – GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Section 1 – Statement of compliance with International Accounting Standards 
 
These financial statements have been drawn up according to International Accounting Standards (IAS), 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the relative interpretations of the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), approved by the European Commission, as established in EC 
Regulation no. 1606 of 19 July 2002 and subsequent amendments and supplements, as well as to provisions 
issued in implementation of article 9 of Legislative Decree no. 38/2005. 
 
International Accounting Standards have been applied also making reference to the “Systematic framework for 
the preparation and presentation of financial statements”. In the absence of a standard or an interpretation 
applicable specifically to a transaction, event or circumstance, Company Management has used its judgement to 
develop and apply accounting principles, in order to provide: 
 

▪ Information of relevance to the economic decisions made by users; 

▪ Reliable information, so that the financial statements: 
o faithfully represent the equity – financial situation, the profit or loss and the cash flows of the 

entity; 
o reflect the economic substance of transactions, other events and circumstances and not merely 

their legal form; 
o are neutral, free from prejudice; 
o are prudent; 
o are complete, referring to all important aspects. 

 
In making the above judgement, Company Management has referred to and considered the applicability of the 
following sources, shown in hierarchically decreasing order: 
 
▪ the provisions and the guidelines contained in the Standards and the Interpretations that regard similar or 

related cases; 
▪ the definitions, recognition criteria and measurement concepts for recording assets, liabilities, income and 

costs, contained in the systematic Framework. 
 
When expressing an opinion, Company management may also consider: 
 
▪ the most recent provisions issued by other bodies that ordain accounting standards that use a systematic 

framework that is conceptually similar to draw up accounting standard; 
▪ other literature; 
▪ consolidated sector-specific practices. 
 
 
Pursuant to art. 5 of Legislative Decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005, if, in exceptional cases, the application of a 
provision envisaged by International Accounting Standards is incompatible with the true and correct 
representation of the equity or financial situation, or the profit or loss, the provision may not be applied. The 
reasons for any departure from International Accounting Standards and the impact of such on the equity or 
financial situation and on the profit or loss, are illustrated in the notes to the financial statements. 
Any profit resulting from said departure is booked to a non-distributable reserve unless the same corresponds to 
the recovered value. 
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Section 2 – Basis of preparation 
 
In the financial statements, for presentation and measurement purposes, International Accounting Standards 
IAS/IFRS issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) have been adopted, together with the 
relative interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), 
effective as of 2008 and approved by the European Union, as well as the provisions envisaged in Circular no. 
262 of 22 December 2005 issued by the Bank of Italy, amended with the 1st update of 18 November 2009, and 
regarding the schedules and the rules for completing the financial statements of banks and subsequent 
supplements. 
 
The Financial Statements comprise: 

- Statement of financial position; 
- income statement; 
- statement of comprehensive income; 
- statement of changes in equity; 
- cash flow statement; 
- notes to the financial statements. 

 
The Financial Statements are accompanied by the directors’ report on operations and on the Bank’s situation. 
The Financial Statements have been drawn up clearly and provide a truthful and correct representation of the 
equity and financial situation and of the profit or loss for the year. If the information required by International 
Accounting Standards is insufficient to give a truthful and correct, relevant, reliable, comparable and 
comprehensible representation, additional information is provided in the Notes to the financial statements for this 
purpose. 
The statement of financial position and income statement schedules comprise items, marked with numbers, sub-
items, marked with letters, and further details are provided by the “of which” of the items and sub-items. The 
items, sub-items and relative details represent the financial statement accounts.  
The amount for the previous year is also indicated for each item and sub-item on the Statement of financial 
position, statement of comprehensive income and income statement. If the accounts are not comparable, those 
relating to the previous year have been adjusted; the notes to the financial statements contain details of items or 
sub-items that are not comparable and have therefore been adjusted, or items for which this has not been 
possible. 
 
Assets and liabilities, costs and revenue may not be offset against one another, unless permitted or required by 
International Accounting Standards or by the provisions contained in Circular no. 262 dated 22 December 2005 
issued by the Bank of Italy, amended with the 1st update of 18 November 2009. 
Accounts that do not have any amounts either in the year the financial statements refer to or the previous one 
are not indicated in the statement of financial position and the income statement. If an element of the assets or 
liabilities can be categorised under different items in the Statement of financial position, when necessary to the 
comprehension of the financial statements, the notes to the financial statements contain details of the other 
items said elements refer to . In the income statement and in the relative section of the notes to the financial 
statements, revenue is indicated without a sign, whereas costs are indicated in brackets. 
 
In accordance with the provisions of art. 5 of Legislative Decree no. 38 dated 28 February 2005, the financial 
statements have been prepared in the currency of the accounts. More specifically, the financial statements have 
been drawn up in EUR, while the notes to the financial statements have been drawn up in thousands of EUR.  
 
The financial statements have been drawn up from a perspective of business continuity, according to the accrual 
basis of accounting, to the principle of the relevance and significance of information, of the prevalence of 
substance over form and in order to promote coherence with those of future years. 
 
In particular, on the basis of Document no. 2 dated 6 February 2009, issued jointly by the Bank of Italy, Consob 
and Isvap regarding “information to be provided in the financial report on business continuity, financial risks, 
impairment testing of assets and uncertainties in the use of estimates”, the Bank has closely assessed 
uncertainties for the foreseeable future and hereby states that the estimates and forecasts made regarding the 
main income statement and Statement of financial position items, taking into account possible changes in 
economic and market conditions, demonstrate that there are no doubts regarding the business continuity of the 
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Bank. Moreover, when preparing these notes to the financial statements the Bank strictly complied with the 
instructions provided by the Bank of Italy, Consob and Isvap in Document no. 3 dated 3 March 2009 regarding: 
“2009 – 2010 financial years – Information to provide in financial reports on impairment testing, contractual 
clauses on financial debt, debt restructuring and the fair value hierarchy”. 
 
Items that are dissimilar by virtue of their nature or purpose have been presented separately, unless considered 
insignificant. All amounts recorded in the financial statements have been adjusted to reflect events subsequent 
to the reference date, if said adjustment is required under the provisions of IAS 10. Information is provided on 
subsequent events that do not envisage an adjustment and that therefore reflect circumstances that occurred 
subsequent to the reference date if relevant and if capable of influencing the economic decisions of users. 
 
Section 3 – Events after the Reporting Date 
 
IAS 10 "Events after the Reporting date" expressly regulates how to treat favourable and unfavourable events 
that occur after the reporting date and the date when the financial statements are approved by the Board of 
Directors. The standard make a distinction between events that make it necessary to change data in the 
financial statements and those that do not require any changes, but might make it necessary to provide 
additional information if the event is significant or important. 
 
Please refer to the comments in the Directors’ Report on Operations for such information. 
 
Section 4 – Other aspects 
 
List of main IAS/IFRS standards and SIC/IFRIC interpretations applicable to the 2009 financial year 
 
Below is a list of IAS/IFRS standards and SIC/IFRIC interpretations whose application to the 2009 financial 
statements is mandatory. The International Accounting Standards and interpretations approved prior to October 
2008 were combined by the European Commission into a single EC Regulation (1126/2008). 
 
The list shows the amendments that must be applied starting from 2009. The column “Improvements to 
International Accounting Standards” show the main amendments introduced by the IASB in the project with the 
same name in order to improve the various standards through amendments that in any case do not affect the 
overall framework of the standards. 
 
List of IAS/IFRS standards whose application to the 2009 financial statements is mandatory 
 

Amendments that must be applied starting from 2009 Accounting Standards 
Improvements to “International  

Accounting Standards”  
(Reg. 70/09) 

Other Amendments 
applicable to the 

Bank 

IAS 1 
 
 
IAS 2 
IAS 8 
 
IAS 10 
IAS 11 
IAS 12 
IAS 14 
 
IAS 16 
IAS 17 
IAS 18 
IAS 19 
IAS 20 
IAS 21 

Presentation of Financial Statements 
 
 
Inventories 
Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors 
Events after the Reporting date 
Construction Contracts 
Income taxes 
Segment Reporting (replaces IFRS 8) 
applicable since 2009 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
Leases 
Revenue 
Employee Benefits 
Government Grants 
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 

Y 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Y 
 
 

Y 
Y 

Overall revision  
Reg. 1274/98,  

amendment Reg. 53/10 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

n/a 
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Amendments that must be applied starting from 2009 Accounting Standards 

Improvements to “International  
Accounting Standards”  

(Reg. 70/09) 

Other Amendments 
applicable to the 

Bank 

IAS 23 
 
 
IAS 24 
IAS 26 
 
IAS 27 
IAS 28 
IAS 29 
 
IAS 31 
IAS 32 
IAS 33 
IAS 34 
IAS 36 
IAS 37 
 
IAS 38 
IAS 39 
 
IAS 40 
IAS 41 
IFRS 1 
 
IFRS 2 
IFRS 3 
IFRS 4 
IFRS 5 
 
IFRS 6 
 
IFRS 7 
IFRS 8 

Borrowing costs 
 
 
Related Party Disclosures 
Retirement Benefit Plans 
Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements 
Investments in Associates 
Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies 
Interests in Joint Ventures 
Financial Instruments: Presentation 
Earnings per Share 
Interim Financial Reporting 
Impairment of Assets 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets 
Intangible Assets 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement 
Investment Property 
Agriculture 
First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards 
Share-Based Payment 
Business Combinations 
Insurance Contracts 
Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations 
Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral 
Resources 
Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
Operating Segments (replaces IAS 14) 
applicable since 2009 

Y 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Y 
Y 
 

Y 
 
 
 

Y 
 
 

Y 
Y 
 

Y 

Overall revision  
Reg. 1260/08 

 
 
 
 

amendment Reg. 69/09 
 
 
 
 

amendment Reg. 53/09 
 
 

amendment Reg. 69/09 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

amendment Reg. 1261/08 
 
 
 
 
 
 

amendment Reg. 824/09 
and 1165/09  

effective amendment Reg. 
1358/07  

n/a 
 
 
 

n/a 
 

n/a 
 

n/a 
 

n/a 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

n/a 
 
 

n/a 
n/a 
n/a 

 
 
 

n/a 

 
Interpretations that must be applied to the 2009 financial statements 
 
In the table above the accounting standards marked with a “Y” are those that were improved in the IASB project 
“Improvements to International Accounting Standards”. 
 
The following amendments to accounting standards and interpretations must be applied starting from the 2009 
financial year. 
 
On 30 November 2006, the IASB issued accounting standard IFRS 8 – Operating Segments, which must be 
applied as of 1 January 2009, and which replaces IAS 14 – Segment Reporting. The new accounting standard 
requires companies to base the information to be reported on elements that management uses to take decisions 
on operations (management approach). Thus, operating segments are to be identified on the basis of internal 
reporting that is regularly reviewed by management for the purpose of allocating resources to the different 
segments and to evaluate performance. The adoption of this standard will not have any effect in terms of the 
valuation of financial statement items. The standard was approved by the European Commission on 21 
November 2007 with Regulation 1358/2007. 
 
On 29 March 2007, the IASB issued a revised version of IAS 23 – Borrowing Costs, which must be applied as 
of 1 January 2009. The new accounting standard no longer provides the option to charge to the income 
statement borrowing costs against assets for which there is normally a period of time needed to make the asset 
ready for use or for sale. The standard is applicable to borrowing costs related to capitalised goods as of 1 
January 2009. The standard was approved by the European Commission on 10 December 2008 with Regulation 
1260/2008. 
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On 6 September 2007, the IASB issued a revised version of IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements, 
which must be applied as of 1 January 2009. The new version of the standard requires that all changes 
generated by transactions with shareholders are presented in a statement of changes in equity. All transactions 
with third parties, on the other hand, must be recorded in a single statement (“statement of comprehensive 
income”), or in two separate statements (income statement and “statement of other comprehensive income” 
statement). The standard was approved by the European Commission on 17 December 2008 with Regulation 
1274/2008.  
The Bank of Italy transposed these amendments in the updated version of “Circular 262”, choosing the second 
method of presentation provided by the new standard, i.e., posting transactions generated with third parties in 
two separate statements: the income statement and the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
On 17 January 2008, the IASB issued a revised version of IFRS 2 – Share-Based Payment, regarding vesting 
conditions and derecognitions, based on which, for the purpose of valuation of share-based payment 
instruments, only service conditions and performance conditions can be considered as vesting conditions for the 
plans. The amendment also clarifies that, if the plan is cancelled, the same accounting treatment is applied 
whether it originates from the company or originates from the counterparty. The amendment must be applied 
as of 1 January 2009. The standard was approved by the European Commission on 16 December 2008 with 
Regulation 1261/2008. 
 
On 14 February 2008, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation and to 
IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements, called “Puttable financial instruments and obligations arising on 
liquidation”. In particular, the standard requires that companies classify puttable financial instruments and 
financial instruments that impose on the company an obligation to deliver to another party a pro rata share of the 
assets of the company as equity instruments. This amendment must be applied as of 1 January 2009. The 
standard was approved by the European Commission on 21 January 2010 with Regulation 53/2009. 
 
On 22 May 2008, the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 1 – First-Time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards and to IAS 27 - Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, called “Cost of 
investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities”. The standard establishes that for first-time 
adopters of IFRS it is possible, for separate financial statements and together with already existing criteria, to 
choose to record investments in subsidiaries, subject to considerable influence and joint control, at a different 
cost (deemed cost) determined as either the fair value at the date of transition to IAS/IFRS or the book value 
under the previous standards (e.g. IT GAAP). The adopters are free to choose. 
 
The amendment also concerns IAS 27, namely the treatment of dividends and investments in the separate 
financial statements. Indeed, with this change the distribution of profit, also pre-acquisition profit, is accounted 
for in the income statement when the right to receive the dividend arises. Thus, it is no longer required to 
account for pre-acquisition dividends as a deduction from the cost of the investment. On the other hand, a new 
impairment indicator was introduced into IAS 36 for investment valuations taking into account this matter. This 
amendment must be applied as of 1 January 2009. The standard was approved by the European Commission 
on 23 January 2009 with Regulation 69/2009. 
 
On 5 March 2009, the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures to improve 
the disclosure of fair value and liquidity risk for financial instruments. The amendment requires additional 
information on fair value and liquidity risk by introducing 3 levels of input for fair value hierarchy used by US 
GAAP (SFAS 157) based on the input used for measurement. The 3 level hierarchy is introduced only for the 
purpose of disclosure and is not used for measuring financial instruments, while awaiting complete revision of 
IAS 39. These amendments, approved with Regulation 1165/2009, are applied as of 1 January 2009. In any 
case, it will not be required to provide comparative information for the first year of application. The Bank of Italy 
transposed these amendments in the updated version of “Circular 262”. 
 
On 22 May 2008, the IASB issued a series of changes to IFRS as part of the project “Improvements to 
International Accounting Standards”; those indicated by the IASB as changes that will lead to a change in the 
presentation, recognition and measurement of financial statement items are illustrated below, while those 
regarding changes in terms or publishing, with a minimal impact in accounting terms have not been included. 
These standards were approved by the European Commission on 23 January 2009 with Regulation 70/2009. 
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▪ IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements (revised in 2007): the amendment, which must be applied as 

of 1 January 2009, requires that not all financial assets and liabilities in the held for trading portfolio (pursuant 
to IAS 39) are to be classified as current assets and liabilities; for example, derivatives which are expected to 
be held for over twelve months must be classified as non-current assets or liabilities even when they are 
classified in the held for trading portfolio as per IAS 39 for valuation purposes. 

▪ IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment: the amendment, which must be applied as of 1 January 2009, 
provides that companies whose core business is renting must reclassify assets no longer rented, which are 
held for sale. under inventory and as a result any payments deriving from their disposal are to be recognised 
as revenue. Amounts paid to build or purchase assets to lease to others, and amounts received from selling 
the assets are considered as cash flow from operating assets for the purpose of the cash flow statement (and 
not from investments). 

▪ IAS 19 – Employee Benefits: the amendment must be applied as of 1 January 2009 to changes in benefits 
occurring after said date and clarifies the definition of cost/income regarding past service and establishes that 
in the event of the reduction of planned benefits, the effect to be booked immediately to the income statement 
must only include the reduction in benefits relative to future periods, while the effect of any reductions related 
to past service must be considered a negative cost. Furthermore, the Board has revised the definition of 
short-term and long-term benefits and has changed the definition of return on plan assets, establishing that 
this item must be shown net of any administrative expenses that are not included in the value of the 
obligation. 

▪ IAS 20 – Government Grants: the amendment, which must be applied prospectively as of 1 January 2009, 
provides that benefits from loans granted by the government at interest rates that are much lower than those 
offered by the market are to be treated as government grants and so the recognition rules provided by IAS 20 
are applicable. 

▪ IAS 23 – Borrowing Costs: the amendment, which must be applied as of 1 January 2009, revised the 
definition of borrowing costs by including an explicit reference to the actual interest rate criteria described in 
IAS 39. 

▪ IAS 28 – Investments in Associates: the amendment, which must be applied as of 1 January 2009 (even 
solely prospectively), provides that in the event of investments in associates valued using the equity method, 
any impairment is not allocated to each single asset (especially goodwill) making up the value of the 
investment, but is allocated to the overall value of the investment. Therefore, where there are the conditions 
for a subsequent recovery of value the recovery is to be recognised in its entirety. 

▪ IAS 28 – Investments in Associates, and IAS 31 – Interests in Joint Ventures: these amendments, which 
must be applied as of 1 January 2009, provide that additional information is to be provided also for interests 
in associated companies and joint ventures measured at fair value according to IAS 39. For consistency, 
amendments were made to IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures and IAS 32 - Financial Instruments: 
Presentation. 

▪ IAS 29 – Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies: the previous version of the standard did 
not reflect the fact that certain assets or liabilities might be measured in the financial statements based on 
their current value instead of the historical cost. The amendment was introduced to take this into 
consideration and it must be applied as of 1 January 2009. 

▪ IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets: the amendment, which must be applied as of 1 January 2009, provides that 
additional information must be provided also where the company determines the recoverable value of the 
cash generating unit based on fair value net of costs to sell and uses discounted cash flow forecasts to 
calculate the value. 

▪ IAS 38 – Intangible Assets: the amendment, which must be applied as of 1 January 2009, provides that 
promotional and advertising costs are to be recognised in the income statement. Moreover, it establishes that 
if the company incurs costs which result in future economic benefit without posting intangible assets, these 
benefits are posted in the income statement when the company has the right to receive the item (for 
purchase of goods) or when the service is rendered (for purchase of services). Additionally, the standard was 
amended to enable companies to adopt the product unit method to determine amortisation of intangible 
assets with a defined useful life. 

▪ IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The amendment, which must be applied 
as of 1 January 2009, provides that:  
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 - for recalculating estimates of expected cash flows the interest rate to use to recalculate the book value 
discounting the new expected cash flows should be the original one or the one determined at the end of a fair 
value hedge;  
 - derivatives previously designated as hedging instruments to hedge cash flows or a net investment no 
longer used as such do not fall under the prohibition against reclassification into the held for trading portfolio; 
 - derivatives previously classified in the held for trading portfolio and are designated as hedging 
instruments  to hedge cash flows or a net investment do not fall under the prohibition against reclassification out 
of the held for trading portfolio; 
 -  references to the designation of a sector hedging instrument were eliminated to avoid conflict with the 
new IFRS 8 – Operating segments. 
▪ IAS 40 – Investment Property: the amendment, which must be applied as of 1 January 2009, provides that 

investment property under construction fall within the scope of IAS 40 and not IAS 16. 
 
On 28 June 2007, the IFRIC issued interpretation IFRS 13 – Customer Loyalty Programmes. The 
interpretation regulates accounting treatment of customer loyalty programmes or programmes where "credits” or 
“points” are awarded when buying goods or services and when customers redeem the points they are given for 
free or discounted goods or services. The accounting treatment consists in allocating a liability as a reduction to 
proceeds when the “points” are awarded; recognition of the revenues is deferred until the company fulfils its 
obligations when customers redeem the credits; the liability is then removed. This interpretation, which must be 
applied as of 1 January 2009, was approved by the European Commission on 16 December 2008 with 
Regulation 1262/2008. 
 
IAS/IFRS standards and SIC/IFRIC interpretations approved by the European Commission with 
mandatory application starting after 31 December 2009. 
 
Pursuant to IAS 8 sections 30 and 31, it should be mentioned that at 31 January 2010 the European 
Commission approved certain standards and interpretations issued by IASB, with mandatory application starting 
after 31 December 2009. In these cases the Bank did not choose to apply them in advance where provided. 
These standards and interpretations are listed below. 
 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations and IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. On 10 
January 2008 the IASB issued an updated version of IFRS 3 - Business Combinations and amended IAS 27 - 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. The main changes to IFRS 3 concern the removal of the 
requirement to measure each asset and liability of the subsidiary at fair value for every subsequent acquisition 
when acquiring companies in more than one step. Furthermore, if the company does not acquire a 100% interest 
the portion of equity held by minorities can be measured at fair value (full goodwill) or using the current method 
provided by IFRS 3. The new version of the standard also requires that all acquisition costs be booked to the 
income statement and recognition is at the date the liabilities are acquired. 
In the amendment to IAS 27, the IASB established that changes in portions of equity investments that do not 
constitute a loss of control are to be treated as equity transactions and so they must be recognised under equity. 
Furthermore, when a parent company loses control of a subsidiary but continues to hold an interest in the 
company it must measure its share of interest at fair value and post in the income statement any profit or loss 
deriving from the loss of control. Lastly, the amendment to IAS 27 requires that all losses attributable to minority 
shareholders should be allocated to minority equity, even when they exceed their share in the share capital of 
the investee company. The new rules are applicable prospectively (IFRS 3) and retrospectively (IAS 27) for 
business combinations carried out after 1 January 2010 for year-end financial statements. These changes were 
approved by the European Commission with Regulations 494/2009 and 495/2009. 
 
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. In October 2009 the IASB issued an amendment establishing 
that where issue rights are given in proportion to all shareholders in the same class for a fixed amount of cash, 
these rights are classified under equity, regardless of the price during the year. The amendment, approved by 
the European Commission with Regulation 1293/2009, is applicable to financial statements referring to periods 
starting on 1 February 2010 or later. 
 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. On 31 July 2008 the IASB issued an 
amendment to IAS 39 called "Instruments that can be designated as hedging instruments", on the basis of which 
it was clarified that inflation risks can be hedged only under certain conditions and that a purchased option 



 
 

94

cannot be entirely designated (intrinsic value and temporary value) to hedge a one-sided risk in a forecast 
transaction since it does not provide completely effective hedging. The amendment, approved by the European 
Commission with Regulation 839/2009, is applicable to the first period starting on 30 June 2009. 
 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded 
Derivatives. On 12 March 2009 the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 39 and IFRIC 9 called "Embedded 
Derivatives”. The amendment clarified the accounting treatment of embedded derivatives for entities that have 
applied the amendment to IAS 39 “Reclassification of Financial Assets” issued and approved in 2008. The 
amendment clarifies that for reclassified instruments out of the category “Fair value through profit and loss” it 
must be checked whether there are any embedded derivatives, which, under certain conditions, separately 
accounted for in financial statements. The amendment must be applied retrospectively starting from the periods 
that end after 30 June 2009. It was approved by the European Commission with Regulation 1171/2009. 
 
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. On 24 November 2008 the IASB 
issued a new version of IFRS 1 First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. The new 
version of the standard is a reorganisation in the layout of the previous standard, which had undergone several 
amendments. The new version must be applied starting from 1 January 2010. It was approved by the European 
Commission with Regulation 1135/2009. 
 
“Improvements to International Accounting Standards” project. On 22 May 2008, the IASB issued a series 
of changes to IFRS (“Improvements”), approved with Regulation 70/2009. Below is the only amendment where 
mandatory application starts with the financial statements for periods beginning on 1 January 2010. The other 
amendments approved with Regulation 70/2009 became effective in 2009 and are listed above. 

 IFRS 5 – Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations: the amendment, which 
must be applied to periods beginning on 1 July 2009, provides that if a company disposes of assets and 
this entails the loss of control over a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary must be 
reclassified under assets held for sale, even when after the sale the company continues to hold a 
minority interest in the subsidiary. 

 
On 30 November 2006 the IFRIC issued interpretation IFRIC 12 – Service Concession Arrangements. The 
interpretation concerns public to private service concession arrangements (PPPs) for developing, operating and 
maintaining infrastructures. The interpretation distinguishes two cases. One where the entity receives a financial 
asset to build/develop the infrastructure and the other where the entity receives an intangible asset represented 
by the right to receive compensation for using the infrastructure. In both cases, the financial/intangible asset is 
initially measured at fair value and then the measurement rules for the class in question are applied. The 
interpretation, applicable starting from 1 January 2010, was approved by the European Commission with 
Regulation 254/2009. 
 
On 3 July 2008 the IFRIC issued interpretation IFRIC 15 – Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate. 
The interpretation introduces a distinction for real estate under construction according to the type of 
contract/agreement. Essentially, the distinction is between whether the developer provides a construction service 
or sells the product. In the first case, the entity that provides the service recognises revenues on a percentage-
of-completion basis (IAS 11); in the second case revenues are recognised when control is transferred. The 
interpretation, approved by the European Commission with Regulation 636/2009, is applicable starting from 1 
January 2010. 
 
On 3 July 2008 the IFRIC issued interpretation IFRIC 16 – Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign 
Operation. The interpretation clarified that, for accounting purposes, it is possible to hedge risks arising from 
foreign currency exposure of subsidiaries, entities under significant influence and joint ventures. In particular, the 
risk can be hedged for foreign exchange rate gains (losses) arising from a difference between its own functional 
currency and that of its foreign operation. The interpretation also clarifies that for transactions in a hedge of a net 
investment in a foreign operation, the hedging instrument can be held by any company belonging to the group 
and in the event of disposal of the investment, IAS 21 - Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates - is applied to 
determine the value to be reclassified from equity into the income statement. The interpretation must be applied 
to the financial statements for periods beginning after 30 June 2009. The interpretation was approved by the 
European Commission with Regulation 460/2009. 
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IFRIC 17 – Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners. On 27 November 2008 the IFRIC issued 
interpretation IFRIC 17, which regulates the distribution of non-cash dividends (e.g., property, companies, equity 
investments, etc.). In particular, it was established that in these cases the assets distributed as dividends are to 
be measured at fair value at the moment of distribution and any difference between the fair value and book value 
is posted in the income statement. The interpretation is applicable to distributions of assets that a) concern 
jointly-controlled entities, b) do not treat shareholders of the same class equally or c) concern the interest in a 
subsidiary where control is not lost. Where applicable, the distribution might be preceded by classification to 
IFRS 5. In this case the rules of IFRS 5 are applied until payment of the dividend. The interpretation, which must 
be applied as of 1 January 2010, was approved by the European Commission with Regulation 1142/2009. 
 
IFRIC 18 – Transfers of Assets from Customers. On 29 January 2009 the IFRIC issued interpretation IFRIC 
18, which regulates the transfer of property, equipment and investment property received from customers and 
used to connect the customers to a network and/or for the supply of goods and services. Under the assumption 
that the entity receives an asset that can be defined as such (or the entity has control over the asset), the entity 
recognises the item received at fair value (IAS 16). The entity recognises revenues related to the duration of 
services provided to the customer against the asset in question. Where a term for providing the service is not 
determined, the period for recognising the revenues cannot exceed the useful life of the transferred asset. 
Where the service ends with a simple connection to a network, the revenues are recognised upon connection. 
The interpretation, which must be applied to the financial statements for periods beginning after 31 October 
2009, was approved by the European Commission with Regulation 1164/2009. 
 
Standards, amendments and interpretations issued by the IASB and awaiting approval by the European 
Commission 
 
For these standards and interpretations. the date of mandatory application, which is in any case after 31 
December 2009, is not indicated since the final date will be determined for companies residing in the EU by 
approval regulations. 
 
“Improvements to International Accounting Standards” project. On 16 April 2009, the IASB issued a series 
of changes to IFRS under the project. Below is a list of those indicated by the IASB as changes that will lead to a 
changes in the presentation, recognition and measurement of financial statement items, while those regarding 
changes in terms or publishing, with a minimal impact in accounting terms, have not been included.  
 
 IFRS 1 – First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. The amendment to IFRS 1 

adds two additional exceptions for first-time adopters (one for companies operating in the exploration for and 
evaluation of mineral resources and the other for those that have to determine if an agreement contains a 
lease). 

 IFRS 2 – Share-Based Payment. Payments in shares deriving from business combinations between entities 
subject to common control and joint ventures have been excluded from the scope of application. 

 IFRS 5 – Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. A clarification on mandatory 
disclosures was introduced.  

 IFRS 8 – Operating Segments. It was clarified that assets pertaining to each segment must be indicated 
only where these assets are among those reported to senior management. 

 IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements. It was clarified that a liability an issuer is required to pay off, 
at the option of the holder, by issuing its own equity instruments within 12 months after the date of the 
financial statements is not classified as a current liability. 

 IAS 7 – Statement of Cash Flows. It was clarified that only expenses recognised as assets on the 
Statement of financial position can be classified as cash flows deriving from investment activities. 

 IAS 17 – Leases. A change was made to the rule requiring that the lease of land should be classified as an 
operating lease when the contract does not provide for the transfer of ownership at the end of the contract. 
Following this amendment, when the lease contract concerns both land and buildings, an entity must 
distinguish classification as an operating lease or financial lease separately for the two elements based on 
the rules provided by the standard at sections 7-13, taking into consideration that an important factor is the 
fact that land normally has an indefinite economic life. 

 IAS 24 – Related Party Disclosures. In November 2009 the IASB reviewed IAS 24 in an attempt to update 
and clarify, above all, disclosures for state-owned subsidiaries and relations between the parent company 
and subsidiary when preparing statements of cash flows. 
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 IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets. In the definition of a cash-generating unit (CGU) it was clarified that for the 
purpose of the impairment test no CGU can be bigger than an operating segment as defined in IFRS 8 (5) 
prior to a combination allowed by paragraph 12 of the same standard. 

 IAS 38 - Intangible Assets: Certain clarifications were added with regards to the recognition of intangible 
assets in business combinations, in accordance with the amendments made to IFRS 3 with the revision made 
in 2008. 

 IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. Changes were made with regards to 
forward agreements deriving from business combinations, prepayment options and cash flow hedges. 
Concerning forward agreements deriving from business combinations section 2, letter g) of IAS 39 
establishes that agreements stipulated between an acquirer and a selling shareholder to buy or sell an 
acquiree that will result in a business combination do not fall within the scope of application of IAS 39. The 
amendment in question clarified that this exception is limited to forward agreements between a purchaser 
and a selling shareholder to buy or sell an acquiree that will result in a business combination while waiting to 
obtain any required approvals and to complete the transaction. Concerning prepayment options, it was 
established that where the exercise price of a prepayment option does not reimburse the lender for an 
amount up to the approximate present value of lost interest for the remaining term of the contract it is to be 
separate from the host contract. Concerning cash flow hedges, the wording used to illustrate the criteria was 
changed where profit and losses on the hedging instrument must be reclassified into the income statement. 

 IFRIC 16 – Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation. In hedges of a net investment in a foreign 
operation, the hedging instrument can be held by one or more companies in the group provided the 
requirements of IAS 39 are met. 

 
IFRS 2 – Share-Based Payment. The amendment issued by the IASB on 18 June 2009 clarifies that the scope 
of application of the standard includes agreements based on which a subsidiary receives goods or services from 
employees or suppliers that are paid by the parent company (or by another entity in the group), who then 
undertakes an obligation to transfer cash or other assets for an amount based on the share price of the 
subsidiary or parent company. An entity that receives goods or services as share-based payment must account 
for the goods or services, regardless of whether the entity in the group concludes the transaction, and does not 
report that the transaction was paid for in shares or cash. 
 
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments. In answer to requests to simplify the accounting rules applicable to financial 
instruments, made by political organisations and by international institutions, the IASB started up a project to 
replace the current IAS 39. The project in question was divided into three distinct phases: classification and 
measurement of financial assets, amortised and impairment cost, hedging. In addition to these three phases, in 
March 2009 the Board published an ED on “Derecognition”, which amends IAS 39 and IFRS 7. The ISAB 
intends to complete the review of these rules in the second half of 2010 in order to complete the broader project 
to replace IAS 39 by the end of the same year. Concerning the first phase, on 12 November 2009 the IASB 
issued the accounting standard IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments, which must be adopted starting from 1 January 
2013. The new accounting standard concerns the classification and measurement of financial assets. The 
portfolio categories were reduced to three (amortised cost, fair value with changes in the income statement and 
fair value with changes in the statement of comprehensive income for equity instruments). The categories HTM 
and AFS were eliminated. The classification rules of the three categories in question were changed, including 
those on the Fair Value Option (FVO). IFRS 9 uses a single method to determine if a financial asset is measured 
at amortised cost or at fair value. The method is based on the business model used by the entity to manage 
financial instruments and on the contractual characteristics of the cash flow of financial assets. The new 
standard also requires that a single impairment method be used. The new IFRS has not been approved by the 
European Commission as the approval process has been postponed until the other phases have been 
completed. 
 
IFRIC 14 – Amendment “Prepayment of a Minimum Funding Requirement”. On 26 November 2009 the 
IASB corrected IFRIC 14 so that the amendment permits, in certain cases, entities subject to minimum funding 
requirements to recognise as an asset voluntary prepayments of contributions to cover those requirements. 
 
IFRIC 19 – Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments. On 26 November 2009 the IASB 
clarified the methods to recognise in the financial statements of the debtor the transactions through which a 
debtor renegotiates their debt by totally or partially extinguishing the liability by issuing equity instruments 
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subscribed by the creditor (these transactions are often known as “debt-for-equity swaps”). The interpretation is 
not applied to transactions where the creditor is a direct or indirect shareholder of the debtor, where the creditor 
and the debtor are controlled by the same entity prior to or after the transaction or where the transaction was 
provided for in original contract stipulations. The interpretation clarifies that the equity instruments issued must 
be recognised at fair value and that they represent the amount paid to extinguish the liability. The difference 
between the fair value of the equity instruments and the book value of the extinguished liability must be 
accounted for in the income statement. 
 
 
 
 
A2 – INFORMATION ON THE MAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENT ITEMS 
 
Accounting standards 
 
The following section illustrates the accounting standards that have been adopted for the main asset and liability 
Statement of financial position items for the preparation of the Financial Statements as at 31 December 2009; 
said standards are the same as those used to prepare the Financial Statements as at 31 December 2008. 
 
1- Financial assets held for trading 
 
a) recognition criteria 

The initial recognition of financial assets held for trading occurs on the settlement date for debt securities and 
equity instruments and on the date of subscription for derivative contracts. 
Financial assets held for trading are initially recognised at their fair value, which usually corresponds to the cost 
incurred for the purchase without considering any costs and/or income resulting from the transaction that are 
directly attributable to said instrument, which are booked directly to the income statement.  
 
b) classification criteria 
This category includes debt securities, equity instruments acquired mainly for the purpose of obtaining short-
term profit and the positive value of derivative contracts, with the exception of those designated as hedging 
instruments. 
 
c) measurement criteria 
Following initial recognitions, financial assets held for trading are recorded at fair value, while any changes are 
booked to the income statement. 
 
To calculate the fair value of financial instruments listed in an active market, market prices are used. In the 
absence of an active market, estimates and generally accepted valuation models are used, which are based on 
market prices, such as: methods based on the valuation of listed instruments with similar characteristics 
discounted cash flows, models to calculate option prices and values recorded in recent comparable transactions. 
 
When it is not possible to establish the fair value of equity instruments and the correlated derivative instruments 
in a reliable manner and according to the above guidelines, the same are recorded at cost, adjusted for 
impairment. Said impairment values are not re-established. 
 
d) derecognition criteria 
Financial assets held for trading are derecognised when the contractual rights on the financial flows deriving 
from the assets are lost, or in the case of a transfer, when the same entails the substantial transfer of all risks 
and benefits related to the assets. 
 
e) criteria for recognition of income components 
The gains and losses made following changes in the fair value of financial assets held for trading are recorded in 
the income statement under the “Item 80 - Net income from trading activities”, with the exception of those related 
to derivative instruments associated to the fair value option, which are classified under “Item 110 – Net income 
on assets and liabilities measured at fair value”. 
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2– Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
a) recognition criteria 
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised on the settlement date for debt securities and equity 
instruments and on the date of disbursement in the case of receivables. 
 
Initial recognition of the financial assets classified in this category is made at their fair value, which usually 
corresponds to the cost incurred for the purchase including any costs and/or income resulting from the 
transaction that are directly attributable to said instrument. If the recognition is made following a reclassification 
from another category, the recognition value is represented by the fair value at the time of transfer. 
 
b) classification criteria 
This category includes non-derivative financial assets that are not classified as receivable, financial assets 
measured at fair value recorded in the income statement or held to maturity investments. 
 
In particular, this category includes equity instruments not held for trading purposes and that cannot be classified 
as controlling, associated or joint-venture, and bonds that are not traded. These assets are measured at fair 
value, with the exception of equity instruments that do not have a reliable fair value, which are maintained at 
cost.  
 
c) measurement criteria 
Following initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets continue to be recorded at their fair value; the 
value corresponding to the amortised cost and the relative exchange effect are booked to the income statement, 
and any gains or losses resulting from a change in fair value are recorded in a specific reserve under equity, with 
the exception of impairment losses. 
 
Equity instruments and correlated derivative instruments for which a fair value cannot be reliably determined, are 
maintained at cost, adjusted if any impairment losses are ascertained. 
 
Tests to determine the existence of objective evidence of impairment are conducted at the close of each fiscal 
year or at the date of the interim financial statements. Indicators of possible impairment are, for example, 
significant difficulties of the issuer, non-fulfilments or non-payment of interest or principal, the possibility that the 
beneficiary may file for bankruptcy or is involved in an insolvency proceeding, the disappearance of an active 
market for the asset. Furthermore, a significant or prolonged reduction in the fair value of an equity instrument 
below its cost is considered objective evidence of impairment.  
 
In particular, as regards equity instruments quoted in active markets, an impairment loss exceeding 30% that 
lasts for over 12 months is considered significant. If further reductions are recorded in subsequent years, the 
same are booked directly to the income statement. 
 
The amount of any impairment loss calculated following the impairment test is booked to the income statement 
as an operating cost.  If the reasons for the impairment are removed due to an event that occurs after the 
recognition of the impairment, write-backs are made to equity for equity instruments and to the income statement 
for debt securities. 
 
d) derecognition criteria 
The financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights on the financial flows deriving from the assets 
are lost, or in the case of a transfer, when the same entails the substantial transfer of all risks and benefits 
related to the assets. 
 
e) criteria for recognition of income components 
At the time of disposal or the recognition of an impairment loss, the effects resulting from the gains or losses 
accumulated in the reserve for available-for-sale assets are booked to the income statement, under “Item 100 – 
Profit (Loss) from disposal or repurchase of: b) available-for-sale financial assets” in the case of disposal and 
under “Item 130 – Net impairment losses on: b) available-for-sale financial assets”, in the case of the recognition 
of an impairment loss. If the reasons for the impairment are removed due to an event that occurs after the 
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recognition of the impairment, write-backs are made. Said write-backs are booked to the income statement, in 
the case of debt securities or receivables, and to equity in the case of equity instruments. 
 
3–  Held to maturity investments 
 
a) recognition criteria 
On the date of these financial statements, the Bank had no  held to maturity investments. 
 
4– Receivables 
 
a) recognition criteria 
Receivables are recognised on the date of their disbursement or when the creditor acquires the right to the 
payment of the contractually agreed amounts, while debt securities are recognised on their settlement date. 
 
Receivables are initially recognised on the basis of the fair value of the financial instrument, which usually 
corresponds to the amount disbursed, or to the subscription price, including the costs/income directly attributable 
to the individual instrument, known at the time of the transaction, even if paid at a later date. Costs with the 
above characteristics that will be repaid by the debtor or that can be considered as standard internal 
administrative expenses are excluded. 
 
Contracts carried forward and repayment agreements (repos) that have an obligation to repurchase or resell on 
maturity are recorded in the financial statements as deposit or loan transactions. In particular, transactions 
entailing sales at spot rates with repurchase on maturity are recorded in the financial statements as payables for 
the amount perceived at the spot rate, while transactions entailing purchases at spot rates and resale at maturity 
are recognised as receivables for the amount paid at the spot rate.  
 
b) classification criteria 
Receivables include loans to customers and to banks, either disbursed directly or acquired from third parties with 
fixed or determinable payments, that are not quoted in an active market and that were not initially recognised as 
available-for-sale financial assets or as financial assets recognised at fair value recorded in the income 
statement, apart from the exceptional cases envisaged in paragraph 50 and subsequent of IAS 39, amended in 
October 2008. 
 
Receivables also include trade receivables, repos, receivables resulting from finance leases and securities 
purchased through subscription or private placement, with fixed or determinable payments, that are not quoted 
in active markets. 
Receivables also include junior securities resulting from the securitisation by the Bank of receivables performed 
prior to First Time Adoption. 
 
c) measurement criteria and recognition of income components 
Following initial recognition, receivables are measured at amortised cost, equal to the initial recognition value 
reduced/increased by capital repayments, by value adjustments/write-backs and the amortisation – calculated 
on the basis of the effective interest rate – of the difference between the amount disbursed and that repayable at 
maturity, usually the cost/income directly attributed to the individual receivable. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts future cash flows, principal and interest, to the amount disbursed, including any 
cost/income attributable to the receivable. The economic effect of the costs and income can therefore be spread 
over the expected residual life of the receivable.  
 
The amortised cost method is not applied to short-term receivables, as the effect of discounting is considered 
negligible. The same measurement criteria are adopted for on-demand receivables or receivables whose 
duration is undetermined. 
 
In order to classify deteriorated loans into the different risk categories (non-performing, problem, restructured 
loans and loans past due), the Bank has referred to the regulation issues by the Bank of Italy, supplemented 
with internal provisions that establish criteria and rules for the classification of loans into the various risk 
categories.  
 



 
 

100

Concerning this point, in 2009 the Bank of Italy changed the definition of problem loans, including loans past due 
by over 270 days (“objective problem loans”), thus extending the category. The loans past due category was 
extended to include loans past due and/or over 90 days past due that are guaranteed by property. 
 
The classification of loans are made independently by the relevant departments, with the exception of loans past 
due and/or over 90 days past due, guaranteed by property, and loans past due and/or over 180 days past due 
(identified based on supervisory provisions), which are detected by automatic procedures. The automatic 
procedures are also partially applied to a portion of the problem loans (“objective problem loans”). 
 
In order to establish the adjustments to be made to financial statement figures regarding receivables, the same 
are on the basis of the level of deterioration, making an analytical or portfolio assessment as illustrated below. 
 
Loans that have been classified as non-performing, problem, restructured or over 90 days past due (guaranteed 
by property) or over 180 days past due (identified according to the current rules of the Bank of Italy) are 
assessed analytically.  
 
With regard to loans that are assessed analytically, the value adjustment to each loan corresponds to the 
difference between the book value of the loan at the time of the assessment (amortised cost) and the present 
value of the expected future cash flows, calculated by applying the original effective interest rate. Future cash 
flows take into account expected recovery times, the presumed realisable value of any guarantees as well as the 
costs that are expected to be incurred to recover the credit exposure.  
 
Value adjustments to loans are posted in the income statement under item “130 – Net impairment losses”. The 
component of the adjustment resulting from discounting cash flows is applied on an accruals basis according to 
the effective interest rate mechanism and it is posted under the same item in the income statement as a write-
back. 
 
If the quality of the deteriorated loan improves to the extent that there is a reasonable certainty of recovering the 
principal and the interest in a reasonable time-frame, the original value of the loan is recorded in subsequent 
years, as said assessment is objectively linked to an event that occurred after the adjustment. The write-back is 
recorded in the income statement, and in any event, may not exceed the amortised cost that the loan would 
have had in the absence of prior adjustments.  
 
With regard to performing loans, those that individually represent a significant amount (over EUR 750,000) are 
assessed analytically, in order to establish whether there is an objective evidence of impairment. 
 
Individual loans that show no objective evidence of impairment undergo impairment testing on a portfolio basis. 
Said assessment is made for categories of similar loans in terms of credit risk and the relative impairment 
percentages are estimated taking into account historic series, based on observable elements at the assessment 
date. 
 
More specifically, the calculation parameters used are as follows: 
 
- PD (Probability of Default): a Bank PD was used, calculated on the basis of historic data (transition 

matrices observed in a time span of approximately five years, ratings, supplementary qualitative information 
on standard rating parameters ...) and a statistical model. 

- LGD (Loss Given Default): different LGDs of the Bank were used, distinguished by segment 
(retail/corporate) and technical form and, where possible, distinguished on the basis of the existence of real 
guarantees. These values were calculated on the basis of the Bank’s historical data. 

 
Value adjustments calculated on a portfolio basis are recorded in the income statement. At the end of each fiscal 
year and on the date of the interim report, any additional adjustments or write-backs are recalculated on a 
spread basis with reference to the whole portfolio of performing loans on the same date.  
 
d) derecognition criteria 
Loans are eliminated from Statement of financial position assets only if their assignment has entailed the 
substantial transfer of all risks and rewards related to said loans. On the contrary, if the risks and rewards related 
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to assigned loans have been maintained, the same will continue to be recorded under assets in the Statement of 
financial position, even though the legal title of the loan has actually been transferred. 
 
If it is not possible to ascertain the substantial transfer of the risks and rewards, the loans are eliminated from the 
Statement of financial position when no control over the same has been maintained. Otherwise, if event partial 
control has been maintained, the loans must continue to appear on the Statement of financial position to the 
extent of the residual involvement, measured by the exposure of the assigned loans to changes in value and to 
changes in the cash flows of the same. 
 
Lastly, the assigned loans are eliminated from the Statement of financial position if the contractual rights to 
receive cash flows have been maintained, and the obligation, in parallel, to pay said cash flows alone to other 
third parties. 
 
5 – Financial assets measured at fair value 
 
a) recognition criteria 

The initial recognition of financial assets occurs on the settlement date for debt securities and equity instruments 
and on the date of disbursement for receivables. 
 
Financial assets measured at fair value are initially recognised at their fair value, which usually corresponds to 
the cost incurred for the purchase without considering any costs and/or income resulting from the transaction 
that are directly attributable to said instrument, which are booked directly to the income statement. 
 
The fair value option (FVO) has been applied, in past years, to several structured assets with embedded 
derivative instruments. At present, the Bank does not hold this type of asset in its portfolio. 
 
b) classification criteria 
This category covers financial assets that are measured at fair value and which affect the income statement 
when: 
1. their designation at fair value enables distortions in the accounting of financial instruments or between 
financial instruments and non financial assets/liabilities to be eliminated; or 
2. the management and/or measurement of a group of financial instruments at fair value, which affect the 
income statement is in line with a risk management or investment strategy documented on this basis also to 
company management; or  
3. it is an instrument that contains an embedded derivative that significantly changes the cash flows of the host 
instrument and that must be separated.  
 
c) measurement criteria 
Following initial recognition, assets are measured at their fair value. To calculate the fair value of financial 
instruments quoted in an active market, market prices are used.  
 
In the absence of an active market, estimates and generally accepted valuation models are used, which are 
based on market prices, such as: methods based on the valuation of quoted instruments with similar 
characteristics discounted cash flows, models to calculate option prices and values recorded in recent 
comparable transactions. 
 
d) derecognition criteria 
The financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights on the financial flows deriving from the assets 
are lost, or in the case of a transfer, when the same entails the substantial transfer of all risks and benefits 
related to the assets. 
 
e) criteria for recognition of income components 
The profits and losses resulting from changes in the fair value of financial assets are recorded under “Item 110 – 
Net profit (loss) of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value” in the income statement. 
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6– Hedging activities 
 
a) recognition criteria – purpose 
The purpose of hedging activities is to neutralise potential losses on a specific element or group of elements, 
attributable to a specific risk, by means of the gains made on a different element or group of elements in the 
event in which said specific risk actually arises.  
 
b) classification criteria – type of hedge 
IAS 39 envisages the following types of hedge:  
▪ Fair value hedges, the objective of which is to hedge the exposure of changes in the fair value of a Statement 

of financial position item attributable to a specific risk; 
▪ Cash flow hedges, the objective of which is to hedge the exposure to changes in future cash flows 

attributable to specific risks associated to Statement of financial position items; 
▪ Currency investment hedges, which regard hedging the risks of an investment in a foreign company 

expressed in foreign currency. 
 
The Bank’s hedging derivatives belong to the fair value category. 
 
c) measurement criteria and recognition of income components 
Hedging derivatives are measured at their fair value. More specifically: 
▪ In the case of fair value hedges, the change in the fair value of the hedged element is offset by the change in 

the fair value of the hedging instrument. Said offset is recognised by recording changes in the value of both 
the hedged element (in terms of the changes generated by the underlying risk factor) and the hedging 
instrument in the income statement under “Item 90 – Net income from hedging activities”. Any difference, 
which represents the partial inefficiency of the hedge represents the net profit or loss; 

▪ In the case of cash flow hedges, changes in the fair value of the derivative are recorded under equity with 
regard to the effective part of the hedge, and are recorded in the income statement under “Item 90 – Net 
income from hedging activities” only when, with reference to the hedged item, a change in cash flows to be 
offset is shown; 

▪ Investment hedges in currency are recorded in the same way as cash flow hedges. 
 
Hedging activities must be related to a set risk management strategy and must be consistent with the risk 
management policies adopted. Furthermore, the derivative instrument is designated a hedge if the relation 
between the hedged instrument and the hedging instrument is formally documented and if it is effective both 
when the hedge starts and during the entire life of the same. 
 
The effectiveness of hedges depends on the extent to which the expected changes in the fair value of the 
hedged instrument or of the relative cash flows are offset by those of the hedging instrument. Therefore, 
effectiveness is measured by a comparison of the above-cited changes, taking into account the intention of the 
company at the time the hedge was set in place. A hedge is deemed effective (within a set interval of between 
80-125% and further limits established by the company) when the changes in fair value (or cash flows) of the 
financial hedging instrument almost entirely neutralise the changes in the hedged instrument, for the element of 
risk that is being hedged.  
 
The effectiveness of hedges is assessed at the end of each fiscal year using: 
▪ forward-looking tests, which justify the application of hedge accounting, insofar as they demonstrate its 

effectiveness; 
▪ retrospective tests, which demonstrate the degree of effectiveness of the hedge achieved in the period to 

which they refer. 
 
d) derecognition criteria – ineffectiveness 
If tests do not confirm the effectiveness of the hedge, either retrospectively or forward-looking, the accounting of 
hedging activities, in accordance with the above, is interrupted and the derivative hedging contract is reclassified 
under trading instruments while the hedged financial instrument returns to being measured according to the 
criteria of its original category. Hedging relations also cease when the derivative matures or is exercised, or 
when the element hedged is sold or matures or is repaid. 
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7– Equity investments 
 
a) recognition criteria 
In prior years, this category included equity investments in associated companies; On initial recognition, said 
equity investments are recognised at purchase cost, including directly attributable charges. At present, the Bank 
does not have equity investments in associated companies. 
 
b) classification criteria 
For the purposes of classification, equity investments in associated companies means equity investments in 
which a 20% share of voting rights or over is held and said companies, by virtue of particular legal ties, such as 
syndicate agreements, are considered to be subject to significant influence. Said classification disregards the 
existence or otherwise of legal status and in the calculation of voting rights, voting rights that can potentially be 
exercised are also considered.  
 
c) measurement criteria recognition of income components 
Equity investments are measured at equity value, assumed to be equal to the book value of equity. The effect of 
said measurement is recorded in the income statement under “Item 210 – Profit (Loss) from equity investments”. 
 
The income resulting from said investments is recorded in the income statement only to the extent that dividends 
generated subsequent to the acquisition date are paid by the investee company. Any dividends received in 
excess of the profits generated subsequent to the acquisition date are considered as profit from equity 
investments are deducted from the cost of the same.  
 
d) derecognition criteria 
The financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights on the financial flows deriving from the assets 
are lost, or in the case of a transfer, when the same entails the substantial transfer of all risks and benefits 
related to the assets. 
 
8– Property, equipment and investment property  
 
a) recognition criteria 
Property, equipment and investment property are initially recorded at cost, which includes, in addition to the 
purchase price, all additional costs directly attributable to the purchase and installation of the asset. 
 
Extraordinary maintenance costs that lead to an increase in the future benefits, are recorded as an increase in of 
the value of the assets, while other ordinary maintenance costs are recorded in the income statement. Financial 
charges, where present, are recorded in the accounts in accordance with the provisions envisaged in IAS 23 and 
therefore recorded as a cost in the year in which they were incurred. 
 
b) classification criteria 
Property, equipment and investment property include land, functional property, property investments, plant, 
furniture and fittings and equipment of any nature. 
 
They are property, equipment and investment property held to be used in production or in the provision of 
services, to be leased to third parties, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used for more 
than one fiscal year. Assets used under finance leases are also recorded under this item, even though the legal 
title of the same is held by the lessor, as well as improvements and costs for improvements incurred on leased 
assets if they relate to identifiable and separable property, equipment and investment property. With regard to 
property, the components that refer to land and buildings represent separate assets for accounting purposes and 
are recorded separately when acquired.  
 
c) measurement criteria and recognition of income components 
Property, equipment and investment property, including non-functional property, are measured at cost, less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
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The fixed assets are systematically depreciated for their entire useful life, adopting the accelerated depreciation 
method, with the exception of land and works of art, which have an indefinite useful life and cannot be 
depreciated. The useful life of property, equipment and investment property subject to depreciation is 
periodically checked; if initial estimates change, the relative depreciation rate is also changed. 
 
At the end of each fiscal year or interim period, evidence of any impairment must be verified, namely signs that 
an asset may have suffered a loss in value.  
If there is evidence of said signs, a comparison is made between the book value of the asset and its recovery 
value, corresponding to the higher of the fair value, net of any selling costs, and the relative value in use of the 
asset, meaning the present value of the future cash flows expected from the asset. Any adjustments are 
recorded in the income statement. 
 
If the reasons that led to the recognition of the impairment loss cease to apply, a write-back is recorded that may 
not exceed the value that the asset would have had net of the depreciation calculated in the absence of previous 
impairment losses. 
 
Any payments to the capital account are recognised according to the income method, with the initial recognition 
of such as deferred revenue, and subsequent adjusted book value of the asset is recorded once it is complete 
and ready for use. The payment is then recorded as proceeds during the useful life of the depreciable assets by 
means of the resulting reduction in the amount of the depreciation. 
 
d) derecognition criteria 
Property, equipment and investment property is removed from the Statement of financial position on disposal or 
when it is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal.  
 
 
9– Intangible assets 
 
a) recognition criteria 
Intangible assets are non-monetary, identifiable assets without physical substance, owned to be used for a 
number of years or indefinitely. They are recognised at cost, adjusted for any additional charges only if it is 
probable that the future economic benefits attributable to the asset will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the 
asset can be measured reliably. Otherwise the cost of the intangible asset is recorded in the income statement 
of the year in which it was incurred.  
 
b) classification, measurement criteria and recognition of income components 
The cost of intangible assets is amortised on a straight-line basis for their relative useful life. If the useful life is 
indefinite, the asset is not amortised, but the adequacy of the recognition value of the asset is verified 
periodically. 
 
c) derecognition criteria 
An intangible asset is removed from the Statement of financial position on disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected. 
 
10– Non-current assets held for sale 
 
a) recognition criteria 
Non-current assets are assets whose book value will be recovered mainly through their sale rather than their on-
going use. To be classified as such, the assets must be available for immediate sale in their current condition 
and the sale must be highly likely. The completion of the sale must be envisaged within one year from the 
classification date. These assets are recognised at the lower of book and fair value net of selling costs; if the 
resulting figure is negative, the same is booked to the income statement as a balancing entry. 
 
b) classification, measurement criteria and recognition of income components 
In future years, assets held for sale must not be depreciated and the entity must recognise any impairment 
losses not recognised initially, or any gains, within the limits of said losses, on the basis of the measurement 
criteria described in paragraph 10-a). If the conditions for the sale cease to exist, the entity must no longer 
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classify the asset as held for sale and must insert the book value that the asset would have had if it had not be 
classified as held for sale, or its recovery value, if lower. 
 
c) derecognition criteria 
As asset ceases to be classified as held for sale when it is sold or when its sale is no longer highly probable. On 
the date of these financial statements, the Bank has no non-current assets held for sale. 
 
11– Current and deferred taxes 
 
a) recognition criteria 
Current and deferred taxes are calculated according to tax legislation in force on an accrual basis, in line with 
the approach used to recognise the costs and income that generated them, applying the tax rates in force.  
Income tax is recorded in the income statement, with the exception of that relative to items charged or credited 
directly to equity. 
Provisions for income tax are calculated on the basis of a prudent estimate of current, prepaid and deferred tax 
charges. In particular, current taxes encompass the balances of current liabilities for the year and current tax 
assets represented by advance payments and other tax credits for withholding taxes paid. Current tax assets 
and liabilities are shown in the Statement of financial position without any balancing entry. 
Prepaid and deferred taxes are determined on the basis of the temporary differences – without time limits - 
between the value of assets and liabilities according to statutory criteria and the corresponding value assumed 
for taxation purposes.  
Prepaid tax assets are recorded in the Statement of financial position to the extent that it is probable that they 
will be recovered on the basis of the Bank’s ability to generate positive taxable income through business 
continuity. Prepaid taxes and deferred taxes are recorded in the Statement of financial position without any 
balancing entry.  
 
b) classification and measurement criteria 
The assets and liabilities recognised for prepaid and deferred taxes are systematically measured in order to take 
into account any changes to legislation or to tax rates. The tax reserve is also revised in order to cover charges 
that could be incurred from inspections that have already been notified or existing disputes with the tax 
authorities. 
 
c) criteria for recognition of income components 
If deferred tax assets and liabilities refer to components in the income statement, the balancing entry is 
represented by income tax. If prepaid and deferred taxes regard transactions that are directly related to equity, 
without impacting the income statement, the same are recorded as a balancing entry to equity, relating to the 
specific reserves where envisaged. 
 
12– Provisions for risks and charges 
 
Allocations to the provisions for risks and charges are made exclusively when: 
▪ there is a current obligation (legal or implicit) owing to a past event; 
▪ It is likely that financial resources will be needed to generate the economic benefits to fulfil the obligation; and 
▪ a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. 
 
Where the time element is significant, provisions are discounted. Allocations to the provisions are recognised in 
the income statement, where interest expense accrued on the discounted provisions is also recorded. In the 
case of only potential and improbable liabilities, no allocation is made, but information is provided in the notes to 
the financial statements, with the exception of cases in which the probability of using resources is retained 
remote, or the phenomenon is not significant.  
 
 
13– Payables and outstanding securities 
 
a) recognition criteria 
The initial recognition of these financial liabilities is made when the deposits are received or when the debt 
securities are issued. Initial recognition is usually made on the basis of the fair value of the liabilities, usually 
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equal to the amount received or to the issue price plus any additional costs/income directly attributable to the 
individual funding or issue transaction and that have not been reimbursed by the creditor. Internal administrative 
costs are excluded. The fair value of any financial liabilities that have been issued at conditions other than 
market conditions, is specifically estimated and the difference with respect to the amounted received is booked 
directly to the income statement, only when the conditions envisaged by IAS 39 have been satisfied. 
 
b) classification criteria 
The items Due to banks, Due to customers and Outstanding Securities include the various forms of funding from 
customers and interbank funding, deposits made through certificates of deposit and outstanding bonds, net of 
any repurchases.  
 
c) measurement criteria and recognition of income components 
After initial recognition, financial liabilities are recorded at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, 
with the exception of short-term liabilities, which remain recorded at their face value insofar as the effect of 
discounting would be negligible.  
 
It should also be noted that effectively hedged deposit instruments are measured on the basis of specific rules 
envisaged for hedging activities and at amortised cost. 
 
d) derecognition criteria 
Financial liabilities are derecognised from the Statement of financial position at maturity or when they are 
extinguished. Derecognition takes place even in the case of the repurchase of previously-issued securities. The 
difference between the book value of the liability and the amount paid to purchase it is recorded in the income 
statement.  
If the Bank, subsequent to the repurchase, re-places its own securities on the market, said transaction is 
considered a new issue and the liability is recorded at the new placement price, without any impact on the 
income statement. 
 
14– Financial liabilities held for trading 
 
a) recognition criteria 
The initial issue of financial liabilities is made on the issue date for debt securities and on the subscription date 
for derivative contracts. 
 
At the time of their initial recognition, financial liabilities held for trading are recognised at their fair value, usually 
equal to the amount received without considering the transaction costs/income directly attributable to the 
instrument in question, which are booked directly to the income statement. Any embedded derivatives present in 
complex contracts that are not strictly related to the same and which have the characteristics to satisfy the 
definition of derivative are separated from the host contract and measured at fair value. The appropriate 
accounting criteria are applied to the primary contract. 
 
b) classification criteria 
This category includes debt securities and the negative value of derivative contracts, with the exception of those 
designated as hedging instruments. Derivative contracts also include those embedded in complex financial 
instruments that have been recognised separately. 
 
c) measurement criteria 
Following initial recognition, financial liabilities held for trading are measured at fair value, and any changes are 
recognised in the income statement as a balancing entry.  
 
To calculate the fair value of financial instruments quoted in an active market, market prices are used. In the 
absence of an active market, estimates and generally accepted valuation models are used, which are based on 
market prices, such as: methods based on the valuation of quoted instruments with similar characteristics 
discounted cash flows, models to calculate option prices and values recorded in recent comparable transactions. 
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d) derecognition criteria 
Financial liabilities are derecognised from the Statement of financial position at maturity or when they are 
extinguished. Derecognition takes place even in the case of the repurchase of previously-issued securities. The 
difference between the book value of the liability and the amount paid to purchase it is recorded in the income 
statement. 
 
e) criteria for recognition of income components 
The profits and losses resulting from changes in the fair value of financial liabilities are recorded under “Item 80 
– Net profit (loss) from trading activities” in the income statement, with the exception of those relative to the 
negative value of derivative contracts that fall in the scope of the fair value option, and which are classified under 
“Item 110 – Net income on financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value”. 
 
15– Financial liabilities measured at fair value 
 
a) recognition criteria 
The Bank has no financial liabilities measured at fair value. 
 
16– Foreign currency transactions 
 
a) recognition criteria 
Foreign currency transactions are recorded, at the time of initial recognition, in the accounting currency, applying 
the spot exchange rate in force on the date of the transaction to the amount in foreign currency. 
 
b) classification, measurement, derecognition criteria and recognition of income components 
At the end of the fiscal year or of the interim period, financial statement items in foreign currency are measured 
as follows: 
▪ monetary items are converted at the exchange rate at the end of the year or period;  
▪ non-monetary items measured at historic cost are converted to the exchange rate on the date of the 

transaction; 
▪ Non-monetary items measured at fair value are converted using the exchange rates at the end of the year or 

period.  
 
Exchange rate differences relative to the translation of monetary items or to the conversion of monetary items at 
exchange rates that differ from those used for the initial conversions, or for the conversion on the previous 
financial statements, are recorded in the income statement for the period in which they arose. 
 
When a profit or loss relative to a non-monetary item is recognised under equity, the exchange rate difference 
relative to said item is also recognised under equity. Similarly, when a profit or loss is recognised in the income 
statement, the relative exchange rate difference is also recognised in the income statement.  
 
17– Other information 
 
a) Content of other significant financial statement items and other important accounting practices 
 
▪ Post-employment benefits (TFR) 
 
Post-employment benefits are payments made subsequent to the termination of an employment relationship 
based on defined benefits. To be recognised in the financial statements, their actuarial value must therefore be 
estimated.  
 
The costs accrued in the year to service the plan are recognised to the income statement under personnel 
expenses as an amount net of any contributions paid, unrecognised contributions related to previous years, the 
expected income generated by plan assets, financial charges and actuarial profits/losses. The latter are 
calculated on the basis of the “corridor” method, namely the excess of accrued actuarial profits/losses, remaining 
at the end of the previous year, with respect to the higher of 10% of the present value of the benefits generated 
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by the plan and 10% of the fair value of plan assets. This excess is also related to the expected average 
remaining working lives of participating employees. 
 
Following the reform of complementary social security set forth in Legislative Decree no. 252/2005, the quotas of 
TFR accrued up until 31 December 2006 remain at the Bank, while employees may choose to deposit the 
quotas accruing from 1 January 2007 in a complementary social security fund or to keep them at the Bank, 
which arranges for their transfer to the treasury fund managed by INPS. 
 
Post-employment benefits are recognised on the basis of their actuarial value. Pursuant to Law 27/12/2006 
no.296 (that brought forward the entry into force of legislative decree 252/2005 to 1 January 2007, which 
disciplines the forms of social security for the disbursement of complementary pension funds), and to the 
subsequent statement on the topic by the National Order of Actuaries, for the purposes of discounting, the 
Projected Unit Credit Method is no longer used (PUCM, which entails forecasting future payments on the basis 
of historic and statistical analyses and the demographic curve and the financial discounting of said cash flows on 
the basis of a market interest rate), insofar as the benefit to be measured has already fully accrued as at 31 
December 2006 for employees who have chosen to deposit TFR quotas in a complementary social security 
fund. 
 
The following paragraphs provide some further details on relevant accounting criteria in order to assist in the 
understanding of the financial statements. 
 
▪ Treasury shares 
 
Any treasury shares held are recognised in the financial statements as a separate item and directly deducted 
from equity. No profit or loss is recognised in the income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or derecognition 
of instruments that represent the Bank’s capital. The amount paid or received is recorded directly under equity.  
 
▪ Recognition of income and of costs 
 
Income is recognised when it is received or when it is likely that the future benefits will be received and that said 
future benefits can be quantified in a reliable way. In particular:  
- income resulting from trading or the issue of financial instruments, determined by the difference between the 
price of the transaction and the fair value of the instrument, are recognised in the income statement at the time 
of recognition of the transaction if the fair value can be determined with reference to parameters or recent 
transactions in the same market as the instrument is traded, otherwise it is distributed over time on the basis of 
the duration and nature of the instrument. Income related to financial instruments for which said measurement is 
not possible, are recorded in the income statement for the duration of the transaction; 
- commission on income from services is recognised in the period in which the services were rendered; 
- dividends are recognised in the income statement when their distribution is decided; 
- costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which the relative income is recognised. Costs 
that cannot be associated to income are recognised immediately in the income statement. 
 
▪ Payments based on shares 
 
There are no share-based payments 
 
▪ Amortised cost 
 
The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is equal to the initial recognition value net of capital 
repayments, increased/reduced by total amortisation, calculated on the basis of the effective interest rate, on the 
difference between the initial value and that at maturity net of any impairment loss. 
 
The effective interest rate is the rate that equals the present value of the contractual cash flows of future 
payments or receipts up to maturity, or to the next date on which the price is recalculated, at the net book value 
of the financial asset or liability. To calculate the present value, the effective interest rate is applied to future cash 
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flows of collections or payments estimated over the entire useful life of the financial asset or liability – or for a 
shorter period in the presence of specific conditions (for example a change in market rates). 
 
If the cash flows or expected life cannot be reliably estimated, the Bank uses the contractually envisaged cash 
flows for the duration of the contract. 
 
After initial recognition, the amortised cost enables costs and income to be allocated by decreasing or increasing 
the instrument for the entire expected life of the same using the amortisation process. The way the amortised 
cost is calculated varies according to whether the financial asset/liability to be measured is fixed or floating rate.  
 
For fixed rate instruments, future cash flows are calculated on the basis of the known interest rate during the life 
of the loan. For floating rate instruments, whose variability is known a priori (because, for example it is linked to 
an index), cash flows are calculated on the basis of the last known rate. At each date on which rates change, the 
amortisation plan and the effective rate of return are recalculated for the entire useful life of the instrument, 
namely to maturity. The adjustment is recognised as a cost or income in the income statement. Measurement at 
amortised cost is made for receivables, payables, available-for-sale financial assets and outstanding securities. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities traded at market conditions are initially recognised at their fair value, which usually 
corresponds to the amount disbursed or paid including, for instruments measured at amortised cost, directly 
attributable transaction costs and commission, such as fees and commission paid to agents, consultants, 
brokers and operators, as well as fees taken by regulatory bodies and the Stock Exchange, transfer duties and 
charges. These costs, which must be directly related to the individual financial asset or liability, impact the 
original effective return and make the effective interest rate associated to the transaction different to the 
contractual interest rate. The costs that the Bank incurs independent to the transaction and those that, although 
specifically attributable to the transaction, are part of standard loan management costs (for example, activities 
related to the disbursement of the loan), are not considered in the calculation of the amortised cost.  
 
With particular regard to loans, the lump-sum reimbursement of the expenses incurred by the Bank for the 
performance of a service must not be recorded as a reduction in the cost of the disbursement of the loan. 
However, as they can be considered as other operating income, the relative costs must be recorded under the 
specific item in the income statement.  
 
▪ Guarantees given 
 
Value adjustments, analytical and collective, on the estimate of possible disbursements for insolvency risks 
related to guarantees given, determined by applying the same criteria for loans as described above, are 
recorded under item 100 of Liabilities “Other liabilities. Writedowns for impairment are recorded under item “130 
d) net impairment losses on other financial assets" in the income statement. 
 
The following paragraphs illustrate the decisions, with the exception of those regarding estimates, that the 
Company Management has taken with regard to the process of applying accounting standards, and which have 
a relevant impact on the amounts recorded in the financial statements. 
 
▪ Securitisations 
 
Loans that are the subject of securitisation transactions, concluded prior to the first-time application of 
international accounting standards (F.T.A.), are not recognised in the financial statements as the Bank has 
adopted the optional extension envisaged by IFRS 1, which permits financial assets or liabilities transferred or 
derecognised prior to 1 January 2004 not to be recognised. The relative junior securities have been classified 
under receivables.  
 
b) Use of estimates and assumptions in the preparation of the financial statements. Main grounds for 
uncertainty.  
 
The preparation of year-end financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions that can lead to 
significant effects on the values recorded in the statement of financial position and income statement, as well as 
the information disclosed on potential assets and liabilities reported in the financial statements. Obtaining these 
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estimates entails the use of available information and the adoption of subjective assessment. By their nature, 
estimates and assumptions can change from year to year and, therefore, it is possible in future years that the 
current values shown in the financial statements may differ significantly following changes in the subjective 
measurements used. Said estimates and measurements are therefore difficult and bring inevitable elements of 
uncertainty, even in a stable macroeconomic scenario.  
 
The main areas in which the use of subjective measurements by company management is required as are 
follows:  
- the use of valuation models to measure the fair value of financial instruments not quoted in active markets; 
- the quantification of losses due to the impairment of receivables, and in general of other financial assets; 
- the quantification of personnel funds for defined benefit plans. 
The most significant qualitative issues subject to discretion are described below in detail for each case. 
 
▪ Calculation of fair value 
 
Fair value is the amount at which an asset can be exchanged, or a liability extinguished, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 
For financial instruments, the fair value is determined through the use of prices acquired from the financial 
markets, in the case of instruments quoted on active market, or through the use of alternative valuation models, 
for other financial instruments.  
 
• Active markets 
 
The existence of official quotations in an active market is the best proof of fair value and, when such exist, they 
are used to measure the financial asset or liability. 
 
A market is considered active if the quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, broker, 
industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency, and said prices represent actual and regularly occurring 
market transactions made under standard contractual conditions. For financial instruments quoted in active 
markets, the fair value is determined through the use of prices acquired from financial markets.  
If the official quotation in an active market does not exist for a financial instrument in its entirety, but active 
markets exist for its component parts, fair value is determined on the basis of the relevant market prices for the 
component parts. 
 
• Non-Active Markets 
 
In the absence of an active and liquid market, the fair value of financial instruments is usually determined using 
valuation techniques, the objective of which is to establish what the transaction price would have been on the 
measurement date in an arm’s length transaction motivated by normal business considerations, taking into 
account all of the factors that operators consider when setting a price. 
In particular, if a financial instrument is not traded on an active market, the determination of the fair value is 
based on: 
1) prices regarding recent market transactions between knowledgeable and independent parties; 
2) reference to current market values of substantially identical instruments; 
3) valuation techniques consistent with the pricing methods commonly used in the market. 
 
If the fair value is determined using a valuation technique, the latter should: 
 
- maximise the use of “specific” market parameters, minimising, at the same time, the use of entity specific 

inputs; 
- incorporate all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price. 
 
In particular, the fair value of a financial instrument is based on the following factors, where relevant:  
- the time value of money, i.e. interest at the basic or risk-free rate; 
- credit risk; 
- liquidity risk; 
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- the price of equity instruments; 
- the magnitude of future changes in the price of a financial instrument, i.e. the volatility of the same;  
- prepayment risk and surrender risk; 
- foreign currency exchange prices; 
- prices of commodities; 
 
The validity of a valuation technique should be checked and tested periodically, using prices from current market 
transactions in the same instrument or based on any available observable market data. 
 
On 31 October 2008, the IASB Expert Advisory Panel issued a document providing information and regarding 
the measurement of the fair value of financial instruments traded on markets that have become inactive. The 
document is not an accounting standard, but a guide for operators, brought about by a market situation in which 
numerous financial instruments have become illiquid. The guide, therefore, does not set new rules, but provides 
in-depth information with numerous examples, criteria already requested in IAS 39. The guide therefore 
substantially confirms the valuation techniques currently adopted by the Bank. 
 
The nature and number of assumptions used are due to uncertainty regarding fair value estimates, particularly 
with reference to financial instruments with little liquidity. 
 
▪ Determination of impairment loss on receivables and other financial assets 
 
On the date of the financial statements, financial assets not classified as held for trading or measured at fair 
value are tested to see if there is any objective evidence of impairment that could mean that the book value of 
the asset may not be entirely recoverable.  
 
A financial asset has suffered impairment and impairment losses must be recognised if, and only if, there is 
objective evidence of a decrease of future cash flows, with respect to those originally estimated, following one or 
more specific events that have occurred following initial recognition; it must be possible to quantify the loss in a 
reliable way and it must be related to current events. 
 
Impairment may also have been caused by the combined effect of different events, rather than just one event. 
Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired includes observable data that 
comes to the attention of the holder of the asset about the following events: 
 
a. significant financial difficulties of the issuer or debtor; 
 
b. breach of contract, for example non-performance or failure to pay interest or principal; 
 
c. the Bank, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the borrower 

a concession that it would not otherwise consider; 
 
d. it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 
 
e. the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties. However, the 

disappearance of an active market due to the fact that the company’s financial instruments are no longer 
publically traded is not evidence of impairment; 

 
f. observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a 

group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be 
identified with the individual financial assets in the group, including: 

 
- adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group; or 
 
- national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the group. 

 
Objective evidence of impairment for an investment in an equity instrument includes information about significant 
changes with an adverse effect that have taken place in the technological, market, economic or legal 
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environment in which the issuer operates, and indicates that the cost of the investment in the equity instrument 
may not be recovered. 
 
Measurement of impairment is carried out on an analytical basis for financial assets demonstrating objective 
evidence of impairment, and on a portfolio basis for financial assets for which said objective evidence does not 
exist or for which an analytical valuation has not resulted in a value adjustment. Portfolio valuations are based 
on identifying categories of financial assets with similar risk as regards the characteristics of the borrower/issuer, 
the economic sector, the geographical area, the presence of any guarantees and other relevant factors.  
 
With regard to loans to customers and to banks, loans classified as non-performing, problem and restructured, 
according to Bank of Italy definitions, are assessed analytically. The amount of the loss is equal to the difference 
between the book value of the loan at the time of assessment (amortised cost) and the present value of future 
cash flows, calculated by applying the original effective interest rate. Future cash flows take into account 
expected recovery times, the presumed realisable value of any guarantees, as well as the costs that are 
expected to be incurred to recover the credit exposure. The amount of the loss is recorded in the income 
statement under item 130 a) “Net impairment losses on: a) receivables”. 
 
Loans for which objective evidence of impairment has not been found on an individual basis, are assessed on a 
portfolio basis. Said assessment is made by categories of similar loans in terms of credit risk, indicating the 
ability of the borrower to repay the sums owed on the basis of contractual terms. The segment drivers used to 
this end comprised: Sector of economic activity, geographic location and customer segment (turnover). On the 
basis of the latter, the following main segments of the portfolio are identified:  
 
RETAIL customers, comprising: 
- Private consumers; 
- Small business; 
 
CORPORATE customers, comprising: 
- Corporations; 
- Financial companies; 
- Institutions (Banks, insurance companies, etc.). 
 
For each portfolio segment, the loss rate is calculated, identifying any possible relevant synergies (as far as 
permitted by legislation), using the approach provided for supervisory purposes by the provisions of the “New 
agreement on Capital” called Basel 2. In particular, the amount of “expected loss” for each loan belonging to a 
specific standard category is determined using the parameters of the calculation model envisaged by the new 
supervisory provisions, represented by the PD (probability of default) and the LGD (loss given default). 
 
As regards available-for-sale financial assets, impairment is recorded in the income statement when a reduction 
of fair value has been recognised directly under equity and the above-cited “objective evidence” exists. In these 
cases, the cumulative loss that was recognised directly under equity must be reversed and recognised in the 
income statement, even if the financial asset has not been derecognised. 
 
The amount of the total loss that is reversed from equity and recognised in the income statement is given by the 
difference between the acquisition cost (net of any repayment to the capital account and amortisation) and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset recognised previously in the income 
statement. The impairment losses recognised in the income statement for an investment in an equity instrument 
classified as available-for-sale, must not be reversed, and their impact shall not be charged to the income 
statement. 
 
If, in a later period, the fair value of a debt security classified as available-for-sale increases and said increase 
can be objectively linked to an event that occurred after the impairment loss had been recorded in the income 
statement, the impairment loss must be derecognised, and the reversed amount must be recognised in the 
income statement. On the contrary, the existence of a negative reserve is not sufficient, per se, to permit 
recognition of a write-down in the income statement. 
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The nature and the number of assumptions used to identify impairment factors and to quantify write-downs and 
write-backs represent elements of uncertainty in said estimates. 
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A3 – INFORMATION ON FAIR VALUE 
 
A.3.1 Transfers between portfolios 
 
A.3.1.1 Reclassified financial assets: book value, fair value and effects on comprehensive income 
 

Income components  
without transfer  

(before tax) 

Income components  
during period  
(before tax) 

Type of  
financial 

instrument 

Original  
portfolio 

Destination 
portfolio 

Book value at 
31.12.2009 

Fair value at 
31.12.2009 

Unrealised Other Unrealised Other 
Debt security FVPL L&R – banks 43,466 42,102 2,722 1,036  1,377 
Debt security FVPL L&R - customers 12,793 12,402 639 351  458 
Debt security AFS L&R – banks 28,731 28,398 1,819 1,004  1,089 
Debt security AFS L&R - customers 3,111 3,089 52 122  130 
Debt security FVPL AFS 34,964 34,964 1,093 4,207 823 2,780 
Equity security FVPL AFS 652 652 (159) 0 48 (309) 
Total 123,717 121,607 6,166 6,720 871 5,525 

 
It should be mentioned that last year the Bank applied the amendment “Reclassification of Financial Assets” 
where, in October 2008, the IASB amended IAS 39 and IFRS 7, introducing the ability to make portfolio 
reclassifications under rare circumstances, such as the exceptional liquidity crisis that hit international financial 
markets in the second half of 2008. 
 
On the basis of this amendment the Bank transferred: 

 about EUR 56 million (book value) of securities (bank bonds) from the FVTPL portfolio to the Amounts 
owed to Customers and Banks portfolio; 

 about EUR 31.3 million (book value) of securities (bank bonds) from the AFS portfolio to the Amounts 
owed to Customers and Banks portfolio; 

 about EUR 124.8 million (book value) of securities, about EUR 118.8 million of which for Treasury Bills, 
from the AFS portfolio to the AFS portfolio. 

 
No further reclassifications were made in 2009. 
 
The table above not only shows the book value and fair value at 31.12.2009 of financial instruments reclassified 
in 2008, it also shows the economic results, both unrealised and other types (interest and profit/loss), the 
instruments would have had for the Bank in 2009 had they not been transferred (“Income components without 
transfer”). The column “Income components during the period” shows the unrealised and other economic results 
the Bank actually accounted for on the instruments in 2009. 
 
Due to the partial market recovery in 2009, the "hypothetical” net capital gains indicated in the column “Income 
components without transfer—Unrealised”, are higher than those actually accounted for in 2009 (column 
"Income components during the period - Unrealised") for EUR 5.3 million, EUR 1.9 million of which would have 
been accounted for in the AFS reserve and EUR 3.4 million in the income statement. 
 
A.3.1.2 Reclassified financial assets: effects on comprehensive income before transfer 
 
The table was not prepared because in 2009 the Bank did not carry out any financial asset transfers. 
 
A.3.1.3 Transfer of financial assets held for trading 
 
The table was not prepared because in 2009 the Bank did not carry out any financial asset transfers. 
 
A.3.1.4 Effective interest rate and cash flows expected from reclassified assets 
 
The table was not prepared because in 2009 the Bank did not carry out any financial asset transfers. 
 
At present, the Bank expects to recover the entire book value of securities transferred in 2008. 
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A.3.2 Fair value hierarchy 
 
The fair value hierarchy, introduced by the IASB through the amendment to IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures” of March 2009, must be applied to all financial instruments where the valuation of fair value is 
reported in the Statement of financial position. 
 
IAS 39 defines fair value as the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments quoted in active markets is determined by using the prices quoted in 
financial markets, while the fair value of other financial instruments is determined by using the prices quoted for 
similar instruments or through internal measurement models. 
 
The classification of financial instruments into three levels reflects the lack of reliability of inputs used to derive 
the fair value. 
 
Below is a description of the methods for classifying financial instruments in the three levels of the fair value 
hierarchy. 
 
Level 1: 
 
Financial instruments classified in this level are valued using the quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical instruments. 
 
According to IAS 39 a financial instrument is considered quoted in an active market when the quoted prices are 
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory 
agency. The quoted prices must represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length 
basis. If the quoted prices satisfy these requirements it is the best estimate of fair value and they must be used 
to measure the financial instrument. 
 
The definition in IAS 39 implies that the concept of active market is actually the individual financial instrument 
being measured and not the market in question. As a result, the fact that a financial instrument is quoted in a 
regulated market is not as such an adequate condition to define the financial instrument as one quoted in an 
active market. 
 
The quoted price at the date the period ends is the price used to measure the fair value of securities quoted in 
regulated markets. For measuring the fair value of securities not quoted in regulated markets but traded in an 
active market (e.g., BET) the price paid at the date the period ends is used. 
 
Levels 2 and 3: 
 
Financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are classified under levels 2 or 3. 
 
Classification under level 2 rather than level 3 is determined on the basis of significant observable market inputs 
used to measure fair value. A financial instrument must be classified under one level in its entirety. When inputs 
belonging to different levels are used the lowest level input that is significant to such fair value measurement is 
considered to classify an instrument. 
 
An instrument is classified as level 2 if all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable in the market. An 
input is observable when it reflects the same assumptions used by market participants based on market data 
provided by independent sources. 
 
Level 2 inputs are the following: 
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 quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities; 
 

 quoted prices for instruments under analysis or for similar instruments in non-active markets, i.e., 
markets where: 

 
 - there are few transactions; 
 - prices are not current or change substantially over time and between the various market makers; 
 - little information is disclosed to the public; 
 

 observable market input (e.g., interest rates or observable performance curves, volatility, credit curve, 
etc.). 

 
A financial instrument is categorised as level 3 when the measurement techniques adopted also use inputs that 
are not observable in markets and their contribution to estimating fair value is considered significant. 
 
All financial instruments non quoted in active markets are categorised as level 3 when: 
 

 although observable data is available, significant adjustments are needed based on unobservable data; 
 

 the estimate is based on assumptions within the Bank with regards to future cash flow and adjustments 
for discount curve risk. 

 
A.3.2.1 Accounting portfolios: distribution by fair value level 
 

(in thousands of EUR)    
 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 
Financial assets/liabilities measured at fair value L1 L2 L3 L1 L2 and L3 
1. Financial assets held for trading 
2. Financial assets measured at fair value 
3. Financial assets available for sale 
4. Hedging derivatives 

41,249 
- 

166,316 
 

87,332 
- 

39,089 
14,539 

421 
- 

6,459 
- 

60,801 
- 

121,425 
- 

120,246 
- 

80,469 
9,852 

Total 207,565 140,960 6,880 182,226 210,567 
1. Financial liabilities held for trading 
2. Financial liabilities measured at fair value 
3. Hedging derivatives 

- 
- 
- 

1,473 
- 

20,482 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

1,955 
- 

17,955 
Total - 21,955 - - 19,950 
Key 

L1 = Level 1; L2 = Level 2; L3 = Level 3 

 
A.3.2.2 Yearly changes in financial assets measured at fair value (level 3) 
 
This table is not required for 2009 as it is the first year the fair value hierarchy is applied (see IFRS 7). 
 
A.3.2.3 Yearly changes in financial liabilities measured at fair value 
 
This table is not required for 2009 as it is the first year the fair value hierarchy is applied (see IFRS 7). Moreover, 
these cases do not apply to the Bank. 
 
A.3.3 “Day one profit/loss” disclosure 
 
The Bank did not generate any “day one profit/loss” from financial instruments valued with models using inputs 
not observable in markets. 
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Part B 
 
Information on the Statement of financial position 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

banca popolare di spoleto spa 
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ASSETS 
 
Section 1 
 
Cash and cash equivalents – Item 10 
 
1.1 Cash and cash equivalents: breakdown 

(in thousands of EUR) 

 Total 

31.12.2009 

Total 

31.12.2008 

a) Cash 22,859 24,021 

b) Demand deposits at Central Banks - - 

Total 22,859 24,021 
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Section 2 
 
Financial assets held for trading – Item 20 
 
2.1 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by type 
 

Items/Amounts 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Levels 2 and 3

A. Cash assets      

1. Debt securities 40,887 87,332  60,062 119,823 

1.1 Structured securities 98 4,918  1 14 

1.2 Other debt securities 40,789 82,414  60,061 119,809 

2. Equity instruments 18  421 111 423 

3. UCI shares 344   628  

4. Loans      

4.1 Reverse repurchase agreements      

4.2 Other      

Total (A) 41,249 87,332 421 60,801 120,246

B. Derivative instruments  

1. Financial derivatives  5,458 9 1 5,513 

1.1 trading  5,458 9 1 5,513 

1.2 related to the fair value option      

1.3 other      

2. Credit derivatives      

2.1 trading      

2.2 related to the fair value option      

2.3 other      

Total (B) 5,458 9 1 5,513

Total (A+B) 41,249 92,790 430 60,802 125,759
 
The trading book includes cash instruments, purchased mainly in order to obtain short-term profit and derivative contracts 
other than those designated as hedging instruments. Part A should be referred to for information on the methods for 
categorising financial instruments into the three levels of the fair value hierarchy. 
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2.2 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by borrower/issuer 
(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts 
Total 

31.12.2009 

Total 

31.12.2008 

A Cash assets  

1. Debt securities 128,219 179,885 

a) Governments and Central Banks 4 14,753 

b) Other public authorities 1 1 

c) Banks 119,088 156,187 

d) Other issuers 9,126 8,944 

2. Equity instruments 439 534 

a) Banks 39 11 

b) Other issuers: 400 523 

- insurance companies   

- financial companies  23 

- non-financial companies 400 500 

- other   

3. UCI shares 344 628 

4. Loans   

a) Governments and Central Banks   

b) Other public authorities   

c) Banks   

d) Other entities   

Total (A) 129,002 181,047

B. Derivative instruments 

a) Banks   

 - fair value 5,044 5,191 

b) Customers   

 - fair value 423 323 

Total (B) 5,467 5,514

Total (A+B) 134,469 186,561
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2.3 Financial cash assets held for trading: annual changes 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Changes/Underlying assets Debt securities 
Equity 

instruments 
UCI shares Loans Total 

A. Opening balance 179,885 534  628  181,047 

B. Increases 404,924 220 765  405,909 

B.1 Purchases 401,489 215  731  402,435 

of which      

Business combinations      

B.2 Positive changes in fair value 768  8  776 

B.3 Other changes 2 ,667 5  26  2,698 

C. Decreases 456,590 315 1,049  457,954 

C.1 Sales 348,356 297  1,045  349,698 

of which      

Business combinations      

C.2 Repayments 106,218    106,218 

C.3 Negative changes in fair value 493 3   496 

C.4 Transfers to other portfolios 1,523  15 4  1,542 

D. Closing balance 128,219 439 344  129,002 
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SECTION 4 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets – Item 40 
 
4.1 Available-for-sale financial assets: breakdown by type 
 

(in thousands of EUR)    

Total 
31.12.2009 

Total 
31.12.2008 Items/Amounts 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Levels 2 and 3 

1. Debt securities 165,664  39,089 1,364 120,614 74,870 

1.1 Structured securities  1,335   1,335 

1.2 Other debt securities 165,664  37,754 1,364 120,614 73,535 

2. Equity instruments 652   5,095 811 5 ,599 

2.1 Measured at fair value 652   5,095 811  

2.2 Measured at cost     5 ,599 

3. UCI shares      

4. Loans      

Total 166,316  39,089 6,459 121,425 80,469 
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4.2 Available-for-sale financial assets: breakdown by borrower/issuer 
 
 
 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

1. Debt securities 206,117 195,484 

a) Governments and Central Banks 95,565 117,517 

b) Other public authorities 300 300 

c) Banks 87,819 63,706 

d) Other issuers 22,433 13,961 

2. Equity instruments 5,747 6,410 

a) Banks 658 817 

b) Other issuers: 5,089 5,593 

- insurance companies   

- financial companies 1,583 1,964 

- non-financial companies 3,506 3,629 

- other   

3. UCI shares   

4. Loans   

a) Governments and Central Banks   

b) Other public authorities   

c) Banks   

d) Other entities   

Total  211,864 201,894 
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4.4 Available-for-sale financial assets: annual changes 
31.12.2009 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts Debt securities 
Equity 

instruments 
UCI shares Loans Total 

A. Opening balance 195,484 6,410   201,894 

B. Increases 350,336 519   350,855 

B.1 Purchases 339,800 472   340,272 

of which      

Business combinations      

B.2 Positive changes in fair value 3,067 47   3,114 

B.3 Write-backs      

- allocated to the income statement      

- allocated to equity      

B.4 Transfers from other portfolios      

- Financial assets held for trading      

-  held to maturity investments      

B.5 Other changes 7,469    7,469 

C. Decreases 339,703 1,182   340,885 

C.1 Sales 258,932 824   259,756 

C.2 Repayments 78,172    78,172 

C.3 Negative changes in fair value 297    297 

C.4 Write-downs from impairment  320   320 

- allocated to the income statement  320   320 

- allocated to equity      

C.5 Transfers to other portfolios      

C.6 Other changes 2,302 38   2,340 

D. Closing balance 206,117 5,747   211,864 
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Section 6 
 
Due from banks – Item 60 
 
6.1 Due from banks: breakdown by type 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Type of transaction/Amounts 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

A. Due from Central banks 32,981 3,921 

1. Fixed-term deposits   

2. Obligatory reserve 32,981 3,921 

3. Reverse repurchase agreements   

4. Other   

B. Due from banks 123,523 103,692 

1. Current accounts and demand deposits 3,495 4,010 

2. Fixed-term deposits 868 11 

3. Other loans  1 

3.1 Reverse repurchase agreements   

3.2 Finance leases   

3.3 Other  1 

4. Debt securities 119,160 99,670 

4.1 Structured securities 42,613 1,390 

4.2 Other debt securities 76,547 98,280 

Total (book value) 156,504 107,613 

Total (fair value) 154,433 109,322 
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Section 7 
 
Due from customers – Item 70 
 
7.1 Due from customers: breakdown by type 

(in thousands of EUR)   
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 Type of transaction/Amounts 
Performing Impaired Performing Impaired 

1. Current accounts 448,812 37,659 499,641 26,680 

2. Reverse repurchase agreements     

3. Mortgages 1,181,352 80,059 1,102,795 44,383 

4. Credit cards, personal loans and assignment of 
one-fifth of salary 

83,644 3,457 80,223 4,475 

5. Financial leases     

6. Factoring     

7. Other transactions 253,695 51,688 292,614  9,064 

8. Debt securities 3 3,137  27,296   

8.1 Structured securities 6,678    

8.2 Other debt securities 26,459  27,296   

Total (book value) 2,000,640 172,863 2,002,569  84,602 

Total (fair value) 2,117,999 172,863 1,989,108  84,602 

The ‘due from customers’ portfolio includes all loans to ordinary customers and a part of the banking book 
securities portfolio, in line 8 – “debt securities” 
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7.2 Due from Customers: breakdown by borrower/issuer 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 Type of transaction/Amounts 
Performing Impaired Performing Impaired

1. Debt securities: 33,137  27,296   

a) Governments     

b) Other public authorities     

c) Other issuers 33,137  27,296   

- non-financial companies     

- financial companies 33,137  27,296   

- insurance companies     

- other     

2. Loans to: 1,967,503 172,863 1,904,168  84,602 

a) Governments   359  

b) Other public authorities 5,530  6,856  

c) Other parties 1,961,973 172,863 1,896,953  84,602 

- non-financial companies 1,250,124 122,440 1,246,974 59,712 

- financial companies 3,635 20 20,139 12 

- insurance companies 49,590    

- other 658,624 50,403 629,840 24,878 

Total 2,000,640 172,863 1,931,464  84,602 
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7.3 Due from customers and covered by specific hedges 
 

 (in thousands of EUR) 

Type of transaction/Amounts 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

1. Receivables covered by specific fair value hedges: 215,900 232,948 

a) interest rate risk 215,900 232,948 

b) exchange risk   

c) credit risk   

d) other risks   

2. Receivables covered by specific cash flow hedges   

a) interest rate risk   

b) exchange risk   

c) other   

Total 215,900 232,948 
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Section 8 
 
Hedging Derivatives – Item 80 
 
8.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of hedge and level 
 
 

FV Total 31.12.2009 FV Total 31.12.2008 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
NV Total 31.12.2009 

Level 1 
Levels 2 and 

3 

NV Total 
31.12.2008 

A) Financial derivatives  14,539  221,620  9,852 206,334 

1) Fair value  14,539  221,620  9,852 206,334 

2) Cash flows        

3) Foreign investments        

B) Credit derivatives        

1) Fair value        

2) Cash flows        

Total   14,539  221,620  9,852 206,334 

 
Key 
FV = Fair value 
NV = Nominal value
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8.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by portfolios hedged and type of hedge (book values) 
31.12.2009 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Fair Value Cash Flow 

Specific Transactions/Type of hedge 

Interest rate 
risk 

Exchange 
risk 

Credit risk Price risk Other risks 
Generic Specific Generic 

Foreign 
Investme

nt 

1. Available-for-sale financial assets - - - - - - - -  

2. Receivables 269 - - - - - - -  

3.  Held to maturity investments - - - - - - - -  

4. Portfolio - - - - - - - -  

5. Other transactions - - - - - - - -  

Total assets 269 - - - - - - -  

1. Financial liabilities 14,270 - - - - - - -  

2. Portfolio - - - - - - - -  

Total liabilities 14,270 - - - - - - -  

1. Expected transactions 
 
2. Portfolio of financial assets and  
liabilities 

- 
 

- 

- 
 

- 

- 
 

- 

- 
 

- 

- 
 

- 

- 
 

- 

- 
 

- 

- 
 

- 
 

 
31.12.2008 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Fair Value Cash Flow 

Specific Transactions/Type of hedge 

Interest rate 
risk 

Exchange 
risk 

Credit risk Price risk Other risks 
Generic Specific Generic 

Foreign 
Investme

nt 

1. Available-for-sale financial assets - - - - - - - -  

2. Receivables 243 - - - - - - -  

3.  Held to maturity investments - - - - - - - -  

4. Portfolio - - - - - - - -  

5.  Other transactions - - - - - - - -  

Total assets 243 - - - - - - -  

1. Financial liabilities 9,609 - - - - - - -  

2. Portfolio - - - - - - - -  

Total liabilities 9,609 - - - - - - -  

1. Expected transactions 
 
2. Portfolio of financial assets and  
liabilities 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 
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Section 11 
 
Property, equipment and investment property – Item 110 
 
11.1 Property, equipment and investment property: breakdown of assets carried at cost 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Assets/Amounts 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

A. Assets for functional use   

1.1 owned 44,552 39,865 

a) land 9,075 9,075 

b) buildings 28,255 24,504 

c) furniture 1,785 1,559 

d) electronic equipment 5,437 4,727 

e) other   

1.2 acquired under finance leases   

a) land   

b) buildings   

c) furniture   

d) electronic equipment   

e) other   

Total A 44,552 39,865 

B. Assets held as investments   

2.1 owned 103 105 

a) land 50 50 

b) buildings 53 55 

2.2 acquired under finance leases   

a) land   

b) buildings   

Total B 103 105 

Total (A+B) 44,655 39,970 

 
 
11.1 a Property, equipment and investment property: leased property held for investment purposes 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Assets/Amounts 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

Leased property held for investment purposes 103 105 
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11.3 Property, equipment and investment property for functional use: annual changes 
(in thousands of EUR) 

 Land Buildings Furniture 
Electronic 
equipment 

Other 
Total 

31.12.2009 

A. Gross opening balance 9,075 27,444 5,350 18,545   60,414 

A.1 Net total impairment - 2,940 3,791 13,818   20,549 

A.2 Net opening balance 9,075 24,504 1,559 4,727   39,865 

B. Increases       

B.1 Purchases - 4,171 528 2,011   6,710 

- Business combinations       

B.2 Capitalised improvement expenses - - - - - - 

B.3 Write-backs - - - - - - 

B.4 Positive changes in fair value allocated to: - - - - - - 

a) equity - - - - - - 

b) income statement - - - - - - 

B.5 Exchange rate gains - - - - - - 

B.6 Transfer from property held as investments - - - - - - 

B.7 Other changes - -     

C. Decreases       

C.1 Sales - - 5 5 - 10 

C.2 Depreciation - 420 297  1,296    2,013 

C.3 Value adjustments for impairment - - - - - - 

allocated to:       

a) equity - - - - - - 

b) income statement - - - - - - 

C.4 Negative changes in fair value  - - - - - - 

allocated to:       

a) equity - - - - - - 

b) income statement - - - - - - 

C.5 Exchange rate losses - - - - - - 

C.6 Transfers to: - - - - - - 

a) property, equipment and investment 
property held as investments 

- - - - - - 

b) assets held for sale - - - - - - 

C.7 Other changes -      

D. Net closing balance 9,075 28,255 1,785 5,437   44,552 

D.1 Total net impairment - 3,377 3,963 11,331   18,671 

D.2 Gross closing balance 9,075 31,632 5,748 16,768   63,223 

The increase in buildings is almost entirely due to the renovation of Palazzo Pianciani, the Bank’s historic head office, for 
which a contribution of EUR 4,626,528.06 (fully paid) was granted by the Regional Authority for seismic events. 
 
Furthermore, a specific application was made to the Ministry for Cultural Heritage and Activities for a further contribution of 
40% of the expenses incurred (for all renovation and restoration work, estimated at around EUR 4,000,000.00). 
 
Palazzo Pianciani has been declared to be of particularly important artistic and historic interest by the Ministry for Cultural 
Heritage and Activities and is therefore covered by provisions for its protection contained in Legislative Decree 42/2004. 
 
 
 
 



 

 133

11.4 Property, equipment and investment property held for investment purposes: changes 
(in thousands of EUR) 

 Total 31.12.2009 Total 31.12.2008 

 Land Buildings Land Buildings 

A. Gross opening balance 50 70 50 70 

A.1 Net total impairment - 15 - 13 

A.2 Net opening balance 50 55 50 57 

B. Increases     

B.1 Purchases - - - - 

Business combination     

B.2 Capitalised improvement expenses - - - - 

B.3 Positive changes in fair value - - - - 

B.4 Write-backs - - - - 

B.5 Exchange rate gains - - - - 

B.6 Transfer from property for functional use - -   

B.7 Other changes - - - - 

C. Decreases  2  2 

C.1 Sales - - - - 

C.2 Depreciation - 2 - 2 

C.3 Negative changes in fair value  - - - - 

C.4 Value adjustments for impairment - - - - 

C.5 Exchange rate losses  - - - - 

C.6 Transfers to: - - - - 

a) property for functional use - - - - 

b) Non-current assets held for sale - - - - 

C.7 Other changes - - - - 

D. Net closing balance 50 53 50 55 

D.1 Total net impairment - 17 - 15 

D.2 Gross closing balance 50 70 50 70 

 



 
 

134

11.5 Commitments for purchase of property, equipment and investment property 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Assets/Amounts 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

Commitments for purchase of property, equipment and 
i t t t

255 4,487 

 
On 20 May 2005, a tender for restoration works, damage repair and functional restoration of Palazzo Pianciani, 
the Bank’s historic head office, damaged in the 1997 earthquake, was awarded, in implementation of the 
provisions of Law 61/98, Regional Law no. 30/98 and Regional Decree no. 5180/98. On the Bank’s request, on 4 
July 2005, the Umbrian Regional Authority granted a contribution for seismic events, as illustrated in section 11.3. 
 
 
11.6 Property, equipment and investment property: depreciation rates 
 

Main categories of property, equipment and investment property % 

Land and works of art 0% 

Buildings 2.87% 

Furniture 12% 

Alarm and video systems 30% 

Electronic and ordinary office equipment 20% 

Electronic equipment for data processing 20% 
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Section 12 
 
Intangible assets – Item 120 
 
12.1 Intangible assets: breakdown by asset type 

(in thousands of EUR) 

 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

Assets/Amounts Fixed term 
Not fixed 

term 
Fixed term 

Not fixed 
term 

A.1 Goodwill - - - - 

A.1.1 pertaining to the group     

A.1.2 pertaining to minority interests     

A.2 Other intangible assets 188 - 161 - 

A.2.1. Assets valued at cost:  -  - 

a) Intangible assets generated internally  - - - 

b) Other assets 188 - 161 - 

A.2.2 Assets measured at fair value:  - - - 

a) Intangible assets generated internally  - - - 

b) Other assets  - - - 

Total 188 - 161 - 
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12.2 Intangible assets: annual changes 
(in thousands of EUR) 

Other intangible assets: 
generated internally 

Other intangible assets: 
other 

 Goodwill 
Fixed Not fixed Fixed Not fixed 

Total 
31.12.2009 

A. Gross opening balance - - - 581 - 581 

A.1 Net total impairment - - - 420 - 420 

A.2 Net opening balance - - - 161 - 161 

B. Increases:       

B.1 Purchases - - - 78  78 

- Business combination       

B.2 Increases in internal intangible assets - - - - - - 

B.3 Write-backs - - - - - - 

B.4 Positive changes in fair value allocated to: - - - - - - 

- equity - - - - - - 

- income statement - - - - - - 

B.5 Exchange rate gains - - - - - - 

B.6 Other changes - - - - - - 

C. Decreases       

C.1 Sales - - - - - - 

Disposals and extraordinary transactions       

C.2 Value adjustments  - - - 51  51 

- Amortisation - - - 51  51 

- Write-downs - - - - - - 

- equity - - - - - - 

- income statement - - - - - - 

C.3 Negative changes in fair value: - - - - - - 

- on equity - - - - - - 

- on income statement - - - - - - 
C.4 Transfers to non current assets held for 
sale 

- - - - - - 

C.5: Exchange rate losses  - - - - - - 

C.6 Other changes - - - - - - 

IFRS5 discontinuing operations - - - - - - 

D. Net closing balance - - - 188 - 188 

D.1 Total net impairment - - - 471 - 471 

E Gross closing balance - - - 659 - 659 

 
 
12.3 Intangible assets: amortisation percentages 
 

Main categories of intangible assets % 

Software 20% 

Concessions and other licenses 20% 
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Section 13 
 
Tax assets and tax liabilities - Item 130 under assets and item 80 under liabilities 
 
13.1 Deferred tax assets: breakdown 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

Receivables (including securitisations) 12,703 6,663 

Allowances to provisions for risks and charges 2,044 1,789 

Entertainment expenses 25 54 

Personnel charges 50 79 

Other 433 252 

Valuation reserve  144 1,272 

Gross deferred tax assets 15,399 10,109 

Offset by deferred tax liabilities  - 

Net deferred tax assets 15,399 10,109 

 
 
 
 
13.2 Deferred tax liabilities: breakdown 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

Personnel charges 605 544 

Other  98 

Valuation reserves 462  

Gross deferred tax liabilities 1,067 642 

Offset by deferred tax assets  - 

Net deferred tax liabilities 1,067 642 
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13.3 Changes in prepaid taxes (with corresponding entry in the income statement) 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

1. Initial amount  6,551 

2. Increases 8,838 2,360 

Business combination 6,461  

2.1 Prepaid taxes recognised during the year 6,461 2,156 

a) relative to previous years  - 

b) due to changes in accounting criteria  - 

c) write-backs  - 

d) other 6,461 2,156 

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates  - 

2.3 Other increases  204 

3. Decreases 117 73 

Disposals and extraordinary transactions   

3.1 Prepaid taxes derecognised during the year  - 

a) reallocations  - 

b) write-downs due to irrecoverability  - 

c) changes in accounting criteria  - 

3.2 Decreases in tax rates  - 

3.3 Other decreases 117 73 

4. Final amount 15,182 8,838 

 
 
 
13.4 Changes in deferred taxes (with corresponding entry in the income statement) 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

1. Initial amount 643 717 

2. Increases  - 

Business combination   

2.1 Deferred taxes recognised during the year  - 

a) relative to previous years  - 

b) due to changes in accounting criteria  - 

c) other  - 

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates  - 

2.3 Other increases  - 

3. Decreases 38 74 

Disposals and extraordinary transactions   

3.1 Deferred taxes derecognised during the year  - 

a) reallocations  - 

b) changes in accounting criteria  - 

c) other  - 

3.2 Decreases in tax rates  - 

3.3 Other decreases 38 74 

4. Final amount 605 643 
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13.5 Changes in prepaid taxes (with corresponding entry under equity) 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

1. Initial amount 1,272  

2. Increases 126 1,272 

Business combination   

2.1 Prepaid taxes recognised during the year 126  

a) relative to previous years   

b) due to changes in accounting criteria   

d) other 126  

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates   

2.3 Other increases  1,272 

3. Decreases 1,181  

Disposals and extraordinary transactions   

3.1 Prepaid taxes derecognised during the year   

a) reallocations   

b) changes in accounting criteria    

c) other   

3.2 Decreases in tax rates   

3.3 Other decreases 1,181  

4. Final amount 217 1,272 

 
 
13.6 Changes in deferred taxes (with corresponding entry under equity) 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

1. Initial amount   

2. Increases 462 - 

Business combination   

2.1 Deferred taxes recognised during the year 462 - 

a) relative to previous years  - 

b) due to changes in accounting criteria  - 

c) other 462 - 

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates  - 

2.3 Other increases  - 

3. Decreases   

3.1 Deferred taxes derecognised during the year  - 

a) reallocations  - 

b) write-downs due to irrecoverability   

c) changes in accounting criteria  - 

d) other  - 

3.2 Decreases in tax rates   

3.3 Other decreases   

4. Final amount 462  
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13.7 Current tax assets 
(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

Advance payment of IRES 7,945 8,552 

Advance payment of IRAP 3,569 3,105 

Other tax credit and withholding tax paid  - 

Gross current tax assets 11,514 11,657 

Offset by current tax liabilities  - 

Net current tax assets 11,514 11,657 

 
 
 
13.8 Current tax liabilities 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

Liabilities for IRES 10,999 8,204 

Liabilities for IRAP 3,812 3,653 

Other liabilities for current income tax  - 

Gross current tax liabilities 14,811 11,857 

Offset by current tax assets  - 

Net current tax liabilities 14,811 11,857 

 
Given the estimated taxable income for the purposes of IRES as at 31 December 2009 (see Section C), a debt for tax 
consolidation to the parent bank of EUR 10,999 thousand was recorded. Said debt has been recognised autonomously under 
Current tax liabilities and has not been offset by credit of a similar nature, recognised in the current year and amounting to 
EUR 7,495. Said credit results from amounts paid by way of an advance during the course of 2009 to the parent bank Spoleto 
Credito e Servizi Società Cooperativa, with regard to the contract for tax consolidation drawn up with the parent bank.  



 

 141

Section 15 
 
Other assets – Item 150 
 
15.1 Other assets: breakdown 
 

 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

Amounts due from the Inland Revenue and other tax authorities 11,420 8,459 

Assets represented by gold, silver and precious metals 6 6 

Transit items between Branches 90 100 

Items under processing 47,494 47,785 

Improvements and additional expenses to third party assets 
other than those included under property, equipment and 
i

1,750 1,109 

Prepayments not pertaining to a specific item 431 452 

Other 4,914 5,169 

Total 66,105 63,080 
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LIABILITIES 
 
Section 1 
 
Due to banks – Item 10 
 
1.1 Due to banks: breakdown by type 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Type of transaction/Amounts 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

1. Due to central banks 5,076 - 

2. Due to banks 50,593  36,219 

2.1 Current accounts and demand deposits 15,970  12,302 

2.2 Fixed term deposits 33,779  22,791 

2.3 Loans 844  1,126 

2.3.1 Repurchase agreements  - 

2.3.2 Other 844  1,126 

2.4 Debts for commitments to repurchase own equity instruments  - 

2.5 Other amounts due  - 

Total 55,669  36,219 

Fair value 55,657  36,366 
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Section 2 
 
Due to customers – Item 20 
 
2.1 Due to customers: breakdown by type 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Type of transaction 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

1. Current accounts and demand deposits 1,323,191  1,235,292 

2. Fixed-term deposits 75,897  70,228 

3. Loans 82,325  211,792 

3.1 Repurchase agreements 82,282  211,792 

3.2 Other 43   

4. Debts for commitments to repurchase own equity instruments   

5. Other amounts due 263  295 

Total 1,481,676  1,517,607 

Fair value 1,481,688  1,516,608 
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Section 3 
 
Outstanding securities – Item 30 
 
3.1 Outstanding securities: breakdown by type 
 

Total 
31.12.2009 

Total 
31.12.2008 

Fair value Fair value Type of security/Amounts Book 

value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Book value 

Level 1 Levels 2 and 3 

A. Securities        

1. Bonds 951,186   947,269  878,800   875,260 

1.1 Structured  68,728   68,088  48,609   48,942 

1.2 Other  882,458   879,181  830,191   826,318 

2. Other securities 26,656   26,655  28,778   28,778 

1.1 Structured         

1.2 Other  26,656   26,655  28,778   28,778 

Total 977,842   973,924  907,578  904,038 
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3.2 Details of item 30 “Outstanding securities”: subordinate instruments 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 
Type/Item Issue date Maturity date Currency Rate Book balance 

     31.12.2009 31.12.2008 

O.BPS SUB.TV% 06/09 28.06.2002 28.06.2009 EUR Floating  30,013 

O.BPS 30/12/2009 TV 30.12.2004 30.12.2009 EUR Floating  3,001 

O.BPS 7/12/05 SUB TV 07.12.2005 07.12.2015 EUR Floating 30,004  30,058 

O.BPS 04/18 TV SUB 15.04.2008 15.04.2018 EUR Floating 8,230 8,331 

O.BPS 18/04/18 TV 18.04.2008 18.04.2018 EUR Floating 10,899  11,007 

Total 49,133  82,410 

 
 
 
 
 
3.3 Details of item 30 “Outstanding securities”: instruments covered by specific hedges 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Type of transaction/Amounts 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

1. Instruments covered by specific fair value hedges: 203,532 264,868 

a) interest rate risk 203,532 264,868 

b) exchange risk   

c) other risks   

2. Instruments covered by specific cash flow hedges:   

a) interest rate risk   

b) exchange risk   

c) other risks   

Total 203,532 264,868 
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Section 4 
 
Financial liabilities held for trading – Item 40 
 
4.1 Financial liabilities held for trading: breakdown by type 
 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

FV FV Type of transaction/Amounts 
NV 

L1 L2 L3 
FV* NV 

L1 L2 and L3 
FV* 

A. Cash liabilities          

1. Due to banks - -   - - - - - 

2. Due to customers - -   - - - - - 

3. Debt securities - -   - - - - - 

3.1 Bonds - -   - - - - - 

3.1.1 Structured - -   - - - - - 

3.1.2 Other bonds - -   - - - - - 

3.2 Other securities - -   - - - - - 

3.1.1 Structured - -   - - - - - 

3.1.2 Other - -   - - - - - 

Total A - -   - - - - - 

B. Derivative instruments          

1. Financial derivatives - - 1,473  - - - 1,955 - 

1.1 Trading - - 1,473  - - - 1,955 - 

1.2 Related to the fair value 
option 

- -   - - -  - 

1.3 Other - -   - - -  - 

2. Credit Derivatives - -   - - -  - 

2.1 Trading - -   - - -  - 

2.2 Related to the fair value 
option 

- -   - - -  - 

2.3 Other - -   - - -  - 

Total B - - 1,473  - - - 1,955 - 

Total (A+B) - - 1,473  - - - 1,955 - 

 
Key 
FV = fair value 
FV* = fair value calculated excluding changes in value due to changes in the credit rating of the issuer with respect to the 
issue date 
NV = nominal value or notional value 
L1 = Level 1 
L2 = Level 2 
L3 = Level 3 
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Section 6 
 
Hedging derivatives – Item 60 
 
6.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of hedge and level 
 

(in thousands of EUR)  

 
FV Total 31.12.2009 FV Total 31.12.2008 

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

NV Total 31.12.2009 
Level 1 Levels 2 and 3 

NV Total 
31.12.2008 

A) Financial derivatives  20,482  269,163  17,995  295,985 

1) Fair value  20,482  269,163  17,995  295,985 

2) Cash flows        

3) Foreign investments        

B) Credit derivatives        

1) Fair value        

2) Cash flows        

Total   20,482  269,163  17,995  295,985 

 
Key 
FV = Fair value 
NV = Nominal value 
L1 = Level 1 
L2 = Level 2 
L3 = Level 3 
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6.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by portfolios hedged and type of hedge 
31.12.2009 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Fair Value Cash Flow 

Specific Transactions/Type of hedge 

Interest rate 
risk 

Exchange 
risk 

Credit risk Price risk Other risks 
Generic Specific Generic 

Foreign 
Investme

nt 

1. Available-for-sale financial assets - - - - - - - -  

2. Receivables 16,169 - - - - - - -  

3.  Held to maturity investments - - - - - - - -  

4. Portfolio - - - - - - - -  

5. Other transactions - - - - - - - -  

Total assets 16,169 - - - - - - -  

1. Financial liabilities 4,313 - - - - - - -  

2. Portfolio  - - - - - - -  

Total liabilities 4,313 - - - - - - -  

1. Expected transactions 
 
2. Portfolio of financial assets and  
liabilities 

- - - - - - - -  

 
31.12.2008 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Fair Value Cash Flow 

Specific Transactions/Type of hedge 

Interest rate 
risk 

Exchange 
risk 

Credit risk Price risk Other risks 
Generic Specific Generic 

Foreign 
Investme

nt 

1. Available-for-sale financial assets - - - - - - - -  

2. Receivables 15,748 - - - - - - -  

3.  Held to maturity investments  - - - - - - -  

4. Portfolio  - - - - - - -  

5.  Other transactions  - - - - - - -  

Total assets 15,748 - - - - - - -  

1. Financial liabilities 2,247 - - - - - - -  

2. Portfolio  - - - - - - -  

Total liabilities 2,247 - - - - - - -  

1. Expected transactions 
 
2. Portfolio of financial assets and  
liabilities 

- - - - - - - -  
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Section 8 
 
Tax liabilities – Item 80 
 
See section 13 under assets 
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Section 10 
 
Other liabilities – Item 100 
 
10.1 Other liabilities: breakdown 

(in thousands of EUR) 

 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

Amounts due to the Inland Revenue and other tax authorities 4,477 9,266 

Amounts available to customers 6,064 5,161 

Other amounts due to personnel 7,188 5,645 

Transit items between Branches 301 111 

Items under processing 33,446 31,918 

Amounts due for payments of goods and services 3,497 4,166 

Payments to the capital account “Palazzo Pianciani” 4,630 4,167 

Accrued liabilities not pertaining to a specific item  131 

Deferred income not pertaining to a specific item 1,083 1,149 

Other 8,794 1,683 

Total 69,480 63,397 
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Section 11 
 
Post-employment benefits– Item 110 
 
11.1 Post-employment benefits: annual changes 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 
 Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

A. Opening balance 11,955  12,823 

B. Increases 284  608 

B.1 Provisions for the year 284  608 

B.2 Other changes  - 

C. Decreases 1,322  1,476 

C.1 Amounts paid out 1,289  1,409 

C.2 Other changes 33  67 

D. Closing balance 10,917  11,955 
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Section 12 
 
Provisions for risks and charges – Item 120 
 
12.1 Provisions for risks and charges: breakdown 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts Total 
31.12.2009 

Total 
31.12.2008 

1. Company pension funds - -

2. Other provisions for risks and charges 6,258  5,559

2.1 legal disputes 4,207  4,662

2.2 personnel expenses 622  582

2.3 other 1,429  315

Total 6,258  5,559

 
Legal disputes 
This item encompasses provisions for probable liabilities related to ordinary law suits of varying nature with 
customers or employees (61.3% of the item) and for revocatory action (38.7%). 
 
With regard to said liabilities, the Bank makes an estimate of the indemnity on the basis of factors related to the 
individual position, also taking into account the outcome of similar transactions made in the past (for example on 
for revocatory action); in any event, the amount that may be needed to extinguish said liabilities and the time 
needed to close the case are uncertain, and are related to the type of liability. 
 
Indemnities for financial advisors 
This item includes provisions for liabilities regarding additional customer expenses and expenses to terminate 
contracts, to be paid to existing financial advisors in the event of the termination of the same according to law. 
With reference to said liabilities, the Bank estimates the indemnity on the basis of the provisions of the civil code 
and Assoreti circulars regarding the topic. In any event, the actual amount of the indemnity and the timeframe are 
uncertain, and are related to the uncertainty that the conditions leading to the termination of said financial 
advisors will arise.  
 
Other 
This item includes provisions for probably liabilities of residual importance; the considerations made above are 
also valid in this case.  
 
In particular, after the end of the period, certain loans quickly suffered impairment which led to the Bank 
classifying them at a higher risk or increasing the value adjustments. Estimates of expected losses were prudently 
posted in the Provision for Risks and Charges and they amount to a total of EUR 1,145.6 thousand. 
 
The above-mentioned liabilities are discounted each year on the basis of an estimated time horizon; an estimate 
of the theoretical payment timing is made on the basis of historic average data. 
 
Potential liabilities 
As at the date of these financial statements, there are no large potential liabilities for which we feel information 
should be provided. 



 

 153

12.2 Provisions for risks and charges: annual changes 
(in thousands of EUR) 

Total 
31.12.2009 

Total 
31.12.2008 

 
Items/Components 

Pension 
funds 

Other 
funds 

Pension 
funds 

Other 
funds 

A. Opening balance - 5,559  - 6,217 

B. Increases - 2,135  - 1,930 

B.1 Provisions for the year - 2,135  - 1,930 

B.2 Changes due to the elapsing of time -  - - 

B.3 Changes due to discount rate adjustments -  - - 

B.4 Other changes -  - - 

C. Decreases - 1,436  - 2,588 

C.1 Use during the year - 1,436  - 2,588 

C.2 Changes due to discount rate adjustments -  - - 

C.3 Other changes -  - - 

D. Closing balance - 6,258  - 5,559 
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12.3 Defined benefit company pension funds 
 
 
12.3.2 Changes during the year in funds and in post-employment benefits (TFR) 
 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

Defined benefit company 
pension funds 

Defined benefit company 
pension funds Items/Amounts 

Internal 
plans 

Internal 
plans 

TFR 
Internal 
plans 

Internal 
plans 

TFR 

Opening balance - - 11,955   12,823 

Increases - - 284   608 

Business combinations       

Social security cost of current service - -    - 

Financial charges - - 284   608 

Payments to the plan by participants - -    - 

Actuarial losses - -    - 

Exchange rate losses  - -    - 

Social security cost of past service - -    - 

Other changes - -    - 

Decreases - - 1,322   1,476 

Indemnities paid - - 1,289   1,409 

Actuarial gains - -    - 

Exchange rate gains - -    - 

Impact of reductions of the fund - -    - 

Impact of extinctions of the fund - -    - 

Other changes - - 33   67 

Closing balance - - 10,917   11,955 
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12.3.4 Reconciliation of present value of TFR funds, present value of plan assets and assets and liabilities 
recognised in the Statement of financial position 
 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 
Total 

31.12.2009 

Defined benefit company pension funds Items/Amounts 

Internal 
plans 

Internal plans 
TFR 

Present value of obligations of defined 
benefits (+) 

  11,953 

Fair value of plan assets (-)    

Fund status   11,953 
Cumulative actuarial gains/losses not 
recognised (+/-) 

  (1,036) 

Social security cost of past service not 
recognised (-) 

   

Effect resulting from the limit to the 
recognition of assets 

   

Fair value of assets recoverable from 
third parties (-) 

   

Assets recognised in the Statement 
of financial position 

   

Liabilities recognised in the 
Statement of financial position 

  10,917 

 
(in thousands of EUR) 

Total 
31.12.2008 

Defined benefit company pension funds Items/Amounts 

Internal 
plans 

Internal plans 
TFR 

Present value of obligations of defined 
benefits (+) 

  12,518 

Fair value of plan assets (-)    

Fund status   12,518 
Cumulative actuarial gains/losses not 
recognised (+/-) 

  (563) 

Social security cost of past service not 
recognised (-) 

   

Effect resulting from the limit to the 
recognition of assets 

   

Fair value of assets recoverable from 
third parties (-) 

   

Assets recognised in the Statement 
of financial position 

   

Liabilities recognised in the 
Statement of financial position 

  11,955 
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12.3.5 Description of main actuarial assumptions used 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

Defined benefit company 
pension funds 

Defined benefit company 
pension funds 

Main actuarial 
assumptions/Percentages 

Internal 
plans 

Internal 
plans 

TFR 
Internal 
plans 

Internal 
plans 

TFR 

Discount rate    1.06%   2.27% 

Rate of return expected from plan 
assets 

     - 

Rates expected for pay increases   1.8-2.8%   1.8-2.8% 
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Section 14 
 
Company capital – Items 130, 150, 160, 170, 180, 190 and 200 
 
14.1 “Share capital” and “Treasury shares”: breakdown 
 
14.1.a Share capital: breakdown 

(in thousands of EUR) 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008 

Nominal value of not 
fully paid-up shares 

Nominal value of not 
fully paid-up shares Items/Amounts Unit 

nominal 
value 

Nominal 
value of fully 

paid-up 
shares Paid-up 

Not paid-
up 

Unit 
nominal 
value 

Nominal 
value of 

fully paid-
up shares Paid-up 

Not paid-
up 

Ordinary shares 2.84 84,488 - - 2.84 62,137 - - 

Preference 
shares 

- - - -   - - 

Savings shares - - - -   - - 

Total share 
capital 

 84,488    62,137   

 
 
14.1.b Treasury shares: break down 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 

 Nominal value Book value Nominal value Book value 

Ordinary shares 1,352 (278) 1,035 (222) 

Preference shares     

Savings shares     

Total share capital 1,352 (278) 1,035 (222) 
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14.2 Capital – Number of company shares: annual changes 
(number of shares) 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008 
Items/Type 

Ordinary Other Ordinary Other 

A. Number of shares at beginning of year 21,879,190 - 21,879,190 - 

- fully paid-up 21,879,190 - 21,879,190 - 

- not fully paid-up - -  - 

A.1 Treasury shares (-) 36,442 -  - 

A.2 Shares in circulation: opening balance 21,842,748 - 21,879,190 - 

B. Increases 7,870,057 - 15 - 

B.1 New issues 7,870,057 -  - 

- against payment: 7,870,057 -  - 

- business combinations - -  - 

- bond conversions - -  - 

- warrant exercises - -  - 

- other 7,870,057 -  - 

- on a free basis: - -  - 

- in favour of employees - -  - 

- in favour of directors - -  - 

- other - -  - 

B.2 Sale of treasury shares  - 15 - 

B.3 Other changes  - - - 

C. Decreases 11,180 - 36,457 - 

C.1 Derecognition  - - - 

C.2 Purchase of treasury shares 11,180 - 36,457 - 

C.3 Sale of companies  - - - 

C.4 Other changes  - - - 

D. Shares in circulation: closing balance 29,701,625 - 21,842,748 - 

D.1 Treasury shares (+) 47,622 - 36,442 - 

D.2 Number of shares at end of year     

- fully paid-up 29,749,247 - 21,879,190 - 

- not fully paid-up - -  - 

 
Part F of the Notes to the financial statements should be referred to for information on the increase of the number of shares 
resulting from the share capital increase completed in 2009. 
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Section 17 
 
Other information 
 
1. Guarantees issued and commitments 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Transaction 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

1) Financial guarantees issued 24,700  23,925 

a) Banks 3,268  - 

b) Customers 21,432  23,925 

2) Commercial guarantees issued 18,370  18,164 

a) Banks  - 

b) Customers 18,370  18,164 

3) Irrevocable commitments to disburse funds 67,594  155,961 

a) Banks 635  6,812 

i) certain to be used 635  3,544 

ii) not certain to be used  3,268 

b) Customers 66,959  149,149 

i) certain to be used 18  50,012 

ii) not certain to be used 66,941  99,137 

4) Commitments underlying credit derivatives: protection sold  - 

5) Assets pledged to guarantee third party obligations  - 

6) Other commitments  2,000 

Total 110,664  200,050 

 
 
 
2. Assets pledged as a guarantee of own liabilities and commitments 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Portfolio 
Amount 

31.12.2009 
Amount 

31.12.2008 

1. Financial assets held for trading 42,310  127,807 

2. Financial assets measured at fair value  - 

3. Available-for-sale financial assets 87,624  143,405 

4.  Held to maturity investments  - 

5. Due from banks 55,425  63,334 

6. Due from customers 18,655  25,706 

7. Property, equipment and investment property   - 
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5. Management and brokerage on behalf of third parties 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Type of service 
Amount 

31.12.2009 
Amount 

31.12.2008 

1. Trading of financial instruments on behalf of third parties 154,017  47,130 

a) Purchases 80,071  29,370 

1. Settled 79,913  27,667 

2. Not settled 158  1,703 

b) Sales 73,946  17,760 

1. Settled 73,788  15,738 

2. Not settled 158  2,022 

2. Assets under management 146,193  139,026 

a) individual 146,193  139,026 

b) collective  - 

3. Custody and administration of securities 3,663,985  3,325,858 

a) third party securities held on deposit related to depositary bank services 
(excluding portfolios under management) 

 - 

1. Securities issued by the bank that prepares the financial statements  - 

2. Other securities  - 

b) other third party securities held on deposit (excluding assets under 
management) 

1,579,707  1,407,774 

1. Securities issued by the bank that prepares the financial statements 751,146  506,800 

2. Other securities 828,561  900,974 

c) third party securities deposited with third parties 1,569,504  1,397,284 

d) own securities deposited with third parties 514,774  520,800 

4. Other transactions  - 
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Part C 
 
Information on the Income Statement 
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Section 1 
 
Interest – Items 10 and 20 
 
1.1 Interest income and similar income: breakdown 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Technical form 
Debt 

securities 
Loans 

Other 
assets 

Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

1. Financial assets held for trading 3,857   3,857  13,642 

2. Financial assets measured at fair value       

3. Available-for-sale financial assets  6,169   6,169  5,742 

4.  Held to maturity investments       

5. Due from banks  3,915 425  4,340  5,944 

6. Due from customers 1,925 107,891  109,816  138,539 

7. Hedging derivatives      

8. Other assets     5 

Total 15,866 108,316  124,182  163,872 

 
1.1a Interest income on financial assets in currency 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

Interest income on impaired assets 4,021 4,497 

 
 
1.3 Interest income and similar income: other information 
 
1.3.1 Interest income on financial assets in currency 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts 
Total 

31.12.2009 
Total 

31.12.2008 

Interest income on assets in currency 425 889 
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1.4 Interest expense and similar expense: breakdown 
 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Technical form Payables Securities 
Other 

transactions 
Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

1. Due to central banks (13)   (13)  

2. Due to banks (222)   (222)  (3,928) 

3. Due to customers (14,278)   (14,278)  (36,703) 

4. Securities outstanding  (29,441)  (29,441)  (39,825) 

5. Financial liabilities held for trading      

6. Financial liabilities measured at fair value      

7. Other liabilities and funds      

8. Hedging derivatives   (2,710) (2,710)  (2,500) 

Total (14,513) (29,441) (2,710) (46,664)  (82,956) 

 
 
1.5 Interest expense and similar expense: spreads related to hedging transactions 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts 
Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

A. Positive spread related to hedges 13,039 15,435 

B. Negative spreads related to hedges (15,749) (17,935) 

C. Balance (A+B) (2,710) (2,500) 

 
 
 
 
1.6 Interest expense and similar expense: other information 
 
1.6.1 Interest expense on liabilities in currency 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts 
Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

Interest expense on financial liabilities in currency (90) (327) 
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Section 2 
 
Commission – Items 40 and 50 
 
2.1 Commission income: breakdown 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Type of service/Amounts 
Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

a) guarantees issued 538 560 

b) derivatives on receivables  - 

c) management, brokerage and consulting services: 9,683 9,814 

1. trading of financial instruments 343 279 

2. currency trading 341 386 

3. assets under management 1,014 1,257 

3.1 individual 1,014 1,257 

3.2 collective  - 

4. custody and administration of securities 429 436 

5. depositary bank  - 

6. placement of securities 1,846 2,716 

7. order management 909 618 

8. consulting activities  - 

8.1 on investments   

8.2 on financial structure   

9. distribution of third party services: 4,801 4,122 

9.1 assets under management  - 

9.1.1 individual  - 

9.1.2 collective  - 

9.2 insurance products 2,129 1,746 

9.3 other products 2,672 2,376 

d) payment and collection services 6,012 5,913 

e) servicing for securitisation transactions 237 293 

f) factoring transaction services  - 

g) tax collection services  - 

h) management of multilateral trading systems   

i) current account management 13,955 12,871 

j) other services 2,233 2,180 

Total 32,658 31,631 
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2.2 Commission income: distribution channels for products and services 
(in thousands of EUR) 

Channels/Amounts 
Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

a) at own branches: 7,367 7,855 

1. assets under management 1,013 1,257 

2. placement of securities 1,575 2,495 

3. third party services and products 4,779 4,103 

b) external supply: 131 111 

1. assets under management   

2. placement of securities 109 91 

3. third party services and products 22 20 

c) other distribution channels: 162 131 

1. assets under management   

2. placement of securities 162 131 

3. third party services and products   

 
 
2.3 Commission expense: breakdown 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Services/Amounts 
Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

a) guarantees received (17)  

b) credit derivatives   

c) management and brokerage services: (79) (110) 

1. trading of financial instruments (79) (110) 

2. currency trading   

3. assets under management:   

3.1 own portfolio   

3.2 third party portfolios   

4. custody and administration of securities   

5. placement of financial instruments   

6. external supply of financial instruments, products and 
services 

  

d) collection and payment services (866) (1,244) 

e) other services (1,058) (938) 

Total (2,020) (2,292) 
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Section 3  
 
Dividends and similar income – Item 70 
 
3.1 Dividends and similar income: breakdown 

 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

Items/Income 

Dividends 
Income 

from UCI 
shares 

Dividends 
Income 

from UCI 
shares 

A. Financial assets held for trading 33  74  

B. Available-for-sale financial assets 139  11  

C. Financial assets measured at fair value     

D. Equity investments     

Total 172  85  
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Section 4 
 
Net result from trading activities – Item 80 
 
4.1 Net result from trading activities: breakdown 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Net result 
Transactions/Income components Gains 

Profit from 
trading 

Losses 
Losses from 

trading 
2009 2008 

1. Financial assets held for trading 776 2,358 (496) (98)  2,540  (4,292) 

1.1 Debt securities 763 2,323 (494) (81) 2,511 (3,453) 

1.2 Equity instruments  22 (2) (17) 3 (672) 

1.3 UCI shares 13 13   26 (167) 

1.4 Loans       

1.5 Other       

2. Financial liabilities held for trading       

2.1 Debt securities       

2.2 Payables       

2.2 Other       

3. Other financial assets and liabilities: 
exchange rate gains (losses) 

    4 42 

4. Derivative instruments 355 7,616 (386) (4,917) 2,668 1,791 

4.1 Financial derivatives: 355 7,616 (386) (4,917) 2,668 1,791 

- on debt securities and interest 
rates 

355 7,616 (386) (4,917) 2,668 1,791 

- on equity instruments and share 
indices 

     - 

- on currency and gold      - 

- other      - 

4.2 Credit derivatives      - 

Total 1,131 9,974 (882) (5,015)  5,212  (2,459) 
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Section 5 
 
Net result from hedging activities – Item 90 
 
5.1 Net result from hedging activities: breakdown 

 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Income components/Amounts 
Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

A. Income from:   

A.1. Fair value hedging derivatives 833 - 

A.2 Hedged financial assets (fair value)  16,489 

A.3 Hedged financial liabilities (fair value)  - 

A.4 Cash flow financial hedging derivatives  - 

A.5 Assets and liabilities in currency  - 

Total income from hedging activities (A) 833 16,489 

B. Charges related to:   

B.1. Fair value hedging derivatives  (8,748) 

B.2 Hedged financial assets (fair value) (1,719) - 

B.3 Hedged financial liabilities (fair value) (219) (6,970) 

B.4 Cash flow financial hedging derivatives  - 

B.5 Assets and liabilities in currency  - 

Total charges from hedging activities (B) (1,938) (15,718) 

C. Net result from hedging activities (A+B) (1,105) 771 
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Section 6 
 
Profit (Loss) from sale/repurchase – Item 100 
 
6.1 Profit/Loss from sale/repurchase: breakdown 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

Items/Income components 

Profit Loss Net result Profit Loss Net result 

1. Financial assets       

1. Due from banks 1  1    

2. Due from customers     (77) (77) 

3. Available-for-sale financial assets 3,890 (74) 3,816 130 (158) (28) 

3.1 Debt securities 3,890 (39) 3,851 130 (158) (28) 

3.2 Equity instruments  (35) (35)    

3.3 UCI shares       

3.4 Loans       

4.  Held to maturity investments       

Total assets 3,891 (74) 3,817 130 (235) (105) 

1. Financial liabilities       

1. Due to banks       

2. Due to customers       

3. Outstanding securities 253 (104) 149 231 (161) 70 

Total liabilities 253 (104) 149 231 (161) 70 
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Section 8 
 
Net impairment losses– Item 130 
 
8.1 Net impairment losses on receivables: breakdown 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Value adjustments Write-backs 

Specific Specific Portfolio 

Transactions/ 
Income 

components 

D
er

ec
og

ni
tio

ns
 

O
th

er
 Portfolio 

A B A B 

Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

A. Due from 
banks 

         

- loans          

- debt securities          

B. Due from 
customers 

(205)  (33,590)    2,631  4,666   87 (26,411)  (15,073) 

- loans (205)  (33,590)    2,631  4,666   87 (26,411)  (15,073) 

- debt securities          

C. Total (205)  (33,590)    2,631  4,666   87 (26,411)  (15,073) 

Key 
A = from interest 
B = other write-backs 
For further information see Part E – Credit Quality of these Notes to the financial statements. 
 
8.2 Net impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets: breakdown 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Value adjustments Write-backs 

Specific Specific 

Transactions/ Income components 

D
er

ec
og

ni
tio

ns
 

O
th

er
 

A B 

Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

A. Debt securities      (2,889) 

B. Equity instruments  (422)   (422)  

C. UCI shares       

D. Loans to banks       

E. Loans to customers       

F. Total  (422)   (422) (2,889) 

Key 
A = from interest 
B = other write-backs 
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The EUR 442 thousand for value adjustments on capital securities mainly refers to the impairment of quoted securities, 
recorded on 30 June 2009, which resulted in accounting for a EUR 309 thousand value adjustment in the income statement. 
This adjustment was due to the considerable and long-term decrease of the price of these shares. Writedowns were also 
posted under this item for shares of lesser importance. 
 
 
8.4 Net value impairment losses on other financial assets: breakdown 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Value adjustments Write-backs 

Specific Specific Portfolio 

Transactions/ Income 
components 

D
er

ec
og

ni
tio

ns
 

O
th

er
 Portfolio 

A B A B 

Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

A. Guarantees given  (5) (14)  51   32  

B. Credit derivatives          

C. Funding commitments          

D. Other transactions          

E. Total  (5) (41)  51   32  

Key 
A = from interest 
B = other write-backs
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Section 9 
 
Administrative expenses – Item 150 
 
9.1 Personnel expenses: breakdown 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Type of expense/Amounts 
Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

1. Employees (42,992)  (40,472) 

a) wages and salaries (29,716)  (27,932) 

b) social security contributions (7,993)  (6,532) 

c) post-employment benefits  - 

d) pension costs  - 

e) provisions to post-employment benefits (284)  (608) 

f) provisions to pension fund and similar  - 

- to defined contribution plans  - 

- to defined benefit plans  - 

g) payments to additional external pension funds (3,642)  (3,717) 

- to defined contribution plans (3,642)  (3,717) 

- to defined benefit plans  - 
h) costs resulting from payment agreements based on own 
equity instruments 

 - 

i) other benefits in favour of employees (1,357)  (1,683) 

2. Other staff (68)  (187) 

3. Directors and statutory auditors (1,584)  (1,579) 

4. Staff placed on leave  - 

5. Recovery of expenses for staff on secondment at others 1,126  2 

6. Reimbursement of expenses for staff on secondment at company (703) (676) 

Total (44,221)  (43,003) 

 
The increase in social security contributions with respect to the previous year is mostly due to the effects produced in 2008 
with Legislative Decree no. 61 of 8 April 2008. This provision prescribed a 40% return of suspended contributions regarding 
the 1997 earthquake. Lower social security contributions of about EUR 1.1 million were posted in the income statement. 
 
9.2 Average number of employees per category 
 

(number of employees) 

Employee category/Average number 2009 2008 

Employees: 701 683 

a) Senior managers 8 9 

b) Line managers 216 213 

c) Remaining employees 477 461 

Other staff 2 3 

Total 703 686 
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9.3 Defined benefit company pension funds: total costs 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 
Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

Defined benefit company 
pension funds 

Defined benefit company 
pension funds Items/Amounts 

Internal 
plans 

External 
plans 

TFR 
Internal 
plans 

External 
plans 

TFR 

Social security cost of current service 
(+) 

      

Financial charges (+)   (284)   (608) 

Expected return on plan assets (-)       

Reimbursements from third parties (-)       

Actuarial gains and losses (+/-)       

Social security cost of past service (+/-)       

Impact of reductions of the fund (+/-)       

Impact of extinctions of the fund (+/-)       

Effect of recognition of assets (+)       

Total   (284)   (608) 

 
The table shows costs for the period relating to defined benefit provisions, both internal and external, and employee 
severance indemnities. 
 
Pursuant to Legislative Decree no. 252 of 5 December 2005, starting from 1 January 2007 all amounts accrued for employee 
severance indemnities and paid into supplemental pension plans and the Treasury Fund managed by INPS are considered 
defined benefit plans. Pursuant to IAS 19, starting from 2008 the cost of defined benefit plans is represented only by 
borrowing costs (interest cost) and actuarial profit and loss (over the threshold provided by the corridor method, where 
necessary), while costs for current service are no longer posted since the provisions were already consolidated by 31 
December 2006. 
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9.5 Other administrative expenses: breakdown 
 

Type of expense/Amounts 
Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

Indirect taxes and duties (6,390) (5,854) 
Property Rental (3,404) (2,976) 
Fees to external professionals (876) (1,003) 
Maintenance of movables and property (functional) (1,981) (1,680) 
Postal expenses (2,389) (2,149) 
Telephone (1,403) (1,386) 
Advertising (1,480) (1,355) 
Various fees and rental charges (3) (60) 
Investigation and information (729) (1,001) 
Transport (1,233) (1,112) 
Electricity, heating and water  (846) (614) 
Security services (272) (218) 
Local cleaning contractors (556) (519) 
Printed matter and stationery (494) (558) 
Insurance (776) (837) 
Processing by third parties (5,964) (5,490) 
Membership fees (317) (268) 
Entertainment costs (713) (724) 
Various condominium charges and indemnities related to 
functional property 

(61) (46) 

Subscriptions and purchase of publications (83) (95) 
Legal fees (781) (907) 
Other (2,201) (2,423) 
Total (32,952) (31,275) 

 
For further information, several cost components from the item ‘Personnel Expenses’ were reclassified to the item ‘Other 
Administrative Expenses’. Consequently, the comparative figures were changed to bring them in line with the new 
classification. 
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Section 10 
 
Net allocations to provisions for risks and charges – Item 190 
 
10.1 Net allocations to provisions for risks and charges: breakdown 

(in thousands of EUR) 
Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

Items/Amounts Legal disputes 
and revocatory 

action 
Other Total 

Legal disputes 
and revocatory 

action 
Other Total 

Allocations to provisions for the year (1,147)  (988) (2,135) (1,357) (573)  (1,930) 

Write-backs 583 61 644 172  172 

Total (564)  (927) (1,491) (1,185) (573)  (1,758) 

 
For further details see Section 12 of Part B – Liabilities in these Notes to the financial statements. 
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Section 11 
 
Depreciation and net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property – Item 170 
 
11.1 Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property: breakdown 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Asset/Income component 

Depreciation 

(A) 

Value 
adjustments 

for 
impairment 

(B) 

Write-backs 

(C) 

Net result 

(A + B + C) 

2009 

Net result 

(A + B + C) 

2008 

Property, equipment and investment property       

A.1 Owned (2,016)   (2,016)  (1,848) 

- for functional use (2,014)   (2,014)  (1,846) 

- for investment (2)   (2) (2) 

A.2 Purchased on a finance lease      

- for functional use      

- for investment      

Total (2,016)   (2,016)  (1,848) 

 



 
 

178

Section 12 
 
Amortisation and net impairment losses on intangible assets – Item 180 
 
12.1 Net impairment losses on intangible assets: breakdown 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Asset/Income component 

Depreciation 

(A) 

Value 
adjustments 

for 
impairment 

(B) 

Write-backs 

(C) 

Net result 

(A + B + C) 

2009 

Net result 

(A + B + C) 

2008 

Intangible assets      

A.1 Owned (51)   (51) (53) 

- Generated internally     - 

- Other (51)   (51) (53) 

A.2 Purchased on a finance lease      

Total (51)   (51) (53) 
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Section 13 
 
Other operating income and costs – Item 190 
 
13.1 Other operating costs: breakdown 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts 
Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

Contingent liabilities not recorded as a separate item (336) (464) 

Settlements for lawsuits (17) (63) 

Charges for robberies (48) (357) 

Amortisation: expenses for improvements to third party assets 
classified under “Other assets” 

(214) (185) 

Other (324) (35) 

Total (939) (1,104) 

 
 
 
13.2 Other operating income: breakdown 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts 
Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

Contingent assets not recorded as a separate item 103 353 

Insurance settlements 23 236 

Rent income from functional property 12 31 

Indirect and income tax return 5,606 5,254 

Recovery of expenses 2,975 2,564 

Other 35 226 

Total 8,754 8,664 
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Section 17 
 
Profit (Loss) from disposal of investments – Item 240 
 
17.1 Profit (Loss) from disposal of investments: breakdown 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Income components/Sectors 
Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

A. Property 5  

- Profit from disposal 5  

- Loss from disposal   

B. Other assets 24  

- Profit from disposal 24  

- Loss from disposal   

Total 29  
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Section 18 
 
Income tax for the year on continuing operations– Item 260 
 
18.1 Income tax for the year on continuing operations: breakdown 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Income component/Sectors 
Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

1. Current taxes (-) (14,754) (11,818) 

2. Changes in current taxes of previous years (+/-) 610  

3. Reduction in current taxes for the year (+) 42  

4. Changes in prepaid taxes (+/-) 6 ,345 2,287 

5. Changes in deferred taxes (+/-) 37 74 

6. Taxes for the year (-) (-1+/-2+3+/-4+/-5) (7,720) (9,457) 

 
 
18.2 Reconciliation between theoretical tax and tax recorded on the financial statements 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts 
Total 
2009 

Total 
2008 

(A) Profit (Loss) from continuing operations before tax 15,712 20,078 

(B) Profit (Loss) from groups of assets held for sale before tax   

(A+B) Profit (Loss) before tax 15,712 20,078 

Current IRES tax rate (%) 27.5% 27.5% 

Theoretical tax burden (4,321) (5,521) 

Permanent differences (682) (419) 

Tax losses deducted not recognised in previous years   
Value write-downs/write-backs of assets for prepaid taxes and 
of assets for prepaid taxes previously not recognised 

  

Effects resulting from a change in the tax rate as regards 
deferred taxes 

  

Change in current taxes of previous years 610  

Net tax effect of write-backs of assets   

Use of tax credit   

Taxes related to distributable reserves   

Substitute tax ART. 1 C.48 L. 247/07 (net effect) IRES   

Substitute tax ART. 1 C.48 L. 247/07 (net effect) IRAP   

Realignment pursuant to D.I. 185/08 art. 15 (net effect) IRES   

Realignment pursuant to D.I. 185/08 art. 15 (net effect) IRAP   

IRAP (3,327) (3,517) 

Other   

Income tax for the year (7,720) (9,457) 

of which:   

Income tax for the year on continuing operations (7,720) (9,457) 

Income tax for the year on groups of assets held for sale   
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Section 21 
 
Earnings per share 
 
 
21.1 Reconciliation of weighted average of ordinary shares in circulation 

(in shares) 

Items/Amounts 2009 2008 

Weighted average of ordinary shares in circulation (+) 25,826,402 21,864,874 

Diluting effect resulting from put options sold (+)   

Diluting effect of ordinary shares to be assigned as the result of 
payments based on treasury shares (+)  

  

Diluting effect resulting from convertible liabilities (+)   

Weighted average of ordinary shares in circulation per 
earnings per diluted share 

25,826,402 21,864,874 

 
 
 
21.2.a Reconciliation of net result for the year – numerator of earnings per basic share  
 

 
(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts 2009 2008 

 
Related to 
continuing 
operations 

Related to 
discontinued 
operations 

Total 
Related to 
continuing 
operations 

Related to 
discontinued 
operations 

Total 

Net result 7,993  7,993 10,621  10,621 

Income attributable to other 
categories of shares 

   -  - 

Net result attributable to 
ordinary shares – numerator 
of earnings per basic share 

7,993  7,993 10,621  10,621 

 
 
 
 
21.2.b Reconciliation of net result for the year – numerator of earnings per diluted share 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Items/Amounts 2009 2008 

 
Related to 
continuing 
operations 

Related to 
discontinued 
operations 

Total 
Related to 
continuing 
operations 

Related to 
discontinued 
operations 

Total 

Net result 7,993  7,993 10,621 - 10,621 

Income attributable to other 
categories of shares 

   - - - 

Interest expense on convertible 
instruments (+) 

   - - - 

Other (+/-)    - - - 

Net result attributable to 
ordinary shares – numerator 
of earnings per basic share 

7,993  7,993 10,621 - 10,621 
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24.2.c Earnings per basic and diluted share 
(in EUR) 

Items/Amounts 2009 2008 

 
Related to 
continuing 
operations 

Related to 
discontinued 
operations 

Total 
Related to 
continuing 
operations 

Related to 
discontinued 
operations 

Total 

Earnings per basic share 0.31  0.31 0.49  0.49 

Earnings per diluted share 0.31  0.31 0.49  0.49 

 



 
 

184



 

 185

Part D 
 
Comprehensive income 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

 31.12.2009 
 (in thousands of EUR) 

 Items  Gross 
amount 

Income 
tax 

Net  
amount 

10  Profit for the year   7,993 
 Other comprehensive income after tax    
20 Available-for-sale financial assets 5,096  (1,742) 3,354 
 a) fair value changes 2,817  (910) 1,907 
 b) reversal to income statement 2,054  (664)  1,390 
 - adjustments for impairment 102  (33) 69 
 - profit/loss on sale 1,952  (631) 1,321 
 c) other changes 225  (168) 57 
30 Property, equipment and investment property     
40 Intangible assets    
50 Hedging of investments in foreign operations    
 a) fair value changes    
 b) reversal to income statement    
 c) other changes    
60 Cash flow hedging    
 a) fair value changes    
 b) reversal to income statement    
 c) other changes    
70 Exchange rate gains (losses)    
 a) fair value changes    
 b) reversal to income statement    
 c) other changes    
80 Assets held for sale    
 a) fair value changes    
 b) reversal to income statement    
 c) other changes    
90 Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit plans    
100 Amount of valuation reserves of investments measured using the equity 

method 
   

 a) fair value changes    
 b) reversal to income statement    
 - adjustments for impairment    
 - profit/loss on sale    
 c) other changes    
110 Total other comprehensive income 5,096  (1,742) 3,354 
120 Comprehensive income (Item 10 + 110)   11,347 
 
The comprehensive income of the bank at 31 December 2009 amounts to about EUR 11.3 million (EUR 8.7 
million at 31 12 2008), which is an increase of about 30.3%. 
 
The item available-for-sale financial assets made a considerable contribution to the comprehensive income of the 
bank. At 31 December 2009 this item amounted to about EUR 3.3 million, after the theoretical tax effect (against a 
loss of EUR 1.9 million in 2008). 
 
The considerable increase in profit from this item (mainly made up of debt securities, about 50% of which are from 
government issuers or similar) is a result of the good performance of financial markets, which in 2009 were 
characterised by lower credit spreads and interest rates (resulting in a positive effect on the fair value of fixed-rate 
debt securities). 
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Part E 
 
Information on risks and relative hedging policies 
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SECTION 1 – CREDIT RISK 
 
QUALITATIVE INFORMATION 
 
 
1. General aspects 
 
The Bank’s primary objective is to supervise the credit process, from the granting of a loan to its recovery, aimed 
at maximising the quality of credit assets and therefore containing the cost of credit.  
 

In this regard, the Bank works on the basis of the following guidelines: 

- to develop a centre of excellence for the assessment and assumption of credit risk in order to improve the 
quality of the portfolio; 

- to intensify monitoring of credit activities and the phenomena of individual positions; 

- to focus on irregular positions in order to rapidly resolve them, and to effectively and efficiently recover the 
Bank’s non-performing loans; 

- to plan the activities needed to reengineer credit processes to render them compliant with the Basel II 
regulation.  

The main target of our Bank, an Umbrian bank operating on an inter-regional basis, is represented by private 
customers and by small and medium sized companies located in provinces covered by the Bank’s network of 
branches (historically the provinces of Perugia, Terni, Rome, Macerata, Rieti, Siena, Viterbo, to which in the last 
two years the provinces of Ancona, Ascoli Piceno, Arezzo, L’Aquila, Milan and Teramo have been added). 

Due to the crisis in the real economy, 2009 was characterised by a steady rise in loans, mainly for the purpose of 
sustaining production investments. 

Moreover, in order to meet the financial requirements of the various categories of Customers, relations with trade 
associations and Confidi (Loan Consortiums) were extended also by pursuing new legal opportunities such as 
the ABI/Government agreement and recent amendments to the Bankruptcy Law.  

The products offered by BPS encompass a range of different type of loans – ordinary, facilitated, special – also 
provided through specialised companies belonging to the MPS group, foreign currency transactions, leasing, 
factoring, special credit and credit for agriculture. 

To date, the Bank does not perform any transactions in credit derivatives. 

 

 

2. Credit risk management policies 

 

2.1 Organisational aspects 

The Bank’s credit process is structured in order to identify the criteria to manage risk profiles, the action to take 
to ensure the correct application of the same, the units responsible for performing said activities and the 
procedures to support the same.  

The assignment of these activities to different organisational units is made to ensure the smooth functioning of 
the process, namely its suitability to achieve set objectives (effectiveness)  and its ability to achieve them at a 
reasonable cost (efficiency). 

The credit process can be broken down into the following stages: 

- credit policy; 

- assessment of the creditworthiness of potential borrowers; 

- granting of the loan; 
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- monitoring the performance of the loan; 
 
- management of problem loans; 
 
- measurement and control of credit risks. 
 

Credit policy 

 
The objective of the credit policy is implement short and medium/long term strategies, in order to establish the 
amount of financial resources required for the credit area. In particular, said amount is established on the basis 
of the results of analyses conducted regarding: 

- the financial requirements of customers; 

- the growth rate of loans; 

- the competition and the positioning of the Bank compared to its competitors, in terms of products and prices; 

- the structure for the collection of financial resources; 

- various types of public constraints and/or Supervisory regulations; 

- existing levels of economic and financial risk and, therefore the capacity to cover current future risks; 

- internal structural and organisational aspects. 

In particular, in accordance with the 2009 credit policy, despite the critical situation of the economy mentioned 
above, the Bank continued to pursue its main objective to provide sensible, prudent and selective credit support, 
as in the past. 

A great deal of care was taken to promote comprehensive solutions for restructuring and development in 
addition to avoiding involvement in purely speculative initiatives and guaranteeing joint participation in the 
initiatives of entrepreneurs with their own capital and/or their own sureties. 

Concerning the risk of loan portfolio concentration, the Bank conducts its operations according to guidelines that 
provide an adequate policy of risk fractioning. At 31 December 2009 there were only 3 loans for amounts 
exceeding EUR 10 million; 16 for amounts between EUR 5 and EUR 10 million; 282 for amounts between EUR 1 
and EUR 5 million; 127 for amounts between EUR 0.75 and EUR 1 million.  

More specifically, credit policy guidelines set a general limit of EUR 1 million per customer and EUR 3 million per 
company group, in addition to limiting risk in certain sectors such as the construction and automobile industries. 

It should also be noted that usually the larger transactions are backed by companies in the Monte dei Paschi di 
Siena Group and/or concluded in a pool with the same or with other brokers. 

Assessing the creditworthiness of potential borrowers 
 
Assessing creditworthiness aims to ascertain the ability of the potential borrower to repay the loan, as well as 
verifying the compatibility between individual loan requests and choices regarding the size and composition of 
loans. Assessments aim to quantify the level of economic risk, related to the probability of the borrower 
becoming insolvent and of financial risk resulting from the failure to repay loans within the agreed terms. 

Granting credit 
 
Loans are granted taking the level of risk of the transaction into due consideration.  

The level of risk is determined on the basis of the amount of the loan requested and on its technical form, 
namely what it will be used for (risk category). 

On the basis of the risk, as determined above, decision-making powers to grant the loan are assigned, in 
accordance with criteria provided by the delegation system. 
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Monitoring loan performance 
 
The objective pursued by credit control and management activities is continuously checking that the economic, 
financial and asset conditions of the borrower and his guarantors do not change. This stage entails: 

1. identifying any technical irregularities recorded for loans during a specific period of time prior to the reference 
date of the performance check; 

2. selecting and examining loans that show irregular performance in terms of both technical aspects of the loan 
and qualitative aspects of the borrower; 

3. classifying the loans examined as performing loans or problem loans. 

Loans assessed as problem loans are classified, on the basis of the level of risk shown, into risk categories 
established at company level and in accordance with general principles disciplined by Supervisory Instructions 
and rules on financial statements. In particular, loans are classified as performing, past due/overdue for more 
than 180 days (called C+), past due/overdue for more than 90 days and guaranteed by a mortgage, restructured 
loans, doubtful loans and non-performing loans. 
 
Monitoring is carried out by the Credit Department and by the Anomalous Risk Management and Control Office. 
 
Management of problem loans 
 
The aim of problem loan management (past due/overdue loans, doubtful loans, restructured loans, non-
performing loans) is to take the action and implement the measures needed to bring said loans back to normality 
or to recover the same in the event of situations in which the loan agreement has to be terminated. This takes 
place in synergy with the Network and General Management. In 2009 in particular, a taskforce was set up 
composed of 11 members, each holding suitable professional qualifications, which answers directly to the Credit 
Department in order to provide support to the network in dealing with and managing bad loans. 
 

Measurement and control of credit risks 

Credit risk management is carried out in accordance with provisions regarding bank financial statements and the 
relative Supervisory Instructions. In particular, losses related to loans are classed as: 

- specific losses or portfolio losses resulting from the measurement of problem loans; 

- portfolio losses resulting from the measurement of performing loans and those related to country risk, if 
present, also using the probability of default (PD) and loss given default (LGD) parameters. 

 

2.2 Management, measurement and control systems 

Credit risk management during the year, is the responsibility of the Credit Department, observing the principle of 
the net separation between the commercial responsibilities of the business areas and strictly credit-related 
functions.  

Within the credit process and the various stages of the same, adequate internal systems are used to identify, 
measure, manage and control credit risk. 

When setting out credit policy and short/long term development strategies, the following are identified and 
outlined:  

- current risks resulting from credit activities that have generated losses for the Bank;  

- potential risks resulting from credit activities that could generate losses for the Bank; 

- the sustainability of development strategies from an equity perspective with reference to the afore-
mentioned risks; 
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- the sustainability of development strategies with reference to the Bank’s organisational structure. 

Current risks related to problem loans are carefully measured, on an individual basis, by monitoring the Bank’s 
exposure as regards problem loans classified as past due/overdue for more than 90/180 days, restructured 
loans, doubtful loans and non-performing loans. Monitoring is made not only with regard to the evolution of the 
above-cited aggregates, but also by checking the correspondence between the innate level of risk of the above-
mentioned loans and the level of coverage of the same through the allocation of adequate bad debt provisions. 

Current risks related to performing loans are assessed on a portfolio basis and by monitoring the Bank’s 
exposure according to IAS logic, using the risk parameters PD (Probability of Default) and LGD (Loss Given 
Default). 

The sustainability of development strategies from an equity perspective is verified periodically, managing current 
risks, monitoring potential risks with reference to the Bank’s equity and checking its adequacy as regards 
transactions envisaged in the credit sector.  

The sustainability of strategies from an organisational perspective is assessed by periodically verifying the 
adequacy and the functioning (effectiveness and efficiency) of company processes within the set-up of the more 
general system of internal control. Said sustainability is also verified continually by means of appropriate budget 
analyses according to the risk/return ratio. 

With regard to assessing creditworthiness, potential borrowers are assessed on the basis of the information 
available to the assessor at the time of the application/renewal of the credit line. Information is acquired directly 
from the customer and indirectly from a database at bank level and/or external info-providers. To complete the 
above information, a rating of the potential borrower is calculated electronically by the internal system.  

Granting the various types of loan and the amounts is made in accordance with the delegated powers awarded 
by the Board of Directors. 

The Bank’s internal system of delegation has been structured with the aim of creating streamlined, high quality 
decision-making centres able to rapidly respond to the needs of customers. When structuring the various 
decision-making levels, the degree of risk of the type of credit transaction and the levels of responsibility held in 
ascending order by managers located in peripheral facilities and at General Management level were taken into 
due consideration. 

The Credit Committee, comprised of Top Management and the Head of the Credit Department, has decision-
making powers within its sphere of competence and plays an advisory role as regards loans that fall within the 
sphere of competence of the Board of Directors. 

In particular, in 2009 changes were made to the delegation system with regards to bad loans in order to improve 
efficiency and ensure more involvement of network managers (Area Supervisors and Coordinators). Limitations 
were provided for loans that are riskier and more complex (cash loans, construction loans, etc.). 

Checking the performance of loans entails: 

 

- continuously monitoring existing loans with reference to the outcome of past due loans and the behaviour of 
the borrower in managing his loans; 

- continuously classifying loans into risk categories (under control/past due/overdue by more than 180 days, 
restructured, doubtful, non-performing). 

 

The above-cited activities are carried out to establish the technical performance of all loans not classified as non-
performing, doubtful, restructured, past due and/or problem. The technical performance of individual loans is 
established by means of specific indicators, namely the SEAC indicator, Credit Rating System scores, reports of 
non-performing loans made by other banks (extended non-performing and adjusted loans), overdrafts, the 
presence of suspended cheques, and unsettled bills and/or bill paid late, delinquency regarding the payment of 
loan instalments, the results of inspections etc. Once the problem has been identified, other information is 
obtained regarding the economic, financial and equity situation of customers whose accounts or loans indicate a 
technical irregularity, to then analyse the loans selected. After the analysis, loans are classified as appropriate.  
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With the aim of facilitating the identification of the most significant “problems” and to help operators open, screen 
and monitor files on positions with technical irregularities, up until their final outcome, in 2006, a new procedure 
was implemented called “ICC – Iter Controllo Crediti” (Credit Control Procedure). 

“ICC” is an application that is used as an automated tool to support credit control activities, by developing a 
personalised work-flow, both in terms of the automatic generation of a file and as regards identifying the control 
procedure for the file in question.  

“ICC” also allows files to be opened manually, and to intervene on the position of an individual customer, without 
necessarily having to follow the rules for automatic generation established by the Bank.  

In other words, the “ICC” procedure enables the Bank to identify, on the basis of and with the support of 
assessment procedures (“CRS”, “SEAC”, …), which customers should be placed under monitoring and which 
control path (Iter) to assign to each type of decisional rule.  

In order to improve follow-ups on risk categories composed of "loans past due by over 180 days”, "loans past 
due by over 90 days and guaranteed by a mortgage” and “objective problem loans” the Bank follows procedures 
called “persistent defaults” and "objective problem loans” which make it possible to automatically identify 
irregular positions, unless they are manually categorised as actual problem loans. 

As part of monitoring performance, the elements necessary to assess performing loans on a portfolio basis are 
also determined. The average rate of migration to problem categories is calculated for each loan on the basis of 
historic-statistical data (PD – probability of default) as well as the percentage loss in the event of default (Loss 
Given Default) estimated on the basis of the losses and write-downs recorded historically. The total amount of 
the write-down is compared to the amortised cost of the loan multiplied by the relative PD and LGD. 

In addition, a report on credit risk monitoring and compliance with the prudential thresholds established by the 
Supervisory Instructions, and by other provisions regarding the solvency coefficient, large risks and 
concentration risk, is made on a monthly basis to the Risk Committee, in which the contribution to the overall risk 
profile of the Bank, and the consumption of regulatory capital and economic resources attributable to the same 
are assessed. 

The Bank uses a CRS (Credit Rating System) to manage credit risk monitoring and measurement. This system 
makes it possible to categorise its portfolio into risk classes according to the likelihood of insolvency of potential 
borrowers. Currently this procedure is used to for consultation when assessing loan applications, however, in the 
future it will be used in a structured manner to define operating authorisations and loan pricing. 

The chart below shows the distribution of loans by rating class at 31 December 2009 together with figures from 
December 2008.  
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% of each rating class on total loans 

 

 

2.3 Credit risk mitigation techniques 

Beyond the usual means of obtaining mortgage guarantees, secured guarantees, sureties issued by Loan 
Consortia or guarantors in general, no specific credit risk mitigation techniques are used, in particular no 
transactions in credit derivatives are made. 

 

2.4 Impaired financial assets 

The technical-organisational procedures used to manage and control impaired loans depend on the gravity of 
the impairment. 

As regards doubtful loans, restructured loans and loans past due/overdue by more than 90/180 days, in 
compliance with current regulatory provisions, performance is monitored in order to: 

- ascertain whether the status of economic-financial difficulty of the counterparty is reversible; 

- assess the repayment plans submitted by borrowers with reference to the relative capacity to repay within 
the time envisaged by said plans, also considering requests to reduce the terms applied to the loans in 
question; 

- examine the outcome of measures taken to recover/normalise the loans in question (repayment plans, 
review of the technical forms etc.) as well as the reasons for their failure; 

- establish the relative forecast losses on an analytical basis for doubtful and restructured for loans past 
due/overdue by more than 90/180 days and periodically check the adequacy of the status assigned to loans. 

With reference to non-performing loans, risks are controlled through the following measures: 

- for new loans, revoking the amounts loaned and requesting the borrowers to settle their positions; 

- assigning new loans to internal and/or external lawyers to start legal procedures vis-à-vis borrowers and 
relative guarantors; 

- checking, for loans for which a recovery plan has been set up, whether borrowers are fulfilling their 
commitments; 

- planning measures to recover loans through transactions, as necessary, such as assignment or 
securitisation; 

- estimating the expected losses of individual loans on an analytical basis; 

- periodically checking the adequacy of forecast losses and the recoverability of loans. 
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QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION 
 
A. CREDIT QUALITY 
 
A.1. Performing and non-performing loans exposures: amounts, value adjustments, changes, economic 
and geographical breakdown 
 
A.1.1. Breakdown of financial assets by portfolio classification and credit quality (book value) 
 
 

 (in thousands of EUR)   
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1. Financial assets held 
for trading 

483    133,203  133,686 

2. Available-for-sale 
financial assets 

1,335    204,782  206,117 

3.  Held to maturity 
investments 

      

4. Due from banks     156,504  156,504 

5. Due from customers 48,452  64,687 65 59,659 2,000,639  2,173,502 

6. Financial assets 
measured at fair value 

      

7. Financial assets held 
for sale 

      

8. Hedging derivatives     14,539  14,539 

Total 31/12/2009 50,270  64,687 65 59,659 2,509,667  2,684,348 

Total 31/12/2008 32,426 31,634 67 22,293 2,506,671 2,593,091 
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A.1.2 Breakdown of financial assets by portfolio classification and credit quality (gross and 
net values)  

 (in thousands of EUR)   

Impaired assets Other assets 
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Total (net 
exposure) 

1. Financial assets held for 
trading 

483   483   133,203  133,686 

2. Available-for-sale financial 
assets 

1,335   1,335 204,782  204,782  206,117 

3.  Held to maturity investments        

4. Due from banks    156,504  156,504  156,504 

5. Due from customers 259,259  86,396 172,863 2,008,174 7,535 2,000,639  2,173,502 

6. Financial assets measured at 
fair value 

       

7. Financial assets held for sale        

8. Hedging derivatives      14,539  14,539 

Total 31/12/2009 261,077  86,396 174,681 2,369,460 7,535 2,509,667  2,684,348 

Total 31/12/2008 150,259 63,839 86,420 2,318,362 7,621 2,506,671 2,593,091 

 
 
A.1.3 Cash and off-balance sheet exposures to banks: gross and net values 

31 12 2009 
 (in thousands of EUR) 

Type of exposure/amounts Gross exposure 
Individual value 

adjustments 
Portfolio value 
adjustments 

Net exposure 

A. Cash exposures     

a) Non-performing loans     

b) Doubtful loans     

c) Restructured exposures     

d) Past due exposures 364,202   364,202 

e) Other assets 364,202   364,202 

Total A     

B. Off-balance sheet exposures     

a) Impaired     

b) Other 22,958   22,958 

Total B 22,958   22,958 

Total (A + B) 387,160   387,160 
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 A.1.6 Cash and off-balance sheet exposures to customers: gross and net values 
31 12 2009 

 (in thousands of EUR) 

Type of exposure/amounts Gross exposure 
Individual value 

adjustments 
Portfolio value 
adjustments 

Net exposure 

A. Cash exposures     

a) Non-performing loans 125,098 74,828  50,270 

b) Doubtful loans 75,576 10,889  - 64,687 

c) Restructured exposures 66 1  65 

d) Past due exposures 60,337 678  59,659 

e) Other assets 2,132,994  7,535  2,125,459 

Total A 2,394,071 86,396 7,535  2,300,140 

B. Off-balance sheet exposures     

a) Impaired 451   451 

b) Other 106,841   106,841 

Total B 107,292   107,292 

Total (A + B) 2,501,363 86,396 7,535  2,407,432 

 
It should be mentioned that the rise in overdue loans at 31 December 2009 over the previous year is mostly due 
to the financial crisis in the country, especially in the regions where the Bank operates, and to a lesser extent 
due to the changes made to parameters used to identify certain classes of impaired assets following 
developments in applicable regulatory provisions in 2009 as mentioned above (1st update to Circular 272/2008 
issued by the Bank of Italy and the 1st update to Circular 262/2005 on financial statements). The updates 
introduced the new item “Loans over 90 days past due and guaranteed by property" as "impaired assets" for 
banks that apply the standard method. 
 
For further information see the Directors’ Report on Operations – Credit quality. 
 
 
A.1.6a Due from customers: gross and net values 

31 12 2009 
 (in thousands of EUR) 

Type of exposure/amounts Gross exposure 
Individual value 

adjustments 
Portfolio value 
adjustments 

Net exposure 

A. Cash exposures     

a) Non-performing loans     

b) Doubtful loans 75,576 10,889  6 4,687 

c) Restructured exposures 66 1  65 

d) Past due exposures 60,337 678  59,659 

e) Other assets 2,008,174  7,535  2,000,639 

Total  2,267,433 86,396 7,535  2,173,502 

 
The table above provides details on typical cash loans classified under item 70 of Assets in the Statement of 
financial position “Receivables from customers”.
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A.1.7 Cash exposures to customers: changes in impaired exposures  
 

31 12 2009   
 (in thousands of EUR)   

Description/Category 
Non-

performing 
loans 

Doubtful 
loans 

Restructured 
exposures 

Past due 
exposures 

A. Initial gross exposure 89,648 37,266 68 23,278 

- of which: exposures sold and not 
derecognised 

    

B. Increases 45,710 74,880  106,535 

B.1 inflows from performing loans 16,121 35,753  102,355 

B.2 transfers from other impaired exposure 
categories 

20,708 26,960   

B.3 other increases 8,881 12,167  4,180 

C. Decreases 10,260 36,570 2 269,476 

C.1 outflows to performing loans  2,152  21,818 

C.2 write-offs 362    

C.3 payments 6,335 17,136 2 17,271 

C.4 proceeds from disposals     

C.5 transfers to other impaired exposure 
categories 

 17,282  30,387 

C.6 other decreases 3,563    

D. Gross final exposure 125,098 75,576 66  60,337 

- of which: exposures sold and not 
derecognised 

    

 
 
 
A.1.8 Cash exposures to customers: changes in total value adjustments 

31 12 2009   
 (in thousands of EUR)   

Description/Category 
Non-

performing 
loans 

Doubtful 
loans 

Restructured 
exposures 

Past due 
exposures 

A. Initial comprehensive adjustments 57,222  5,632 1 985 

- of which: exposures sold and not 
derecognised 

    

B. Increases 26,456 9,870  651 

B.1 value adjustments 23,491 9,536  651 

B.2 transfers from other impaired exposure 
categories 

2,965 334   

B.3 other increases     

C. Decreases 8,850 4,613  958 

C.1 write-backs from assessments 3,181 1,353  352 

C.2 write-backs from payments 1,744 439  128 

C.3 write-offs 362    

C.4 transfers to other impaired exposure 
categories  

 2,821  478 

C.5 other decreases 3,563    

D. Final total adjustments 74,828 10,889 1 678 

- of which: exposures sold and not 
derecognised 
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In order to enable a better understanding of the figures, the table below shows the reconciliation of some of the 
figures in table A.1.8 above and the figures contained in tables 8.1 in Section C of these Notes to the financial 
statements. 
 
 

Description/Category tab.A.1.8 part E tab. 8.1 part C difference note 

B.1 value adjustments (33,678)  (33,590) (88)  1 

C.1 write-backs from 
assessments and 
payments 

7,197  7,297 (100)  2 

C.3 write-offs (362)  (205) (157)  3 

 
Notes 
1) The difference refers to a loss on sale related to a loan not yet classified as non-performing; value adjustments on non-
interest bearing performing loans of EUR 6 thousand circa and adjustments to impaired credit commitments of EUR 79 
thousand circa. 
2) Table 8.1 includes write-backs on non-performing loans written off in previous years. 
3) Table A.1.8 shows the gross value of write-offs, the impact on the income statement, included in value adjustments, is 
around EUR 205 thousand. 
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A.3 Breakdown of guaranteed exposures by type of guarantee 
 
A.3.2 Guaranteed cash exposures to customers 

31.12.2009 
(in thousands of EUR) 

Personal guarantees (2) 
Collateral (1) 

Credit derivatives Credit commitments 
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Total 
(1)+(2) 

1. Guaranteed Credit 
Exposures: 

56,248 998,537 53,122 12,023       19,281 122 547,963 1,631,048 

1.1 totally guaranteed 1,603 998,295 46,512 8,790        8,191 120 532,085 1 ,593,993 

- impaired 142,811 100,781 1,168 1,374       6  38,705 142,034 

1.2 partially guaranteed 54,645 242 6,610 3,233       11,090 2 15,878 37,055 

- impaired 5,723 7 1,249 801        1 2,321 4,379 

2. Guaranteed “off-balance 
sheet” exposures  31,156  7,387 1,996         21,158 30,541 

2.1 totally guaranteed 29,399  6,921 1,769         20,686 29,376 

- impaired 239   34         197 231 

2.2 partially guaranteed 1,757  466 227         472 1,165 

- impaired               
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B. BREAKDOWN AND CONCENTRATION OF LOANS 
 
B.1 Breakdown of cash and “off-balance sheet” exposures to customers by sector (book value) 
 

31.12.2009   
(in thousands of EUR)   

Governments Other Public entities Financial companies Insurance companies Non-financial companies Other counterparties 

Exposure/counterparty 
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A. Cash exposures     3 
 
 

1,829 1     37,414 62,205  11,027 12,619  

A.1 Non-performing 
loans 

      8 1     48,228 8,722  16,451 2,166  

A.2 Doubtful loans             65 1     

A.3 Restructured 
exposures 

                  

A.4 Past due exposures             36,734 459  22,925 2 19  

A.5 Other exposures 92,960    5,832   46,022   5 1,118    1,270,904  6,450 658,624  1,084 

Total A 92,960    5,832 3  47,859 2  51,118    1,393,345 71,387 6 ,450 7 09,027 15,004 1,084 

B. “off-balance sheet” 
exposures 

                  

B.1 Non-performing 
loans 

            61   12   

B.2 Doubtful loans             268   47   

B.3 Other impaired 
assets 

            20   43   

B.4 Other exposures    16.193         85,450   5,198   

Total B    16.193         85,799   5,300   

Total (A+B) 31/12/2009 92,960    22,025 3  47,859 2  51,118    1,479,144 71,387 6 ,450 714,327 15,004 1,084 

Total (A+B) 31/12/2008 122,086 -  16,108 - 2 66,489 3,564  71,105 -  1,414,098 48,827 6,462 738,572 11,450 1,118 
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B.2 Breakdown of cash and “off-balance sheet” exposures to customers by geographical area (book value) 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 
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A. Cash exposure 48,448 74,688 1 ,818 7  12   4 122 

A.1 Non-performing loans 64,687 10,889         

A.2 Doubtful loans 65 1         

A.3 Restructured exposures 59,521 678         

A.4 Past due exposures     138 1     

A.5 Other exposures 2,109,118 7 ,532 9 ,071 3 7,270      

Total A 2,281,839 93,788 10,889 10 7,408 13   4 122 

B. “Off-balance sheet” 
exposures 

          

B.1 Non-performing loans 73          

B.2 Doubtful loans 315          

B.3 Other impaired assets 62          

B.4 Other exposures 106,818    23      

Total B 107,268    23      

Total (A+B) 31/12/2009 2,389,107 93,788 10,889 10 7,431 13   4 122 

Total (A+B) 31/12/2008 2,413,717 67,748 11,813 3,570 2,673 19 252  3 122 
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B.3 Breakdown of cash and “off-balance sheet” exposures to banks by geographical area (book values) 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 
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A. Cash exposure           

A.1 Non-performing loans           

A.2 Doubtful loans           

A.3 Restructured exposures           

A.4 Past due exposures           

A.5 Other exposures 317,796  38,240  8.110  43  13  

Total A 317,796  38,240  8.110  43  13  

B. “Off-balance sheet” 
exposures 

          

B.1 Non-performing loans           

B.2 Doubtful loans           

B.3 Other impaired assets           

B.4 Other exposures 205,560  2,398        

Total B 205,560  2,398        

Total (A+B) 31/12/2009 523,356  40,638  8.110  43  13  

Total (A+B) 31/12/2008 301,216  43,130  13.967  446  135  
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B.5 Large risks  
 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 
Items/Amounts 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 

a) Amount 39,552 38,291 

b) Number 1 1 
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C. SECURITISATIONS AND ASSET SALES 
 
 
C.1 SECURITISATIONS 
 
QUALITATIVE INFORMATION 
 
In 2001 and 2003, the Bank performed the following securitisations, pursuant to Law no. 130/99: 
 
a) securitisation of non-performing loans, SPV: Ulisse 4 
b) securitisation of performing loans, SPV: Spoleto Mortgages 
 
 
Junior notes and subordinated loans 
 
Ulisse 4 
1) Junior notes 
Book value 2009: EUR 17,126 thousand (original value EUR 19,850 thousand) 
 
The values of the loan portfolio sold are summarised below: 
Gross original value of the loans sold: EUR 96,251 thousand 
Net original book value of the loans sold: EUR 32,129 thousand 
Total price of sale: EUR 28,850 thousand 
Value as at 31 December 2009 of the gross amount of the loans sold: EUR 62,195 thousand 
Value as at 31 December 2009 of the net book value (in the financial statements of the SPV) of the 
loans sold: EUR 14,391 thousand 
 
Spoleto Mortgages 
1) Excess spread 
Book value 2009:  EUR 3,615 thousand 
2) subordinated loan 
Book value 2009:  Fully collected 
 
The values of the loan portfolio sold are summarised below: 
Original value of the loans sold: EUR 207,026 thousand 
Immediate sale price: EUR 207,026 thousand 
Deferred price (excess spread) : EUR 8,439 thousand 
Value as at 31 December 2009 of the loans sold: EUR 64,790 thousand  
 
Ulisse 4 
The junior note issued by the SPV Ulisse 4 regards the securitisation of non-performing loans made 
in 2001. The nominal rate on said note is 2%, in 2009, in addition to 2%, extra interest was collected 
for EUR 712 thousand. The note is recognised in the ‘loans’ portfolio insofar as it is considered a 
loan granted to the issuer (SPV). As at 31 December 2009, the SPV had repaid all of the senior 
notes. 
 
Over the course of previous periods a value adjustment of the above-cited junior note was 
considered necessary in order to take into account any impairment losses, estimated substantially on 
the basis of the historic trend of payments. As at 31 December 2009 this adjustment remained the 
same. 
 
Spoleto Mortgages 
Subordinated loans to the SPV Spoleto Mortgages S.r.l. are the result of the securitisation of 
performing loans started in 2003 and completed, with a retroactive effect, in 2004. 
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The securitisation was performed in order to dynamically manage assets and free the resources 
needed to continue to develop long-term credit, with the aim of directing credit activities towards 
specific product areas. 
 
As part of the above transaction, the Bank (originator) did not underwrite junior notes, but holds 
subordinated loans, which will be repaid when the SPV reaches a certain level of cash reserves, in 
accordance with the order of priority envisaged in the regulations of said note. The above-mentioned 
loans are recognised under ‘Due to customers’, insofar as they are considered credit granted to the 
issuer (SPV). 
 
As at 31 December 2009, the SPV has repaid 71.6% of the senior notes. The notes issued originally 
have been rated by Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s (S&P) as shown below (the ratings are still 
valid): 
 
Class A1: EUR 47.618 million – rating Aaa (Moody’s), AAA (S&P) – fully repaid 
Class A2: EUR 144.92 million – rating Aaa (Moody’s), AAA (S&P) – EUR 54.7 million remaining as at 
31 December 2008 
Class B: EUR 7.246 million - rating A1 (Moody’s), A (S&P) – to be fully repaid 
Class C: EUR 7.246 million - rating Baa2 (Moody’s), BBB (S&P) – to be fully repaid 
 
It should also be noted that, as part of the above transaction, a derivative contract (back to 
back swap) was underwritten, by virtue of which, on a quarterly basis, through a third counterparty, 
the Bank collects the amount collected by the SPV in the period in terms of interest on the loans sold 
and pays a floating rate + spread (paid again by the counterparty to the SPV). Said swap is 
recognised in the trading book and as at 31 December 2009, it had a positive fair value. 
 
The subordinated loan to Spoleto Mortgages (recognised under Due to customers – subsidy income) 
corresponds to a payment made on the issue date of the notes to set up part of the initial cash 
reserve. Said loan earns interest of 2% per year, which the Bank waives if at each quarterly due 
date, the minimum level of cash needed to be able to pay it has not been reached. At 31.12.2009, 
the amount of the loan was completely collected. 
 
The excess spread (deferred part of the price at which the loans are sold) is recognised net of a 
forfeit write-down of EUR 779 thousand, and will be collected on the basis of the payment order 
envisaged by the regulations of the notes and if the SPV reaches a minimum level of  liquidity. 
Periodically, the recoverability of the same is verified on the basis of a financial model to estimate 
expected cash flows. 
 
In 2009 the Bank collected about EUR 4,045 thousand, towards a reduction in subordinated loans. 
 
Servicing 
 
Servicing non-performing loans 
 
With regard to loan securitisations, the Bank has a servicing contract with Ulisse 4 for the transferred 
portfolio. The main obligations related to servicing are as follows: 
 

▪ collection of the loans transferred to the SPV; the repayment of collections take place with 
a value date of the same day as the collection; management and monitoring of court and 
out-of-court procedures needed to recover loans; management of guarantees on 
transferred loans; 

 
▪ maintenance of an IT database for the purposes of anti money-laundering legislation; 

periodic reports to the Risks Centre and compliance with privacy legislation; 
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▪ custody and updating of documents and half-yearly reports on activities performed. 
 
The following tables summarise the nominal value of the notes issued by the SPV Ulisse, the 
characteristics of servicing transactions, collection trends and the effects on the statement of 
financial position and income statement. 
 
Servicing of performing loans 
 
As regards the securitisation of performing loans, the Bank has a servicing contract with the SPV 
Spoleto Mortgages for the transferred portfolio. The main obligations envisaged under the same are 
as follows: 

▪ Administration and management of collections and of the recoveries of the loans transferred 
to the SPV; initiating, managing and following legal proceedings and bankruptcy procedures 
regarding loans not classified as non-performing; performing any action, transaction or 
formality regarding the management and administration of the legal proceedings and 
bankruptcy procedures regarding any non-performing loans; 

▪ maintenance of an IT database for the purposes of anti money-laundering legislation; 
periodic reports to the Risks Centre and compliance with privacy legislation; 

▪ custody and updating of documents and periodic (monthly and quarterly) reports on activities 
performed. 
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SECURITISATIONS 
QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION 
 
C.1.1 Breakdown of exposures deriving from securitisations by quality of underlying asset 
 

31.12.2009 
(i thousands of EUR) 

Cash exposure Guarantees issued Credit lines 

Senior Mezzanine Junior Senior Mezzanine Junior Senior Mezzanine Junior 
Quality of underlying 

asset/Exposures 

Gross 
Exposure 

Net 
exposure 

Gross 
Exposure 

Net 
exposure 

Gross 
Exposure 

Net 
exposure 

Gross 
Exposure 

Net 
exposure 

Gross 
Exposure 

Net 
exposure 

Gross 
Exposure 

Net 
exposure 

Gross 
Exposure 

Net 
exposure 

Gross 
Exposure 

Net 
exposure 

Gross 
Exposure 

Net 
exposure 

A. With originated 
underlying assets: 

                  

a) Impaired     19,930 17,127             

b) Other     3,615 3,615             

B. With third party 
underlying assets 

                  

a) Impaired                   

b) Other                   
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C.1.2 Breakdown of exposures deriving from main “originated” securitisations by type of securitised asset and type of exposure 
 

31.12.2009 
(i thousands of EUR) 

Cash exposure Guarantees issued Credit lines 

Senior Mezzanine Junior Senior Mezzanine Junior Senior Mezzanine Junior 
Type of securitised 
asset/Exposures 

Book value 

Value 
write-
backs/ 
adjust. 

Book value 

Value 
write-
backs/ 
adjust. 

Book value 

Value 
write-
backs/ 
adjust. 

Book value 

Value 
write-
backs/ 
adjust. 

Book value 

Value 
write-
backs/ 
adjust. 

Book value 

Value 
write-
backs/ 
adjust. 

Book value 

Value 
write-
backs/ 
adjust. 

Book value 

Value 
write-
backs/ 
adjust. 

Book value 

Value 
write-
backs/ 
adjust. 

A. Fully 
derecognised: 

                  

Spoleto Mortgages 
- landed-property 
loans secured by 
first mortgages on 
residential property   

                  

Ulisse 4                    
- Non-performing 
loans 

    
3,615 

 
17,124 

6 
 
 

            

 



 

 211

C.1.4 Breakdown of exposures to securitisations by financial asset portfolio and by type 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Exposure/portfolio 
Financial 

assets held 
for trading 

Financial 
assets 

measured at 
fair value 

Available-
for-sale 
financial 
assets 

 Held to 
maturity 

investments 
Loans 

Total 
31.12.2009 

Total 
31.12.2008 

1. Cash exposures        

-Senior        

- Mezzanine        

- Junior     20,739 20,739 26,866 

2. Off-balance sheet exposures        

-Senior        

- Mezzanine        

- Junior        

 
 
C.1.5 Total amount of securitised assets underlying junior securities or other forms of 
backing 

31.12.208 
(in thousands of EUR) 

Assets/values Traditional securitisations Synthetic securitisations 

A. Originated underlying assets: 79,181  

A.1 Fully derecognised 79,181  

1. Non-performing loans 14,391  
2. Doubtful loans   
3. Restructures exposures   
4. Past due exposures   
5. Other assets 64,790  

A.2 Partially derecognised:   

1. Non-performing loans   
2. Doubtful loans   
3. Restructures exposures   
4. Past due exposures   
5. Other assets   

A.3 Not derecognised   

1. Non-performing loans   
2. Doubtful loans   
3. Restructures exposures   
4. Past due exposures   
5. Other assets   

B. Third party underlying assets:   

B.1. Non-performing loans   
B.2. Doubtful loans   
B.3. Restructures exposures   
B.4. Past due exposures   
B.5. Other assets   
 
 
C.1.6 Stakes in special purpose vehicles 
Name Registered office % stake 

Ulisse 4 S.r.l. Via E. Duse, 53 – Rome 7.0% 

Spoleto Mortgages S.r.l. Via E. Duse, 53 – Rome 10.0% 
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C.1.7 Servicer activities – Collection of securitised loans and repayment of securities issued by special purpose vehicles 
 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Securitised assets 
(end-of-year amount) 

Collections of loans 
during the year 

Percentage of reimbursed securities (end-of-year amount) 

Senior Mezzanine Junior Special Purpose Vehicle 

Impaired Performing Impaired Performing 
Impaired 
assets 

Performing 
assets 

Impaired 
assets 

Performing 
assets 

Impaired 
assets 

Performing 
assets 

Ulisse 4 S.r.l. 14,391  1,334  100.00%  100.00%  0.00% - 

Spoleto Mortgages s.r.l.  64,790  19,966  71.58%  0.00% - 0.00% 
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C. 2 Sales 
 
C.2.1 Financial assets sold and not derecognised 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Financial assets 
held for trading 

Financial assets 
measured at fair 

value 

Available-for-sale 
financial assets 

 Held to maturity 
investments 

Due from banks Due from customers Total Total 
Technical 
form/Portfolio 

A B C A B C A B C A B C A B C A B C 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 

A. Cash assets 2,004      36,937      35,462   12,413    209,423 

1. Debt securities 2,004      36,937      35,462   12,413    209,423 

2. Equity 
instruments 

                    

3. U.C.I. shares                     

4. Loans                     

5. Impaired assets                     

B. Derivative 
instruments 

                    

Total 31/12/2009 2,004      36,937      35,462   12,413   86,816 209,423 

Impaired                     

Total 31/12/2008 69,652      75,804      39,263   24,704   209,423 209,423 

Impaired                     

 
KEY 
A = Financial assets sold fully recognised (book value) 
B = Financial assets sold partially recognised (book value) 
C = Financial assets sold partially recognised (whole value) 
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C.2.2 Financial liabilities corresponding to financial assets sold and not derecognised 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Liability/Asset portfolio 
Financial 

assets held 
for trading 

Financial 
assets 

measured at 
fair value 

Available-for-
sale financial 

assets 

 Held to 
maturity 

investments 

Due from 
banks 

Due from 
Customers 

Total 

1. Due to customers 2,007  30,378  34,766 15,131 82,282 

a) corresponding to fully recognised assets 2,007  30,378  34,766 15,131 82,282 

b) corresponding to partially recognised assets        

2. Due to banks   5,048    5,048 

a) corresponding to fully recognised assets   5,048    5,048 

b) corresponding to partially recognised assets        

Total 31/12/2009 2,007  35,426  34,766 15,131 87,330 

Total 31/12/2008 69,687 - 76,351 - 37,900 27,854 211,792 
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SECTION 2 – MARKET RISK 
 
2.1 – INTEREST RATE RISK – REGULATORY TRADING BOOK 
 
QUALITATIVE INFORMATION 
 
A. General aspects 
Financial risks are associated to fluctuations in the value of the Bank’s positions following changes in market 
prices/factors and affect all positions related to trading activities (trading book) and commercial activities and to 
strategic investment decisions (banking book). Market risk includes interest rate, exchange, share and credit 
spread risks. 
 
The risk profile established by the Board, and therefore implemented by management for the bank’s operations, 
continues to be low. Therefore all operating decisions are characterised by the utmost prudence and the yield of 
the portfolio is consistent with the low risk profile. 
 
With reference to the regulatory portfolio of trading instruments, corresponding to the trading book, as at 31 
December 2009, the interest rate risk was at minimum levels; the average duration of the above-cited portfolio 
was 0.2 years (i.e., less than 3 months); around 94.21% of the trading book regards floating-rate instruments, 
while fixed-rate instruments, which represent around 5.41% of the book, have an average residual life of around 
1.5 years. Almost the entire trading book is represented by plain vanilla products and the structured bonds 
component is zero. 
 
There was almost no activity as regards the trading of complex or structured products. 
 
With regard to issuer risk, we would like to point out that, in addition to government and equivalent securities, 
which represent 4.96% of the portfolio, the main asset is represented by bond issued by banks, the majority of 
which Italian (93.45%). Non-banking corporate bonds plus share exposure, represent around 1.59% of the 
portfolio (of which 0.38% equity instruments and Mutual Investment Funds in Shares and 1.21% corporate 
bonds). 
 
In addition to trading in securities, several transactions in quoted (Bund Future) and unquoted derivatives 
(options on government securities) were performed. The volumes of such were low, the limits of stop loss were 
strict and the overall level of risk was in line with the Bank’s strategic objectives. 
 
Beyond bonds and shares, the regulatory trading book also contains interest rate derivatives totalling a notional 
EUR 100 million circa, 30 million of which refers to loans disbursed to customers and 70 million to the derivative 
(basis swap) of the securitisation of performing loans, Spoleto Mortgages. Said derivatives, created for the 
purpose of hedging, were included in the trading book on the date of FTA of the new IAS/IFRS accounting 
standards as they did not meet the requirements for the application of Hedge Accounting. 
 
B. Management processes and methods to measure risks related to interest rates and prices 
 
B.1 Organisational aspects 
The process to the manage market risks of the Bank’s trading book is regulated in order to identify the criteria to 
manage the risk profiles, the activities to perform to correctly apply the criteria, the business units responsible for 
performing said activities and the procedures to support the same. The assignment of the activities to the various 
organisational structures is made on the basis of the functioning of the process, namely its suitability to achieve 
set objectives (effectiveness) and its capacity to achieve them at a reasonable cost (efficiency). 
 
The steps of the process are outlined below: 
 
- investment policies; 
 
- assuming risk; 
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- measuring risk; 
 
- controlling risk.  
 
Investment Policies 
 
The objective of investment policies is to implement short or long-term strategies, in order to quantify the 
resources to be allocated to the financial investment sector of the trading book. Quantifying the resources to be 
allocated to the sector is carried out taking into consideration overall market risks (interest rate, share price, 
exchange) and is determined on the basis of the results of analyses conducted on forecasts regarding the trends 
of the main macro-economic variables, of the main reference markets, of international and national monetary 
policies, of the characteristics of the company’s financial structure, of the correct performance for risk of 
investments made and to be made, of public constraints and of Regulatory standards. 
 
Assuming Risks 
 
Short and long term investments in the trading derivatives segment are made with reference to a risk/return ratio 
associated with the same, in line with the Bank’s risk containment policy. Therefore, investments, as mentioned 
above, characterised with the utmost prudence, are made in compliance with operating limits and authorisations 
established in the “Framework Resolution” which, also based on the risk profile, have been set for nominal 
values, awarding powers in decreasing order from the General Manager to the Finance Director and Markets 
Office Manager. 
 
Measuring Risks 
 
Risks are measured continuously by the Stock Exchange and Markets Office, under the Finance Department, 
which produces a report for the Management bodies and corporate functions involved in the financial process, 
bearing the following in mind: 
 
- the market value of the financial instruments. Said value must be adequate over time (mark to market); 
 
- the variables underlying the financial instruments that influence the value of the same (interest rates, share 

prices, exchange rates etc.); 
 
- the volatility, namely the expected change of the variables underlying the financial instruments in a specific 

time horizon;  
 
The exposure to market risk is monitored on a daily basis by the Planning-Management Control-Risk department 
using VaR techniques which take the following variables into account:  
 
- the correlation between the different financial instruments that are sensitive to the same underlying variable 

(interest rates, share prices, exchange rates etc.); 
- the correlation between the different portfolios of financial instruments sensitive to different underlying 

variables; 
- the sensitivity of the market value of financial instruments to a change in the afore-mentions variables 

underlying the same instruments; 
- the desired level of “protection” (level of confidence or the probability with which the estimates made could 

actually occur). 
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Controlling Risks 
 
Risks are checked continually by the Stock Exchange and Markets Office, the Administrative Financial Services 
Office, Planning-Management Control-Risk department and periodically by the Finance Committee as regards: 
 
- observing operating limits, meaning operating authorisations and compliance with the recommendations of 

the Board of Directors and the Finance Committee; 
- the performance and the economic results produced by the finance segment. 
 
Risk control activities are also performed periodically by the Internal Audit department and by the business units 
involved in the financial process to check: 
 
- the adequacy and the smooth running of the financial process; 
 
- the respect of risk management rules and criteria; 
 
- the correct performance of the activities and checks established to monitor risk; 
 
- the presence of potential issues, to be promptly resolved. 
 
Periodically, as part of the analyses performed using Asset & Liability Management techniques, the Planning-
Management Control-Risk department produces analyses to measure the Bank’s exposure (trading book and 
banking book) to interest rate risk, both as regards current profit (Maturity Gap) and as regards market values 
(Duration Gap and Sensitivity Analysis). 
 
On a daily basis, the Planning-Management Control-Risk department uses VaR techniques to produce a 
synthetic indicator of the implicit market risk of the trading book, which is made available to Finance 
Management. 
 
B.2 Methodological aspects 
 
In addition to Mark to Market assessments and Asset & Liability Management analyses, the Bank uses a VaR 
model as a tool to measure and control the exposure to market risks of the trading book. 
 
VaR is a statistical measurement that estimates the potential losses caused by the variability of the risk factors to 
which the trading book is exposed in a set time horizon (holding-period) and with a specific statistical level of 
confidence. With regard to the parameters of the model used, the Bank measures, adopting a prudent approach, 
a VaR with a confidence level of 95%, on a holding period of ten days. 
 
The positions for which VaR is calculated are those in financial instruments classified as assets or liabilities 
belonging to the trading book. 
 
To calculate VaR, which is measured at global trading book level, the Bank has adopted the variance-covariance 
statistical method, which uses historic series of risk factors. 
 
At present, the Bank does not use the internal market risk management model to determine the prudential 
capital requirements of the trading book (which are quantified using a standard approach). 
 
PRICE RISK – REGULATORY TRADING BOOK 
 
QUALITATIVE INFORMATION 
 
The Finance Department (Exchange and Markets Office) is responsible for managing price risk related to the 
regulatory trading book. It operates in accordance with the quality-quantity limits provided in the Regulations on 
cash management transactions updated in June 2009 and based on prudent criteria set by the Board of 
Directors. Its objective is to optimise the performance of the Bank’s liquid assets. 
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Despite the continuing volatility of financial markets, price risk remains low also because share segment 
exposure is not significant due to the very low volumes in the portfolio (shares corresponding to 0.03% of the 
trading book and mutual funds corresponding to 0.32%). 
 
Quantitative information 
 
1. Regulatory trading book: breakdown by residual maturity (re-pricing date) of financial cash assets and 
liabilities and financial derivatives 
 
Currency: EURO 
 

Type/residual maturity 
On 

demand 
Up to 3 
months 

From 3 
to 6 

months 

From 6 
months 

to 1 year 

From 1 
year to 5 

years 

From 5 
years to 
10 years 

Over ten 
years 

Undeter
mined 

maturity 

1. Cash assets  118,264 2,347 1,620 4,215 946  5  

1.1 Debt securities  118,264 2,347 1,620 4,215 946  5  

- with early repayment option  2,099  17     

- other  116,165 2,347 1,603 4,215  946  5  

1.2 Other assets         

2. Cash liabilities  2,008       

2.1 Repos  2,008       

2.2 Other liabilities         

3. Financial derivatives 711  171,137 31,635 1,937 29,121 12,603  8,316  

3.1 With underlying security 636  3,360 12   7   

- Options         

+ Long positions         

+ Short positions         

- Other 636  3,360 12   7   

+ Long positions 636  1,360 12   7   

+ Short positions  2,000       

3.2 Without underlying security 75  167,777 31,623 1,937 29,121 12,596  8,316  

- Options  3,003 4,604  3,298 1,362  2,947  

+ Long positions  3,003 2,302  1,621 681    

+ Short positions   2,302  1,677 681  2,947  

- Other 75  164,774 27,019 1,937 25,823 11,234  5,369  

+ Long positions  82,133 15,535 788 11,499 6,643  1,597  

+ Short positions 75  82,641 11,484 1,149 14,324 4,591  3,772  
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Currency: OTHER CURRENCIES 
(in thousands of EUR) 

Type/residual maturity 
On 

demand 
Up to 3 
months 

From 3 
to 6 

months 

From 6 
months 

to 1 year 

From 1 
year to 5 

years 

From 5 
years to 
10 years 

Over ten 
years 

Undeter-
mined 

maturity 

1. Cash assets 79        

1.1 Debt securities 79        

- with early repayment option         

- other 79        

1.2 Other assets         

2. Cash liabilities         

2.1 Repos         

2.2 Other liabilities         

3. Financial derivatives  3,322       

3.1 With underlying security         

- Options         

+ Long positions         

+ Short positions         

- Other         

+ Long positions         

+ Short positions         

3.2 Without underlying security  3,322       

- Options         

+ Long positions         

+ Short positions         

- Other  3,322       

+ Long positions  1,581       

+ Short positions  1,741       
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3. REGULATORY TRADING BOOK – INTERNAL MODELS AND OTHER SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS 
METHODS 
 
Market risk is monitored on a daily basis by the Planning-Management Control-Risk Management Department in 
order to manage the same, in terms of Value at Risk calculated using Cedacrinod’s parametric procedure based 
on a Prometeia Riskmetrics model, with a level of confidence of 95% and 99% with a time horizon of 10 days. 
 
Over the course of 2009, the Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA’s regulatory trading book1 demonstrated limited 
volatility, showing a downward trend of the same, particularly in the last half of the year. 
 
The average of daily VaRs recorded during the course of 2009 was EUR 156.2 thousand with a confidence 
factor of 95% and EUR 220.7 when calculated with a confidence factor of 99%.  
 
The peak was recorded on 9 January (EUR 404.5 thousand at 95%; EUR 571.8 at 99%) and the minimum was 
reached on 18 September (EUR 31.4 thousand at 95%; EUR 44.4 at 99%). The VaR at the end of the year was 
EUR 43.8 at 95% and EUR 76.1 at 99%. 
 
The graph below shows the trend of daily VaRs measured in 2009. 
 
 
Trading Book 

VaR trend 2009 
 
 
 
 
 

05-Jan   04-Feb   06-Mar   05-Apr  05-May   04-Jun   04-Jul   03-Aug   02-Sep   02-Oct   01-Nov   01-Dec 

 
 

 
Lastly, as regards the Regulatory Securities Trading book, the effects expected from a parallel change in interest 
rates +/- 100 base points are shown below.  
 
EUR/1,000,000 Operating profit Profit (gross) for the year (*) Mark-to-market (**) 

+ 100 base points 1.024 1.024 (0.231) 

- 100 base points (1.024) (1.024) 0.180 

 
(*) margin analysis - Shifted Beta Gap method 
(**) value analysis – Duration Gap method 
 

                                                 
1The portfolio monitored includes only assets held for trading; it therefore excludes derivates stipulated to hedge operations. 
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2.2 – INTEREST RATE RISK AND PRICE RISK – BANKING BOOK 
 
QUALITATIVE INFORMATION 
 
A. General aspects, management processes and methods to measure market risk 
 
A.1. General aspects 
 
The banking book is currently represented by the “Loans & Receivables” segment, which includes, in addition to 
approximately EUR 49.6 million in capitalisation policies, bonds worth around EUR 153 million (book value), 
which by virtue of their nature cannot be considered loans granted to the issuer, which include the SPV “Ulisse 
4” resulting from the securitisation of non-performing loans worth around EUR 17 million (against an original 
value of EUR 19.8 million, EUR 2.8 million has been allocated to funds for the sake of prudence). The L&R 
portfolio is measured according to IAS criteria at “amortised cost less permanent impairment losses” and is 
exposed to both credit risk (see credit risk section) and interest rate risk. 
 
The banking book also includes the “AFS” portfolio, totalling around EUR 210 million (book value), comprising 
mainly income-generating securities that the bank has purchased with the objective of improving the net interest 
income. The AFS portfolio, which is exposed mainly to interest rate risk, is measured at fair value and valuation 
spreads impact equity, while trading securities impact the income statement. 
 
A.2. Management processes and methods to measure market risk  
 
A.2.1. Organisational aspects 
  
The process to the manage market risks of the Bank’s banking book is regulated in order to identify the criteria to 
manage the risk profiles, the activities to perform to correctly apply the criteria, the business units responsible for 
performing said activities and the procedures to support the same. The assignment of the activities to the various 
organisational structures is made on the basis of the functioning of the process, namely its suitability to achieve 
set objectives (effectiveness) and its capacity to achieve them at a reasonable cost (efficiency). 
 
The steps of the process are outlined below: 
 
- risk management policy; 
- assuming risk; 
- measuring risk; 
- controlling risk.  
 
Risk management policy 
 
The objective of the risk management policy is to implement short or long-term strategies, in order to quantify the 
resources to be allocated to the loans and financial investment segments  in terms of exposure to market risks 
(interest rate, share price, exchange) of the banking book as a whole in terms of the volatility of the net interest 
income and the economic value of equity. Quantifying the resources to be allocated to the above segments is 
made taking into account the above-cited market risks and liquidity risk, on the basis of the results of analyses 
conducted on forecasts regarding the trends of the main macro-economic variables, of the main reference 
markets, of international and national monetary policies, of the characteristics of the company’s financial 
structure, of the characteristics of the banking book, of public constraints and of Regulatory standards. 
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Assuming Risks 
 
The exposure to structural interest rate risk is defined, for a set time horizon, with reference to the effect on the 
net interest income/equity at risk and to the acceptable variance with respect to the above-cited exposure, also 
taking into account the Bank’s general risk adverse policy.  The result is a general approach aimed to contain 
the mismatch of maturities and excessive exposure to interest rate risk. 
 
Measuring Risks 
 
Market risk measurement regards constructing an indicator of the risk resulting from the composition, structure 
and characteristics of the banking book. 
 
Structural interest rate risk, namely the risk that expected and unexpected changes in market interest rates have 
a negative impact on the net interest income and on the asst/liabilities portfolio, is measured by means of the 
maturity gap and the duration gap. The former, given by the different between sensitive assets and sensitive 
liabilities, has to measure the exposure of the net interest income to said risk. The latter, given by the difference 
between the average maturity of assets and of liabilities, has to measure the exposure of the market value of the 
asset/liabilities portfolio to interest rate risk. While maturity gap techniques, encompassing simple, incremental, 
weighted, beta and shifted, analyse the impact of a change in interest rates on the net interest income, duration 
gap techniques estimate the impact that a change in interest rates would produce on the market value of assets 
and liabilities. 
 
Risks are measured periodically by the Planning-Management Control-Risk department, which produces reports 
for the Management bodies and corporate functions involved in the process of managing structural interest rate 
risk and liquidity risk. 
 
 
Controlling Risks 
 
Risks are checked periodically by the Planning-Management Control-Risk department, to verify the risk of a 
change in the net interest income or in equity. 
 
Risk control activities are also performed periodically by the Internal Audit department and by the business units 
involved in the process of managing structural interest rate risk and liquidity risk, to check: 
 
- the adequacy and the smooth running of the financial process; 
- the respect of risk management rules and criteria; 
- the correct performance of the activities and checks established to monitor risk; 
- the presence of potential issues, to be promptly resolved. 
 
 
A.2.2 Methodological aspects 
 
The aim of the Asset & Liability management system used by the Bank is to measure its exposure to structural 
interest rate risk. 
 
Periodically, the exposure to interest rate risk is estimated adopting the current earnings approach, from a short-
term perspective, and the economic value of equity approach, from a medium-long term perspective, using an 
assumed interest rate variation of +/- 100 bps. 
 
The approach based on current earnings (gap analysis) entails estimating the impact, on a stochastic and 
deterministic basis, of a change in interest rates on the Bank’s risk-sensitive asset and liability items (with 
maturities or re-pricing dates encompassed in the gapping period). The variable analysed is the net interest 
income. 
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Within the gapping period, the analysis includes: 
 

- Basic Maturity Gap model: transactions that are sensitive to interest rates are identified; 

- Incremental gap: considers the re-pricing profile of each item sensitive to interest rates; 

- Beta Gap: considers the different elasticity between the interest income and interest expense rates of bank 
products and the relative risk factors; 

- Shifted Gap: considers the phenomenon of the viscosity of items in question to changes in market interest 
rates. 

 
The approach based on the economic value of equity (duration gap and sensitivity analysis) entails estimating 
the impact on the market value of equity following an unexpected change in interest rates. In determining said 
impact, the difference in the present value of the item is calculated by discounting all of the cash flows of the 
instrument used, at first at existing rates and then the curves resulting from: 
 

- A parallel shift of the curve of 100 b.p. (duration gap); 

- A forecasting scenario, in which starting from two-year forecasts on the curves provided by Promoteia, 
shocks associated to the response of the various nodes of the term structure to changes in reference rates 
are identified, in this case 100 b.p. for a one-month euribor. 

 
 
B. Fair value hedging 
 
Hedging activities aim to sterilise the interest rate risk present in asset and liability items on the Statement of 
financial position. The method used is that of fair value hedges, the objective of which is to transform the Bank’s 
exposure from fixed rate to floating rate. 
 
Hedging entails the use of hedging derivative instruments which, if recognised in hedge accounting, show a fair 
value that moves in the opposite direction to that of the hedged instrument (mortgages and bond loans), so as to 
considerably limit the volatility of the Income Statement. 
 
With regard to hedging the interest rate risk implicit in Statement of financial position liabilities, the instruments 
commonly used are interest rate swaps which are traded, in general, to cover fixed-rate bond issues. 
 
With regard, on the other hand, to assets, therefore loans and mortgages granted, fair value hedges use the 
same AMSW or options on interest rates if hedging exposures with caps or floors. Asset hedging activities are 
performed for longer maturities (over 10 years) and whenever the amount of the mortgage or loans granted 
reaches set critical thresholds (around EUR 5 million), which make the cost of trading the derivative instruments 
negligible. 
 
Given the objective of stabilising the Bank’s net interest income, to trade IRS and AMSW hedges, imbalances 
between items sensitive to interest rate changes at different maturities are taken into consideration. 
 
As regards the timing of transactions, the observed and envisaged trend of the reference interest rates is taken 
into account. In light of this, in 2009 hedging activities were lower compared to the past. 
 
 
C. Cash flow hedges 
 
The Bank does not perform any cash flow hedges.  
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PRICE RISK – BANKING BOOK 
 
QUALITATIVE INFORMATION 
 
With regard to the banking book, price risk is limited to quoted capital securities not contained in the Available-
for- Sale portfolio. There are no UCI shares in the banking book. 
 
Quoted securities included EUR 530 thousand in shares of Banca Monte Paschi di Siena held for trading, which, 
due to the steady fall in price, were accounted for as impaired in June with a loss of about EUR 309 thousand, 
thereby lowering the carrying value from EUR 1.73 to 1.14 a share. The value is now in line with the market 
price. 
 
Unquoted securities, which amount to about EUR 5.6 million, there are two significant positions: 
 
315 shares in Cedacri Spa, which is the main provider of IT services for the Bank. This position represents about 
2.5% of share capital and its value amounts to about EUR 3.5 million. The price of each share is about EUR 11 
thousand and is in line with the value of recent transactions. 
 
77,943 shares in Gepafin Spa, which represents about 12.3% of share capital at a book value of about EUR 1.5 
million. Gepafin is a regional financial institution owned privately and publicly and provides loans and guarantees 
to companies in Umbria. The shareholding derives from the merger of Nuovafin, a financial company controlled 
by the Bank, into Gepafin in 2009. The share price is provided in the appraisal made for the merger. 
 
The other equity investments are only marginal from an economic standpoint and they usually refer to industrial 
investments. 
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QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION 
 
1. Banking book: breakdown by residual maturity (by re-pricing date) of cash assets and liabilities  
 
Currency: EURO 

 

Type/residual maturity 
On 

demand 
Up to 3 
months 

From 3 to 
6 months 

From 6 
months to 

1 year 

From 1 
year to 5 

years 

From 5 
years to 
10 years 

Over ten 
years 

Undetermi
ned 

maturity 

1. Cash assets 572,209  1,055,638 206,390 63,118 280,824 180,871  151,612  

1.1 Debt securities 56,630  163,913 92,442 13,271 64,782 17,059  390  

- with early repayment option 243  20,589 1,846 1,038  500    

- other 56,387  143,324 90,596 12,233 64,782 16,559  390  

1.2 Loans to banks 2,482  32,981       

1.3 Loans to customers 513,097  858,744 113,948 49,847 216,042 163,812  151,222  

- current accounts 486,372         

- other loans 26,725  858,744 113,948 49,847 216,042 163,812  151,222  

- with early repayment option 14,258  722,441 112,105 45,277 215,190 115,316  151,143  

- other 12,467  136,303 1,843 4,570 852 48,496  79  

2. Cash liabilities 1,363,347  540,770 291,224 32,808 221,447 47,153  2,477  

2.1 Due to customers 1,339,794  130,809 6,394      

- current accounts 1,179,904         

- other payables 159,890  130,809 6,394      

- with early repayment option         

- other 159,890  130,809 6,394      

2.2 Due to banks 16,029  22,049  5,036 5,191    

- current accounts 15,998         

- other payables 31 22,049  5,036 5,191    

2.3 Debt securities 7,524  387,912 284,830 27,772 216,256 47,153  2,477  

- with early repayment option 27 19,106 30,000      

- other 7,497  368,806 254,830 27,772 216,256 47,153  2,477  

2.4 Other liabilities         

- with early repayment option         

- other         

3. Financial derivatives 424  333,771 123,168 17,425 290,438 74,312  84,747  

3.1 With underlying security         

- Options         

+ Long positions         

+ Short positions         

- Other         

+ Long positions         

+ Short positions         

3.2 Without underlying security 424  333,771 123,168 17,425 290,438 74,312  84,747  

- Options  11,524   4,855 724  5,945  

+ Long positions  11,524       

+ Short positions     4,855 724  5,945  

- Other 424  322,247 123,168 17,425 285,583 73,588  78,802  

+ Long positions  204,141 61,667 11,720 152,352 18,180  2,558  

+ Short positions 424  118,106 61,501 5,705 133,231 55,408  76,244  
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Currency: OTHER CURRENCIES 
 

Type/residual maturity 
On 

demand 
Up to 3 
months 

From 3 to 
6 months 

From 6 
months to 

1 year 

From 1 
year to 5 

years 

From 5 
years to 
10 years 

Over ten 
years 

Undetermi
ned 

maturity 

1. Cash assets 2,977  4,946 2,004 56     

1.1 Debt securities         

- with early repayment option         

- other         

1.2 Loans to banks 1,013  868       

1.3 Loans to customers 1,964  4,078 2,004 56     

- current accounts         

- other loans 1,963  4,078 2,004 56     

- with early repayment option 1,963  4,078 2,004 56     

- other         

2. Cash liabilities 3,339  6,521       

2.1 Due to customers 3,339  6,521       

- current accounts 2,495         

- other payables 844  6,521       

- with early repayment option         

- other 844  6,521       

2.2 Due to banks         

- current accounts         

- other payables         

2.3 Debt securities         

- with early repayment option         

- other         

2.4 Other liabilities         

- with early repayment option         

- other         

3. Financial derivatives  11,740       

3.1 With underlying security         

- Options         

+ Long positions         

+ Short positions         

- Other         

+ Long positions         

+ Short positions         

3.2 Without underlying security  11,740       

- Options         

+ Long positions         

+ Short positions         

- Other  11,740       

+ Long positions  5,870       

+ Short positions  5,870       
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2.3 - EXCHANGE RISK 
 
QUALITATIVE INFORMATION 
 
The Finance Department (Exchange and Markets Office) is responsible for managing exchange risk. It provides 
for sufficient hedging based on total imbalances arising from customer transactions in foreign currency in order 
to maintain the risk profile within very contained limits. 
 
Speculative trading is at an insignificant level with transactions involving irrelevant amounts in accordance with 
the Regulations on cash management transactions (updated in June 2009). These transactions are normally 
closed daily and Stop-Loss orders are entered systematically when they are kept open. 
 
The procedure used makes it possible to obtain real-time information on the Bank's exposure. Currency 
transactions are constantly monitored and hedged. 
 
As at 31 December 2009, the capital requirement for the Bank’s exchange risk was zero, insofar as the “net 
open foreign exchange position” is within 2% of regulatory capital. 
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Quantitative information 
 
1. Breakdown of assets, liabilities and derivatives by currency 
 

31.12.2009 
(in thousands of EUR) 

Currency 
Items 

US dollar GB Pound Yen 
Canadian 

dollar 
Swiss 
Franc 

Other 
currencies 

A. Financial assets 3,673  162 2,117 45 3,931  133 

A.1 Debt securities 79       

A.2 Equity instruments       

A.3 Loans to banks 1,416  162 55 45 69 133 

A.4 Loans to customers 2,178  2,062  3,862  

A.5 Other financial assets       

B. Other assets 45 52  1 63 5 

C. Financial liabilities 3,481 234 2,132  3,989 24 

C.1 Due to banks 1,330  2,065  3,970  

C.2 Due to customers 2,151 234 67  19 24 

C.3 Debt securities       

C.4 Other financial 
assets 

      

D. Other liabilities 4      

E. Financial derivatives 1,561  506 953  302   

- Options       

+ long positions       

+ short positions       

- Other 1,561  506 953  302   

+ long positions 702  252 497  130   

+ short positions 859  254 456  172   

Total assets 4,420  466 2,614 46 4,124  138 

Total liabilities 4,344  488 2,588  4,161  24 

Imbalance (+/-) 76  (22) 26 46 (37)  114 
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1.2.4 Derivative instruments 
 
A. Financial derivatives 
 
A.1 Regulatory trading book: year-end notional and average amounts 

(in thousands of EUR)   
Total 31.12.2009 Total 31.12.2008 

Type of transaction/Underlying instrument 
Over the counter Central counterparty Over the counter Central counterparty 

187,108  191,469  1,446 
69,293  99,433   

116,455  88,529  
1,360  3,507  1,446 

    

1. Debt securities and interest rates 
a) Options 
b) Swap 
c) Forward 
d) Futures 
e) other     
2. Capital securities and stock indices 
a) Options 
b) Swap 
c) Forward 
d) Futures 
e) other 

    

2,925  2,427   
    
    

2,925  2,427   
    

3. Foreign currency and gold 
a) Options 
b) Swap 
c) Forward 
d) Futures 
e) other     
4. Goods     

5. Other underlying instruments     

Total 190,033  193,896  1,446 

Average values 191,965  194,585  1,972 
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A.2 Banking book: year-end notional and average amounts 
 
A.2.1 Hedging: 
 

(in thousands of EUR)   
Total 31.12.2009 Total 31.12.2008 

Type of transaction/Underlying instrument 
Over the counter Central counterparty Over the counter Central counterparty 

479,700  501,122   
29,081  29,081   

450,619  472,041   
    
    

1. Debt securities and interest rates 
a) Options 
b) Swap 
c) Forward 
d) Futures 
e) other     
2. Capital securities and stock indices 
a) Options 
b) Swap 
c) Forward 
d) Futures 
e) other 

    

3. Foreign currency and gold 
a) Options 
b) Swap 
c) Forward 
d) Futures 
e) other 

    

4. Goods     

5. Other underlying instruments     

Total 479,700  501,122   

Average values 490,411  458,491   
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A.3 Financial derivatives: positive gross fair value – breakdown by product 

(in thousands of EUR) 
 

positive fair value 

Total 31.12.2009 Total 31.12.2008 
Type of transaction/Underlying instrument 

Over the counter Central counterparty Over the counter Central counterparty 
5,467  5,514   

273  184   
5,173  5,315   

    
21  15  

    
    

A. Regulatory trading book 
a) Options 
b) Interest rate swap 
c) Cross currency swap 
d) Equity swaps 
e) Forward 
f) Futures 
g) other     

14,539  9,852   
4 48  2 76   

14,091  9,576   
    
    
    
    

B. Banking book – hedging 
a) Options 
b) Interest rate swap 
c) Cross currency swap 
d) Equity swaps 
e) Forward 
f) Futures 
g) other     
C. Banking book - other derivatives 
a) Options 
b) Interest rate swap 
c) Cross currency swap 
d) Equity swaps 
e) Forward 
f) Futures 
g) other 

    

Total 20,006  15,366   
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A.4 Financial derivatives: negative gross fair value – breakdown by product 

(in thousands of EUR) 
 

negative fair value 

Total 31.12.2009 Total 31.12.2008 
Type of transaction/Underlying instrument 

Over the counter Central counterparty Over the counter Central counterparty 
1,473  1,955   

94   579   
1,367  1,343   

    
    

12  33  
    

A. Regulatory trading book 
a) Options 
b) Interest rate swap 
c) Cross currency swap 
d) Equity swaps 
e) Forward 
f) Futures 
g) other     

20,482  17,955   

 
20,482 

 
 

17,955 
 

    

    

    

B. Banking book – hedging 
a) Options 
b) Interest rate swap 
c) Cross currency swap 
d) Equity swaps 
e) Forward 
f) Futures 
g) other     
C. Banking book - other derivatives 
a) Options 
b) Interest rate swap 
c) Cross currency swap 
d) Equity swaps 
e) Forward 
f) Futures 
g) other 

    

Total 21,955  19,910   
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A.5 OTC financial derivatives: regulatory trading book – notional values, gross positive and 
negative fair value by counterparty – contracts not under compensation agreements 

 
31.12.2009     
(in thousands of EUR)    
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1. Debt securities and interest  
rates 

       

- notional value  34,608  143,157   7 ,827 2 ,057 

- positive fair value  45 5.037   345 31 

- negative fair value  36 1.390   47  

- future exposure  171 505   47 7 

2) Capital securities and stock  
indices 

       

- notional value        

- positive fair value        

- negative fair value        

- future exposure   2.396   526 3 

3) Foreign currency and gold   8   1  

- notional value        

- positive fair value        

- negative fair value        

- future exposure        

4) Other values        

- notional value        

- positive fair value        

- negative fair value        

- future exposure        
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A.7 OTC financial derivatives: bank trading book – notional values, gross positive and negative 
fair value by counterparty – contracts not under compensation agreements 

 
31.12.2009     

(in thousands of EUR)     
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1. Debt securities and interest rates        

- notional value   479,699     

- positive fair value   14,539     

- negative fair value   20,482     

- future exposure   3,762     

2) Capital securities and stock indices        

- notional value        

- positive fair value        

- negative fair value        

- future exposure        

3) Foreign currency and gold        

- notional value        

- positive fair value        

- negative fair value        

- future exposure        

4) Other securities        

- notional value        

- positive fair value        

- negative fair value        

- future exposure        
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A.9 Residual maturity of over the counter financial derivatives: notional amounts 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Underlying instrument/residual maturity Up to 1 year 
Between 1 
year and 5 

years 
Over 5 years Total 

A. Regulatory trading book 78,397 78,555 33,081  190,033 

A.1 Financial derivatives on debt securities and interest rates 75,472 78,555 33,081  187,108 

A.2 Financial derivatives on equity instruments and stock indices     

A.3 Financial derivatives on exchange rates and gold 2,925   2,925 

A.4 Financial derivatives on other securities     

B. Banking book 75,708 230,078 173,913  479,699 

B.1 Financial derivatives on debt securities and interest rates 75,708 230,078 173,913  479,699 

B.2 Financial derivatives on equity instruments and stock indices     

B.3 Financial derivatives on exchange rates and gold     

B.4 Financial derivatives on other securities     

Total 31/12/2009 154,105 308,633 206,994  669,732 

Total 31/12/2008 272,783 294,764 218,473 786,020 

 
The table above shows the residual maturity of financial derivatives according to their contractual maturity.   
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SECTION 3 – LIQUIDITY RISK 
 
QUALITATIVE INFORMATION 
 
A. General aspects, management processes and methods to measure liquidity risk 
 
A.1. General aspects 
 
Liquidity management is entrusted to the Finance Department, which, with the support of the Planning-
Management Control-Risk department: 
 
- Coordinates the annual funding plan used to balance finances in the short, medium and long term, 

as well as to achieve sustained growth and increased efficiency of cash inflows; 
 
- Coordinates access to the capital and short-term liquidity markets, as well as access to refinancing 

operations with the European Central Bank, centralised management of compulsory reserves and of 
collateral and access to interbank regulatory systems. 

 
As regards liquidity risk management, the Bank’s objective is to maintain a substantially balanced 
position both in the short and medium to long term, in order to minimise the costs related to unforeseen 
liquidity requirements. 
 
Liquidity risk is split into the following three categories: 
 

▪ Short-term liquidity risk (commonly called liquidity risk), which represents the risk that the Bank is 
not able to meet its payment obligations when they fall due; 

▪ Refinancing risk, which represents the risk that further sources of funding are available only at 
higher market interest rates; 

▪ Market liquidity risk, which represents the risk of the Bank being able to sell its assets on the market 
only at a discounted price. 

 
Short term liquidity risk and refinancing risk are monitored and managed by means of Asset & Liability 
Management activities performed by the Planning-Management Control-Risk department. 
 
Market liquidity risk, although considered in ALM analyses, is directly managed by the staff responsible 
for the various trading portfolios as part of their market-related activities. It is therefore included in market 
risk, and refers to the tools used to measure and monitor market risks. 
 
A.2. Management processes and methods to measure market risk 
 
A.2.1 Organisational aspects 
 
The process to the manage market risks of the Bank’s trading book is regulated in order to identify the 
criteria to manage the risk profiles, the activities to perform to correctly apply the criteria, the business 
units responsible for performing said activities and the procedures to support the same. The assignment 
of the activities to the various organisational structures is made on the basis of the functioning of the 
process, namely its suitability to achieve set objectives (effectiveness) and its capacity to achieve them at 
a reasonable cost (efficiency). 
 
The steps of the process are outlined below: 
- investment policies; 
- assuming risk; 
- measuring risk; 
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- controlling risk.  
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Risk management policy 
 
The objective of the risk management policy is to implement short or long-term strategies, in order to 
quantify the resources to be allocated to the loans and financial investment segments in terms of 
exposure to liquidity risk. Quantifying the resources to be allocated to the above segments is made taking 
into account the above-cited market risks and liquidity risk, on the basis of the results of analyses 
conducted on forecasts regarding the trends of the main macro-economic variables, of the main 
reference markets, of international and national monetary policies, of the characteristics of the company’s 
financial structure, of public constraints and of Regulatory standards. 
 
In particular, the Bank seeks to maintain treasury positions in balance and to contain the incremental 
gaps of maturities (matching). 
 
Assuming risk 
Exposure to liquidity risk is assessed and monitored on the basis of the liquidity indices established in the 
Liquidity Policy, the trend of which is analysed by the Finance Committee and by the relevant bodies. 
The objective of these indicators is to analyse the capacity/incapacity of reserves of liquid assets over a 
time horizon that varies between 3 days and 3 months. The aim of the measurement is to demonstrate 
the remaining percentage of reserves following the main outflow the same in terms of: 
- treasury liquidity, namely the outflow generated by treasury activities, regarding only reserves of liquid 
assets on demand. Time horizon <3 days. 
- market liquidity, namely the outflow generated by treasury activities, regarding reserves of liquid assets 
on demand and those obtainable by selling own securities on the market. Time horizon 15-30 days. 
- operating liquidity, namely the outflow generated by treasury activities, including future expected flows 
related to bank operations on a time horizon of three months, related to liquid assets (on demand and 
market). Time horizon 3 months. 
 
Measuring risk 
Liquidity risk, meaning the availability of the cash resources needed to cover financial outflows, is 
measured by means of the liquidity gap, given by the difference between liquid assets and various 
sources. 
 
To construct the above gap, a maturity ladder is used which classifies asset, liability and off-Statement of 
financial position items with reference to the actual maturity of the same. 
 
When estimating the treasury position, the liquidity mismatch between the actual treasury operations (Net 
Financial Position, comprising interbank, hot money and the compulsory reserve) and liquidity reserves 
(Counterbalancing Capacity) is analysed.  
 
The latter is determined by identifying all assets that can be converted into cash on demand, such as 
cash and securities in the overdraft dossier that can be used in repos agreements with the Central Bank, 
and assets that can be converted into cash in the short/medium-long term as securities that may be 
traded on the market, to which adequate haircuts are applied on the counter value to take market risk 
into account. 
 
Liquidity risk is measured from a static perspective, aimed at identifying effective liquidity tensions that 
can be deduced from the characteristics of the financial statement items, through the construction, for 
each time horizon identified, of the corresponding gap indicator. 
 
Risk measurement is carried out by the Planning-Management Control-Risk department, which also 
produced reports for the bodies and company functions involved in the management and liquidity risk 
process. 
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Controlling risk 
 
Risks are checked periodically by the Planning-Management Control-Risk department, to verify variances 
between assets and liabilities. 
 
Risk control activities are also performed periodically by the Internal Audit department and by the 
business units involved in the process of managing structural interest rate risk and liquidity risk, to check: 
 
- the adequacy and the smooth running of the financial process; 
- the respect of risk management rules and criteria; 
- the correct performance of the activities and checks established to monitor risk; 
- the presence of potential issues, to be promptly resolved. 
 
A.2.2. Methodological aspects 
The aim of the Asset & Liability management system used by the Bank is to measure both its exposure 
to structural interest rate risk (see the chapter regarding the market risks of the banking book) and 
liquidity risk. 
 
Therefore, the Bank’s operating liquidity position is assessed by means of a distribution analysis by 
transaction maturity, which enables the liquidity generated by financial statement items to be determined 
at various times in the future and to evaluate the consistency of the same with respect to requirements at 
the various maturities, firstly using a time horizon of three months and then within one year. 
 
For this reason, the active management of liquidity is organised as follows: 
 
- Operating liquidity (Horizon < 3 Months); by calculating the liquidity mismatch obtained by 

comparing the Net Financial Treasury Position with readily liquid assets (eligible ECB securities, 
trading securities and cash, which represent the Counterbalancing Capacity) and future cash flows 
which will generate liquidity resulting from the bank’s operations, again on the same time horizon; 

- Structural liquidity by calculating the liquidity mismatch for maturities of between 3 and 12 months 
and cash flows (capital and interest) generated for up to 12 months; 

- Stress Testing & Contingency Plan in order to analyse, taking a prudent approach, the Bank’s 
ability to handle crises and external events, the adequacy/inadequacy of liquidity reserves are 
measured in different stress scenarios: Economic Recession, Name Crisis and Survival Analysis, or 
an extreme circumstance that combines the characteristics of the above-mentioned scenarios. 

 
Faced with any crisis scenario, the purpose of the Contingency Plan is to identify measures that will 
create a further monetary base if necessary. 
 
In 2008, following the recent turbulence in the financial markets and its repercussions on the interbank 
and money markets, Banca Popolare di Spoleto launched a process to fine tune liquidity management 
techniques, also in order to comply with the requests of the Supervisory Body with regard to the same. 
The liquidity policy is submitted to the Board of Directors on a quarterly basis. 
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SECTION 3 – LIQUIDITY RISK 
Quantitative information 
1. Breakdown by contractual residual maturity of financial assets and liabilities  
 
Currency: EURO               31.12.2009 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Item/Maturity On demand 
1 day 
 to 7  
days 

7 days 
to 15 
days 

15  
days to  
1 month 

1 month to 
3 months 

3 months 
to 6 

months 

6 months 
to 1 year 

1 year to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Unspecified 
maturity 

Cash assets 463,870 5,720 2,331 20,453 222,511  59,798 134,472 902,922 849,767  

A.1 Government bonds        63,685 27,631  

A.2 Other debt securities 300   13 19,944  8,800 49,610 267,729 92,813  

A.3 UCI shares 344          

A.4 Loans 463,226 5,720 2,331 20,440 202,567  50,998 84,862 571,508 729,323  

- Banks 2,482    32,981       

- Customers 460,744 5,720 2,331 20,440 169,586  50,998 84,862 571,508 729,323  

Cash liabilities 1,357,218 21,292 6,082 68,971 164,342  76,394 96,863 605,309 99,439  

B.1 Deposits 1,355,154 20,000  25,404 27,890  5,795  5,605   

- Banks 16,016 20,000  2,049  5,191     

- Customers 1,339,138   23,355 27,890  5,795  414   

B.2 Debt securities 1,619 1,292  3,829 5,151 95,565  69,999 91,827 599,704 99,439  

B.3 Other liabilities 445  2,253 38,416 40,887  600 5,036    

“Off-balance sheet transactions 11,358 4,973  88 1,845 988 1,553 8,344 12,163 25 

C.1 Financial derivatives with 
exchange of capital 

636 4,936   1,745   12  7  

- Long positions 636 2,901   199   12  7  

- Short positions  2,035   1,546       

C.2 Financial derivatives without 
exchange of capital 

6,904          

- Long positions 5,443          

- Short positions 1,461          

C.3 Deposits and loans due           

- Long positions           

- Short positions           

C.4 Irrevocable commitments to lend 
funds 

2,926 17  5 59 43 137 1,181  25 

- Long positions 94 17  5 59 43 137 1,181  12 

- Short positions 2,832         12 

C.5 Financial guarantees given  892 20  83 41 945 1,404 7,163 10,859  
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Currency: OTHER CURRENCIES 
31.12.2008  

(in thousands of EUR)  

Item/Maturity On demand 
1  

day to  
7 days 

7 days to 
15 days 

15 days to 1 
month 

1 month to 
3 months 

3 months 
to 6 

months 

6 months to 
1 year 

1 year to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Unspecified 
maturity 

Cash assets 3,063 1,049 419 212 2,876  2,031 78 179 179  

A.1 Government bonds           

A.2 Other debt securities 75          

A.3 UCI shares           

A.4 Loans 2,988 1,049 419 212 2,876  2,031 78 179 179  

- Banks 1,013 868         

- Customers 1,975 181 419 212 2,876  2,031 78 179 179  

Cash liabilities 3,340 6,521         

B.1 Deposits 2,496 6,521         

- Banks  6,521         

- Customers 2,496          

B.2 Debt securities           

B.3 Other liabilities 844          

“Off-balance sheet” transactions  14,658   404      

C.1 Financial derivatives with exchange 
of capital 

 2,918   404      

- Long positions  1,379   202      

- Short positions  1,539   202      

C.2 Financial derivatives without 
exchange of capital 

          

- Long positions           

- Short positions           

C.3 Deposits and loans due  11,740         

- Long positions  5,870         

- Short positions  5,870         

C.4 Irrevocable commitments to lend 
funds 

          

- Long positions           

- Short positions           

C.5 Financial guarantees given  24          
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SECTION 4 – OPERATING RISK 
 
QUALITATIVE INFORMATION 
 
A General aspects, management processes and methods to measure operating risk 
 
Operating risk means the risk of incurring losses as a result of: 
 
- illegal acts performed by internal staff: events related to voluntary acts that involve at least one 

internal member of staff of the Bank and which lead to losses for the Bank; 
 
- illegal acts performed by external parties: events related to voluntary acts performed exclusively by 

parties that cannot be considered as internal to the company, usually performed for the purpose of 
personal gain; 

 
- commercial documentation: events related to the provision of services or products to customers  

performed in an improper or negligent manner (including fiduciary requirements of adequate 
information on investments), or due to flaws in the nature or characteristics of 
products/models/contracts. This category also includes revocatory bankruptcy lawsuits and liabilities 
for the infringement of public security regulations or of regulations specific to the banking sector; 

 
- disasters or other events: events resulting from natural causes or human acts, which lead to damage 

to company resources (property, equipment and investment property, intangible assets, people …) 
and/or service interruptions or other events. This category also includes liabilities resulting from 
political. Legislative and tax-related changes with retroactive effect (e.g. anatocism); 

 
- employee relations and occupational safety: events related to the company’s working relationships 

with its employees and to the non-compliance of the workplace or with health and safety regulations; 
 
- performance, delivery and management of processes: events due to unintentional errors in the 

management of operations and of support services, or caused by counterparties that are neither 
customers or suppliers; 

 
- technological systems and services: events resulting from malfunctioning, logical or structural 

defects in technological systems or other support systems. 
 
The measurement, control and an adequate awareness of the factors that condition operating risks are 
the key components of Risk Management as a whole. 
 
The Internal Control System envisages: 
- line controls: conducted by the individual operating units on their own processes or integrated into 

procedures, aimed to guarantee the correct performance of operations; 
- checks on risk management: required of functions other than those responsible for line controls, with 

the aim of contributing to the definition of methods to measure risk and to ensure the limits assigned 
to the various functions are respected; 

- internal auditing: assigned to a different, independent, non-production related unit, performed also to 
check the adequacy and smooth running of the Control System in itself. 

 
In this context, Operating Risk is monitored continuously, both during the various stages of the 
production and service related processes of the Bank, and as regards checking the adequacy of the 
system, which is performed on a six-monthly basis with the direct involvement of the various functions 
involved in the Bank’s processes. 
 
Potential critical areas mainly regard commercial documentation, the malfunctioning of procedures, 
embezzlement and/or negligence of top management, the latter also related to reputation risk. The 
Compliance Function represents a further degree of protection against risk, and entails checking the 
coherence of processes , with particular regard to non-compliance and reputation risk. The Compliance 
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Function and the Internal Auditing department work together to promote the dissemination of a culture 
based on a full awareness of risks.  
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2009 consolidated the trend that started in 2007, showing a decrease in the number of claims from 
customers amounting to just over one-third of those submitted over the previous three years: the 
considerable reduction is mainly due to the “normalisation" of the component of operating risk 
represented by litigation with customers resulting from the various defaults that have characterised the 
financial markets in recent years. It should also be noted that around one-fourth of the “claims” regarding 
the provision of investment services filed and concluded from 2002 onwards were settled in court.  
 
As regards the recording of any losses, the Bank carefully assesses the adequacy of the financial 
products sold with relation to the position of the individual investor and support documentation, and 
allocates funds to the provision for risks and charges to cover any potential liabilities.  
 
QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION 
With specific reference to the various areas of risk identified in the paragraph above, it should be noted 
that with regard to the malfunctioning of procedures, to embezzlement and/or negligence of employees, 
to the negligent conduct of top management related to reputation risk and litigation, no significant critical 
issues have arisen. 
 
With regard to the operating risks mentioned, potential liabilities are covered by adequate allocations to 
the provision for risks and charges. On the stock as at 31 December 2009, amounting to around EUR 6.3 
million, the breakdown of the above-cited fund by risk category is as follows: 
 
- 25.3% : customers - bonds in ‘default’ 
- 46.2% : customers – disputes, including revocatory action 
- 28.5% : process performance/management and other 
 
With regard to the largest component of operating risk, represented by commercial documentation, the 
downward trend that started in 20071 has continued and the number of “claims”2 received in 2009 
amounted to 41, 24 of which regarded the provision of investment services. Concerning the outcome of 
investigations, in 33 cases no instance of improper conduct by the Bank was found so the claims were 
rejected; in 8 cases the customers were found to be partially or fully in the right, resulting in economic 
implications for the bank in 5 cases: namely, 3 disputes were settled with a total payment of EUR 
60,756.613, in 1 dispute the Bank's proposal was not accepted and the customer decided to take legal 
action while in the last case4, negotiations are still underway. 
 
With specific regard to the other areas of risk identified in the paragraph above, please note the following: 
▪ procedure malfunctioning: no significant problems emerged; 
▪ embezzlement and negligence of employees: in 2009, on four occasions, irregular employee activities 

were reported. In one case, a branch manager (no longer employed by the Bank) employed credit 
management that was not in accordance with Bank rules. Another case involved a Private Banking 
Area Manager who conducted transactions in securities without the required formalities from 
customers. Investigations made it possible to reconstruct the circumstances of the events and the 
customers decided to recognise the movements in their dossiers with the exception of three cases (2 
of which subject to claims). After calculating the amounts to refund5, the Bank decided to propose a 
settlement: 2 disputes concluded with a total payment of EUR 185,000.00, whereas the third is still 
under negotiation. On another occasion, it was found that an employee implemented an irregular 
movement of capital, which however did not cause any economic damage to the Bank. Lastly, it was 
found that a customer performed an irregular transaction, where an employee handled two 
withdrawals (EUR 800.00 each) without an order from the account holder, who at first made specific 
demands against the Bank, but then provided a written statement acknowledging the balances in the 
current account, thereby releasing the Bank from all liability. In any case, disciplinary action was taken 
against the employee in question and the latter was transferred to another position. 

▪ negligent conduct of top management related to reputation risk and litigation: none. 

                                                 
1 The total number of events managed by the Bank's Claims Office was 43 in 2007 and 38 in 2008. 
2Considering all cases of customer dissatisfaction, shown for any reason (namely without any limits to timing and/or amounts, 
which, on the other hand, distinguish the activities of the Banking Ombudsman) 
3 EUR 60,000.00 of this amount refers to one of the two disputes settled and mentioned in "embezzlement and negligence of 
employees". 
4 The dispute still not settled as mentioned in “embezzlement and negligence of employees”. 
5 Allowances for these amounts were already allocated. 
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▪ illegal acts performed by external parties: in 2009, an extensive “phishing” attack was discovered, the 
aim of which was to acquire customer access codes to the Home Banking channel of the Bank: 
essentially, a massive number of emails were sent (to addresses selected at random since the 
criminals could not know in advance the identity of Bank customers) containing links to “spoofed” 
websites (copying the Bank’s) and, once, connected customers were asked to enter their codes, 
which would then be captured. This case of internet fraud, which was discovered6 immediately, 
reached several Bank customers and two of them fell for the trap: in spite of this, the immediate 
intervention of the Public Security Authorities, following a report sent by the Bank and by the company 
Telecom Italia Mobile (the amounts stolen were used to top up telephone cards provided by the 
telephone operator), made it possible to freeze the amounts almost immediately, which are still under 
the control of the Authorities while awaiting release. In any case, the Bank implemented a project 
already under study and provided a new system for customers to enter personal access details (user 
ID/password/PIN) as well as for access control and orders. The system, which is mandatory for 
orders, uses a physical device called token, which dynamically generates a PIN every 60 seconds, 
thereby considerably raising security levels for the entire channel and eliminating the risk of data theft 
through phishing. 

 
* * * * * 

                                                 
6 Due to the fact that since the emails were sent to random addresses some of the addresses were inexistent and/or inactive and 
this generated delivery failure messages sent back to a real Bank email address which was used as the sender. 
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DISCLOSURE TO THE PUBLIC – Circular Nr. 263 Bank of Italy dated  27.12.2006, Title IV 
 
As of 1 January 2008, the “New Prudential Provisions for the Supervision of Banks” (Basel 2) came into 
effect; these provisions implement the instructions regarding the International Convergence of Capital 
Measurement and Capital Standards (EU directive nr. 2006/48 and 2006/49 – Capital Requirements 
Directive – CRD). 
 

The standard is divided into three “Pillars”: 

▪ First Pillar – methodologies for the calculation of capital requirements; 

▪ Second Pillar – capital adequacy strategies and control processes; 

▪ Third Pillar, is the subject of this note, introduces the obligation of disclosure to the public regarding 
capital adequacy, the exposure of banks and banking groups to risk and the general characteristics 
of the system to identify, measure and manage risk.  

 
The Bank fulfils the disclosure obligations of the Third Pillar through the publication of the required 
information on its website www.bpspoleto.it. 
 
 



 

 247



 
 

248

Part F 
Information on Capital 
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Section 1 – Company capital 
 
A. Qualitative information 
 
With regard to the changes introduced by the reform of company law in terms of disclosures 
regarding companies subject to supervision and control by other parties, the Bank does not 
belong to any banking group and is therefore not subject to said regulation.  
 
On 20 April 2007, the shareholders’ agreement drawn up by Spoleto Credito e Servizi Soc. 
Coop. and Banca Monte dei Paschi di Siena Spa was renewed, as set forth in article 23 of the 
Bank’s articles of association. This agreement, which establishes the basis of the relationship 
and the purpose of which is to improve the management of the Bank, envisages several 
restrictions to the transfer of securities, of pre-emption rights, the award of specific powers as 
regards management and control and the appointment of corporate bodies and employees. 
 
On 22 December 2008, in line with the 2007/2010 Business Plan and in order to sustain policies 
of company growth and even though Tier 1 capital exceeds 7%, the Extraordinary Shareholders’ 
Meeting of Banca Popolare di Spoleto S.p.A resolved to: 
 
1) Increase paid share capital for a total of EUR 44,000,000, on a divisible basis, completing 
transactions by 30 June 2009, and with the opportunity to complete earlier, through the issue of 
ordinary shares of Banca Popolare di Spoleto S.p.A., with a nominal value of EUR 2.84, beyond 
the share premium, standard entitlement, to be paid-up as follows: 
 
a) as regards EUR 4,400,000, corresponding to 10% of the entire share capital increase, in a 
divisible form, with the exclusion of option rights pursuant to article 2441, paragraph 8 of the civil 
code, through the issue of ordinary shares of Banca Popolare di Spoleto S.p.A. – to be offered, 
pursuant to art.5 of the Articles of Association of Banca Popolare di Spoleto S.p.A., for 
subscription to all employees, proportionally to the number of employees in service on the first 
day of the share capital increase operation – at a nominal value of EUR 2.84, without 
employees, shareholders or third parties having any rights to share not subscribed by 
employees; 
 
b) as regards EUR 39,600,000 (thirty-nine million, six hundred thousand), in a divisible form, 
through the issue of ordinary shares of Banca Popolare di Spoleto S.p.A., to be offered on an 
option basis to shareholders in accordance with art. 2441 of the Italian civil code, at a nominal 
value of EUR 2.84. 
 
The capital increase was completed on 29 June 2009 with the issue of 7,870,057 new shares 
for a total of EUR 39,091,364, net of costs for the share capital increase and the sale of non-
exercised rights. 
 
Equity as at 31 December 2009 was EUR 211,925 thousand, with an increase of EUR 44,600 
thousand with respect to equity as at 31.12.2008 (EUR 167,324 thousand). 
 
Changes during the course of 2009 are indicated below: 
- Share capital increase for a total of EUR 39,091 thousand (capital and share premium); 
- Allocation of non-distributed 2008 profits to the reserves, amounting to around EUR 5,052 

thousand; 
- Decrease of the negative value of the valuation reserve - ‘available-for-sale financial assets 

amounting to around EUR 3,354 thousand. 
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B. Quantitative information 
 
Capital, reserves (items 130,160, 170, 180) 
 
Statement of equity under 2427 of the Italian civil code 
 

Uses in 3 
previous years 

Origin Amount 

Availability/
Available 

for 
distribution 

Available 
amount 

Amount 
available for 
distribution 

To 
cover 
losses 

Other 
Notes 

Share capital 84,488 B      

SHARE CAPITAL RESERVES        

Share premium reserve 84,675 A,B 84,675     

RESERVES OF PROFIT        

Legal reserve 9,424 B 9,424     

Other reserves 25,160 A,B,C 25,160 25,160  2,347 
Transfer 
to capital 

Reserve for treasury shares 276 A,B 278 278    

Valuation reserve of AFS 15 A,B      

Valuation reserve of others (*) 169 A,B 169 169  3,341 
Transfer 
to capital 

Total 204,209  98,128 21,300  5,688  

 
Key regarding possible uses of reserves: 
A: for share capital increases 
B. to cover losses 
C: for distribution to shareholders 
 
(*) tax-suspended reserve 
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B1. Quantitative information 

31.12.2009 
 (in thousands of EUR) 

Items 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 
1. Share capital 84,488 62,137 
2. Share premium 84,675 67,934 
3. Reserves 34,863 30,024 
- profit 34,863 30,024 
a) legal 9,425 8,894 
b) extraordinary 30,750 26,286 
c) treasury shares 278 222 
d) other (5,590) (5,378) 
- other   
4. Equity instruments   
5. (Treasury shares) (279) (222) 
6. Valuation reserves 184 (3,170) 
- Available-for-sale financial assets  15 (3,339) 
- Property, equipment and investment property    
- Intangible assets   
- Hedging of investments in foreign operations   
- Cash flow hedging   
- Exchange difference   
- Non-current Assets held for sale   
- Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit plans   
- Share of valuation reserves of investments measured using the equity 
method 

  

- Special revaluation laws 169 169 
7. Profit for the year  7,993 10,621 
Equity 211,924  167,324 
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B2. Valuation reserve of available-for-sale financial assets: breakdown 
 

 (in thousands of EUR) 
Assets Total 31.12.2009 Total 31.12.2008 
1. Debt securities  (17)  (3,270) 
2. Capital securities 32   (69) 
3. UCI shares     
4. Loans     
Total 32 (17)  (3,339) 

 
B3. Valuation reserve of available-for-sale financial assets: annual change 

 
31.12.2009 

 (in thousands of EUR) 
 Debt  

securities 
Capital  

securities 
UCI shares Loans 

1. Opening balance (3,270) (69)   
2. Positive change 5,842 150   
2.1 Fair value increase 3,114 48   
2.2 Reversal of negative reserves to income 
statement 

2,503 102   

- impairment  102   
- sale 2,503    
2.3 Other changes 225    
3. Negative changes 2,589 49   
3.1 Fair value reductions 297    
3.2 Adjustments for impairment     
3.3 Reversal of positive reserves to income 
statement 

    

- sale 550    
3.4 other changes 1,742 49   
4. Closing balance (17) 32   
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Section 2 – Capital and capital ratios 
 
2.1 Regulatory capital 
 
A. Qualitative information 
 
In application of the regulations regarding the “supplementary supervision” of credit institutions 
and insurance companies, set forth in EC directive 2002/87, Banca Popolare di Spoleto has 
been identified by the Bank of Italy as a component of the “financial conglomerate”, led by 
Banca Monte dei Paschi di Siena, in accordance with the provisions of legislative decree no. 
142 of 30 May 2005, by virtue of the stake of over 20% held by the same in the Bank’s capital. 
 
Supplementary supervision regulates relations between the different national and international 
supervisory authorities, the purpose of which is to safeguard the stability of the conglomerate as 
a whole and to prevent destabilising effects on the system resulting from difficulties of 
companies belonging to said conglomerate, using the Supervisory Authority, which acts as 
coordinator. 
 
The coordinator’s main tasks of supplementary supervision include, inter alia, assessing 
compliance with provisions regarding capital adequacy and risk concentration, assessing the 
conglomerate’s internal control structure, organisation and system, and coordinating supervisory 
activities, in collaboration with the competent authorities. 
 
Regulatory capital as at 31 June 2009, calculated in accordance with Circular nr. 155, 12th 
amendment, dated 1991, issued by the Bank of Italy comprises the following: 
 
1. Tier 1 capital 
Tier 1 capital amounts to EUR 206,671 thousand, against approximately EUR 159,735 
thousand at 31 December 2008, showing an increase of around EUR 46,937 thousand, mainly 
due to the share capital increase mentioned above. 
 
The positive components of Tier 1 capital are represented by Share capital, the Share Premium 
Reserve and by other Reserves, including non-distributed profit. 
 
The negative components of Tier 1 Capital are represented by intangible fixed assets (this item 
is stable) and by the negative valuation reserve of available-for-sale financial assets down by 
around EUR 3,3 million compared to 2008. 
 
2. Tier 2 capital 
 
Tier 2 capital amounts to EUR 48,563 thousand against around EUR 57,623 thousand in 2008. 
The positive components of Tier 2 capital are represented by subordinate liabilities totalling 
EUR 49,133 thousand, the characteristics of which are summarised below: 
 

- Subordinated Bond Issue maturing 7/12/2015, of a nominal EUR 30,000 thousand: residual 
amount for regulatory purposes EUR 30,000 thousand 

- Subordinated Bond Issue maturing 15/4/2018, of a nominal EUR 8,226 thousand: residual 
amount for regulatory purposes EUR 8,226 thousand 

- Subordinated Bond Issue maturing 18/4/2018, of a nominal EUR 10,880 thousand: residual 
amount for regulatory purposes EUR 10,880 thousand 

 
Subordinated liabilities decreased by about EUR 6,248 thousand, due to the amortisations 
during the year. 
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Lastly, note that total Regulatory Capital as at 31.12.2009 amounted to EUR 255,235 thousand, 
against EUR 217,358 thousand in 2008, marking a rise of EUR 37,877 thousand. 
 
B. Quantitative information 
 

31.12.2009  31.12.2008 
(in thousands of EUR) 

 

A. Tier 1 capital before application of prudential filters 207,444 164,019 

B. Prudential filters of tier 1 capital (17)  

B.1 - Positive IAS/IFRS prudential filters   

B.2 - Negative IAS/IFRS prudential filters (17) (3,339) 

C. Tier 1 capital before the application of prudential filters (A+B)  207,427 160,680 

D. Items to be deducted from Tier 1 Capital (755) (945) 

E. Total Tier 1 capital (C+D) 206,672 159,735 

F. Tier 2 Capital before the application of prudential filters 49,334 58,568 

G. Prudential filters of tier 2 capital (16)  

G.1 - Positive IAS/IFRS prudential filters   

G.2 - Negative IAS/IFRS prudential filters (16)  

- Items to be deducted from Tier 1 Capital   

H. Tier 2 capital before the application of prudential filters (F+G) 49,318 58,568 

I. Items to be deducted from Tier 2 Capital (755) (945) 

L. Total Tier 2 Capital (H+I) 48,563 57,623 

M. Items to be deducted from Tier 1 and Tier 2 Capital   

N. Regulatory Capital (E+L – M) 255,235 217,358 

O. Tier 3 capital (C+D)   

P. Regulatory Capital including Tier 3 (N+O) 255,235 217,358 
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2.2 Capital adequacy 
 
A. QUALITATIVE INFORMATION 
 
The “New Regulations for the Prudential Supervision of Banks” (Circular no. 263 dated 
27.12.2006) are based on three pillars. The first introduces a capital requirement to cover risks 
traditionally related to banking activities (credit, counterparty, market and operating); the second 
requires banks to establish a strategy and a process to control current and future capital 
adequacy, assigning the Supervisory Authority the task of checking the reliability and coherence 
of results and to adopt, where necessary, any corrective measures; the third introduces portfolio 
obligations to inform the public as regards capital adequacy, risk exposure and the general 
characteristics of the relative management and control systems. 
In order to comply with the above-cited provisions of the second pillar, the Bank has launched 
the process to establish a “prudential control process system”. On 30 September 2009, the first 
informative note on ICAAP was submitted to the Bank of Italy in order to enable the Supervisory 
Authority to understand both the organisational aspect and the method adopted for the internal 
capital assessment process and the self-assessment made by the Bank regarding the adequacy 
of said process. 
 
In the light of the considerations included in said document, the Bank has informed the 
Supervisory Authority that it considers its capital to be adequate to cover current and future 
internal capital, any requirements resulting from risks for which only a qualitative assessment 
was conducted (residual risk, reputation risk and strategic risk) as well as the results of stress 
tests.  
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B. QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION 
 

Category/Amount Unweighted amounts 
Weighted 

amounts/requirements 

 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 

A. RISK ASSETS     

A.1 Credit and counterparty risk 3,458,901 2,696,366 2,073,690 1,945,515 

1. Standard methodology 3,458,901 2,696,366 2,073,690 1,945,515 

2. Methodology based on internal ratings      

2.1 Base     

2.2 Advanced     

3. Securitisations     

B. REGULATORY CAPITAL 
REQUIREMENTS 

    

B.1 Credit and counterparty risk   150,496 155,641 

B. 2 Market risk   1,966 2,847 

1. Standard methodology   1,966 2,847 

2. Internal models     

3. Concentration risk     

B. 3 Operating risk   16,448 15,434 

1. Base method   16,448 15,434 

2. Standard method     

3. Advanced method     

B.4 Other prudential requirements     

B. 5 Other calculation elements   168,910 173,922 

B.6 Total prudential requirements     

C. RISK ASSETS AND CAPITAL RATIOS     

C.1 Risk-weighted assets   2,111,368 2,174,025 

C.2 Tier 1 capital/risk-weighted assets (Tier 
       1 capital ratio) 

  9.79% 7.35% 

C.3 Regulatory capital including TIER3 / Risk- 
       weighted assets (Total capital ratio) 

  12.09% 10.00% 
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PART H 
Transactions with related parties 
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1. Information regarding compensation of Executives with strategic responsibilities 
 
In compliance with IAS 24 and internal rules (“Regulations for transactions with related parties”, 
adopted by the Board of Directors of Banca Popolare di Spoleto on 27 November 2006 and updated 
on 30 March 2009) the following information is provided with regards to "Executives with strategic 
responsibilities": 
 

 members of the Board of Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors of the Company; 
 the General Manager of the Company and, in general, employees holding positions as 

“Executives”; 
 executives with strategic responsibilities of Subsidiaries, as determined from time to time by 

their respective administrative bodies and communicated to the Company. At 31 December 
2009 the Bank did not hold controlling interests in subsidiaries. 

 executives with strategic responsibilities of Parent Companies, as determined from their 
administrative bodies and communicated to the Company. 

 
The table below shows the remuneration for Executives with strategic responsibilities in 2009: 
 
(€/000) Short-term  

benefits 
Post retirement  

benefits 
Other long-term 

 benefits 

Post-
employment 

benefits 

Payments in  
shares 

Members of the Board 
of Directors 

1,292     

Members of the Board 
of Statutory Auditors 

191     

General Managers 
and Deputy General 
Managers 

875 56    

Other Executives with 
strategic 
responsibilities 

1,564 241  197  

Total 3,922 297  197  
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2. Information on transactions with related parties 
 
This section discloses information on the main transactions during the period between the Bank and 
the parties indicated as “Related Parties” (IAS 24 and Consob Resolution no. 11971 of 14 May 1999 
as amended), as well as relations with them at 31 December 2009. 
 
Without prejudice to the fact that in compliance with legal provisions, all existing compulsory 
relationships with the Board members, Statutory Auditors and the General Manager must be 
resolved pursuant to art. 2391, Civil Code and art. 136 of the Consolidated Law on Banking, the 
Board of Directors issued specific rules (adopted on 27 March 2006 and updated on 30 March 2009) 
to regulate transactions with related parties that fall under the responsibility of the Board of Directors 
and transactions where the Board must be informed when performed by delegated bodies. 
 
Such transactions are defined as:  
 
(i) "significant” transactions when they can have effects on the safeguarding of company assets; and 
 
(ii) "important" transactions when they have a considerable economic and financial impact and are 
not typical or usual transactions. 
 
These transactions are: 
 
 (i) “Significant” transactions: transactions which by reason of their subject, amount, 
 procedure or time required for their performance may have an impact on the stability of 
 company assets or on the completeness or correctness of information, including accounting 
 information, regarding the company and which, therefore, must compulsorily be disclosed to 
 the market, in accordance with the terms and procedures provided by art. 71-bis of CONSOB 
 regulation 11971/99 as amended. 
 
In any case, according to the internal rules, any transaction where the value of the transaction is 
higher than at least one of the following parameters set by the Bank is considered “significant”: 
 
 a. 10% of company profit before tax; 
 b. 1% of the company’s Regulatory Capital, 
  
according to the most recently disclosed financial statements. 
 
 (ii) “Important” transactions: transactions which vest economic, capital or financial importance 
 and which have atypical and/or unusual characteristics, insofar as they (i) are not covered by 
 standard business operations; or (ii) are performed substantially at conditions that do not 
 comply with those usually applied by the company vis-à-vis customers and employees; or (iii) 
 they entail critical factors with relation to other aspects of the transactions; or (iv) transactions 
 with related parties regarding “problem”, “non-performing”, “under restructuring” or 
 “restructured” loans. 
 
In any case, transactions with “economic, capital or financial importance” are those which, in the 
system of independent decision-making powers determined from time to time, require a level of 
authorisation not lower than that attributed to the General Manager. 
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2.a Main transactions with related parties in 2009 
 
In 2009 the following documents were prepared (drafted pursuant to art. 71-bis CONSOB Issuer 
Regulation 11971 of 14 May 1999 as amended, in compliance with annex 3B, schedule 4) 
concerning: 
 

 restructuring of the type of collateral in favour of Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA with 
regards to a transaction amounting to EUR 5,250,000.00 granted to Banca Popolare di 
Spoleto SpA in favour of the company SCS Gestioni Immobiliari S.r.l., a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Spoleto Credito e Servizi Soc.Coop., a company which holds a majority interest 
in Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA (10 June 2009); 

 
 renewal of loan agreements for a total of EUR 4,279,817, granting of a mortgage current 

account amounting to EUR 900,000 with acquisition of a first mortgage and extension of a 
mortgage loan with the progression of construction work for a total of EUR 6,000,000, in 
favour of “3C Costruzioni Cucchetto e Cascioli sas di Alberto Cucchetto” a company under 
the control of Mr. Alberto Cucchetto , who is a close family member of Mr. Francesco 
Cucchetto, a Director of “Spoleto Credito e Servizi Soc. Coop”, a company which holds a 
majority interest in Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA. (6 October 2009); 

 
 technical renewal of loan agreements amounting to EUR 2,500,000 in the form of mortgage 

current account credit lines in favour of “Todi 2 Costruzioni Generali srl” under the control of 
“Fibasi sas di Fiorella Trippa & C.”, which is under considerable influence from a close family 
member of Mr. Francesco Cucchetto, a Director of “Spoleto Credito e Servizi Soc. Coop”, a 
company which holds a majority interest in Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA. (6 October 
2009). 

 
The terms of these transactions were resolved by the Board of Directors with a favourable opinion 
from the Board of Statutory Auditors. 
 
The table below (pursuant to IAS 24) shows the current balances at the end of 2009. 
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Transactions/ 

Counterparties 
Parent 

company 
Joint parent 
companies 

Subsidiary 
companies 

Associated 
Companies 

Joint 
Ventures 

Executives with 
strategic 

responsibilities (*) 

Other related 
parties (*) 

Cash loans   25,268    1,369 32,438 
Derivative financial assets       12,169 
Cash liabilities  24,485    1,687 34,897 
Derivative financial liabilities  292     3,379 
Total allowances (**) for doubtful debts       22 
 
(*) Including Executives with strategic responsibilities employed by the Bank and joint ventures. 
(**) Total adjustments in the Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2009. 
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3. Additional information 
 
It should be noted that as regards the Board Directors, Statutory Auditors and General Management, 
transactions associated with the same (pursuant to art. 136 of the Consolidated Law on Banking), as 
at 31 December 2009, regard loan agreements totalling EUR 39.6 million (EUR 20.3 million of which 
has been utilised), deposit accounts - direct customer deposits, totalling EUR 27.7 million and 
deposit accounts - indirect customer deposits, totalling EUR 83.4 million, also regulated at market 
conditions.  
 
Furthermore, the Bank has not set up any atypical or unusual transactions with respect to standard 
credit brokerage activities. 
 
The tables below show the remuneration and shareholdings held by company representatives 
according to the criteria set forth in Annex 3C of Consob Resolution no. 11971 of 14 May 1999 
(“Issuer Resolutions”) as amended. 
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INFORMATION ON REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS, STATUTORY AUDITORS, GENERAL DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES WITH 
STRATEGIC RESPONSIBILITIES PURSUANT TO CONSOB RESOLUTION NO. 11971, ANNEX 3C, TABLE 1 (“ISSUER RESOLUTIONS”) – AS 
AT 31.12.2009 

(in EUR) 
 

Surname and name Position held Term of office 
End of 
term 

Remuneration for 
 position  

held in the  
company  
preparing  
financial  

statements 

Non-monetary 
 benefits 

Bonuses and  
other  

incentives 
 (**) 

Other  
remuneration 

ANTONINI GIOVANNINO CHAIRMAN  01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09 342,750  117    

BELLINGACCI MARCO ACTING DEPUTY CHAIRMAN  01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09 153,953  605    

AMONI ALDO BOARD DIRECTOR  01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09 63,250  117    

ARCELLI PAOLO BOARD DIRECTOR 01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09 53,750  117    

BANDINELLI LEONARDO DEPUTY CHAIRMAN 12/10/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09 22,944  58    

BERNARDINI CLAUDIO BOARD DIRECTOR 01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09 56,500  117    

CARBONARI MARCO BOARD DIRECTOR 01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09 57,000  117    

CHIOCCI GABRIELE BOARD DIRECTOR 01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09 54,000  117    

CONTI VALENTINO BOARD DIRECTOR 01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09 53,750  117    

D'ATANASIO NAZZARENO BOARD DIRECTOR  01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09 62,750  117    

DI BELLO FRANCESCO BOARD DIRECTOR 01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09 53,750  117    

FAGOTTI MARIO BOARD DIRECTOR 01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09 53,250  117    

LOGI MICHELE BOARD DIRECTOR 01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09 78,250  117    

RAGGI GIORGIO BOARD DIRECTOR 01/01/09 – 08/07/09 31/12/09 63,472  58    

UMBRICO CLAUDIO BOARD DIRECTOR 01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09 53,500  117    

BONELLI FRANCESCO CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS 01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09 74,099  605   

ROSSI ROBERTO STANDING AUDITOR 01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09 50,000  605   

FESANI MICHELE STANDING AUDITOR 01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09 59,956  605   

PALLINI ALFREDO GENERAL MANAGER 01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09  8,343  130,000  268,859 

CONTICINI MAURO ACTING DEPUTY GENERAL MANAGER 01/01/09 – 31/12/09 31/12/09  6,829  85,000  182,961 

Executives with strategic responsibilities (***)    15,438  422,412  969,390 

TOTAL 1,406,924  34,550  637,412  1,421,210 

 
(*) In office until the shareholders’ meeting to approve the 2009 financial statements, which will be held by April 2010. 
(**) The item “Bonuses and other incentives" includes voluntary redundancy payments. 
(***) The item “Executives with strategic responsibilities” includes employees on secondment at Banca MPS. 
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Table showing the equity investments of Directors, Statutory Auditors and Executives with strategic responsibilities as at 31.12.2009 
Pursuant to Consob resolution no. 11971, annex 3C, table 3 (“issuer resolutions”) 
 
The table below includes all parties that, during the period in question, held a position as member of the Board of Directors, member of the Board of Statutory Auditors (including 
“alternative auditors”), General Manager, Deputy General Manager or Executive, also for fractions of the period, as well as spouses not legally separated and minor children of either of the 
latter. 

Surname and Name Equity Investment 
Number of shares 

held as at 
31.12.2008 

Number of shares 
bought 

Number of shares 
sold 

Number of shares 
held as at 
31.12.2009 

ANTONINI GIOVANNINO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA 4,140 1,504  5,644 

THROUGH SPOUSE Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA 4   4 

BELLINGACCI MARCO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA 1,926 7 00  2,626 

BANDINELLI LEONARDO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA     

RAGGI GIORGIO * Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA 1,097 3 96  1,493 

AMONI ALDO  Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA 1,025   1,025 

ARCELLI PAOLO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA 3 00   300 

BERNARDINI CLAUDIO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA     

CARBONARI MARCO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA 2   2 

CHIOCCI GABRIELE Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA     

THROUGH SUBSIDIARY Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA 5 00 9 80  1,480 

CONTI VALENTINO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA     

D'ATANASIO NAZZARENO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA  810  810 

DI BELLO FRANCESCO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA 807   807 

FAGOTTI MARIO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA     

LOGI MICHELE Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA 343   343 

UMBRICO CLAUDIO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA     

THROUGH SPOUSE Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA 7,040 2,960  10,000 

BONELLI FRANCESCO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA  1,000  1,000 

ROSSI ROBERTO  Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA 2,925 1,060  3,985 

THROUGH SPOUSE Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA 100 36  136 

FESANI MICHELE Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA 180 64  244 

CASTELLANI PIERGIORGIO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA     

BURINI GIOVANNI Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA     

THROUGH SPOUSE Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA     

PALLINI ALFREDO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA 1,951 1,965  3,916 

CONTICINI MAURO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA  500  500 

ASCANI SANDRO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA    200 

CARDARELLI ALESSANDRO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA    154 

THROUGH SPOUSE Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA    3 

CARLETTINI MARIO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA    452 
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CATERINI CORRADO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA    287 

PIERMARINI PAOLA Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA    249 

THROUGH SPOUSE Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA    137 

QUARTUCCI EMILIO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA     

RIOMMI MAURO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA    1,946 

THROUGH SPOUSE Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA    5 

SIENA MARCELLO Banca Popolare di Spoleto SpA    350 

 
* sold on 08/07/2009 
N.B.: the grey area shows positions that entered the category “Executives with strategic responsibilities” in 2009 
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Part L 
 
Segment information 
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For the purposes of segment reporting, Banca Popolare di Spoleto has adopted an approach providing for a 
separation on the basis of the business segments in which the Bank operates. 
 
The segments identified for the purpose of illustrating the results of operations, defined on the basis of the 
representativeness and prevalence of the business are Retail Coordination, Finance Segment and Corporate 
Center. 
 
Retail Coordination Areas 
 
Retail Coordination encompasses: 
 
- the business activities performed by the traditional structure of branches, namely the deposit of savings and 

the disbursement of loans, the provision of financial services and other services; 
- business activities performed by dedicated staff that handle the Affluent, Private and Corporate segments, 

namely the provision of personalised services/products able to meet more sophisticated requirements in 
terms of asset management and financial planning; 

- With regards to the North, South and Centre Coordination Areas, operating profit and profit exceeded 10% 
compared to Institution data. This is due to the fact that the branches of these areas are mostly located in 
Umbria, which is the traditional region of Banca Popolare di Spoleto. 

 
Finance Segment 
 
This segment encompasses: 
 
- the management of cash and financial investments, mainly with regards to the Bank’s Treasury, securities 

portfolio, inter-bank transactions and credit and business in foreign currency or in euro. Also for this 
segment operating profit and profit exceeded 10% compared to comprehensive figures for the institution. 

 
Corporate Center 
-  All the other business that does not fall under the segments above are placed in this category. 
 
A.1 Distribution by business segment: economic data 
 
The Net operating income by business segment has been calculated on the basis of the following criteria: 
- the net interest income is calculated by contribution on the basis of the internal rates of transfer, 

differentiated by product and maturity; 
- the operating profit is the total of net interest income, net commission income and result of financial assets 

measured at fair value; 
- net impairment losses are allocated to the business segments that originated them; 
- operating costs (personnel expenses, other administrative expenses and amortisation and depreciation) are 

allocated to each business unit, either directly or through special drivers that return the costs for general 
management back to the network. 
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December 2009 
EUR/000 

BANK 
TOTAL 

NORTH CENTRE SOUTH MARCHE ROME MILAN FINANCE 
CORPORATE  

CENTER 

NET INTEREST INCOME 77,518  21,852  23,302  12,683  5,578  4,664  504  7,073  1,862 

OPERATING PROFIT 115,791  32,687  33,975  18,461  7,908  7,049  652  15,318  -258 

OPERATING COSTS -71,815  -21,111  -21,059  -12,612  -5,239  -5,132  -623  -1,910  -4,128 

OPERATING INCOME 43,976  11,576  12,915  5,849  2,669  1,917  29  13,407  -4,386 

NET ALLOCATIONS TO  
PROVISIONS FOR RISKS  
AND CHARGES 

-1,491         -1,491 

NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON  
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE  
ASSETS 

-26,801  -7,387  -4,999  -5,061  -5,097  -3,353  -420  -422  -61 

DISPOSAL OF INVESTMENTS 29        29 

GROSS PROFIT 15,712  4,189  7,916  788  -2,429  -1,436  -391  12,985  -5,910 

 
 
 
A.2 Distribution by business segment: Statement of financial position data 
 
 - The table below provides information on customer loans and deposits 
 
December 2009 
EUR/000 

BANK  
TOTAL 

NORTH CENTRE SOUTH MARCHE ROME MILAN FINANCE 
CORPORATE  

CENTER 

Due from Customers 2,173,503  695,995  389,516  651,508  152,258  141,107  8,510  94,847  39,762 

Due to Customers 1,481,676  401,392  243,157  491,962  40,769  211,076  56,514  4,813  31,993 
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Companies with a shareholding of more than 20% and that consolidate the Bank on a 
proportional basis 
 
1. Name 
 
SPOLETO CREDITO E SERVIZI SOC. COOP. 
 
1.2 Registered Office 
 
Piazza Pianciani, 5 - Spoleto 
 
Entered on the Company Register PG under nr. 1 
Registered with R.E.A. PG under nr. 7453 
UIC Code nr. 26318 
 
2 Name 
 
BANCA MONTE DEI PASCHI DI SIENA SPA 
 
2.1 Registered Office 
 
Piazza Salimbeni, 3 - Siena 
 
Registered with the Court of Siena under nr. 9782 on 23.8.95 
Association of Banks nr.325 Code 1030.6 
Member of the Interbank Fund for the Protection of Deposits 
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Fees paid to the independent auditors and to entities belonging to its network 
(pursuant to art. 149 - duodecies of CONSOB resolution nr. 15915 dated 3 May 2007) 

 

Type of service Service provider Description Fees (EUR/000) 

Auditing of accounts KPMG SpA Auditing of accounts 118 

Certification services KPMG SpA Monitoring vehicle servicing 25 

Certification services KPMG SpA Business plan certification for share 
capital increase 262 

 
Other services KPMG Advisory Support for Project L.262/05  13 
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Declaration of the Manager in charge of financial reporting 
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Declaration regarding the financial statements pursuant to art. 81-ter of Consob Regulation nr. 11971 dated 
14 May 1999 and subsequent amendments and supplements 
 
 
1. We the undersigned, Giovannino Antonini, Chairman of the Board of Directors and Paola Piermarini, Executive in 
charge of preparing the company accounting documents, of Banca Popolare di Spoleto S.p.A., certify, also 
considering the provisions of art. 154-bis, paragraphs 3 and 4 of legislative decree nr. 58 dated 24 February 1998: 
 
- The adequacy with relation to the characteristics of the business and 
- The proper application 
of the administrative and accounting procedures for the formation of the financial statements, over the course of 2009. 
 
2. The assessment of the adequacy of the administrative and accounting procedures for the formation of the financial 
statements as at 31 December 2009 was based on an internal model established by Banca Popolare di Spoleto 
S.p.A., developed in line with the model entitled “Internal Control – Integrated Framework” developed by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treasury Commission, which represents a generally accepted 
international reference standard for internal control systems. 
 
3. We also certify that: 
 
3.1 The financial statements: 
 
a)  were drawn up in compliance with the applicable international accounting standards  recognised by the 
European Community pursuant to (EC) regulation nr. 1606/2002 of the  European Parliament and Council, dated 19 
July 2002; 
b) correspond to the information reported in the accounts and records; 
c) provide a true and correct representation of the equity, economic and financial situation of the issuer. 
 
3.2 The report on operations includes a reliable analysis of performance and of operating results, as well as of the 
issuer’s situation, together with a description of the main risks and uncertainties to which it is exposed. 
 
Spoleto, 15 March 2010 
 
 
For the Board of Directors     Executive in charge of  
The Chairman    preparing company  
    accounting documents  
 
Giovannino Antonini      Paola Piermarini 



 
 

280

 



 

 281

Report of the Independent Auditors 
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